JMIR Diabetes

Emerging Technologies, Medical Devices, Apps, Sensors, and Informatics to Help People with Diabetes Volume 2 (2017), Issue 2 ISSN 2371-4379 Editors-in-Chief: Ricardo Correa, MD, EdD; Sheyu Li, MD

Contents

Original Papers

XSL•F0 RenderX

A Website to Promote Physical Activity in People With Type 2 Diabetes Living in Remote or Rural Locations: Feasibility Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial (e26)	
Jenni Connelly, Alison Kirk, Judith Masthoff, Sandra MacRury.	3
Web-Based Weight Loss Intervention for Men With Type 2 Diabetes: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial (e14)	
Anna Haste, Ashley Adamson, Elaine McColl, Vera Araujo-Soares, Ruth Bell.	14
Improving Glycemic Control With a Standardized Text-Message and Phone-Based Intervention: A Community Implementation (e15)	
Robert Peters, Matt Lui, Kunjan Patel, Lewis Tian, Kavon Javaherian, Eric Sink, Ran Xu, Zhuchen Xu, Wint Aung, Li Zhou, Justin Huynh, Gregory Polites, Melvin Blanchard, Avik Som, Will Ross, Carlos Bernal-Mizrachi.	32
Examining the Impact of a Novel Blood Glucose Monitor With Color Range Indicator on Decision-Making in Patients With Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes and its Association With Patient Numeracy Level (e24) Mike Grady, Laurence Katz, Christine Strunk, Hilary Cameron, Brian Levy.	41
iOS Appstore-Based Phone Apps for Diabetes Management: Potential for Use in Medication Adherence (e12)	
Mark Martinez, Su Park, Isaac Maison, Vicky Mody, Lewis Soh, Harish Parihar.	52
Diabetes App-Related Text Messages From Health Care Professionals in Conjunction With a New Wireless Glucose Meter With a Color Range Indicator Improves Glycemic Control in Patients With Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes: Randomized Controlled Trial (e19)	
Mike Grady, Laurence Katz, Hilary Cameron, Brian Levy.	62
One Drop Mobile: An Evaluation of Hemoglobin A1c Improvement Linked to App Engagement (e21)	
Chandra Osborn, Joost van Ginkel, David Rodbard, Mark Heyman, David Marrero, Brian Huddleston, Jeff Dachis.	74
Views of Patients on Using mHealth to Monitor and Prevent Diabetic Foot Ulcers: Qualitative Study (e22) Chris Boodoo, Julie Perry, Paul Hunter, Dragos Duta, Samuel Newhook, General Leung, Karen Cross.	82
The Value of Children's Voices for a Video Game Development in the Context of Type 1 Diabetes: Focus Group Study (e17)	
Valéria Sparapani, Sidney Fels, Lucila Nascimento.	90

Mutual Involvement in Families With Type 2 Diabetes Through Web-Based Health Care Solutions: Quantitative Survey Study of Family Preferences, Challenges, and Potentials (e23)	
Tobias Vitger, Henning Langberg, Dan Grabowski	99
Transitional Needs of Australian Young Adults With Type 1 Diabetes: Mixed Methods Study (e29) Ashley Ng, Timothy Crowe, Kylie Ball, Bodil Rasmussen.	110
The Effect of Telehealth on Quality of Life and Psychological Outcomes Over a 12-Month Period in a Diabetes Cohort Within the Whole Systems Demonstrator Cluster Randomized Trial (e18)	
Shashivadan Hirani, Lorna Rixon, Martin Cartwright, Michelle Beynon, Stanton Newman, WSD Evaluation Team.	120
A Feasible and Efficacious Mobile-Phone Based Lifestyle Intervention for Filipino Americans with Type 2 Diabetes: Randomized Controlled Trial (e30)	
Melinda Bender, Bruce Cooper, Linda Park, Sara Padash, Shoshana Arai	133
Assessing Diabetes-Relevant Data Provided by Undergraduate and Crowdsourced Web-Based Survey Participants for Honesty and Accuracy (e11)	
Mary DePalma, Michael Rizzotti, Matthew Branneman.	149
A Novel Approach to Identifying Barriers and Facilitators in Raising a Child With Type 1 Diabetes: Qualitative Analysis of Caregiver Blogs (e27)	
Tamara Oser, Sean Oser, Erin McGinley, Heather Stuckey.	187
A Fully Automated Conversational Artificial Intelligence for Weight Loss: Longitudinal Observational Study Among Overweight and Obese Adults (e28)	
Natalie Stein, Kevin Brooks.	209

Viewpoint

Addressing Disparities in Diabetes Management Through Novel Approaches to Encourage Technology	
Adoption and Use (e16)	
Amy Sheon, Shari Bolen, Bill Callahan, Sarah Shick, Adam Perzynski.	164

Reviews

XSL•FO RenderX

Functionality, Implementation, Impact, and the Role of Health Literacy in Mobile Phone Apps for Gestational Diabetes: Scoping Review (e25) Qiong Chen, Elena Carbone.	174
Digital Health for Medication Adherence in Adult Diabetes or Hypertension: An Integrative Review (e20) Cheryl Conway, Teresa Kelechi.	196

Original Paper

A Website to Promote Physical Activity in People With Type 2 Diabetes Living in Remote or Rural Locations: Feasibility Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial

Jenni Connelly¹, MSc, PhD; Alison Kirk², PhD; Judith Masthoff³, PhD; Sandra MacRury⁴, MD

¹Physiology, Exercise and Nutrition Research Group, Faculty of Health Science and Sport, University of Stirling, Stirling, United Kingdom

²Physical Activity and Health Research Group, School of Psychological Sciences and Health, University Of Strathclyde, Glasgow, United Kingdom ³University of Aberdeen, Aberdeen, United Kingdom

⁴Department of Diabetes and Cardiovascular Science, University of Highlands and Islands, Inverness, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Jenni Connelly, MSc, PhD Physiology, Exercise and Nutrition Research Group Faculty of Health Science and Sport University of Stirling 3a74a Cottrell Building University of Stirling Stirling, FK9 4LA United Kingdom Phone: 44 1786 466399 Email: jenni.connelly1@stir.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: Research supports the use of Web-based interventions to promote physical activity in diabetes management. However, previous interventions have found poor levels of engagement or have not included health professionals and people with diabetes in the design of the tool.

Objective: To develop and explore the feasibility and indicative effect of a Web-based physical activity promotion intervention in people diagnosed with type 2 diabetes living in remote or rural locations.

Methods: A qualitative approach using focus groups that included patients with diabetes and health professionals were run to identify key concepts, ideas, and features, which resulted in the design of a physical activity website. This site was tested using a quantitative approach with a qualitative 6-month pilot study that adopted a three-armed approach. Participants were randomized into three groups: a control group who received written diabetes-specific physical activity advice; an information Web group, a Web-based group who received the information online; and an intervention Web group, an interactive Web-based group who received online information plus interactive features, such as an activity log, personalized advice, and goal setting.

Results: A website was designed based on patient and health professional ideas for effective physical activity promotion. This website was tested with 31 participants, 61% (19/31) male, who were randomized into the groups. Website log-ins decreased over time: 4.5 times in month 1, falling to 3 times in month 6. Both the information Web group—mean 134.6 (SD 123.9) to mean 154.9 (SD 144.2) min—and the control group—mean 118.9 (SD 103.8) to mean 126.1 (SD 93.4) min, d=0.07—increased time spent in moderate-to-vigorous physical activity, but this decreased in the intervention Web group—mean 131.9 (SD 126.2) to mean 116.8 (SD 107.4) min.

Conclusions: Access to online diabetes-specific physical information was effective in promoting physical activity in people with type 2 diabetes; access to interactive features was not associated with increases in activity.

Trial Registration: International Standard Randomised Controlled Trial Number (ISRCTN): 96266587; http://www.isrctn.com/ISRCTN96266587 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/6tzX6YesZ)

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e26) doi:10.2196/diabetes.6669

KEYWORDS

RenderX

blood glucose; diabetes; physical activity; rural; virtual trainer; Web based

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e26/

Introduction

Regular physical activity has been shown to be beneficial in the management of type 2 diabetes [1-4], with guidelines recommending that adults should accumulate 150 minutes of moderate physical activity a week [5,6]. Up to 80% of people with type 2 diabetes do not meet these recommendations [7], highlighting the need for the development of effective interventions.

Physical activity interventions have been delivered through face-to-face contact, telephone contact, print and mail materials, and group-based activities [8,9]. Although many interventions have been effective in stimulating physical activity behavior changes, implementation of these methods of delivery into current diabetes practice has often been restricted by lack of time and appropriate personnel for effective delivery. It is also important to identify and create channels of information delivery that can reach a large and broad range of the diabetes population, including those who may not or cannot access more traditional methods of delivery, for example, those living in remote or rural locations [10].

Innovations in technology and access to the Internet have led to an increased number of technology-based interventions. Using technology to deliver an intervention offers several advantages, including the potential reach, continuing availability, and cost containment of the intervention [11]. Web-based interventions have been successfully implemented in promoting physical activity in diabetes self-management [12]. However, these interventions often resulted in poor levels of user engagement [13] and frequently reported major decreases in usage over time [14,15]. There is therefore a need to develop a tool with specific features that aim to increase user engagement.

The primary aim of this study was to utilize coproduction methodology to develop a Web-based physical activity promotion intervention. The secondary aims were to evaluate the feasibility and indication of effectiveness of using this intervention to promote physical activity in people with type 2 diabetes living in remote and rural localities.

Methods

Study Design

This study utilized a mixed-methods research design to incorporate coproduction into the development of the intervention. Using a qualitative approach, focus groups were conducted with people living with type 2 diabetes to explore the key features of a Web-based physical activity promotion intervention. Quantitative data was collected on overall and individual component use of the intervention and an objective measure of physical activity and sedentary behavior was conducted. The full study was approved by the North of Scotland research ethics committee (12/NS/0115) and was conducted according to the principles of the Helsinki agreement. The trial was registered with the International Standard Randomised Controlled Number Trial (ISRCTN) Registry (ISRCTN96266587).

Research Design of Focus Groups

Recruitment

Participants were recruited through purposive sampling from diabetes clinics, diabetes volunteer lists, and posters put up in general practice surgeries. Inclusion criteria included the following: diagnosis of type 2 diabetes, over 18 years of age, and ability to communicate verbally in English.

A total of 30 participants (18 males, 12 females) with a mean age of 63 (SD 12) years participated in four patient focus groups—focus group 1 (n=8), focus group 2 (n=8), focus group 3 (n=7), and focus group 4 (n=7)—held over a 4-month period. One group was also run with health professionals (n=6). Participants who attended these groups lived in rural or remote locations in Scotland.

Data Collection and Analysis

NVivo (QSR International) and thematic analysis were used with initial codes generated in a systematic fashion across the dataset. Coding was carried out and collated into tables, which were separated by themes and subthemes. This was then reviewed to ensure the themes worked in terms of each individual code. Coding checks were conducted on a subset of three of the five transcripts by researchers external to the research team to ensure consistency within themes as recommended by Barbour [16].

Research Design for Website Testing

Overview

To test the effectiveness of the intervention, in addition to the active intervention group there were two comparator groups: one group had access to the website, but not interactive features to control for any effect of online information access, and a second was provided with written information only.

Recruitment and Randomization

A total of 31 participants, not previously involved in the focus groups, who were diagnosed with type 2 diabetes were recruited from primary and secondary care sites from three rural localities in Highland Region, Scotland. The aim was to recruit between 10 and 12 participants per group. The method of randomization for this pilot trial was to use opaque envelopes to conceal group allocation from the researcher, which the Cochrane Review reports as having a low risk of bias [17]. Envelopes were prepared by a researcher who was not involved in the study and allowed for equal numbers across the recruitment areas in each of the intervention groups.

Participants were included in the study if they met the following criteria: diagnosed with type 2 diabetes managed through lifestyle or oral medication; over 18 years old; resident in Inverness, Isle of Skye, and Sutherland areas; and had access to a computer with Internet access. Exclusion criteria included the following: treatment with insulin therapy, to reduce the potential for immediate effects on glycemic control and need for insulin adjustment; unable to understand study requirements or give informed consent; visual or hearing impairments or physical disability; or diabetes-related complication that precluded ability to increase physical activity.



Participants met with the research nurse on three occasions: baseline, 3 months, and 6 months. During the first visit, demographic and medical details were collected and participants were randomized using opaque envelopes into one of the three groups: the interactive Web group (InterG) had online access to diabetes-specific physical activity information and interactive features; the information Web group (InfoG) were given online access to diabetes-specific physical activity information, but not interactive features; and the control group received leaflets based on the website material. Each of the three sites was inducted into the study in a stepped-wedge approach over 6 weeks.

Primary Outcome: Website Measures

To assess use of the website, log-on to the site was monitored with each participant given personalized log-on details, which were then used to measure contact over the 6 months. Access to the site without logging in was not measured. The use of interactive features on the site was recorded for each participant to assess frequency of use and thus determine those features most likely to be useful in future versions of the website.

Secondary Outcomes

Assessment of Physical Activity

To assess the effectiveness of the intervention, data on physical activity were collected. Data were also collected on standard anthropometric measurements and glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c), a measure of glycemic control, both of which may be impacted by change in physical activity. These data were collected from all groups at three intervals across the duration of the study. Participants wore an ActiGraph GT3X+ monitor (ActiGraph, LLC) around the waist for 7 days at baseline, 3 months, and 6 months. Accelerometer data were downloaded and analyzed using ActiLife data analysis software, version 6.10 (ActiGraph, LLC). A 60-second epoch was applied with a minimum wear time of 10 hours per day on at least 4 days, including one weekend day. A time of 60 minutes and over of consecutive zeroes was considered nonwear time and was excluded from analysis. The following Freedson adult cut-points were applied to categorize physical activity [18]: sedentary, 0-99 cpm; light, 100-759 cpm; lifestyle, 760-1951 cpm; moderate, 1952-5724 cpm; vigorous, 5725-9498 cpm; and very vigorous, ≥9499 cpm.

Anthropometric Measurements and Blood Sampling

All measures were carried out by a research nurse. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight in kg over height in $m^2(kg/m^2)$. Waist circumference was calculated in cm and was taken in the midpoint between the iliac crest and the lowest rib. A blood sample was drawn at baseline, 3 months, and 6 months and analyzed at the hospital clinical laboratory for HbA1c using a high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) method (Tosoh Bioscience) on diabetes control and complications-aligned equipment.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS version 22 (IBM Corp). After normality-testing, repeated-measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) or the nonparametric Friedman k related-samples tests were used, Bonferroni corrections were applied. Data are presented as mean (SD). As this was a pilot study, a sample size calculation was not performed so, in addition to the arbitrary significance level of .05, the effect size is reported. Effect size was calculated using Cohen *d*, where 0.2 indicates a small effect, 0.5 indicates a medium effect, and 0.8 indicates a large effect. Outliers more than 3 standard deviations from the mean were removed per variable.

Results

Web Features Developed in Response to the Focus Groups

Overview

Excerpts from focus groups are displayed in Table 1 and Multimedia Appendix 1.

Virtual Coach

Groups highlighted a perceived need for support to increase their physical activity (Excerpt 1.0). To accomplish this, the website was centered on a virtual coach, Dave; all interface conversations with the site were between the user and Dave. This was to ensure that people felt that the website provided personal advice structured to each individual.

Ask the Expert

The need for support led to the creation of an *Ask the expert* section of the website to allow users the opportunity to speak to the physical activity expert. This allowed users the chance to ask physical activity-related questions related to their diabetes to a physical activity expert through the interface of Dave.

Physical Activity Tracker

A tool for users to evaluate the physical activity they had undertaken was suggested to enable users to make more active choices (Excerpt 2.0). A tracker diary to help monitor activity was built into the site. This tracker allowed users to enter type and duration of the activity displayed in a bar chart permitting users to see days they were active and days they were not active (Excerpt 2.1). A range of physical activity options were available on the drop-down list, based on the American College of Sports Medicine list of activities [19]. The website remembered the activities entered; if more than one activity was carried out in the one day, the activities were stacked.



Connelly et al

Table 1. Quotes from focus groups used to design key features of the website.

Subthemes from focus groups	Example excerpt highlighting subtheme meaning	Participant type	Excerpt number
Importance of support	"I need help in exactly what I need to do; it's not the advice of what to do it's the support of doing it."	Patient	1.0
Monitoring physical activity and diabetes			
	"sitting down and thinking about what I've done, when I've done it and if I haven't done it I think it would make me think about why I'm not being active."	Patient	2.0
	"by displaying your activity, say in graph form, it would give you some sort of target and to help you evaluate the days you weren't active."	Patient	2.1
Methods to increase user engagement	" if you do lands' end and do it in bite-size chunks it doesn't matter how long it takes you to do it, you will still have done it at the end."	Health pro- fessional	3.0

Goals and Challenges

An online physical activity consultation based on the transtheoretical model [20] was developed allowing each user to set up realistic incremental goals based on current behavior. The consultation was conducted through a Web interface and gave personalized advice based on what was entered.

Any activity entered into the site was converted into walking using metabolic equivalent values [19] and the distance was added into a challenge (Excerpt 3.0). Users could pick a challenge to complete over a few weeks or months and in theory complete a hypothetical marathon through any number of activities emphasizing the spectrum of activity at a level to suit each individual.

Activities in Local Areas

A Google map was created of physical activity opportunities in Highland Region, pinpointed so users could zoom into their area and find out what was available. This was developed through contact with the Highland council and local groups to ensure opportunities on the map were current. All pinpoints on the map had contact details or Web links to the person or facility running the activity.

Online Intervention

Baseline characteristics of the groups are described in Table 2. Statistical tests—one-way ANOVA (continuous data), chi-square, or Fisher's exact tests (categorical data)—indicated a significant difference between groups for weight: $F_{2,28}=3.6$, P<.04. This was accounted for by the higher percentage of males (80%) in the InfoG; when looking at BMI there were no significant differences across the group. Mean duration of

diabetes was highest in the InfoG and lowest in the InterG: 9.3 (SD 5.5) years versus 5.7 (SD 1.6) years.

Regarding study attrition, 5 participants out of 31 (16%) withdrew from the study: 3 out of 11 (27%) InterG, 1 out of 10 (10%) InfoG, and 1 out of 10 (10%) control group. Figure 1 shows the flow diagram of recruitment and attrition.

Changes in Primary Outcome: Website Measures

Total log-in counts for the website was 262. Over the first 3 months, each participant logged in an average of 12.5 (SD 15.7) times dropping to 11.3 (SD 37.1) times from 3- to 6-month follow-up. There was a large range in the number of log-ins, starting at zero and going up to 50 times in 1 month. In the last 2 months, only 1 person continued to use the website. Table 3 highlights log-in rates per month of study.

Out of the features, only *goal setting* and *log book* were used. The *log book* feature was used 142 times in the first 3 months and increased to 191 times in the second 3 months. The *goal setting* feature was used 108 times in the first 3 months and dropped to 61 times in the second 3 months. Usage broken down per month is highlighted in Figure 2. The most common goal was walking, with 41 goals set in the first 3 months and 83 goals set in the second 3 months. Other goals included swimming, stair climbing, cleaning, cycling, gardening, and circuit training.

Changes in Secondary Outcomes

Physical Activity

Table 4 reports the ActiGraph accelerometer-defined physical activity results broken down into groups at baseline, 3 months, and 6 months.



Connelly et al

Characteristic	Interactive Web group (n=11)	Information Web group (n=10)	Control group (n=10)	
Gender (male), n (%)	6 (55)	8 (80)	4 (40)	
Age (years), mean (SD)	67.3 (10.4)	66.2 (8.4)	66.5 (6.0)	
Duration of diabetes (years), mean (SD)	5.7 (1.6)	9.3 (5.5)	6.9 (4.1)	
Weight (kg), mean (SD)	83.1 (11.6)	100.0 (15.9)	88.7 (16.1)	
$BMI^{a}(kg/m^{2})$, mean (SD)	30.3 (4.2)	33.0 (5.5)	31.4 (5.8)	
Metformin therapy, n (%)	9 (82)	5 (50)	6 (60)	
Lifestyle only, n (%)	2 (18)	5 (50)	4 (40)	

^aBMI: body mass index.

Figure 1. Recruitment and attrition flow diagram for pilot randomized controlled trial.



Month	Number of log-ins	Number of log-ins							
	Minimum, n	Maximum, n	Sum, n	Mean (SD)					
1	0	14	48	4.4 (4.2)					
2	0	27	55	5.0 (7.7)					
3	0	16	34	3.1 (4.9)					
4	0	39	40	3.6 (11.7)					
5	0	50	50	4.5 (15.1)					
6	0	34	34	3.1 (10.3)					

 Table 3. Log-in rates per month broken down into intervention months.

Figure 2. Use of interactive features over time.



Table 4. Changes in ActiGraph accelerometer-defined physical activity data broken down into groups and collection dates.
--

Physical ac- tivity	Interactive Web group (n=11), mean (SD)			Information 7	Information Web group (n=10), mean (SD)			Control group (n=10), mean (SD)			
	Month 0	Month 3	Month 6	Month 0	Month 3	Month 6	Month 0	Month 3	Month 6		
Light (min/wk)	1136.8 (334.7)	896.8 (176.4)	1160.4 (302.2)	1169.9 (501.0)	1225.2 (422.0)	1211.6 (376.0)	1271.2 (288.3)	951.8 (280.8)	1249 (313.1)		
Lifestyle (min/wk)	360.5 (182.9)	294.5 (145.7)	332.8 (302.2)	301.4 (191.2)	397.9 (188.9)	361.6 (188.9)	374.9 (174.3)	303.8 (56.3)	459.3 (149.8)		
Moderate (min/wk)	127.1 (127.0)	72.2 (64.1)	108.4 (108.3)	127.5 (178.0)	134.0 (147.8)	140.1 (40.9)	112.9 (102.7)	83.4 (66.8)	121.7 (96.7)		
Vigorous (min/wk)	4.8 (3.9)	2.0 (1.7)	8.4 (5.9)	7.1 (2.1)	8.5 (2.7)	14.8 (4.6)	5.7 (1.4)	2.5 (0.8)	9.6 (1.5)		
Moderate-to- vigorous (min/wk)	131.9 (126.2)	74.2 (65.6)	116.8 (107.4)	134.6 (123.9)	142.5 (135.9)	154.9 (144.2)	118.9 (103.8)	86.5 (74.1)	126.1 (93.4)		
Step count (steps/wk)	33,571 (20,134)	22,949 (10,398)	30,058 (16,116)	33,655 (24,684)	35,271 (20,679)	37,083 (25,387)	33,412 (20,845)	25,716 (10,414)	34,597 (17,675)		
Sedentary time (total min/wk)	3275 (646)	2509 (756)	3004 (485)	3202 (759)	3129 (997)	3055 (807)	2993 (662)	2429 (776)	2833 (764)		
Sedentary time (max bout in min)	72.5 (16.8)	41.4 (35.4)	37.7 (38.4)	69.5 (17.4)	78.8 (21.6)	55.4 (7.4)	68.2 (22.6)	47.4 (25.8)	47.6 (35.8)		
Sedentary time (mean bout in min)	22.4 (1.2)	22.4 (2.3)	22.8 (3.9)	22.8 (3.0)	23.5 (2.6)	22.8 (4.1)	21.6 (2.8)	21.6 (2.9)	21.6 (2.6)		

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e26/

Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity

Regarding moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA), the InterG dropped from 131.9 (SD 126.2) to 74.2 (SD 65.6) min/week at 3 months, increasing to 116.8 (SD 107.4) min/week at 6 months: d=-0.12. The control group dropped from 118.9 (SD 103.8) to 86.5 (SD 74.1) min/week at 3 months, increasing to 126.1 (SD 93.4) min/week at 6 months: d=0.07. The InfoG increased from 134.6 (SD 123.9) to 142.5 (SD 135.9) min/week at 3 months, furthering increasing to 154.9 (SD 144.2) min/week at 6 months: d=0.15.

Total Sedentary Time

The InterG's sedentary time decreased from 3275 (SD 646) to 2509 (SD 756) min/week at 3 months, increasing to 3004 (SD 485) min/week at 6 months: d=0.5. In the InfoG, sedentary time decreased from 3202 (SD 759) to 3129 (SD 997) min/week at

3 months, further decreasing to 3055 (SD 807) min/week at 6 months: d=0.18. Within the control group, there was a decrease in total sedentary time from 2993 (SD 662) to 2429 (SD 776) min/week at 3 months, followed by an increase to 2833 (SD 764) min/week at 6 months: d=0.2. Table 5 reports the ActiGraph accelerometer-defined physical activity results broken down into groups at baseline, 3 months, and 6 months.

The InterG increased in light intensity percentage from 23.2 (SD 4.9) at baseline to 24.0 (SD 6.1) at 3 months: d=0.1. They also increased in lifestyle intensity percentage from 7.3 (SD 2.5) at baseline to 7.8 (SD 2.8) at 3 months: d=0.18. Sedentary behavior percentage decreased slightly in the InterG group from 66.7 (SD 7.6) at baseline to 66.5 (SD 6.1) at 3 months: d=0.02.

The control group increased their sedentary behavior percentage from 62.9 (SD 6.3) at baseline to 64.4 (SD 10.4) at 3 months: d=0.17.

Table 5. ActiGraph accelerometer-defined physical activity data broken down into wear-time percentage.

Physical activ- ity	Interactive Web group (n=11), mean (SD)			Information Web group (n=10), mean (SD)			Control group (n=10), mean (SD)		
	Month 0	Month 3	Month 6	Month 0	Month 3	Month 6	Month 0	Month 3	Month 6
Light (%/wk)	23.2 (4.9)	24.0 (6.1)	25.0 (4.6)	24.3 (4.1)	25.0 (3.4)	25.0 (4.0)	26.7 (4.5)	25.2 (6.3)	26.7 (7.4)
Lifestyle (%/wk)	7.3 (2.5)	7.8 (2.8)	7.2 (2.3)	6.3 (3.0)	8.1 (3.6)	7.6 (3.0)	7.8 (3.5)	7.6 (3.3)	9.8 (5.1)
Moderate-to- vigorous (%/wk)	2.7 (2.2)	1.9 (2.3)	2.2 (3.0)	2.8 (3.0)	3.0 (1.9)	3.5 (2.8)	2.5 (1.9)	2.3 (2.5)	2.7 (2.3)
Sedentary time (total %/wk)	66.7 (7.6)	66.5 (6.1)	65.6 (6.1)	66.6 (7.5)	63.0 (6.4)	62.8 (7.2)	62.9 (6.3)	64.4 (10.4)	60.7 (11.9)

 Table 6. Changes in physiological measures broken down into groups and collection dates.

Physiological mea- sure	Interactive W	eb group (n=1	1)	Information Web group (n=10)			Control group (n=10)		
	Month 0	Month 3	Month 6	Month 0	Month 3	Month 6	Month 0	Month 3	Month 6
Weight (kg), mean (SD)	83.1 (11.6)	84.5 (13.1)	81.8 (12.8)	100.0 (15.9)	100.1 (14.4)	99.0 (15.8)	88.7 (16.1)	87.1 (15.7)	87.7 (5.6)
BMI ^a (kg/m ²), mean (SD)	30.3 (4.2)	30.5 (4.0)	29.3 (4.1)	33.0 (5.5)	33.0 (5.1)	32.7 (5.6)	31.4 (5.8)	30.9 (5.8)	31.0 (5.6)
Waist circumfer- ence (cm), mean (SD)	104.0 (10.9)	106.0 (10.4)	102.8 (10.2)	118.3 (12.7)	113.6 (10.3)	114.2 (11.1)	108.3 (13.4)	107.2 (14.4)	101.0 (11.7)
HbA1c ^b (mmol/mol), mean (SD)	57.7 (11.2)	56.7 (10.0)	54.1 (9.5)	51.8 (8.0)	55.7 (7.6)	57.5 (9.1)	55.3 (13.7)	54.4 (15.6)	50.5 (5.9)
HbA1c, %	7.5	7.4	7.1	6.9	7.3	7.5	7.2	7.1	6.8

^aBMI: body mass index.

^bHbA1c: glycated hemoglobin.

Changes in Physiological Measures

All changes in physiological data are displayed in Table 6. Waist circumference decreased in the InfoG from 118.3 (SD 12.7) to 113.6 (SD 10.3) cm at 3 months, then increased to 114.2 (SD 11.1) cm at 6 months: *d*=0.34. It decreased in the control group from 108.3 (SD 13.4) cm at baseline to 107.2 (SD 14.4) cm at

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e26/
```

3 months, then further decreased to 101.0 (SD 11.7) cm at 6 months: χ^2_{9} = -2.1, *P*<.02, *d*=0.5.

The InterG HbA1c decreased from 57.7 (SD 11.2) to 56.7 (SD 10.0) mmol/mol at 3 months, further decreasing to 54.1 (SD 9.5) mmol/mol at 6 months: d=0.34. The InfoG increased from 52.4 (SD 8.2) to 55.8 (SD 8.0) mmol/mol at 3 months, then

decreased to 55.0 (SD 4.7) mmol/mol at 6 months: d=-0.38. The control group dropped from 55.3 (SD 13.7) to 54.4 (SD 15.6) mmol/mol at 3 months, further decreasing to 50.5 (SD 5.9) mmol/mol at 6 months: d=0.45.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This composite study is unique in that it reports on patient-identified features of a Web-based physical activity promotion intervention, overall and individual component use of the online intervention, together with change in physical activity. Patient-identified features included a *physical activity tracker*, *user support*, *goal setting*, *ask the expert*, *what is on*, and *interactive challenges*. Of the identified and included features within the online intervention, only the *activity log book* and *goal setting* were used.

Overall access to the website was good, specifically in the first 3 months of the intervention. This reduced in the second half of the intervention, which is common in Web-based interventions [13,21]. However, when education was combined with interactive elements, it did not result in any significant changes in physical activity. The two interactive features that were consistently used were *goal setting* and the *physical activity log book*; of these, neither appeared to be particularly effective in increasing physical activity, in contrast to previous research where those who used goal setting and log books had greater increases in physical activity [11].

Including patients in the design was key in the development of the current intervention. Even though the International Organization for Standardization principles [22]—recognized to ensure quality management—were followed, with more time, user-design workshops would have been helpful. These workshops would allow those using the site to test the features they deemed to be useful in an iterative fashion in process evaluation to determine their role in promoting activity. Longer-term interventions should be conducted to assess sustainability and strategies to increase engagement with the site.

This study provides some support for the use of online diabetes education in the promotion of physical activity. Although no significant change was reported in physical activity levels, a trend toward increasing physical activity was recorded in the InfoG, with 50% (5/10) in the InfoG meeting the current guidelines for physical activity at the end of the study. Online, tailored, physical activity advice has been shown to be effective in the general population [23], with interactive emails resulting in greater increases in physical activity. These are encouraging findings and endorse access to specific Web-based information to increase time spent in physical activity. Access to diabetes-specific physical activity information should be considered in endeavors to support patients with type 2 diabetes in becoming more physically active.

Access to interactive features resulted in a nonsignificant drop in physical activity. The reason for this is unclear, but this pattern was mirrored in the control group and seasonal reasons described in other studies could be postulated to explain the

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e26/
```

pattern [24]. However, a stepped-wedge method was used for recruitment into the trial, with equal numbers of participants randomized into each group per site and each site starting the intervention at a separate time. Given that these results were not observed in the InfoG makes it less likely and raises the question of whether issues with the interactive part of the website may have been a factor.

There was no significant difference in wear time across all groups and time points and all participants met wear-time criteria defined in the methods section. There were discrepancies in the data for the InterG in terms of light physical activity, lifestyle physical activity, and sedentary time, as well as for the control group in sedentary time from baseline to 3 months. However, none of these were significant and had low effect sizes. The main ActiGraph secondary outcome was MVPA and there was no difference in weekly wear-time percentage compared to minutes.

The current intervention did not contain any specific information on decreasing sedentary behavior; however, there was a trend toward decreases in total time spent in sedentary behavior, which may have been at the expense of increasing physical activity, which concurrently decreased. Thereafter, as physical activity increased, total sedentary time subsequently also increased in parallel, possibly due to a compensatory increment in resting time as individuals became more active. The benefits of decreasing sedentary spells are becoming more widely studied, with improvements in metabolic health suggested [25] and an acknowledgment that decreasing sedentary time is just as important as increasing physical activity in terms of health outcomes [26]. Moreover, evidence has shown that even people who meet the current guidelines for physical activity suffer adverse effects from too much sitting time, irrespective of meeting physical activity guidelines [27].

Although the study was not powered to detect significant changes and the mean HbA1c level reflected reasonable control at baseline, for the majority of patients in the InterG there were nonsignificant decreases in HbA1c across the 6 months. This may reflect the shorter duration of diabetes and higher percentage of participants receiving oral antidiabetic therapy in this group. The explanation for the upward trend in HbA1c with increases in MVPA in the InfoG is not clear, although it has been reported in other studies [28]. Possible reasons may include changes in diet or medication associated with increased physical activity, a component that was not a measured outcome of this study.

Waist circumference was used as a surrogate marker for abdominal fat mass; significant reductions were observed in the InfoG despite a lack of change in weight. Studies have shown that even without weight loss, increased physical activity is associated with reductions in fat mass [29], which can improve insulin sensitivity and in turn lead to improvement in blood glucose levels.

Limitations

The study had a small sample size with only 31 participants in total. As this was a pilot intervention, no sample size calculation was undertaken and effect size was reported as an alternative.

XSL•FO

Future research should include in-depth follow-up, such as qualitative interviews, to explore the issues participants may or may not have had with the interactive features and so participants can provide feedback on what was useful and/or effective in promoting activity and engagement with the site.

All groups received new information on top of usual care procedures. The information received was diabetes-specific physical activity advice to aid in the promotion of physical activity. This new information, as well as increased patient contact, could influence outcomes.

Comparison With Prior Work

Unlike previous work, this paper reports on the development and feasibility testing of the codesigned tool. It reports on what health professionals and people with type 2 diabetes considered to be essential tools for engagement with the site and support to increase physical activity and compared this with what was actually used. This study supported the use of a Web-based physical activity promotional intervention to communicate personalized physical activity education, which resulted in increased physical activity behavior in people with type 2 diabetes.

Conclusions

Web-based physical activity information was associated with a trend toward increased physical activity across a 6-month intervention in people with type 2 diabetes. Interactive features were not effective in increasing physical activity participation.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Excerpts from focus groups that aided in the development of the website.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 34KB - diabetes_v2i2e26_app1.pdf]

References

- Sigal R, Kenny G, Boulé NG, Wells G, Prud'homme D, Fortier M, et al. Effects of aerobic training, resistance training, or both on glycemic control in type 2 diabetes: A randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2007 Sep 18;147(6):357-369. [Medline: <u>17876019</u>]
- Lehmann R, Engler H, Honegger R, Riesen W, Spinas GA. Alterations of lipolytic enzymes and high-density lipoprotein subfractions induced by physical activity in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Eur J Clin Invest 2001 Jan;31(1):37-44. [Medline: <u>11168437</u>]
- 3. Look AHEAD Research Group, Gregg E, Jakicic J, Blackburn G, Bloomquist P, Bray G, et al. Association of the magnitude of weight loss and changes in physical fitness with long-term cardiovascular disease outcomes in overweight or obese people with type 2 diabetes: A post-hoc analysis of the Look AHEAD randomised clinical trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2016 Dec;4(11):913-921. [doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(16)30162-0] [Medline: 27595918]
- 4. Holloszy JO. Exercise-induced increase in muscle insulin sensitivity. J Appl Physiol (1985) 2005 Jul;99(1):338-343 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00123.2005] [Medline: 16036907]
- 5. WHO Guidelines Review Committee. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. World Health Organization 2010 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26180873]
- Colberg S, Sigal R, Yardley J, Riddell M, Dunstan D, Dempsey P, et al. Physical activity/exercise and diabetes: A position statement of the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care 2016 Nov;39(11):2065-2079. [doi: <u>10.2337/dc16-1728</u>] [Medline: <u>27926890</u>]
- Krug L, Haire-Joshu D, Heady S. Exercise habits and exercise relapse in persons with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Educ 1991;17(3):185-188. [doi: <u>10.1177/014572179101700314</u>] [Medline: <u>2019226</u>]
- 8. Matthews L, Kirk A, McCallum M, Mutrie N, Gold A, Keen A. The feasibility of a physical activity intervention for adults within routine diabetes care: A process evaluation. Pract Diabetes 2017;34(1):7-12. [doi: <u>10.1002/pdi.2069</u>]
- Di Loreto C, Fanelli C, Lucidi P, Murdolo G, De Cicco A, Parlanti N, et al. Validation of a counseling strategy to promote the adoption and the maintenance of physical activity by type 2 diabetic subjects. Diabetes Care 2003 Feb;26(2):404-408. [Medline: 12547870]
- 10. Remote and Rural Steering Group. Delivering for Remote and Rural Healthcare: The Final Report of the Remote and Rural Workstream. Edinburgh, Scotland: The Scottish Government; 2008 May. URL: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Resource/Doc/222087/</u>0059735.pdf [accessed 2017-10-09] [WebCite Cache ID 6u5aAgMbr]
- 11. Griffiths F, Lindenmeyer A, Powell J, Lowe P, Thorogood M. Why are health care interventions delivered over the Internet? A systematic review of the published literature. J Med Internet Res 2006 Jun;8(2):e10. [Medline: <u>16867965</u>]
- 12. Connelly J, Kirk A, Masthoff J, MacRury S. The use of technology to promote physical activity in type 2 diabetes management: A systematic review. Diabet Med 2013 Dec;30(12):1420-1432. [doi: 10.1111/dme.12289] [Medline: 23870009]
- 13. Kim C, Kang D. Utility of a Web-based intervention for individuals with type 2 diabetes: The impact on physical activity levels and glycemic control. Comput Inform Nurs 2006;24(6):337-345. [Medline: <u>17108753</u>]

- Norman G, Zabinski M, Adams M, Rosenberg D, Yaroch A, Atienza A. A review of eHealth interventions for physical activity and dietary behavior change. Am J Prev Med 2007 Oct;33(4):336-345 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2007.05.007] [Medline: 17888860]
- 15. Glasgow R, Boles S, McKay HG, Feil E, Barrera M. The D-Net diabetes self-management program: Long-term implementation, outcomes, and generalization results. Prev Med 2003 Apr;36(4):410-419. [Medline: <u>12649049</u>]
- 16. Barbour R. Checklists for improving rigour in qualitative research: A case of the tail wagging the dog? BMJ 2001 May 05;322(7294):1115-1117 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11337448</u>]
- Higgins J, Altman D, Gøtzsche PC, Jüni P, Moher D, Oxman A, Cochrane Bias Methods Group, Cochrane Statistical Methods Group. The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2011 Oct 18;343:d5928 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22008217]
- Freedson P, Melanson E, Sirard J. Calibration of the Computer Science and Applications, Inc. accelerometer. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1998 May;30(5):777-781. [Medline: <u>9588623</u>]
- Ainsworth BE, Haskell WL, Herrmann SD, Meckes N, Bassett DR, Tudor-Locke C, et al. 2011 Compendium of Physical Activities: A second update of codes and MET values. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2011 Aug;43(8):1575-1581. [doi: <u>10.1249/MSS.0b013e31821ece12</u>] [Medline: <u>21681120</u>]
- 20. Prochaska J, DiClemente C. Self-change processes, self-efficacy and decisional balance across five stages of smoking cessation. Prog Clin Biol Res 1984;156:131-140. [Medline: <u>6473420</u>]
- 21. Haste A, Adamson A, McColl E, Araujo-Soares V, Bell R. Web-based weight loss intervention for men with type 2 diabetes: Pilot randomized controlled trial. JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e14. [doi: <u>10.2196/diabetes.7430</u>]
- 22. International Organization for Standardization. 2010. Ergonomics of human-system interaction Part 210: Human-centred design for interactive systems URL: <u>https://www.iso.org/standard/52075.html</u> [accessed 2017-10-06] [WebCite Cache ID 600onSALD]
- 23. Spittaels H, De Bourdeaudhuij I. Implementation of an online tailored physical activity intervention for adults in Belgium. Health Promot Int 2006 Dec;21(4):311-319. [doi: 10.1093/heapro/dal030] [Medline: 16963783]
- 24. Ma Y, Olendzki BC, Li W, Hafner AR, Chiriboga D, Hebert JR, et al. Seasonal variation in food intake, physical activity, and body weight in a predominantly overweight population. Eur J Clin Nutr 2006 Apr;60(4):519-528 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602346] [Medline: 16340952]
- 25. Healy GN, Dunstan DW, Salmon J, Cerin E, Shaw JE, Zimmet PZ, et al. Breaks in sedentary time: Beneficial associations with metabolic risk. Diabetes Care 2008 Apr;31(4):661-666. [doi: <u>10.2337/dc07-2046</u>] [Medline: <u>18252901</u>]
- 26. Owen N, Sparling P, Healy G, Dunstan D, Matthews C. Sedentary behavior: Emerging evidence for a new health risk. Mayo Clin Proc 2010 Dec;85(12):1138-1141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4065/mcp.2010.0444] [Medline: 21123641]
- 27. Owen N, Healy GN, Matthews CE, Dunstan DW. Too much sitting: The population health science of sedentary behavior. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 2010 Jul;38(3):105-113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/JES.0b013e3181e373a2] [Medline: 20577058]
- Gram B, Christensen R, Christiansen C, Gram J. Effects of nordic walking and exercise in type 2 diabetes mellitus: A randomized controlled trial. Clin J Sport Med 2010 Sep;20(5):355-361. [doi: <u>10.1227/NEU.0b013e3181e56e0a</u>] [Medline: <u>20818193</u>]
- Cheung NW, Cinnadaio N, Russo M, Marek S. A pilot randomised controlled trial of resistance exercise bands in the management of sedentary subjects with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2009 Mar;83(3):e68-e71. [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2008.12.009] [Medline: 19157617]

Abbreviations

ANOVA: analysis of variance BMI: body mass index HbA1c: glycated hemoglobin HPLC: high performance liquid chromatography InfoG: information Web group InterG: interactive Web group ISRCTN: International Standard Randomised Controlled Trial Number MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 20.09.16; peer-reviewed by B Larsen, R Sigal, DCJ(Wu; comments to author 23.11.16; revised version received 20.01.17; accepted 12.09.17; published 19.10.17. <u>Please cite as:</u> Connelly J, Kirk A, Masthoff J, MacRury S A Website to Promote Physical Activity in People With Type 2 Diabetes Living in Remote or Rural Locations: Feasibility Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e26 URL: http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e26/ doi:10.2196/diabetes.6669 PMID:30291091

©Jenni Connelly, Alison Kirk, Judith Masthoff, Sandra MacRury. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 19.10.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Web-Based Weight Loss Intervention for Men With Type 2 Diabetes: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial

Anna Haste^{1,2,3}, Registered Psychol, PhD; Ashley J Adamson^{1,2,3}, PhD; Elaine McColl¹, PhD; Vera Araujo-Soares¹, PhD; Ruth Bell¹, MD

¹Institute of Health and Society, Faculty of Medical Sciences, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, United Kingdom

²Human Nutrition Research Centre, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, United Kingdom

³Fuse–UKCRC Centre for Translational Research in Public Health, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Anna Haste, Registered Psychol, PhD Institute of Health and Society Faculty of Medical Sciences Newcastle University Baddiley Clark Building Richardson Road Newcastle upon Tyne, NE2 4AX United Kingdom Phone: 44 0 191 208 7045 Fax: 44 0 191 208 6043 Email: anna.haste@newcastle.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: Rising obesity levels remain a major public health concern due to the clear link with several comorbidities such as diabetes. Diabetes now affects 6% of the UK population. Modest weight loss of 5% to 10% has been shown to be associated with significant reductions in blood sugar, lipid, and blood pressure levels. Men have been shown to be attracted to programs that do not require extensive face-to-face time commitments, illustrating the potential audience available for health behavior change via the Web.

Objective: The objective of our study was to evaluate the feasibility and acceptability of a Web-based weight loss intervention in men with type 2 diabetes.

Methods: We conducted a pilot, parallel 2-arm, individually randomized controlled trial with embedded process evaluation. Participants were randomly assigned in a one-to-one ratio to the usual care group or the 12-month Web-based weight loss intervention, including dietitian and exercise expert feedback. Face-to-face recruitment and assessment were performed by the researcher unblinded. Data collected included weight, height, body mass index (BMI), and waist circumference, together with an audit trail of eligibility, recruitment, retention, and adherence rates. A process evaluation (website use data and qualitative interviews) monitored adherence, acceptability, and feasibility of the intervention.

Results: General practice database searches achieved the recruitment target (n=61) for the population of men with type 2 diabetes, of whom 66% (40/61) completed 3-month follow-up measurements. By 12 months, the retention rate was 52% (32/61), with 12 of the 33 men allocated to the intervention group still active on the website. The intervention was seen as acceptable by the majority of participants. We gained insights about acceptability and use of the website from the parallel process evaluation.

Conclusions: Recruitment to the Web-based weight loss intervention was successful. Results are descriptive, but there were positive indications of increased weight loss (in kilograms and as a percentage), and reduced waist circumference and BMI for the intervention group from 3 to 12 months, in comparison with control. This research adds to the evidence base in relation to incorporating a Web-based weight loss intervention within the UK National Health Service (NHS). NHS weight loss services are struggling to provide sufficient referrals. Therefore, alternative modes of delivery, with the potential to reduce health professional input and time per patient while still enabling individual and tailored care, need to be investigated to identify whether they can be effective and thus benefit the NHS.

Trial Registration: International Standard Randomized Controlled Trial Number (ISRCTN): 48086713; http://www.isrctn.com/ISRCTN48086713 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/6rO4xSlhI)

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e14) doi:10.2196/diabetes.7430

KEYWORDS

weight loss; Web-based intervention; feasibility studies; pilot RCT; randomized controlled trial; pilot projects; type 2 diabetes; diabetes mellitus, type 2; men; men's health; process evaluation

Introduction

The direct cost of obesity in the United Kingdom is estimated at more than £5 billion per year [1] to the National Health Service (NHS). The prevalence of obese adults (body mass index [BMI] \geq 30 kg/m²) in England is 24.9% for men and 25.2% for women [2-4]. This is cause for concern, due to the clear link between obesity and several comorbidities such as diabetes [5,6]. The risk of developing type 2 diabetes is increased considerably for people categorized as obese compared with those who have a healthy weight [7,8], with 65% to 80% of new cases of diabetes being attributed to patients being overweight or obese [9].

Diabetes now affects 6% of the UK population, with around 90% of those having a diagnosis of diabetes found to have type 2 diabetes. Complications of diabetes affect the eyes (retinopathy), heart (cardiovascular disease), kidneys (nephropathy), and nerves and feet (neuropathy) [10]. Modest weight loss of 5% to 10% is associated with significant reductions in blood sugar, lipid, and blood pressure levels [11,12].

Recruiting men to weight loss programs is notoriously difficult, with men less likely to attend NHS or commercially run weight loss services [13-17]. Men were attracted to programs that did not require extensive face-to-face time commitments [17], suggesting the potential for men to favor or at least be accepting of Web-based interventions. A previously used individualized Web-based service was shown to be successful in decreasing glycated hemoglobin and 2-hour postprandial blood glucose test in obese patients with type 2 diabetes [18].

Evidence suggests that traditional primary care management (one-to-one dietitian or practice nurse consultations) can be costly and subject to high attrition rates [19,20]. Therefore, alternative methods for effective weight loss need to be investigated.

Using the Web for a weight loss intervention may provide a suitable alternative owing to the available audience already using the Internet. In 2016, 89% of households in Great Britain (23.7 million) had Internet access, an increase from 86% in 2015 and 57% in 2006, with 82% of adults accessing the Internet almost every day in 2016 [21]. The number of households in the United Kingdom with Web access is increasing annually in all age groups [22]. Over half (51%) of Web users actively used the Internet to investigate health issues, increasing from 18% in 2007 [21].

Internet-based interventions have the potential to minimize the stigma that may be experienced during face-to-face consultations, increase accessibility, privacy, and control for the user, and reduce the cost of an intervention [23,24].

Although the number of studies on Web-based weight loss interventions has increased, conclusions on their effectiveness still remain uncertain. Previous reviews have identified the potential of Web-based weight loss interventions to result in greater weight loss and engagement with physical activity and diet in comparison with a control group [25-27]. Intervention characteristics have been shown to be heterogeneous [26,28]. In a previous review, commonly incorporated active ingredients in Web-based weight loss interventions, identified using the Coventry, Aberdeen, and London-Refined (CALO-RE) taxonomy [29], included providing feedback on performance, planning social support or social change, prompting self-monitoring of behavior or behavioral outcome, and goal setting (behavior and outcome) [30]. The review also identified that incorporating personalized feedback within Web-based weight loss interventions led to greater weight loss in comparison with control groups providing no personalized feedback [30].

There is a range of modes of delivery that can be used when providing a Web-based weight loss intervention: websites or mobile app-based technology; automated or human feedback; and text messages, email, or Web-based messaging [30].

Web-based weight loss interventions have the potential to offer long-term programs at a low cost due to their potentially greater reach, in comparison with traditional face-to-face approaches [23,31]. Effectiveness remains unclear, and there are many uncertainties regarding feasibility and acceptability of the intervention and of trial processes. Therefore, a definitive trial, preceded by a randomized pilot trial, is needed.

The aim of this study was to evaluate the feasibility and acceptability of a Web-based weight loss intervention, and the trialing of that intervention, for men with type 2 diabetes.

Methods

We conducted a parallel-group 2-arm patient randomized rehearsal pilot randomized controlled trial (RCT) with embedded process evaluation. The pilot RCT was multicentered, consisting of patients registered with general practices within the catchment area of County Durham and Darlington in northeast England.

The aim was to recruit and randomly allocate 60 patients. A suggested sample size for pilot trials is 30 participants per arm, to enable estimation of parameters for a future trial [32,33].

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

We aimed to recruit men who had a diagnosis of type 2 diabetes and had a BMI of at least 30 kg/m² but less than 40 kg/m² at baseline measurement. The BMI inclusion criterion was 30 kg/m² or greater, as this is the inclusion criterion for the majority of NHS tier 2 (lifestyle interventions) or tier 3 (specialist services) weight management services in England [34]. As this

study was examining the change in service delivery of weight management within the NHS, we followed the criterion used within the NHS. When a patient reaches a BMI of 40 kg/m², lifestyle modification may no longer be appropriate and bariatric surgery may be recommended [35]. Men had to be aged 18 years or older, with no upper age restrictions.

Participants were required to have access to the Web (at home, the workplace, or a public location) on any device (desktop computer, laptop, tablet, or mobile phone).

We excluded patients unable to give written informed consent or access the intervention in English (resource constraints precluded adaptation of the intervention for non-English speakers) or who were identified by their general practitioners (GPs) as having a contraindication to the weight loss intervention (such as previous eating disorders or other mental health problems).

Ethics

The study was accepted onto the UK National Institute for Health Research clinical research network portfolio and registered (October 26, 2012) on a clinical trial registry (ISRCTN: 48086713). We gained NHS ethical favorable opinion from National Research Ethics Service Committee East of England - Cambridge Central Proportionate Review Sub-committee on August 9, 2012 (Research Ethics Committee reference: 12/EE/0361).

Recruitment

We recruited participants through GP database searches; we identified participating practices through the UK Primary Care Research Network. In response to participant invitation letters, potential participants could state their intention by completing an attached reply slip and returning by reply-paid mail to the research team. Participants could also contact the research team directly via email or telephone. Those who did not want to take part in the research could return the slip and (optionally) provide a reason why. During baseline appointments in GP offices, participants provided written informed consent to the researcher (AH) prior to baseline measurements.

The researcher (AH) then randomly allocated each participant to 1 of the 2 arms using the Sealed Envelope Web-based system (Sealed Envelope Ltd). Randomization was by a one-to one allocation, to either usual care (control group) or the Web-based intervention group. We used stratification to ensure that the potential confounding variable of diabetes medication was balanced between the intervention and control arms, since this might affect outcomes. The strata were diet only, oral hypoglycemic agents, or insulin. Participants who were taking insulin and tablets were assigned to the insulin stratum. Participants were informed of allocation via postal letter by the researcher (AH). Blinding of intervention allocation was not possible for anyone involved in the pilot trial. The control arm experienced usual care for weight loss, according to their general practice's normal processes. This was a pragmatic trial and we did not seek to influence what was offered to the patient, with no specific arrangements to review or refer participants.

Participants randomly allocated to the intervention group were sent log-in details and encouraged to log in to the intervention website [36] before their initial face-to-face consultation with their assigned dietitian.

We asked participants randomly allocated to the intervention to state whether they were engaged in any other weight loss services. None of the intervention group were using any other services.

Intervention Description

The website (My Dietitian) was created by PraksisCare (Odense, Denmark) based on a previous study that had identified successful weight loss via a Web-based intervention [37]. We worked together with PraksisCare to develop and adapt the My Dietitian intervention to make it relevant for use within the United Kingdom and the NHS. Table 1 describes the intervention based on the Template for Intervention Description and Replication checklist [38].

A key feature of the 12-month intervention was the Web-delivered consultations (embedded email-style messages sent within the website), which were delivered to participants by health care professionals (dietitians and exercise experts). Consultations were delivered in accordance with a scheduled protocol created prior to the start of the study (Table 1). The initial one-off face-to-face meeting with the dietitian was conducted in an hour-long appointment slot. Dietitians were expected to provide Web-based consultations on a maximum weekly basis for the first 3 months (n=12) and then monthly for the last 9 months (n=9; total planned dietitian contact n=21). Exercise experts provided Web-based consultations on a maximum monthly basis for the first 3 months (n=3) and then every 3 months for the last 9 months (n=3; total planned exercise expert contact n=6). There were thus 15 planned consultations (diet and activity) in total over the first 3 months and 27 by the end of the 12-month intervention.

Time taken to write the consultations varied across the participants based on the required advice. The content of the consultations was at the professional discretion of the dietitians and exercise experts. Every intervention participant received personalized Web-based consultations from their designated dietitian and exercise expert. This feedback was based on participant input on the website and was typically concerned with areas of improvement in relation to dietary intake and physical activity.

Table 1. Template for Intervention Description and Replication (TIDieR) checklist^a for the My Dietitian Web-based weight loss intervention.

TIDieR checklist item	Description
What	
Consultant feedback	The health care professionals received training on setting SMART ^b goals with the participants and putting together action and coping plans, addressing barrier identification, and problem solving. An initial one-off consultation with the dietitian face-to-face was then followed by a structure of scheduled Web-based consultations, with the patient also able to contact the professional in between if needed. The user received a notification that feedback was available for them to read. Consultations provided the user with information in relation to their weight status and recommendations on how to improve their behaviors. Example food diaries provided users with instructions on how to perform the behavior.
	(BCT ^c : provide feedback on performance; provide instruction on how to perform the behavior; provide information on consequences of behavior to the individual; action planning; relapse prevention and coping planning; barrier identification and problem solving; goal setting: behavior and outcome).
Daily food intake input	Type and amount of food and time consumed. Information could be converted into calories consumed and represented in a pie chart showing percentages for food types consumed. (BCT: prompt self-monitoring of behavior; provide feedback on performance).
Physical activity input	Type, time, and intensity of any completed physical activity, which could be translated into calories burned. (BCT: prompt self-monitoring of behavior; provide feedback on performance).
Diet budget	Daily outline of calories consumed, calories burned and the allowance they have remaining. (BCT: Prompt self-moni- toring of behavior; Provide feedback on performance).
Body measurements	Participants had the option to record waist and weight measurements and amount of steps taken presented in a graph to display participant's progress as part of the intervention. (BCT: prompt self-monitoring of behavior and behavioral outcomes; provide feedback on performance).
My community	Users could interact through forums, diaries, and chat rooms. Recipes and relevant articles were available to users. (BCT: plan social support and social change).
Who provided	Registered dietitians and exercise experts (Health Improvement Specialists)
How	Individually delivered via the Web
Where	A one-off face-to-face meeting with the dietitian in the participants' homes. Then solely Web-based delivery.
When and how much	12-month intervention. The initial one-off face-to-face meeting with the dietitian was conducted in an hour-long appointment slot. Dietitians provided Web-based consultations on a maximum weekly basis for the first 3 months (n=12) and then monthly for the last 9 months (n=9, total maximum planned dietitian contact n=21). Exercise experts provided Web-based consultations on a monthly basis for the first 3 months (n=3) and then every 3 months for the last 9 months (n=3, total planned maximum exercise expert contact n=6). Total maximum consultations over the first 3 months n=15, total maximum consultations at the end of the 12-month intervention n=27. The content of the consultations was at the professional discretion of dietitians and exercise experts.
Tailoring	Every intervention participant received personalized Web-based consultations from their designated dietitian and exercise expert. This feedback was based on participant input on the website.
Modifications	No modifications were made during the study
Fidelity	
Planned	A protocol of Web-based consultation provision was created for the dietitians and exercise experts. Fidelity was assessed by monitoring website use and consultation provision by dietitians and exercise experts.
Actual	Website use data identified the number of delivered consultations in comparison with the number planned before the start of the intervention
Included BCTs from CALO- RE taxonomy ^d	Prompt self-monitoring of behavior Prompt self-monitoring of behavioral outcomes
	Provide instruction on how to perform the behavior
	Provide information on consequences of behavior in general
	Provide information on consequences of behavior to the individual
	Provide feedback on performance Action planning
	Relapse prevention and coping planning
	Barrier identification and problem solving
	Goal setting (behavior)
	Goal setting (outcome)
	Planning social support and social change

XSL•FO RenderX

^aBased on Hoffmann et al [38].

^bSMART: specific, measurable, agreed upon, realistic, and time-based goals.

^cBCT: behavior change technique.

^dCALO-RE: Coventry, Aberdeen, and London-Refined taxonomy [29].

Figure 1. My Dietitian website screenshot of dietary intake entry page.

Users Signups Misc Com	nunity Information Log out	
Home / My Food		
What should I do here? Please enter your daily food intake as often as possible.	My food Friday 8/11/2013	FAVORITES No favorite food yet SWITCH UNIT
This way you can keep track of your daily calorie budget, and your coach is better equipped in helping you change your lifestyle.	FOOD (E.G. "MILK" OR "MILK, SKIMMED") beef c × ADD TO MY Lunch	_ Kj
How do I add my food? Find food and drinks in the text box to the right, if you want to count calories, or you can just write in your own words what you eat and drink in the NOTES field below each meal.	SUGGESTIONS Beef curry Beef curry, chilled/frozen, reheated, with rice Beef casserole, made with canned cook-in sauce Beef curry, reduced fat Beef curry, chilled/frozen, reheated Beef casserole, canned Beef curry, canned Beef chow mein, retail, reheated Beef sausanes chilled raw	15% 42% Carbohydrate Fibre Alcohol
How do I change the date? Click the gray button next to My food and select your desired date.	AMOUNT 100 UNIT	

Website pages allowed participants to record their personal daily dietary intake (Figure 1), physical activity, or weight status, which was viewed by the health care professionals. Participants were advised to enter their dietary intake (all meals, snacks, and drinks) and physical activity on a daily basis. Using the website features was important so that the health care professionals were able to provide thorough consultations to the participants. Other features were less interactive but were provided to inform or encourage participants, such as a database of recipes, relevant articles on physical activity, diet and weight loss advice, and the ability to chat online with other participants.

We recruited and trained 2 NHS dietitians and 2 exercise experts to work on the study intervention, the My Dietitian website. The health care professionals provided quality assurance checks on the content of the website. Training consisted of 2 half-day sessions covering behavior change techniques relevant to weight loss, an overview of the Web-based intervention, and practical sessions to enable the health care professionals to become familiar with and competent at using the website.

Primary Outcomes

The primary outcomes were recruitment and retention in the trial, as measured by rates of eligibility, response to invitation, ineligibility, declines, consent, and retention for data collection at 3 and 12 months. Within the parallel process evaluation, we examined adherence to the intervention through collection of website use data. We examined acceptability of the intervention by conducting semistructured interviews with participants.

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e14/

RenderX

Secondary Outcomes

Secondary outcomes were comprehensiveness and feasibility of the measures proposed as primary or secondary outcomes in the future definitive RCT (anthropometric measures: body weight, height, BMI, and waist circumference). Losing 5% of one's initial body weight is a target recommended by UK National Institute for Health and Care Excellence guidelines to improve health [35]. Another secondary outcome was parameter estimates of the proposed primary and secondary outcomes measures for the future definitive RCT to inform sample size calculations.

Reporting of the rehearsal pilot RCT follows the Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) statement extension to randomized pilot and feasibility trials guidelines [39] (see Multimedia Appendix 1 for the study's CONSORT checklist [40]).

Data Collection

Data collection points were at baseline, 3 months, and 12 months and were completed in GP offices. Rates of eligibility, recruitment, randomization, retention, attrition, and adherence were logged from the initial invitation letters through intervention allocation (baseline) to follow-up (3 and 12 months), enabling an audit trail to be maintained [41].

We collected process evaluation data for adherence by tracking and monitoring website use. Website data were collected in relation to number of website log-ins for participants, self-monitoring diaries completed (food and dietary intake and

exercise entries), number of consultations made by the health professionals to the participants, and Web-based messages sent to the health professionals by the participants. Any food and dietary intake that was entered on the website on a given day was classified as 1 entry, and the same also applied to exercise entries.

We examined acceptability and feasibility through semistructured interviews conducted once with participants, lasting between 15 and 60 minutes, at the end of the 12-month study.

Anthropometric measures were collected at baseline, 3 months, and 12 months. We recorded height using a Leicester height stadiometer (Marsden Weighing Group Ltd, Rotterham, England), with participants asked to stand as straight as possible with their shoes off. Body weight was measured using calibrated Shekel personal floor scales (H151-7, Class III; Shekel Scales Ltd, Lower Galilee, Israel), allowing capacity weight up to 250 kg. Each participant was required to produce 2 body weight readings to check for consistency (within 0.1 kg). If these were not consistent then a third reading was required, and the average of the 3 readings was used as the final body weight recording. Participants remained clothed but were asked to remove coats and shoes. The Shekel scales also allowed a participant's height to be entered along with body weight to calculate a BMI recording. Waist circumference was measured, midway between the lowest rib and the iliac crest, underneath clothing, using a tape measure.

Data Analysis

We examined the number of participants and percentages to identify rates of eligibility, response to invitation, ineligibility, declines, consent, and retention at baseline, 3 months, and 12 months.

The recorded website data were examined to identify average number of log-ins for participants, self-monitoring diaries completed (dietary intake and exercise inputs), consultations by health professionals to the participants in comparison with scheduled consultations, and diaries and messages sent to the consultants by participants. We also examined adherence to the intervention in terms of the number of users and nonusers of the website at each time point to identify adherence over time and by population group.

Interviews were recorded and transcribed. Qualitative data were imported into NVivo 10 software (QSR International) and analyzed using framework analysis, a 5-step process: familiarization, identification of a thematic framework, indexing, charting, and mapping (interpretation) [42,43].

We used descriptive statistics to characterize rates of completion for anthropometric measures, rates of implausible values, and 5-figure summaries (minimum, maximum, median, and lower and upper quartiles). We also calculated means and standard deviations to inform sample size calculations for a potential definitive trial. Quantitative data were analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 21.0 software (IBM Corporation).

Results

Eligibility, Recruitment, Retention, and Attrition

A total of 8 general practices agreed to perform database searches to identify potential participants, but 1 did not complete the searches due to time pressures. Practice size ranged from 1663 to 19,976 patients and varied in terms of location: town centers (n=3), housing estates (n=2), and rural villages (n=2).

Figure 2 shows the CONSORT diagram. GP database searches achieved the recruitment target after a period of 5 months, with a total of 61 men providing consent and being randomly allocated. The first patient was recruited during November 2012 and March 2013, with the last 12-month follow-up appointment held in March 2014. Of the participants, 66% (40/61) completed 3-month follow-up measurements. By 12 months, retention rates had 32/61 (52%) of the men remaining.

Response Rates

Men with diabetes (n=968) were identified from database searches (Figure 2). The response rate, expressed as those who stated an interest in joining the study as a percentage of those contacted by their practice, was 85 of 968 (8.8%). Only a small proportion of these were found to be ineligible at the baseline appointment due to changes in BMI (5/968, 0.5%).

Of those invited to the study, 187 of 968 (19.3%) of the men with diabetes explicitly declined to the invitation letter, and 115 of 187 (61.5%) did not give a reason for nonparticipation. The most common reasons for declining participation were no Web access (29/187, 15.5%), work commitments (12/187, 6.4%), poor health (10/187, 5.4%), and age (8/187, 4.3%). Those who declined due to lack of Web access did so in response to the invitation letter. Although this meant they were not eligible for participation, as these patients declined the invitation letter before any contact with the research team, they were never seen at the baseline assessment and therefore were not formally excluded. The vast majority of invited participants did not respond to the letter (696/968, 71.9%).

Data completion rates and retention rates decreased over the study time period (baseline to 3 months to 12 months). For the control group, 12 of 28 (43%) participants had dropped out by 3 months, and 16 of 28 (57%) had dropped out by the end of the study (12 months). For the intervention group, attrition was lower, with 9 of 33 (27%) participants dropping out by 3 months and 13 of 33 (39%) dropping out by 12 months. The main reasons for participants leaving the study were being too busy or having family or work commitments, for both the intervention- and the control-arm participants (Figure 2).



Haste et al

Figure 2. Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) recruitment flow diagram.



Anthropometric Measures

Table 2 shows baseline demographic and anthropometricdescriptive statistics.

Change variables relate to change in measurements from baseline to 3 months and baseline to 12 months (Table 3). All changes, at both 3 and 12 months, were decreases (ie, positive changes). Of the remaining men in the intervention, 8 lost 5% of their initial body weight at 12 months in comparison with 4 of the control group. In terms of mean weight loss, intervention participants in our study lost on average 5.4 kg (Multimedia Appendix 2).

Process Evaluation (Adherence)

We examined adherence to the intervention in terms of users versus nonusers among those allocated to use the website (intervention group) (Table 4). "Users: relates to participants who entered information onto the website. "Nonusers" were those participants who never logged on to the website or only logged on to register on the website and did not enter any inputs.

At 3 months, the 9 intervention men who dropped out of the study had all been nonusers of the website from the outset (Figure 2).



Haste et al

 Table 2. Baseline demographic and anthropometric measures by intervention status.

Outcome measure	Control (n=28)	Intervention (n=33)
Age (years)		
Median (LQ-UQ) ^a	61 (54.5-66.8)	58 (50-67.5)
Range (min-max) ^b	39 (40-79)	41 (37-78)
White ethnicity, n (%)	28 (100)	33 (100)
Education (years)		
Median (LQ-UQ)	12 (11-12)	12 (10-14)
Range (min-max)	4 (12-16)	6 (12-18)
Employment status, n (%)		
Employed	11 (39)	9 (27)
Self-employed	1 (4)	2 (6)
Unemployed	3 (11)	6 (18)
Retired	11 (39)	14 (42)
Caregiver, sick leave, disabled	2 (7)	2 (6)
Marital status n (%)		
Married or in a relationship	25 (89)	24 (73)
Single	1 (4)	4 (12)
Divorced or separated	2 (7)	3 (9)
Widowed	0 (0)	2 (6)
Weight (kg)		
Median (LQ-UQ)	109.3 (96.9-119.0)	106.5 (100.1-115.4
Range (min-max)	45.2 (87.2-132.3)	43.2 (86.6-129.8)
Body mass index (kg/m ²)		
Median (LQ-UQ)	34.4 (31.6-37.0)	33.3 (31.6-36.4)
Range (min-max)	9.1 (30.3-39.4)	8.2 (30.4-38.6)
Waist (cm)		
Median (LQ-UQ)	119.5 (114-126.8)	118.0 (112-124)
Range (min-max)	32 (103-135)	33 (100-133)

^aLQ-UQ: lower quartile to upper quartile.

^bmin-max: minimum to maximum.



Table 3. Anthropometric measures across assessment times by group (control vs intervention).

Outcome measure	3 months		12 months	
	Control (n=16)	Intervention (n=24)	Control (n=12)	Intervention (n=20)
Weight (kg)		_		
Median (LQ-UQ) ^a	105.7 (92.3-114.9)	102.2 (97.4-110.3)	100.7 (91.9-118.1)	99.2 (90.7-106.8)
Range (min-max) ^b	38.6 (85.5-124.1)	44.3 (84.4-128.7)	40.3 (86.1-126.4)	46.8 (81.2-128)
Weight change (kg)				
Median (LQ-UQ)	-2.2 (-3.7 to -0.9)	-2.35 (-4.5 to -0.9)	-2.5 (-5.0 to 0.2)	-4.3 (-7.8 to -1.0)
Range (min-max)	9.7 (-8.6 to 1.1)	10.3 (-8.4 to 1.9)	16.1 (-12.6 to 3.5)	21.4 (-18.5 to 2.9)
5% weight loss, n (%)	3 (19)	3 (13)	4 (33)	8 (40)
BMI ^c (kg/m ²)				
Median (LQ-UQ)	33.3 (30.8-36.1)	32.2 (31.1-34.5)	33.3 (29.9-36.8)	31.3 (29.8-33.2)
Range (min-max)	8.7 (28.7-37.4)	9.9 (28.4-38.3)	8.9 (29.3-38.2)	9.9 (27.5-37.4)
BMI change (kg/m ²)				
Median (LQ-UQ)	-0.7 (-1.1 to -0.2)	-0.9 (-1.4 to -0.2)	-0.8 (-1.6 to 0.8)	-1.7 (-2.7 to -0.3)
Range (min-max)	3.2 (-3.0 to 0.2)	3.4 (-2.8 to 0.6)	5 (-3.9 to 1.1)	7.8 (-6.5 to 1.3)
Waist circumference (cm)				
Median (LQ-UQ)	118.5 (109.8-124.8)	112.5 (108.5-122.8)	117 (112.3-126.8)	112 (107-121)
Range (min-max)	22 (106-128)	26 (102-128)	31 (103-134)	21 (103-124)
Waist circumference change (cm)				
Median (LQ-UQ)	-3.0 (-1.3 to -5.0)	-2.0 (-1 to -3)	-2.0 (-3.8 to -1)	-3.5 (-7 to -1.3)
Range (min-max)	11 (-9 to 2)	14 (-11 to 3)	12.5 (-11 to 2)	19 (-17 to 2)

^aLQ-UQ: lower quartile to upper quartile.

^bmin-max: minimum to maximum.

^cBMI: body mass index.

Table 4.	Website use by intervention	n participants over the course of	f the study.
----------	-----------------------------	-----------------------------------	--------------

Participants	Baseline (n=33)	3 months (n=33)	12 months (n=33)
Users, n (%)	16 (48)	16 (48)	12 (36)
Nonusers, n (%)	17 (52)	17 (52)	21 (64)

We analyzed website use for those remaining in the intervention group (Table 5). We collected data from 28 men, as 5 intervention participants never registered on the website. Data were examined in relation to their website use between baseline (0 months) and the 3-month data collection point. Data were then examined for website use between 3 months and the end of the study (12 months): 9 intervention participants left the study at the 3-month data collection point and therefore we included 19 men in the analysis. We divided website activity to examine participant's use in relation to food intake and exercise levels, as well as interactions with allocated dietitians and exercise experts (Table 5). As outlined in Table 1 (intervention description), the proposed number of consultations within the intervention protocol over the first 3 months was 15, with the total number of consultations at the end of the 12-month intervention stated as 27. Table 5 shows that 13 of the 15 intended health professional (dietitian, exercise expert) consultations were delivered at 3 months, whereas at 12 months,

RenderX

22 out of the 27 were delivered. At the end of the intervention, the number of dietitian-delivered consultations was 1 less than the number scheduled to occur (20 out of 21); however, exercise experts averaged up to 4 fewer than scheduled (2 out of 6). Consultations were delivered fewer times than expected due to nonresponsive participants and time pressures on the health care professionals due to competing demands (eg, full-time jobs). Food-related messages from participants to the health professionals were sent more often than exercise messages. The food intake entries were used more frequently than the exercise entries, with both demonstrating high levels of variability between participants (Table 5). No log-in data were obtained at 3 months, as the website hosts did not record this information, and therefore Table 5 shows only 12-month results. Participants did not use the social support features, interactive chat room, and discussion forums at all. We identified no unintended effects were identified from the pilot trial.

Table 5. Website use data averages per intervention participant.

Type of use	0-3 months (n=28)	3-12 months (n=19)
Dietitian- and exercise expert-sent consultations		
Median (LQ-UQ) ^a	13 (12-15)	22 (20-25)
Range (min-max) ^b	11 (5-16)	15 (14-29)
Dietitian-sent consultations		
Median (LQ-UQ)	12 (10-12)	20 (18-22)
Range (min-max)	10 (4-14)	10 (13-23)
Exercise expert-sent consultations		
Median (LQ-UQ)	2 (1-2)	2 (1-3)
Range (min-max)	4 (0-4)	6 (0-6)
Participant-sent messages		
Median (LQ-UQ)	1 (0-8)	9 (0-32)
Range (min-max)	34 (0-34)	75 (0-75)
Food-related messages		
Median (LQ-UQ)	1 (0-7)	7 (0-29)
Range (min-max)	33 (0-33)	68 (0-68)
Exercise-related messages		
Median (LQ-UQ)	0 (0-1)	1 (0-2)
Range (min-max)	7 (0-7)	7 (0-7)
Food intake entries		
Median (LQ-UQ)	8 (1-59)	99 (3-246)
Range (min-max)	82 (0-82)	330 (0-330)
Exercise entries		
Median (LQ-UQ)	3 (0-26)	22 (2-124)
Range (min-max)	69 (0-69)	262 (0-262)
Log-ins		
Median (LQ-UQ)	N/A ^c	43 (12-167)
Range (min-max)	N/A	490 (1-491)

^aLQ-UQ: lower quartile to upper quartile.

^bmin-max: minimum to maximum.

^cN/A: not available.

Process Evaluation (Acceptability)

We conducted 13 semistructured interviews, which enabled us to explore participants' views in relation to the acceptability of the Web-based weight loss intervention. We classified 7 of the interviewees as active users, participants who logged on to the website and entered information until the end of the study, while 6 of the interviewees were nonusers and therefore were no longer using the website by the end of the study. Interviewees' ages ranged from 41 to 78 years.

The main themes identified from the interviews were (1) practicality, (2) interaction with the health care professional, and (3) future development of the Web-based intervention.

Practicality

This theme was discussed in relation to the participant's engagement with the intervention.

Rather than have appointments and have to trail wherever it is, I think they're quicker and they're more expedient at getting the message across. [Participant 20, age 58, active user]

It's flexible, communication hasn't got to be restricted to clinic type hours...you can do it when they want...and you haven't got issues with them cancelling. [Participant 17, age 57, active user]

The website was viewed as more accessible than conventional treatment, such as face-to-face meetings, overcoming the difficulty of fitting restricted clinic hours and appointment times

XSL•FO RenderX

Haste et al

JMIR DIABETES

into everyday life. Participants also referred to the website as "easy to use" once they had become accustomed to it.

Interaction With the Health Care Professional

Interaction between the health care professionals and the participants was referred to with regard to the relationship built up during the course of the study.

However, participants deemed having a one-off initial face-to-face meeting with the dietitian as important for their future Web-based interaction.

This is who I'm talking to and you're not just I don't know a nameless blob out there somewhere they know you're a real person. [Participant 4, age 58, nonuser]

That would've helped me because it would have felt more like I knew who was watching. It felt a lot more distant with the exercise person. So it felt like it could've been that that message has gone across the board. [Participant 60, age 53, nonuser]

There was no face-to-face meeting with the exercise experts, and many participants believed that having the opportunity to talk through expectations would possibly have avoided misconceptions that appeared to take place during the study; that is, that the ability level of the participants could have been witnessed and assessed by the exercise expert, and that the exercise experts would have been able to vocalize from the beginning that slow and gradual increase of physical activity was recommended, whereas participants often assumed that they were expected to do vigorous exercise and this was not suitable for them.

The interaction between the health care professionals and the participants was also referred to in relation to monitoring and receiving guidance on their progress.

Acknowledgment of the participants' self-monitoring appeared to be an essential aspect in the provision of guidance to ensure they knew it was a human and personal response rather than simply an automated message.

But it obviously is getting monitored and that gives me the confidence to carry on using it. It's a trust thing as much as anything else, and I'm more than trustful of it. [Participant 17, age 57, active user]

Feedback consultations seemed to provide participants with the reassurance that they could be helped with any issues, comforted by the knowledge that professional guidance was available if needed.

Future Development of the Web-Based Intervention

Aspects that could be developed in future emerged through participants highlighting technical or practical issues and with participants suggesting potential changes that could be made to improve the Web-based intervention.

A suggested improvement of the website was for the food database to be in alphabetical order to save participants time.

I think the menus require some pretty solid attention. Obviously, they are trying to be helpful, but it is the way they are presented. It is labour-intensive. [Participant 50, age 78, nonuser]

Participants also suggested that including healthy eating or exercise recommendations would allow them to compare their own performance against these set recommendations. Other comments emerged during the interviews with regard to the website needing more color to be more appealing.

Another observation I would make is that on the website, there is an awful lot of text. There are not many cheerful graphics. [Participant 45, age 62, active user]

This suggests that, as well as functionality and professionalism, the website also needs to be visually attractive to make it interesting to users.

Suggestions were raised on ways to improve the website in order to aid productivity and ease of use for both health professionals and participants, with the overall objective being to create a website that could be less time consuming and more straightforward for users to operate while providing adequate support. Examples of these suggestions are organizing the food database alphabetically to make finding a meal or food choice quicker, adding the ability to enter free-text calorie information, making the website more colorful and appealing, adding healthy eating or exercise recommendations to compare against their own progress, and adding the ability to view a full week of food or exercise inputs rather than just daily reports.

Sample Size Calculations for a Main Trial

We calculated sample size, as issue 1 in Table 6 reports [44], using PS: Power and Sample Size Calculation version 3.1.2 [45] to identify the sample size needed for a main trial, while we based our other calculations on response and retention rates from this pilot study. Sample size was calculated based on the main trial being a superiority trial and for a target difference of 5% between the control and the intervention arms in terms of percentage weight change from participants' initial baseline weight to follow-up at 12 months (eg, 5% loss in the intervention group versus 0% in the control group, or 6% vs 1%), with 90% power, 5% significance level, one-to-one allocation, and analysis with independent-samples *t* test; a standard deviation of weight loss change of 5.6% was assumed.



Table 6. Summary of findings against 14 methodological issues for feasibility research^a.

Met	hodological issues	Findings	Evidence	Suggested improvements for a full trial
1.	Did the feasibility/pilot study al- low a sample size calculation for the main trial?	Measure of variability and reten- tion rates was identified. Sample size for main trial was calculated.	Target of 60 was achieved.	Sample sizes were calculated to inform main trial requirements. Number of practices required: 12 (based on average of 138 eligible patients identified per practice). Number of participants needing to be identified and contacted: 1587 (based on consent rate of 6.3%). Number needing to be randomly allocated: 100 (based on retention rate of 52%). Number needed at 12 months to detect target differ- ence: 54 (27 per arm).
2.	What factors influenced eligibility and what proportion of those ap- proached were eligible?	High numbers of eligible men (968) were identified from GP ^b database searches.	5 out of 61 approached were ineli- gible.	Inaccurate body mass index records in GP databases led to 5 ineligible participants, a small number but an issue to consider when contacting general practices.
3.	Was recruitment successful?	Recruitment was successful.	Target of 60 was achieved. Re- sponse to study invitation was 9% of identified men.	Recruitment via GP database searches was effective. Invitation letters could be revised, to be based on behavior change princi- ples, to potentially increase re- sponse rate and those recruited.
4.	Did eligible participants consent?	Conversion to consent was high.	Of the 61 eligible men, all were recruited.	The consent process was success- ful and could stay the same for a main trial.
5.	Were participants successfully randomized and did randomization yield equality in groups?	Randomization worked well.	Allocation was concealed. Groups were of fairly equal size and were well balanced on stratification variables.	Randomization and stratification worked well and could progress into a main trial.
6.	Were blinding procedures ade- quate?	Blinding was not possible and was not planned.	Blinding was not implemented.	Blinding would not be possible in a main trial.
7.	Did participants adhere to the inter- vention?	Fewer than half of the participants adhered to the intervention website.	16 out of 33 (48%) allocated inter- vention participants actively used the intervention website, with 12 out of 33 (36%) still engaged at 12 months.	The use of incentives could aid both adherence and retention. Im- provements to the website, suggest- ed in the process evaluation, were mentioned in relation to increasing adherence.
8.	Was the intervention acceptable to the participants?	The intervention appeared to be acceptable to participants.	All eligible participants consented once full study information was explained. The majority of partici- pants interviewed believed the in- tervention to be feasible to imple- ment within the UK National Health Service.	A Web-based weight loss interven- tion was identified as acceptable.
9.	Was it possible to calculate inter- vention costs and duration?	These were not assessed within this pilot trial.	No costs were calculated.	Cost analysis would be conducted in a main trial to assess the cost effectiveness of the intervention.
10.	Were outcome assessments completed?	Anthropometric measures were completed well.	Anthropometric measures were completed by all participants re- maining in the study.	Face-to-face anthropometric mea- sures could be used in a future tri- al.
11.	Were outcomes measured those that were the most appropriate outcomes?	Outcome measures used did assess main areas of interest.	Anthropometric measures allowed health outcomes to be measured.	Outcome measures would be suit- able to measure in a full trial.

XSL•FO RenderX

Met	hodological issues	Findings	Evidence	Suggested improvements for a full trial	
12.	Was retention to the study good?	Attrition was substantial.	Remaining men: 3 months: 73% intervention, 57% control 12 months: 61% intervention, 45% control.	Incentives could be used, as in previous research, to aid both ad- herence and retention.	
13.	Were the logistics of running a multicenter trial assessed?	Logistics for running a multicenter trial identified no problems during the trial.	However, the number of partici- pants recruited from each general practice was largely influenced by the number of eligible participants identified in the GP database search; 50 of the 61 (82%) recruit- ed were from the 3 practices where the greatest number of eligible participants were identified.	The logistics for running a multi- center trial were effective and could be used in a main trial. Fo- cusing on larger practices may be most effective.	
14.	Did all components of the protocol work together?	Components had strong synergy.	No difficulties were identified in the ability to implement any of the study processes. Participants were recruited, were randomly allocat- ed, and progressed into the appro- priate trial arm smoothly.	The protocol allowed all compo- nents to work well together.	

^aBased on Shanyinde et al [44].

^bGP: general practitioner.

Methodological Issues and Possible Solutions for a Main Trial

The CONSORT guidelines recommend that pilot trials provide prespecified criteria to judge whether to proceed with a future trial [39]. A previous study identified 14 methodological issues for feasibility research to consider when making the decision to proceed with a future trial [44]. Therefore, Table 6 outlines this study's findings, evidence, and suggested improvements for a main trial. Findings detailed in Table 6, along with the overall findings of the study, have enabled the recommendation that a main trial of the intervention should not proceed without the modifications and improvements identified. The main challenges that arose within this study were the low response rates to express interest in joining the study and low retention rates. Table 6 outlines possible solutions to these problems. A potential solution to the low response rates to join the study is the use of incentives for participation to try to increase uptake and recruitment. However, we achieved the recruitment target of 60 participants; therefore, although a low number responded to the GP invitation letters, we were also able to reach a large audience. In relation to the challenge of retaining participants in the study, the interview findings identified that improvements to the website would have encouraged participants to use the website more frequently and would have upheld their interest to a greater degree. Participants viewed the website as acceptable. The conversion to consent, recruitment, and randomization protocols were all found to be effective.

Discussion

Principal Findings

We achieved the recruitment target. Participant interviews identified the Web-based intervention as an acceptable method of delivery for weight loss; however, improvements to the website were suggested in relation to ease of use and to maintain

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e14/
```

RenderX

adherence. Participants' Web-based messages to health professionals tended to be directed to the dietitians rather than the exercise experts. However, it was also evident that the dietitians achieved more of their scheduled number of professional-initiated consultations than the exercise experts. Data completion rates at each time point were sufficient to inform sample size calculations for a future definitive trial.

Comparison With Prior Work

To address problems identified in pilot studies, solutions should relate to study context, trial design, the intervention, or all 3 of these, and whether these could be effective or feasible within trial or real-world settings [46]. This study has examined these feasibility issues noted in Table 6.

In agreement with this study, findings from previous research [47] identified Web-based weight loss interventions as acceptable and feasible, including Brandt et al [37], the Danish study that originated the My Dietitian website.

We used general practices in this study, as this is how patients would be referred to exercise experts or dietitians for weight loss within the NHS. Within this pilot trial, only 9% of those invited expressed an interest in the study, but we met the recruitment target of 60 participants. A previous study that contacted patients via GP mailouts achieved a 6.5% response rate [48]. A suggestion to improve research study recruitment strategies, such as GP mailouts, is the use of opt-out techniques. Although these are disliked by ethics committees, previous research suggested it can increase response rates by 12% and should be used in low-risk groups, as opt-in techniques can result in a biased sample [49].

Previous research has shown great variability in Web-based weight loss trial recruitment levels, ranging from 6% to 83%, and in terms of the recruitment techniques implemented. Previous methods for recruitment range from a wider audience approach, such as advertisement techniques [50-53], to a

targeted approach through GP mailouts or referrals [47,54], with varied success. Many of the studies used several methods of recruitment rather than one single approach [50,51,55,56]. One difficultly when comparing against previous research is the reporting of response and recruitment numbers. Published work can often report on the number screened for eligibility assessment and not the actual numbers who viewed the invitation, with the reach of some recruitment strategies, such as advertisements, unknown [37,47].

Attrition levels from previous studies range from 17.4% to 51.4% for Web-based intervention arms and 15.2% to 35.5% for control arms [47,53,57] at 12 months. This study experienced higher rates of attrition for the control arm but rates similar to those in previous research for the intervention arm. However, the control group had higher attrition than in previous research. Control groups have been discussed by Morgan et al [58], with the suggestion that a minimal intervention is necessary due to some form of intervention being more acceptable to participants than no intervention, which therefore prevents attrition, with attrition rates identified as 29% by 12 months. Tate et al [47] had similar attrition rates for both included groups-an Internet-only group and an e-counselling group-with an overall attrition of 16%. Their study used incentives for appointment attendance, which could be a potential improvement for our study. Our study used usual care, which we discovered to be near nonexistent in terms of specific weight loss treatment, with only 1 participant being referred to exercise classes. For this study, it was deemed important, and was achieved, to identify what usual care constituted for this population within the NHS. However, an improvement may be the use of a minimal intervention as the control group. Further investigation into different modes of delivery would also be beneficial to identify whether delivering an intervention in person or via the Internet would affect the overall findings.

In terms of mean weight loss, intervention participants in our study lost on average 5.4 kg, which is greater than in previous studies, which had losses of 4.4 kg [47], 4.6 kg [54], and 5.3 kg [58], although lower than Brandt and colleagues' study, in which mean weight loss was 7 kg [37].

Strengths and Limitations

In addition to the pilot RCT, it was possible to conduct a process evaluation alongside the trial, which enabled us to investigate participants' views and to track website use. We attributed the nondelivery of over half of the exercise consultations to the change in job status of the exercise experts, as well as nonresponsive participants. However, these reasons emerged from the process evaluation interviews. The health care professionals were not required to provide reasons for nondelivered consultation, and this was not recorded in the website use data. Therefore, we do know how many consultations were not delivered due to nonresponsive participants and how many were due to the health care professionals. A potential improvement going forward would be to require the health care professionals to enter reasons for missed consultations. As the health care professionals did not meet the proposed number of consultations, we suggest that large-scale trials should employ health care professionals as

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e14/
```

 $XSI \bullet F($

research study staff. If this is not possible, at least providing health care professionals with dedicated time to work on the study would be beneficial to the fidelity of intervention delivery rather than having their involvement with the study being in addition to their other full-time employment.

Participants were sent details of their username and operational directions in a postal letter in advance of the face-to-face meeting. In hindsight, the face-to-face meeting could have been a potential opportunity to explain the functions and resources within the website and explore how to effectively interact with it. This identifies a potential improvement and refinement of the intervention procedures for future research.

The intervention is reliant on feedback from a health care professional and, unless provided through the NHS, this would not be possible in a standard weight loss website. However, this study demonstrates how a Web-based weight loss intervention may be used for a high-risk population. The study sample captured a wide age range of 41 to 79 years and contained a range of employment status (unemployed, employed, retired). A limitation of the study sample is the lack of ethnic diversity: the sample was all white British men. South Asian and Black African groups are known to be twice as likely to develop type 2 diabetes and therefore a future study should aim to recruit ethnic minority groups to identify whether a Web-based intervention is acceptable to people of different ethnicities.

It is important to acknowledge the conflict between conducting a rigorous RCT and the need to keep up with the fast progression of technologies. Evaluation research faces the reality of falling behind commercial companies with the ability to regularly update their websites or apps. Large companies may have the advantage of greater financial stability and flexibility of funding and resources in contrast to academic research, where budgets can be extremely constricted and individual costs and resources tend to be outlined in advance of receiving funding. However, RCT methodology remains the most robust way of determining the effectiveness of an intervention [59]. One way to keep up-to-date with technology and maybe another potential improvement for the study is the use of a mobile phone app, in replacement of or in addition to a computer-based website. Mobile phones have now overtaken laptops or desktops as the devices used to access the Internet [60]. Although the study website was accessible via a mobile phone, the creation of an app may make the format easier to access on a mobile phone and potentially improve engagement and adherence. Over 12 months, each participant had 3 visits by the researcher at either their home or general practice, with data collection typically ranging between 20 minutes and 1 hour per visit. This level of face-to-face assessment with participants could be feasible in a main trial. However, the use of electronic scales to measure and transmit weight status to the research team, as implemented within the NULevel study [61], may be a more efficient and feasible method of data collection in a definitive trial.

Implications for Policy, Practice, and Further Research

Research is lacking with regard to implementing a Web-based weight loss intervention within the NHS. Given the high number of obese patients and NHS resources being increasingly stretched, services are struggling to provide sufficient referrals.

Therefore, alternative modes of delivery, with the potential to reduce health professional input and time per patient while still enabling individual and tailored care, need to be investigated to identify if they can be effective and thus benefit the NHS. Although not powered to assess changes in outcomes, the descriptive statistics show positive indications of increased weight loss (in kilograms and as a percentage), reduced waist circumference, and decreased BMI for the intervention group from 3 to 12 months, in comparison with the control group. This research provides preliminary findings that recruitment of men with type 2 diabetes is possible within a Web-based intervention. Suggested improvements to the website were valuably gained from the parallel process evaluation and could be incorporated to potentially improve adherence and retention in future research.

Acknowledgments

Research funding was provided from the County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust. The intervention was delivered by dietitians and health improvement specialists employed by the Trust. Studentship funding was provided through Fuse, the Centre for Translational Research in Public Health, via the Economic and Social Research Council. PraksisCare created the My Dietitian website and worked along with the Newcastle University team to develop the content. PraksisCare acted as Web hosts throughout the project.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

CONSORT-EHEALTH checklist V1.6.1.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 841KB - diabetes v2i2e14 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Anthropometric measures mean (SD).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 91KB - diabetes_v2i2e14_app2.pdf]

References

- 1. Department of Health. Policy: obesity and healthy eating. London, UK: gov.uk; 2013. URL: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/</u> policies/obesity-and-healthy-eating [accessed 2016-11-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6mBkVvcSv]
- Health and Social Care Information Centre. Health survey for England 2009, health and lifestyles. Leeds, UK: NHS Digital; 2010 Dec 16. URL: <u>http://content.digital.nhs.uk/pubs/hse09report</u> [accessed 2016-11-21] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6mBjakAZz</u>]
- Health and Social Care Information Centre. Statistics on obesity, physical activity and diet England. Leeds, UK: NHS Digital; 2014 Feb 26. URL: <u>http://content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB13648</u> [accessed 2016-11-21] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6mBio2LaP</u>]
- 4. Public Health England. Adult obesity slide set: patterns and trends in adult obesity. London, UK: The National Archives; 2016 Apr. URL: <u>http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20170210161227/http://www.noo.org.uk/slide_sets</u> [accessed 2017-06-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6rXIzPkm0]
- 5. Butland B, Jebb S, Kopelman P, McPherson K, Thomas S, Mardell J, et al. Foresight: tackling obesities: future choices project report (2nd edition). London, UK: Government Office for Science; 2007 Oct 17. URL: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/287937/07-1184x-tackling-obesities-future-choices-report.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-11-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6rOF0DXXx]
- 6. World Health Organization. Obesity and overweight: fact sheet. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO; 2016 Jun. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/</u> [accessed 2016-11-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6mBjBnYWL]
- 7. Field AE, Coakley EH, Must A, Spadano JL, Laird N, Dietz WH, et al. Impact of overweight on the risk of developing common chronic diseases during a 10-year period. Arch Intern Med 2001 Jul 09;161(13):1581-1586. [Medline: <u>11434789</u>]
- 8. Schmidt M, Johannesdottir SA, Lemeshow S, Lash TL, Ulrichsen SP, Bøtker HE, et al. Obesity in young men, and individual and combined risks of type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular morbidity and death before 55 years of age: a Danish 33-year follow-up study. BMJ Open 2013;3(4) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-002698] [Medline: 23628994]
- 9. World Health Organization. Diabetes data and statistics. Copenhagen, Denmark: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2017. URL: <u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/noncommunicable-diseases/diabetes/data-and-statistics</u> [accessed 2017-06-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6rOFkpyMi]

- 10. Diabetes UK. Statistics: diabetes prevalence 2013 (February 2014). London, UK: Diabetes UK; 2017. URL: <u>https://www.diabetes.org.uk/Professionals/Position-statements-reports/Statistics/Diabetes-prevalence-2013/</u> [accessed 2017-02-02] [WebCite Cache ID 6nyTgFeCg]
- 11. Lau DC. Diabetes and weight management. Primary Care Diabetes 2010 Apr;4:S24-S30. [doi: 10.1016/s1751-9918(10)60006-x]
- 12. World Health Organization. 10 Facts about diabetes. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO; 2006. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/features/</u><u>factfiles/diabetes/04_en.html</u> [accessed 2017-02-02] [WebCite Cache ID 6nyTY08J7]
- Counterweight Project Team. Evaluation of the Counterweight Programme for obesity management in primary care: a starting point for continuous improvement. Br J Gen Pract 2008 Aug;58(553):548-554 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3399/bjgp08X319710] [Medline: 18682018]
- 14. Bye C, Avery A, Lavin J. Tackling obesity in men -- preliminary evaluation of men-only groups within a commercial slimming organization. J Hum Nutr Diet 2005 Oct;18(5):391-394. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-277X.2005.00642.x] [Medline: 16150135]
- 15. Wolfe BL, Smith JE. Different strokes for different folks: why overweight men do not seek weight loss treatment. Eat Disord 2002;10(2):115-124. [doi: 10.1080/10640260290081687] [Medline: 16864252]
- 16. Wilkins D, White A, Pettifer M. The research base for male obesity: what do we know? In: White A, Pettifer M, editors. Hazardous Waist: Tackling Male Weight Problems. Abingdon, UK: Radcliffe Publishing Ltd; 2007:3-11.
- Morgan PJ, Warren JM, Lubans DR, Collins CE, Callister R. Engaging men in weight loss: experiences of men who participated in the male only SHED-IT pilot study. Obes Res Clin Pract 2011;5(3):e169-e266. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.orcp.2011.03.002</u>] [Medline: <u>24331106</u>]
- 18. Kim S, Kim H. Effectiveness of mobile and internet intervention in patients with obese type 2 diabetes. Int J Med Inform 2008 Jun;77(6):399-404. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2007.07.006] [Medline: 17881285]
- 19. Jolly K, Lewis A, Beach J, Denley J, Adab P, Deeks JJ, et al. Comparison of range of commercial or primary care led weight reduction programmes with minimal intervention control for weight loss in obesity: Lighten Up randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2011;343:d6500 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22053315]
- Jebb SA, Ahern AL, Olson AD, Aston LM, Holzapfel C, Stoll J, et al. Primary care referral to a commercial provider for weight loss treatment versus standard care: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2011 Oct 22;378(9801):1485-1492 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61344-5] [Medline: 21906798]
- 21. Office for National Statistics. Statistical bulletin: Internet access households and individuals. Newport, South Wales: ONS; 2016 Aug 04. URL: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/householdcharacteristics/</u> <u>homeinternetandsocialmediausage/bulletins/internetaccesshouseholdsandindividuals/2016</u> [accessed 2017-06-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6rOGY4T0i]
- 22. Office for National Statistics. Statistical bulletin: Internet access households and individuals. Newport, South Wales: ONS; 2015 Aug 06. URL: <u>http://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/householdcharacteristics/</u> <u>homewebandsocialmediausage/bulletins/webaccesshouseholdsandindividuals/2015-08-06</u> [accessed 2016-11-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6mHdQmn54]
- 23. Griffiths F, Lindenmeyer A, Powell J, Lowe P, Thorogood M. Why are health care interventions delivered over the internet? A systematic review of the published literature. J Med Internet Res 2006 Jun 23;8(2):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.2.e10] [Medline: 16867965]
- 24. Ramadas A, Quek KF, Chan CK, Oldenburg B. Web-based interventions for the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review of recent evidence. Int J Med Inform 2011 Jun;80(6):389-405. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2011.02.002] [Medline: 21481632]
- 25. Arem H, Irwin M. A review of web-based weight loss interventions in adults. Obes Rev 2011 May;12(5):e236-e243 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00787.x] [Medline: 20804523]
- Neve M, Morgan PJ, Jones PR, Collins CE. Effectiveness of web-based interventions in achieving weight loss and weight loss maintenance in overweight and obese adults: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Obes Rev 2010 Apr;11(4):306-321. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2009.00646.x] [Medline: 19754633]
- Norman GJ, Zabinski MF, Adams MA, Rosenberg DE, Yaroch AL, Atienza AA. A review of eHealth interventions for physical activity and dietary behavior change. Am J Prev Med 2007 Oct;33(4):336-345 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2007.05.007] [Medline: 17888860]
- 28. Neville LM, Milat AJ, O'Hara B. Computer-tailored weight reduction interventions targeting adults: a narrative systematic review. Health Promot J Austr 2009 Apr;20(1):48-57. [Medline: <u>19402816</u>]
- 29. Michie S, Ashford S, Sniehotta FF, Dombrowski SU, Bishop A, French DP. A refined taxonomy of behaviour change techniques to help people change their physical activity and healthy eating behaviours: the CALO-RE taxonomy. Psychol Health 2011 Nov;26(11):1479-1498. [doi: 10.1080/08870446.2010.540664] [Medline: 21678185]
- Sherrington A, Newham JJ, Bell R, Adamson A, McColl E, Araujo-Soares V. Systematic review and meta-analysis of internet-delivered interventions providing personalized feedback for weight loss in overweight and obese adults. Obes Rev 2016 Jun;17(6):541-551 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/obr.12396] [Medline: 26948257]

- Manzoni GM, Pagnini F, Corti S, Molinari E, Castelnuovo G. Internet-based behavioral interventions for obesity: an updated systematic review. Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Health 2011 Mar;7:19-28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2174/1745017901107010019] [Medline: 21552423]
- 32. Lancaster GA, Dodd S, Williamson PR. Design and analysis of pilot studies: recommendations for good practice. J Eval Clin Pract 2004 May;10(2):307-312. [doi: 10.1111/j.2002.384.doc.x] [Medline: 15189396]
- 33. Thabane L, Ma J, Chu R, Cheng J, Ismaila A, Rios LP, et al. A tutorial on pilot studies: the what, why and how. BMC Med Res Methodol 2010;10:1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-10-1] [Medline: 20053272]
- 34. Public Health England. National mapping of weight management services: provision of tier 2 and tier 3 services in England. London, UK: PHE; 2015. URL: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/484115/</u> Final_Weight_Management_Mapping_Report.pdf [accessed 2017-06-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6rOH9dTyf]
- 35. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Obesity prevention. Clinical guideline 43. London, UK: NICE; 2006 Dec 13. URL: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG43</u> [accessed 2016-11-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6mHeAV570]
- 36. My Dietitian Online. 2011. URL: http://mydietitian.org.uk [accessed 2017-06-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6rX8qGfzp]
- Brandt V, Brandt C, Glintborg D, Arendal C, Toubro S, Brandt K. Sustained weight loss during 20 months using a personalized interactive Internet based dietitian advice program in a general practice setting. Int J Adv Life Sci 2011;3(1&2):23-28.
- 38. Hoffmann TC, Glasziou PP, Boutron I, Milne R, Perera R, Moher D, et al. Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. BMJ 2014;348:g1687 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24609605]
- 39. Eldridge SM, Chan CL, Campbell MJ, Bond CM, Hopewell S, Thabane L, et al. CONSORT 2010 statement: extension to randomised pilot and feasibility trials. BMJ 2016 Oct 24;355:i5239 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 27777223]
- Eysenbach G, CONSORT-EHEALTH Group. CONSORT-EHEALTH: improving and standardizing evaluation reports of Web-based and mobile health interventions. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(4):e126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1923] [Medline: 22209829]
- 41. Moher D, Schulz KF, Altman DG. The CONSORT statement: revised recommendations for improving the quality of reports of parallel-group randomised trials. Lancet 2001 Apr 14;357(9263):1191-1194. [Medline: <u>11323066</u>]
- 42. Srivastava A, Thomson S. Framework analysis: a qualitative methodology for applied policy research. J Adm Governance 2009;4(2):72-79.
- 43. Ritchie J. Qualitative data analysis for applied policy research. In: Bryman A, Burgess RG, editors. Analyzing Qualitative Data. New York, NY: Praeger; 1994:173-194.
- 44. Shanyinde M, Pickering RM, Weatherall M. Questions asked and answered in pilot and feasibility randomized controlled trials. BMC Med Res Methodol 2011 Aug 16;11:117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-11-117] [Medline: 21846349]
- 45. Dupont WD, Plummer WD. Power and sample size calculations. A review and computer program. Control Clin Trials 1990 Apr;11(2):116-128. [Medline: 2161310]
- 46. Bugge C, Williams B, Hagen S, Logan J, Glazener C, Pringle S, et al. A process for Decision-making after Pilot and feasibility Trials (ADePT): development following a feasibility study of a complex intervention for pelvic organ prolapse. Trials 2013 Oct 25;14:353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-14-353] [Medline: 24160371]
- 47. Tate DF, Jackvony EH, Wing RR. Effects of Internet behavioral counseling on weight loss in adults at risk for type 2 diabetes: a randomized trial. JAMA 2003 Apr 9;289(14):1833-1836. [doi: 10.1001/jama.289.14.1833] [Medline: 12684363]
- Ahern AL, Aveyard P, Boyland EJ, Halford JC, Jebb SA. Inequalities in the uptake of weight management interventions in a pragmatic trial: an observational study in primary care. Br J Gen Pract 2016 Apr;66(645):e258-e263 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3399/bjgp16X684337] [Medline: 26906629]
- Junghans C, Feder G, Hemingway H, Timmis A, Jones M. Recruiting patients to medical research: double blind randomised trial of "opt-in" versus "opt-out" strategies. BMJ 2005 Oct 22;331(7522):940 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.38583.625613.AE] [Medline: 16157604]
- Chambliss HO, Huber RC, Finley CE, McDoniel SO, Kitzman-Ulrich H, Wilkinson WJ. Computerized self-monitoring and technology-assisted feedback for weight loss with and without an enhanced behavioral component. Patient Educ Couns 2011 Dec;85(3):375-382. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2010.12.024] [Medline: 21295433]
- 51. Collins CE, Morgan PJ, Jones P, Fletcher K, Martin J, Aguiar EJ, et al. A 12-week commercial web-based weight-loss program for overweight and obese adults: randomized controlled trial comparing basic versus enhanced features. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(2):e57 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1980] [Medline: 22555246]
- Kraschnewski JL, Stuckey HL, Rovniak LS, Lehman EB, Reddy M, Poger JM, et al. Efficacy of a weight-loss website based on positive deviance. A randomized trial. Am J Prev Med 2011 Dec;41(6):610-614. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2011.08.012</u>] [Medline: <u>22099238</u>]
- McConnon A, Kirk SF, Cockroft JE, Harvey EL, Greenwood DC, Thomas JD, et al. The Internet for weight control in an obese sample: results of a randomised controlled trial. BMC Health Serv Res 2007;7:206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-7-206] [Medline: 18093289]

- Appel LJ, Clark JM, Yeh H, Wang N, Coughlin JW, Daumit G, et al. Comparative effectiveness of weight-loss interventions in clinical practice. N Engl J Med 2011 Nov 24;365(21):1959-1968 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa1108660</u>] [Medline: <u>22085317</u>]
- 55. Hunter CM, Peterson AL, Alvarez LM, Poston WC, Brundige AR, Haddock CK, et al. Weight management using the internet a randomized controlled trial. Am J Prev Med 2008 Feb;34(2):119-126. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2007.09.026</u>] [Medline: <u>18201641</u>]
- 56. McConnon A, Kirk SF, Ransley JK. Process evaluation of an internet-based resource for weight control: use and views of an obese sample. J Nutr Educ Behav 2009;41(4):261-267. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jneb.2008.07.008</u>] [Medline: <u>19508931</u>]
- Morgan PJ, Lubans DR, Collins CE, Warren JM, Callister R. 12-month outcomes and process evaluation of the SHED-IT RCT: an internet-based weight loss program targeting men. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2011 Jan;19(1):142-151. [doi: 10.1038/oby.2010.119] [Medline: 20523304]
- 58. Morgan PJ, Callister R, Collins CE, Plotnikoff RC, Young MD, Berry N, et al. The SHED-IT community trial: a randomized controlled trial of internet- and paper-based weight loss programs tailored for overweight and obese men. Ann Behav Med 2013 Apr;45(2):139-152. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-012-9424-z] [Medline: 23129021]
- Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D. CONSORT 2010 Statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. Trials 2010 Mar 24;11:32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-11-32] [Medline: 20334632]
- 61. Evans EH, Araújo-Soares V, Adamson A, Batterham AM, Brown H, Campbell M, et al. The NULevel trial of a scalable, technology-assisted weight loss maintenance intervention for obese adults after clinically significant weight loss: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. Trials 2015 Sep 22;16:421 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13063-015-0931-7] [Medline: 26395774]

Abbreviations

BMI: body mass index CALO-RE: Coventry, Aberdeen, and London-Refined CONSORT: Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials GP: general practitioner NHS: National Health Service RCT: randomized controlled trial

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 02.02.17; peer-reviewed by C Nwolise, N Carey, K Blondon, L Hu; comments to author 28.03.17; revised version received 05.05.17; accepted 16.06.17; published 07.07.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Haste A, Adamson AJ, McColl E, Araujo-Soares V, Bell R Web-Based Weight Loss Intervention for Men With Type 2 Diabetes: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e14 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e14/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/diabetes.7430</u> PMID:<u>30291100</u>

©Anna Haste, Ashley J Adamson, Elaine McColl, Vera Araujo-Soares, Ruth Bell. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 07.07.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Improving Glycemic Control With a Standardized Text-Message and Phone-Based Intervention: A Community Implementation

Robert Mattson Peters^{1*}; Matt Lui^{1*}; Kunjan Patel²; Lewis Tian²; Kavon Javaherian¹; Eric Sink²; Ran Xu¹; Zhuchen Xu¹; Wint Aung²; Li Zhou³, MD; Justin Huynh⁴, MD; Gregory Polites¹, MD; Melvin Blanchard¹, MD; Avik Som^{1.5}, PhD; Will Ross¹, MD, MPH; Carlos Bernal-Mizrachi^{6,7}, MD

¹Washington University in St. Louis School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, United States

⁵Epharmix, Inc, St. Louis, MO, United States

⁶Division of Endocrinology, St. Louis VA Medical Service, St. Louis, MO, United States

⁷Division of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Lipid Research, Washington University in St. Louis School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, United States *these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Carlos Bernal-Mizrachi, MD Division of Endocrinology Metabolism and Lipid Research Washington University in St. Louis School of Medicine Campus Box 8127 660 South Euclid Ave St. Louis, MO, 63110 United States Phone: 1 314 362 0947 Email: cbernal@wustl.edu

Abstract

Background: Type II diabetes mellitus (T2DM) presents a major disease burden in the United States. Outpatient glycemic control among patients with T2DM remains difficult. Telemedicine shows great potential as an adjunct therapy to aid in glycemic control in real-world settings.

Objective: We aimed to explore the effectiveness of EpxDiabetes, a novel digital health intervention, in improving hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) and fasting blood glucose (FBG) among patients with uncontrolled diabetes.

Methods: We recruited 396 patients from a community clinic in St. Louis, Missouri, from a database of patients diagnosed with T2DM and with a most recent HbA1c >7% as part of a quality improvement project. An automated call or text-messaging system was used to monitor patient-reported FBG. If determined to be elevated, care managers were notified by email, text, or electronic medical record alert. Participants self-reported their FBG data by replying to EpxDiabetes automated phone calls or text messages. Data were subsequently analyzed, triaged, and shared with providers to enable appropriate follow-up and care plan adjustments. Absolute HbA1c reduction, patient engagement, and absolute patient-reported FBG reduction were examined at approximately 6 months post implementation.

Results: EpxDiabetes had an average 95.6% patient response rate to messages at least once per month and an average 71.1% response rate to messages at least once per week. Subsequent HbA1c drop with EpxDiabetes use over 4 months was -1.15% (95% CI -1.58 to -0.71) for patients with HbA1c >8% at baseline compared to the change in HbA1c over 4 months prior to the implementation of EpxDiabetes of only -0.005 points (95% CI -0.28 to 0.27), P=.0018.

Conclusions: EpxDiabetes may help reduce HbA1c in patients with high HbA1c baselines (>8%). The intervention demonstrates high patient engagement sustainable for at least 6 months.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e15) doi:10.2196/diabetes.7910



²Saint Louis University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, United States

³John Cochrane Division, VA Medical Center, St. Louis, MO, United States

⁴Division of Internal Medicine, Mercy Clinic, St. Louis, MO, United States

KEYWORDS

diabetes mellitus; glycemic control; telemedicine; electronic health (eHealth); mobile health (mHealth); telehealth; SMS; diabetes management

Introduction

Glycemic control among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) remains a pressing problem ,. Poor glycemic control may be a factor of both poor access to care, poor health literacy, and poor return to follow-up and communication to providers of current glucose values. Current strategies to achieve glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) control prove inadequate for a large proportion of patients ,. The standard of care for outpatient glycemic monitoring is a paper blood glucose log, but only 20%-52% of patients remain engaged with this tracking method, suggesting that there is a need to develop methodologies to improve patient follow-up and prevent complications [1-3].

Telemedicine interventions may facilitate remote glycemic monitoring, promote patient-provider communication, and reduce time to glycemic control. Most systems that monitor patients' fasting blood glucose (FBG) use mobile phone apps, Internet-linked glucose monitors, or other specialized equipment [1-5]. Significant obstacles hinder the widespread dissemination and adoption of these technologies, especially among the elderly, those with low socioeconomic status, and those with low technological literacy [6,7]. Drop-out rates of up to 50% are reported in some studies using these modalities [8-10]. In the United States, most current telemedicine interventions involve one-way communication from provider to patient, or bidirectional systems that do not align with physician workflow or are not scalable ,1. Community implementation of these services can often be difficult due to logistics in implementing device-based solutions and feasibly analyzing patient-reported data within busy primary care practices. Therefore, there is a need for an intervention that is not only successful at engaging patients with low income and high HbA1c but also facilitates provider follow-up by providing triaged FBG data to close the patient-provider loop with improved patient follow-up.

To this aim, we developed, a novel bidirectional communication system designed to both collect patient FBG data and facilitate provider feedback to patients using smartly triaged FBG data in an overall low overhead implementation. The system utilizes ubiquitous text messaging technology or phone calls to collect FBG data as self-reported by patients and to identify dysglycemic trends and events [1 1. Providers are subsequently able to access the triaged data to provide necessary feedback to patients. Using this bidirectional feedback loop of communication, EpxDiabetes ultimately aims to accelerate HbA1c and FBG reduction by allowing earlier detection and provider intervention during dysglycemic events and trends. EpxDiabetes creates a closed feedback loop between patient and providers to achieve successive, rapid improvements in glycemic control.

To investigate the feasibility and effectiveness of the EpxDiabetes intervention in reducing HbA1c among patients

with poor glycemic control in a real-world clinical setting, we conducted a proof-of-concept community implementation of the system.

Methods

Intervention Design

The EpxDiabetes intervention is part of a broader telemedicine platform, Epharmix, which has been developed and applied for the management of other diseases. The EpxDiabetes intervention modifies the existing platform to incorporate questions exclusive and specific to diabetic care. Similar to other Epharmix interventions, EpxDiabetes creates a two-way communication modality to enable providers to more quickly titrate and address problems [11]. In the focus with diabetes, the platform was able to generate a custom tool for glycemic control demonstrating the ability to actually modulate biometrics. Because populations with limited health literacy require interventions with simple, easy-to-read instructions, all EpxDiabetes messages read at a 4th grade level as determined by the Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level formula and calculated on the Readable.io website. Text messages and phone calls were provided free of charge (excluding standard messaging rates) to patients on any network to further promote accessibility among low socioeconomic populations.

EpxDiabetes consists of either automated phone calls or short-message service (SMS) messages sent to the patient's preferred phone number, requesting patients to self-report their FBG values. The EpxDiabetes software algorithm remotely and automatically monitors patient-reported FBG values for hypoglycemic or hyperglycemic trends (FBG>160) or acute events (FBG<70 or >400). The frequency of messages for each patient varies based on their self-reported FBG to minimize message fatigue. Patients reporting dysglycemia receive messages more frequently than patients with euglycemia. In accordance with the definition in the 2013 report from the Workgroup on Hypoglycemia assembled by the American Diabetes Association and the Endocrine Society, hypoglycemia is defined in the EpxDiabetes system as a blood glucose value 70 mg/dL [12].

If the patient reports an FBG value beyond set thresholds, the designated provider receives an actionable "alert" notification via phone, SMS, or email requesting them to follow up with the patient. Any patient reporting hyperglycemia or hypoglycemia is provided the option to voluntarily contact their provider or to call 911 in the case of an emergency to minimize provider liability. When calling in, a patient hears the standard message, "If this is an emergency, please hang up and call 911" before being connected to their provider. The bidirectional patient-reporting and provider feedback loop represents a novel framework designed to achieve successive, rapid improvements in glycemic control.

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e15/
```

Figure 1. EpxDiabetes intervention flow diagram.



In addition to alert notifications, providers also receive a triaged bimonthly report prioritized by each patient's average FBG values for longitudinal monitoring. The goal of the triaging system is to allow efficient review of overall population and individual patients and to facilitate selective attention to patients with dysglycemia (Figure 1).

Patient Recruitment

The study was implemented as a prospective single-arm quality improvement project at community clinics across the St. Louis, Missouri, region. Patients consented to use the service under standard of care guidelines. Data were aggregated and de-identified per best practices for analysis under the permission of the community health center. A list of eligible participants was obtained by querying the clinic's electronic medical record (EMR) using International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD)-9 and ICD-10 codes for T2DM. All eligible patients were offered the EpxDiabetes service as part of their standard care under institutional policy and consented to receiving SMS messages/calls for health care communication. Patient recruitment and enrollment continues on a rolling basis, and at the time these data were collected, patient enrollment had taken place from August 2015 to February 2017. The population extended to adults >18 years old in the greater St. Louis Metropolitan area consisting of St. Louis City and St. Louis County. Both populations' demographics are listed in Table 1.

Aggregate de-identified data on patient engagement, HbA1c, and FBG were provided by Epharmix, Inc, and their clinical partners for analyzing outcomes with permission by the community health care institution. To be eligible for HbA1c analysis, patients needed a pretrial or baseline HbA1c value obtained within 6 months prior to receiving the first EpxDiabetes message. Participants also needed to obtain a posttrial HbA1c value between 2 and 5 months after receiving their first EpxDiabetes message. Patients who did not respond to a single intervention message were excluded from analysis.

Statistical Analysis

Patient HbA1c deltas were calculated as the difference between pre-intervention baseline HbA1c and most recent HbA1c since enrollment in EpxDiabetes. These values were averaged per individual patient to determine the overall population's aggregate delta. Historical, pre-EpxDiabetes HbA1c deltas were calculated by subtracting the two most recent HbA1c values before receipt of EpxDiabetes messages. Statistical significance was defined as P<.05 by one-sample *t* test with a theoretical mean delta HbA1c of 0.0%, and a two sample *t* test comparison of historical change in HbA1c versus postimplementation change in HbA1c. Standard error of the mean (SEM) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated as well. Identical HbA1c analysis was also performed for a subgroup of patients with a pretrial baseline HbA1c >8%.

Patient-reported FBG data were obtained by querying the Epharmix server. Baseline FBG for each patient was calculated as the median of the first 3 patient-reported FBG values. To account for the variable weekly message frequency between individual patients, monthly FBG was determined for each patient by averaging four consecutive weekly FBG averages. Monthly FBG deltas were calculated by subtracting the patient's baseline and monthly FBG values. Individual patient monthly FBG deltas were averaged together to calculate the average monthly FBG delta of the population. We compared the average fasting blood glucose pre- and post-EpxDiabetes using a two-tailed one-sample *t* test, with significance set at P=.05. We calculated the SEM for each monthly FBG deltas.

We defined weekly patient engagement rate as the proportion of total patients responding at least once per week to EpxDiabetes messages. Monthly patient engagement rate was determined by averaging four consecutive weekly engagement rates. Cumulative monthly patient engagement was calculated by averaging the monthly patient engagement. Gross response rate was defined by the number of messages responded to out of the total number of messages sent. Patients who did not respond to the initial consent message were excluded from engagement analysis.

We performed data analysis on Microsoft Excel 2016 and PRISM (GraphPad Software, 2016). Because of overtitration concerns, we found clinic providers aimed for optimizing FBG equivalent to an HbA1c cutoff of 8%. Therefore, analysis was performed for all patients and for the subset of patients with a baseline HbA1c >8%.



Table 1. St. Louis City and County resident	s' demographic and income data from	which the Epharmix population was recruited.
---	-------------------------------------	--

Characteristics	St. Louis City	St. Louis County
Population estimates, n	315,685	1,003,362
Age in years, %		
18-65	61.2	55.2
>65	11	16.8
Gender, %		
Male	48.3	47.7
Female	51.7	52.3
Ethnicity, %		
Caucasian	43.9	69.5
African American	49.2	24.1
Median household income 2011-2015, USD	\$35,599	\$59,755

Results

Patient Demographics

In total, 396 patients were consented and enrolled at a large St. Louis area health care institution who were already receiving standard of care treatment and education regarding their diabetes. In total, 79.3% (314/396) of patients in the community implementation consented to EpxDiabetes. The increased receptiveness of patients to use the service is perhaps due to EpxDiabetes being offered as part of their standard of care. Individual socioeconomic data were not able to be collected or analyzed for this particular implementation project. The majority of patients were adults from St. Louis City and County, and census data for socioeconomic status are reported as a corollary in Table 1 (US Census) [13].

HbA1c Analysis

For analysis of the effect of EpxDiabetes on the population, immediate pre-implementation HbA1c values were obtained, on average, 2.0 months (60.0 days) before implementing EpxDiabetes. Just under half (45.4%, 166/366) had pre-implementation HbA1c values available. Patients obtained their posttrial HbA1c values, on average, 4.0 months after intervention start (63.9%, 106/166). Not all patients had HbA1c values measured during their routine standard of care pre- and post-EpxDiabetes usage, so analysis was limited to all HbA1c values available. Because EpxDiabetes was implemented in a community population, patients were at various stages of getting HbA1c measured, which often fell outside of the 4-month window. As such, during analysis we looked only at patients who had both a pre- and post-HbA1c value during the 4-month analysis period (33.3%, 106/318). This snapshot is as a result a random sampling of HbA1c across the entire population.

Prior to receiving the EpxDiabetes intervention, patients with HbA1c >5% demonstrated nonsignificant changes of -0.13% (SEM 0.11, 166/366) during the last 3 months, suggesting the standard of care was not sufficient to change underlying diabetes control. The immediate average pre-EpxDiabetes HbA1c for these patients was 8.89% (SEM 0.18). The average post-EpxDiabetes HbA1c was 8.17% (-0.72%, SEM 0.17, 95% CI -1.05 to -0.39; 106/166). The comparison of pre- and postintervention was statistically significant (P=.004).

A total of 22.6% (72/318) of patients had a baseline pre-implementation HbA1c >8%. For this group, prior to receiving the EpxDiabetes intervention, patients demonstrated nonsignificant changes of -0.005% (SEM 0.14, 104/318), respectively, during the prior 3 months. The immediate average pre-EpxDiabetes HbA1c was 9.81% (SEM 0.18). The average postimplementation HbA1c for this group was 8.66% (-1.15%, SEM 0.21, 95% CI -1.58 to -0.71, 72/106). The comparison of pre- and postintervention was statistically significant (P=.0018) (Figure 2).

Fasting Blood Glucose Analysis

The average postimplementation FBG as reported on EpxDiabetes was significantly lower from month 2 on intervention through time of analysis (Table 2). The EpxDiabetes system was also able to identify and alert providers in real time to 395 total acute hypoglycemic (FBG<70) or hyperglycemic (FBG>400) events. These alert notifications resulted in 228 patient-initiated calls and 83 provider-initiated calls and interventions. For average FBG changes over time, 153 patients had been on the intervention for at least 6 months. Average monthly FBG values over the 6 months were significantly lower at each month when compared to the sample's baseline average (Figure 3 and Table 2).



Figure 2. Change in HbA1c from pretrial baseline at 4 months from initiation (error bars represent SEM; *P<.05 for change from baseline).



Table 2. Fasting blood glucose changes by month.

Month	1	2	3	4	5	6
Mean FBG (mg/dL)	160.4	154.3	149.8	146.2	146.6	148.4
SEM	3.037	2.678	2.455	2.398	2.468	3.43
Delta	N/A	-5.677	-10.19	-13.78	-13.41	-11.59
95% CI	N/A	-10.95 to -0.4017	-15.03 to -5.357	-18.51 to -9.047	-18.28 to -8.538	-18.37 to -4.813
P value (two tailed)	N/A	.035 ^a	<.001 ^a	<.001 ^a	<.001 ^a	.009 ^a
Ν	308	247	223	189	169	153

 $^{a}P \leq .05.$

Response Rate

The EpxDiabetes system conducted a total of 55,730 FBG assessments during the 6-month implementation for a total of 396 patients. There were 80 patients who did not respond to the initial consent message and therefore did not receive any further text messages during the 6-month period trial and were excluded from engagement analysis. Of the 316 consenting patients, 41 never responded to any subsequent messages (13.0%). Of those who responded to at least one message, EpxDiabetes had an

average of 95.6% patient response rate to messages at least once per month and had an average 71.1% (range 64.8-79.3) response rate to messages at least once per week. A total of 83 patients revoked the use of EpxDiabetes service via the "opt-out" feature wherein a patient could text "STOP" to the system, thereby discontinuing any further messages, showing an absolute dropout of 21%. The average weekly dropout was 1.1% of the total. We had a gross response rate of 55.7% to all messages sent through 6 months.


Figure 3. Average fasting blood glucose change over time (error bars represent SEM).



Discussion

Principal Considerations

Glycemic control remains a difficult goal to achieve among patients with diabetes. Current strategies to achieve outpatient HbA1c control prove inadequate for a large proportion of patients [14,15]. Electronic health care tools involving phone communication or mobile phone apps have been utilized to improve glycemic control [8,9,16], but their cost and the unidirectional nature of communication reduces accessibility and/or effectiveness among low socioeconomic and education populations.

Our intervention, EpxDiabetes, is a novel phone call and SMS-based communication tool specifically designed to address these limitations. The intervention aims to accelerate HbA1c reduction by providing caregivers with actionable automatically triaged patient-reported FBG data to facilitate a bidirectional loop of patient-provider communication. The study population, primarily consisting of middle- to older-aged individuals with a low median income and educational attainment levels, reflects our goal to produce a universally accessible, affordable, and user-friendly health care tool [17]. The cost to provide EpxDiabetes is substantially lower than required for many specialized telemonitoring devices. Our implementation shows a statistically significant HbA1c reduction from baseline for patients with baseline HbA1c >8%. The drop in HbA1c is corroborated by a significant decrease in self-reported average fasting blood glucose. Among participants, this reduction in FBG results in a 10.9% increase in patients reporting FBG<130, implying that EpxDiabetes accelerates HbA1c control by maintaining FBG control longitudinally. Based on previous results from the United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study, our HbA1c reductions demonstrated with the community

RenderX

implementation program are similar to those achieved with pharmacologic treatments and would represent a 37% decrease in the risk of microvascular complications and a 21% reduction in the risk of any diabetes-related complication or death, suggesting that this bidirectional communication between patient and provider could have important clinical implications [18].

We attribute the results of EpxDiabetes to increased patient investment in self-health combined with active monitoring and titration by their care teams. The patient-reported FBG data allow providers to perform care-plan adjustments based on actionable data and receive rapid feedback on these adjustments. This closed reactive feedback loop allows EpxDiabetes to complement treatment plans and accelerate glycemic control by optimizing current medications.

In contrast to FBG diaries and several electronic health tools utilizing specialized equipment and mobile phone apps [8,10], EpxDiabetes demonstrates high patient engagement. With over 85% of participants continuing to communicate with the system at least 1 month until their respective conclusions at 6 months, EpxDiabetes circumvents engagement limitations seen with other electronic interventions to keep patients engaged long term.

We attribute the high weekly and longitudinal patient engagement to two components of EpxDiabetes: the regularly scheduled proactive messages may serve as a "buddy," helping patients establish a habit of checking their glucose the same time every day. The bidirectional design also encourages involved providers to call following dysglycemic events, helping patients feel more connected to their health care providers, and further incentivizing patient engagement with the system [19-21]. These factors may explain the higher engagement rate for the intervention group compared to the nonintervention

group. The overall findings suggest that EpxDiabetes provides a more engaging alternative to FBG diaries for both short-term and long-term FBG monitoring.

Study Limitations and Next Steps

Overall, the community implementation demonstrated encouraging trends in HbA1c and FBG reduction, particularly in the HbA1c >8% population. Given the positive outcomes associated with actively engaged patients and care teams, further educational messages to encourage lifestyle behavior modifications are an avenue worth exploring in future iterations of the system. This first report demonstrates the capability of EpxDiabetes to maintain high engagement with patients and impact a population change in HbA1c over a short time period with a simple low overhead system. We will report the results after 1 year to see if the system is able to maintain this HbA1c drop. Further study at 1 year and beyond will provide better data following increased enrollment and more time for patients to get their regularly scheduled HbA1c tested. Despite this limitation, the random sampling does suggest a change in HbA1c, when considering the same patients did not show significant change prior to use of EpxDiabetes, lending pre-post evidence to the hypothesis that EpxDiabetes was instrumental, at least in part, for the improvement in glycemic control. Furthermore, we are currently conducting a phase II/III, randomized controlled trial based on the results with a larger study size to characterize EpxDiabetes' effect on patient outcomes as compared to a simultaneous standard of care group.

Conclusion

The results of this study suggest that EpxDiabetes is an inexpensive, low-risk, noninvasive intervention that can be implemented in a variety of settings to accelerate glycemic control for patients with T2DM with baseline HbA1c >8%. The results merit future investigation of the long-term effects of EpxDiabetes on patient health outcomes.

Acknowledgments

We thank Tonya An and the entire Epharmix team for help with development and implementation of EpxDiabetes. We also thank Dr. Cynthia Herrick for her valuable input regarding the manuscript. We also thank Shelina Ramnarine for her statistical analysis services. This study was funded by Epharmix, Inc.

Conflicts of Interest

AS has a financial conflict of interest with Epharmix, Inc. He is Chief Medical Officer and a founder of the company.

References

- Nicolucci A, Cercone S, Chiriatti A, Muscas F, Gensini G. A Randomized Trial on Home Telemonitoring for the Management of Metabolic and Cardiovascular Risk in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes Technol Ther 2015 Aug;17(8):563-570. [doi: 10.1089/dia.2014.0355] [Medline: 26154338]
- Greenwood DA, Blozis SA, Young HM, Nesbitt TS, Quinn CC. Overcoming Clinical Inertia: A Randomized Clinical Trial of a Telehealth Remote Monitoring Intervention Using Paired Glucose Testing in Adults With Type 2 Diabetes. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jul 21;17(7):e178 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4112] [Medline: 26199142]
- 3. Zhou P, Xu L, Liu X, Huang J, Xu W, Chen W. Web-based telemedicine for management of type 2 diabetes through glucose uploads: a randomized controlled trial. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2014;7(12):8848-8854 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25674254]
- Wayne N, Perez DF, Kaplan DM, Ritvo P. Health Coaching Reduces HbA1c in Type 2 Diabetic Patients From a Lower-Socioeconomic Status Community: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Med Internet Res 2015 Oct 05;17(10):e224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4871] [Medline: 26441467]
- Liang X, Wang Q, Yang X, Cao J, Chen J, Mo X, et al. Effect of mobile phone intervention for diabetes on glycaemic control: a meta-analysis. Diabet Med 2011 Apr;28(4):455-463. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1464-5491.2010.03180.x</u>] [Medline: <u>21392066</u>]
- Menchine M, Solomon T, Marzec K, Rifenbark N, Nayyar M, Patel S, et al. 457: Prevalence and Severity of Depression In Emergency Department Patients With Diabetes: What Is the Association With Glycemic Control? Annals of Emergency Medicine 2010 Sep;56(3):S148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2010.06.500]
- Whitlock WL, Brown A, Moore K, Pavliscsak H, Dingbaum A, Lacefield D, et al. Telemedicine improved diabetic management. Mil Med 2000 Aug;165(8):579-584. [Medline: <u>10957848</u>]
- Wakefield BJ, Koopman RJ, Keplinger LE, Bomar M, Bernt B, Johanning JL, et al. Effect of home telemonitoring on glycemic and blood pressure control in primary care clinic patients with diabetes. Telemed J E Health 2014 Mar;20(3):199-205 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2013.0151] [Medline: 24404819]
- Bell AM, Fonda SJ, Walker MS, Schmidt V, Vigersky RA. Mobile phone-based video messages for diabetes self-care support. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2012 Mar 01;6(2):310-319 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/193229681200600214] [Medline: 22538140]
- Istepanian RSH, Zitouni K, Harry D, Moutosammy N, Sungoor A, Tang B, et al. Evaluation of a mobile phone telemonitoring system for glycaemic control in patients with diabetes. J Telemed Telecare 2009;15(3):125-128. [doi: <u>10.1258/jtt.2009.003006</u>] [Medline: <u>19364893</u>]

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e15/

- Tricarico C, Peters R, Som A, Javaherian K, Ross W. EpxMedTracking: Feasibility Evaluation of an SMS-Based Medication Adherence Tracking System in Community Practice. JMIR Res Protoc 2017 May 15;6(5):e87 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.7223] [Medline: 28506954]
- 12. Seaquist ER, Anderson J, Childs B, Cryer P, Dagogo-Jack S, Fish L, American Diabetes Association, Endocrine Society. Hypoglycemia and diabetes: a report of a workgroup of the American Diabetes Association and the Endocrine Society. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013 May;98(5):1845-1859. [doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-4127] [Medline: 23589524]
- 13. Population estimates, July 1, 2015 (V2015).: U.S. Census Bureau URL: <u>http://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/</u> stlouiscountymissouri [accessed 2017-06-28] [WebCite Cache ID 6rYw9DKkm]
- Hoerger TJ, Segel JE, Gregg EW, Saaddine JB. Is glycemic control improving in U.S. adults? Diabetes Care 2008 Jan;31(1):81-86 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2337/dc07-1572</u>] [Medline: <u>17934153</u>]
- 15. American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes--2015: summary of revisions. Diabetes Care 2015 Jan;38 Suppl:S4. [doi: 10.2337/dc15-S003] [Medline: 25537706]
- Su D, Zhou J, Kelley MS, Michaud TL, Siahpush M, Kim J, et al. Does telemedicine improve treatment outcomes for diabetes? A meta-analysis of results from 55 randomized controlled trials. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2016 Jun;116:136-148. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.diabres.2016.04.019</u>] [Medline: <u>27321329</u>]
- Smith A. Pew Internet & American Life Project. Washington, DC; 2011 Jul 11. 35% of American Adults Own a Smartphone URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/files/old-media//Files/Reports/2011/PIP_Smartphones.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-06-28]
 [WebCite Cache ID 6rYwLytAB]
- Stratton I, Adler AI, Neil HA, Matthews DR, Manley SE, Cull CA, et al. Association of glycaemia with macrovascular and microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 35): prospective observational study. BMJ 2000 Aug 12;321(7258):405-412 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10938048]
- López L, Grant RW. Closing the gap: eliminating health care disparities among Latinos with diabetes using health information technology tools and patient navigators. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2012 Jan 01;6(1):169-176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/193229681200600121] [Medline: 22401336]
- Bull SS, Gaglio B, McKay HG, Glasgow RE. Harnessing the potential of the internet to promote chronic illness self-management: diabetes as an example of how well we are doing. Chronic Illn 2005 Jun;1(2):143-155. [doi: 10.1177/17423953050010021101] [Medline: 17136920]
- Faett BL, Geyer M, Hoffman LA, Brienza DM. Design and development of a telerehabilitation self-management program for persons with chronic lower limb swelling and mobility limitations: preliminary evidence. Nurs Res Pract 2012;2012:608059 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2012/608059] [Medline: 23227323]

Abbreviations

CI: confidence interval FBG: fasting blood glucose HbA1c: glycated hemoglobin SEM: standard error of the mean SMS: short message service T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 24.04.17; peer-reviewed by H Akram, B Larsen; comments to author 26.05.17; revised version received 30.05.17; accepted 16.06.17; published 25.07.17.

Please cite as:

Peters RM, Lui M, Patel K, Tian L, Javaherian K, Sink E, Xu R, Xu Z, Aung W, Zhou L, Huynh J, Polites G, Blanchard M, Som A, Ross W, Bernal-Mizrachi C

Improving Glycemic Control With a Standardized Text-Message and Phone-Based Intervention: A Community Implementation JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e15

URL: http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e15/ doi:10.2196/diabetes.7910 PMID:30291063

©Robert Mattson Peters, Matt Lui, Kunjan Patel, Lewis Tian, Kavon Javaherian, Eric Sink, Ran Xu, Zhuchen Xu, Wint Aung, Li Zhou, Justin Huynh, Gregory Polites, Melvin Blanchard, Avik Som, Will Ross, Carlos Bernal-Mizrachi. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 25.07.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete

bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Examining the Impact of a Novel Blood Glucose Monitor With Color Range Indicator on Decision-Making in Patients With Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes and its Association With Patient Numeracy Level

Mike Grady¹, MSc, PhD; Laurence Barry Katz², PhD; Christine Simone Strunk², MSc; Hilary Cameron¹, BSc (Hons); Brian Leonard Levy², MD

¹LifeScan Scotland, Inverness, United Kingdom ²LifeScan Inc, Wayne, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Mike Grady, MSc, PhD LifeScan Scotland Beechwood Park North Inverness, IV2 3ED United Kingdom Phone: 44 01463 721889 Email: mgrady@its.jnj.com

Abstract

Background: Many patients struggle to interpret and respond appropriately to the numerical blood glucose results displayed on their meter, with many regularly taking no action or self-care adjustment for out-of-range results. We recently reported that a glucose meter that provides automatic onscreen information using a color range indicator (ColorSure Technology) improved the ability of patients to categorize their blood glucose results.

Objective: The objective of this study was to examine how ColorSure Technology (or color) affected patient decision making on blood glucose results and how patient numeracy levels influenced such decisions.

Methods: We invited 103 subjects (56 with type 2 diabetes and 47 with type 1 diabetes) to a face-to-face in-clinic visit in a diabetes care center and showed them glucose results with or without color via interactive computer or paper logbook exercises. Before participating in these exercises, subjects completed surveys on numeracy and their understanding of blood glucose information.

Results: Subjects preferentially acted on high glucose results shown with color (55%, 57/103) compared to results without color (45%, 46/103; P=.001). When shown identical pairs of results, subjects preferentially acted on results shown with color (62%, 64/103) compared to results without color (16%, 16/103) (P<.001). Subjects more accurately identified days of the week in which results were low, in range, or high when reviewing logbooks with color (83%, 85/103) than without color (68%, 70/103; P=.012). Subjects with lower numeracy were more likely to consider taking action for high glucose results shown with color (59%, 18/31) than without color (41%, 13/31) and preferentially would take action on results shown with color (71%, 22/31) compared to results without color (16%, 5/31).

Conclusions: Insulin- and noninsulin-using subjects were each more inclined to act when glucose results were shown with color, and associating glucose results with color was viewed as particularly beneficial by subjects with lower numeracy.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e24) doi:10.2196/diabetes.8299

KEYWORDS

color range indicator (ColorSure[™] Technology); glucose ranges; blood glucose monitor; self-monitoring of blood glucose; numeracy



Introduction

Self-monitoring of blood glucose (SMBG) remains a cornerstone of diabetes management. However, poor education on how to meaningfully interpret the numbers displayed, together with a lack of understanding about adequate responses to blood glucose (BG) levels, can diminish the value of self-monitoring [1]. Appropriate education addressing SMBG interpretation and response to "out-of-range" BG values has been identified as a prerequisite to the value of SMBG [2]. In people with type 1 diabetes (T1D), underutilization of SMBG and absence of guided clinical decision making have recently been identified as key contributors to poor glycemic control [3]. Furthermore, Cavanagh et al [4] described how low diabetes-related numeracy skills are associated with fewer self-management behaviors. Poor numeracy has also been associated with suboptimal glycemic outcomes in people with both type 2 diabetes (T2D) [5] and T1D [6].

We previously reported that although nearly all patients with T2D agreed they would take action for BG results under 70 mg/dl, 51% of these subjects stated they would not take action for any level of high BG result [7]. This is consistent with a study of 207 people with T2D that investigated perceptions of high BG results where only 28% of patients considered results >235 mg/dl as high, with a further 10% viewing only >290mg/dl as high [8]. This demonstrates a recurring tolerance (or lack of awareness) of high BG levels in people with T2D. We previously reported that a variety of blood glucose meters (BGM) using color range indicators improved the ability of patients with both T1D and T2D to interpret and classify BG readings into low, in range, or high glucose ranges [9]. In the current study, we investigated how color might influence decision making in people with T1D and T2D in terms of propensity to take action after low or high BG results. In addition, we explored the impact of numeracy on decision making and subject preference for results in color.

Methods

This single visit, open label study was conducted at a National Health Service (NHS) clinic in the United Kingdom (Highland Diabetes Institute [HDI], Scotland) and was approved by the relevant ethics committee. Subjects provided written informed consent before initiation of the study. Subjects were identified via the NHS patient electronic database, based on entrance criteria, and were invited to attend the clinic by a clinic research nurse. Inclusion criteria included at least 16 years of age, an ability to read and understand English, a diagnosis of diabetes (T1D or T2D) for at least 3 months, and self-reported SMBG of at least 1 time per day. The only exclusion criterion was conflict of interest, that is, subject was not or had previously

not been employed with LifeScan Scotland, or had a family member or association with LifeScan Scotland. Subjects provided demographic, medical history, and current diabetes practice information to the study facilitator. In addition, the subject's most recent laboratory A1c result was obtained from the NHS database. All subjects received appropriate compensation for time and travel to the clinic site. HDI is a stand-alone facility in Inverness, Scotland, adjacent to a general hospital (Raigmore Hospital). HDI cares for more complex or difficult to manage people with diabetes who usually have been referred from general practice. Therefore, HDI typically has a higher proportion of more intensively managed patients (eg, multiple daily insulin injections or using pumps) than might be encountered if recruiting via general practice. This is reflected in our study demographics.

ColorSure Technology Feature

Subjects interacted with study materials using a computer or by handling paper-based study materials that described blood glucose information with the support of ColorSure Technology (CST) (LifeScan). CST describes a way of presenting blood glucose data to a patient (on a glucose meter or app) in association with color (blue, green, or red) to denote low, in range, or high glucose results, respectively (Figure 1). CST is used in OT Verio, OT Select Plus, and OT Verio Flex blood glucose meters (LifeScan). This feature automatically indicates whether a glucose result displayed on the screen is low (blue), in range (green), or high (red) (Figure 1). The determination of a low, in range, or high message depends on the glucose range set in the meter by the patient or health care professional (HCP). Low $(\langle 70 \text{ mg/dl}), \text{ in range } (70-180 \text{ mg/dl}), \text{ and high } (\rangle 180 \text{ mg/dl})$ default limits are provided preset in the meter and were used in this study.

Assessing Glucose Data (With or Without) Color

Three different exercises were undertaken by each subject. Exercises #1 and #2 were facilitated using a tablet personal computer (PC) enabling each subject to view different meter screens and provide feedback by clicking directly on the tablet screen to record their response. Exercise #3 involved reviewing two different paper logbooks containing typical glucose results screens.

Exercise #1: Reviewing Low or High Glucose Results With or Without Color

Each subject was shown a single panel view of 12 low (<70 mg/dl) or high (>180 mg/dl) glucose result screens on the tablet PC (Figure 1). This single panel view consisted of 6 identical pairs of low and 6 identical pairs of high results shown with or without color. Subjects were asked to click directly on 6 of the possible 12 low and high result screens on which they would be more inclined to take action.



Figure 1. ColorSure technology and subject exercises.



Exercise #2: Reviewing Glucose Pairs With or Without Color

A series of 20 identical pairs of 20 different glucose results were shown one at a time on the tablet PC screen in random order (Figure 1). Each pair of numerically identical results screens was shown on the tablet PC simultaneously side-by-side: one result shown with color and the other result shown without color. Each subject was asked to select the results screen on which they would be more inclined to take action. Subjects could also select "neither," meaning no preference for results with or without color.

Exercise #3: Reviewing Blood Glucose Logbooks With or Without Color

Each subject reviewed two different one-page paper logbooks displaying a representative week of results. One logbook displayed 13 results with color, and the other logbook displayed 13 results without color (Figure 1). The two logbooks had glucose results placed on different days and were numerically only marginally different from each other. Within each logbook, 3 of the 7 days had specific results that exhibited a low, in range, or high blood glucose pattern. The facilitator first presented the logbook without color and then presented the logbook with color to each subject and asked them to identify which days of the week results were typically running low, in range, or high. Subjects were also asked preference questions after reviewing each form of logbook.

Timing of Exercises

In Exercises 1 and 2, both black/white and color visuals were presented in the same exercise simultaneously; therefore, no time advantage (or disadvantage) was implicit in the choice that was made by the subject when expressing a preference. Therefore, there was no rationale for measuring the time taken to conduct the exercises.

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e24/
```

RenderX

For Exercise 3 (using paper logbooks), a time limit of 2 minutes for interpretation of the black/white logbook and a further 2-minute time limit for interpretation of the color logbook was enforced.

Subjective Numeracy Scale Evaluation

All subjects took part in a subjective numeracy assessment using a validated subjective numeracy scale [10,11]. Subjects read 8 statements and chose from 6 potential responses (scored from 1-6, with 6 defining highest self-reported confidence or ability in terms of numeracy) that most represented themselves. A total subjective numeracy score (between 8-48) was determined for each subject. To facilitate the interpretation of numeracy scores, we classified results into 5 categories (8-16, 17-24, 25-32, 33-40, and 41-48) to facilitate understanding of lowest to highest subjective numeracy across subjects.

Subject Surveys

After all study procedures were completed, subjects completed surveys to investigate their knowledge of glucose ranges and explore how subjects interpret and react to low or high results. Finally, subjects expressed their perception of the value of the color feature with respect to managing their diabetes.

Statistical Analyses

Continuous demographic variables were described as median and range or mean and standard deviation (SD). Categorical demographic variables were described as percentages within categories. Test score changes were calculated as the percentage change from baseline. The null hypothesis "H₀: Pre-score=post-score" was tested using a paired *t* test with significance level of alpha=.05. Correlations with A1c and other variables were assessed using the Pearson correlation coefficient and were deemed significant with P<.05. Minitab 16.1.1 and SPSS 21.0 were used for all analyses.

 Table 1. Baseline patient demographics and medical history.

	All subjects	T1D	T2D	
	(N=103)	(n=47)	(n=56)	
Gender, n (%)				
Male	47 (45.6)	20 (42.6)	27 (48.2)	
Female	56 (54.4)	27 (57.4)	29 (51.8)	
age (years), mean (SD)	61.6 (14.1)	55.4 (15.4)	66.7 (10.6)	
ears conducting SMBG				
Mean (SD)	23.9 (9.4)	13.0 (6.6)		
18.0 (9.6)				
Median (range)	16.8 (1.8-39.8)	26.8 (2.8-39.8)	12.8 (1.8-31.8)	
requency of SMBG, n (%)				
>5 times/day	20 (19.4)	20 (42.6)		
3-5 times/day	46 (44.7)	17 (36.2)	29 (51.8)	
1-2 times/day	32 (31.1)	9 (19.1)	23 (41.1)	
<1 time/day	5 (4.9)	1 (2.1)	4 (7.1)	
herapy, n (%)				
Insulin pump	8 (7.8)	8 (17.0)	17 (30.4)	
Insulin injections	47 (45.6)	30 (63.8)		
Insulin injections and oral antidiabetes drugs	40 (38.8)	9 (19.1)	31 (55.4)	
Oral antidiabetes drugs only	8 (7.8)		8 (14.3)	
[bA1c (%)				
Mean (SD)	8.3 (1.4)	8.3 (1.3)	8.3 (1.4)	
Median (range)	7.9 (5.4-12.4)	7.9 (5.4-12.4)	8.0 (5.6-12.0)	

Results

Subjects

Baseline characteristics of subjects are shown in Table 1. In total, 47 subjects with T1D and 56 subjects with T2D participated. The majority (86%, 48/56) of the subjects with T2D used some form of insulin. All subjects were experienced SMBG users who performed BG tests relatively frequently (64%, 66/103), performing at least 3 tests per day.

Assessing Blood Glucose Data (With or Without) Color

In Exercise #1, there was no significant difference across the 103 subjects in terms of choosing to preferentially act whether the low result was shown with color (52%, 54/103) or without color (48%, 49/103). This outcome was not influenced by whether the subject had T1D or T2D. However, there was a significant difference across the 103 subjects in terms of choosing to preferentially act when identical high results were shown with color (55%, 57/103) compared to without color (45%, 46/103) (P=.001) (Figure 2). This preference for results with color was also observed across the 94 insulin-using subjects who chose to preferentially act when identical high results were shown with color (54%, 51/94) compared to without color (46%, 43/94) (P=.012) (Figure 2).

Similarly, in Exercise #2 there was a significant difference across the 103 subjects in the percentage of subjects choosing to preferentially act on a result shown with color (62%, 64/103) compared to the same numeric result shown without color (16%, 16/103) (P<.001) (Figure 3). The remaining subjects expressed no preference between color and no color. This preference for results with color was also observed across the 94 insulin-using subjects (61%, 57/94 vs 17%, 16/94; P<.001). In addition, this response preference for results with color sith a color 20%, 9/47) and the 56 subjects with T2D (color 64%, 36/56; without color 12%, 7/56), respectively (Figure 3).

Reviewing Blood Glucose Logbooks With or Without Color

In Exercise #3, more subjects correctly identified the 3 days when results were low, in range, or high when reviewing logbooks with color (83%, 85/103) compared to without color (68%, 70/103) (P=.012) This improvement was also evident across the 91 insulin-using subjects (82%, 75/91) compared to insulin users reviewing logbooks without color (66%, 60/91) (P=.01). Over half (55%, 57/103) of subjects responded that a logbook displaying results with color was easier to review compared to only 9% (9/103) who preferred a logbook without color. The remaining subjects expressed no preference between color and no color. Preference for reviewing glycemic trends

using a logbook with color was also more pronounced in subjects using insulin, subjects with T1D, and subjects with T2D (Figure 4).

Subject Numeracy and Associations With Baseline Measures

Median subjective numeracy score was 34 (minimum possible score, 8; maximum possible score, 48) across all 103 subjects with a range of 8-48 (11-48 T1D; 8-48 T2D) (Figure 5). There was no correlation between numeracy and either A1c or SMBG frequency across all subjects or within subjects with either T1D or T2D.

Subject Numeracy and Associations With Color

In Exercise #1, subjects with lower numeracy levels (8-24) were more likely to say they would take action for high results shown with color (59%, 18/31) than without color (41%, 13/31). As numeracy level increased, subjects became noticeably less reliant on color to identify high results (Figure 6). For example, at the highest subjective numeracy level (score of 41-48), an equivalent number of subjects chose to take action for high results regardless of whether values were shown with or without color.

Figure 2. Preference for subjects to act on high BG results with and without color. All subjects (N=103); insulin-using subjects (n=94); T1DM (n=47); T2DM (n=56).









Figure 4. Preferences for subjects to review BG data in a logbook with or without color. The remaining subjects expressed no preference between color and no color. All subjects (N=103); insulin-using subjects (n=94); T1DM (n=47); T2DM (n=56).



Figure 5. Numeracy level across subjects: Subjective Numeracy Scale scores in 103 subjects, T1DM (n=47) and T2DM (n=56). The 8-question scale has 6 items per question with a maximum score of 48 representing highest subjective numeracy evaluation and a minimum score of 8 representing lowest subjective numeracy evaluation. Numbers represent the number of subjects scoring in the range shown.





Figure 6. Numeracy associations between subjects choosing high BG results when 6 identical BG results were shown with or without color.



Figure 7. Association between numeracy and ability of subjects to correctly identify low, in range, or high days when results were shown with or without color in logbook format.



During Exercise #2, when reviewing identical pairs of glucose results shown with or without color, subjects with lower numeracy (8-24) preferentially selected action for results shown with color (71%, 22/31) compared to those without color (16%, 5/31). This preference to take action based on color declined as numeracy improved but was still evident even in subjects with the highest numeracy level where 53% (10/18) would preferentially take action for results shown with color compared to 16% (3/18) without color. During logbook Exercise #3, as numeracy improved, individual subjects were more successful at correctly identifying days of the week containing low, in range, or high glucose results (Figure 7). This trend was evident whether results were displayed with or without color. However, at every numeracy level, subjects were always more successful at identifying days of the week containing low, in range, or high results from logbook reviews with color (Figure 7).

Subject Perceptions of ColorSure Technology Feature

More than two-thirds (68%, 70/103) of subjects agreed or strongly agreed that showing a result with color (CST) makes it simpler to know when to act compared to a meter without color and that color could help them understand when they need to take action. In subjects with T2D, subjects agreed that color could help them improve awareness of when blood glucose is low (71%, 40/56) or high (66%, 37/56) and that showing a result with color could make it clearer when to take action (68%, 38/56). In T1D and T2D subjects with lower numeracy (equivalent to 51% [53/103] of all subjects based on a median numeracy score of <34), these subjects agreed that color could help them improve awareness of hypoglycemic (66%, 35/53) or hyperglycemic (70%, 37/53) results and that color would motivate them to stay in range (66%, 35/53) and feel more confident managing diabetes between scheduled HCP visits compared to a meter without color (64%, 34/53) (Table 2).

Grady et al

Table 2. Subject responses to survey statements. Favorable responses are defined as a response of "strongly agree" or "agree" on a 5-point scale (5=strongly agree, 4=agree, 3=neither agree nor disagree, 2=disagree, and 1=strongly disagree). Neutral responses are a score of 3. Nonfavorable responses are a score of 1 or 2. All favorable response rates are statistically significant (P<.05).

	Nonfavorable response	Neutral response	Favorable response
All subjects (N=103)			
ColorSure could help me understand when I need to take action along with the BG number	12%	25%	63%
ColorSure provides extra awareness about what BG results mean ^a	16%	24%	60%
Showing a result with ColorSure makes it simpler to know when to act ^b	16%	16%	68%
ColorSure improves the testing experience compared to using a meter without any color	3%	34%	63%
Subjects with T2DM (n=56)			
ColorSure could help me improve my awareness of when my blood glucose is low	16%	13%	71%
ColorSure could help me improve my awareness of when my blood glucose is high	16%	18%	66%
ColorSure could give me more confidence to understand my results ^a	16%	21%	63%
ColorSure could make it clearer when I need to take action compared to a number only	16%	16%	68%
Showing a result with ColorSure makes you more inclined to act com- pared to seeing your result without color	20%	14%	64%
Subjects with low numeracy ^c (n=53; 21 T1DM, 32 T2DM)			
ColorSure could help me improve my awareness of when my blood glucose is low	11%	23%	66%
ColorSure could help me improve my awareness of when my blood glucose is high	11%	19%	70%
Using a meter with ColorSure could help me take the right steps to manage my blood glucose	10%	26%	64%
Using a meter with ColorSure could help me be more confident when I need to take action along with the BG number	9%	23%	68%
ColorSure would make me feel more confident managing my diabetes between scheduled HCP visits ^a	11%	25%	64%
ColorSure could motivate me to stay in-range between HCP visits ^a	11%	23%	66%
ColorSure could help me recognize signs and avoid trouble spots between HCP visits ^a	9%	25%	66%

^aCompared to a meter without color.

^bCompared to a result without color.

^cSubjective Numeracy Scores less than the median of all study participants.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Building on our previous studies that showed that color enables patients with T1D and T2D to improve their ability to interpret blood glucose readings [7,9], we sought to demonstrate that color has the potential to improve the likelihood that patients will act on results. This is especially important given that many patients stop taking action over time, especially when they have high results, and often avoid taking any action whatsoever [8,12]. We demonstrated that color can positively influence the intention of subjects to act on glucose values and that this effect

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e24/
```

XSL•FO RenderX was particularly evident in subjects with lower numeracy. CST automatically highlights when individual results are within accepted glycemic ranges (low, in range, or high) and provides a simple association with color to reinforce how patients should interpret their results and facilitate appropriate action.

Our study demonstrated that color helped patients recognize when they should consider taking action in response to certain results, especially high results. The fact that color had less of an influence on whether subjects would consider taking action on low results may reflect the importance placed by HCPs on educating and reminding patients how to identify and react to hypoglycemia. In contrast, subjects responded more readily in terms of inclination to take action when high results were

presented to them with color compared to high results shown without color. The strong subject preferences for intention to take action when viewing results displayed with color may point to a deficiency in education regarding what is a high value for that individual and what action could be taken in the moment or what prospective therapy or lifestyle changes could be adopted to minimize future high results. Interestingly, subjects with both T1D and T2D had similar preference for color when asked to consider a series of results on which they would preferentially intend to act. Our results imply that the immediate reassurance provided by color appeals equally to both groups even if anecdotally patients with T1D feel that color is less instructive to them given their higher testing frequency and greater familiarity reviewing blood glucose information.

A recent study in 7320 people with T2D not using insulin [13] found that in 1 of 6 people who practiced SMBG, neither the patient nor physician used any SMBG results to make treatment adjustments. These patients reported either diabetes was not a high priority for them or their HCP did not teach them how to adjust diet/medicines based on SMBG results. The reaction of the T2D population in our study (86%, 48/56 insulin users) who were performing SMBG at least 3 times a day is perhaps more similar to T1D subjects in terms of SMBG awareness or interpretation. This may explain why the reactions of subjects with T2D in our study to color were similar to the reactions of subjects with T1D.

It is well known that both patients and HCPs struggle to decipher glycemic pattern information from logbooks [14], which are often unclear or inaccurate [15]. We have found that a logbook presenting blood glucose results with color may overcome immediate barriers to deciphering trends within a logbook for patients with both T1D and T2D.

Strong trends were noted with respect to subject numeracy and reviewing SMBG data with color. In particular, subjects with lower numeracy were far more likely to say they would act on high results when presented with color. Consistent with this finding, Cavanagh et al [4] found 26% of 398 patients surveyed could not identify values within a target range of 60-120 mg/dl, and this declined further to 33% in those with the lowest numeracy. In contrast, patients with the highest numeracy were able to identify results within the target range 88% of the time. Additionally, in our study, about 2 out of 3 subjects with below-median numeracy felt that color would make them feel more confident managing diabetes between visits and could also help them recognize signs and avoid trouble between HCP visits.

The preference for viewing and acting on results with color may also have benefits in terms of reinforcing appropriate decision making over time. For example, there exists a disparity in the perception of patients and HCPs on how well patients can interpret SMBG data. A recent study noted that 38% of physicians perceived that nurses "always" assessed patients' ability and knowledge with respect to SMBG and when to take action, whereas only 14% of the patients felt they were "always" taught how to perform SMBG or given information regarding treatment based on SMBG results [16]. Therefore, HCPs may be overestimating how effectively their patients can interpret SMBG data.

Limitations

HDI cares for more complex, intensively managing patients (eg, multiple daily insulin injections or using pumps) than might be encountered in general practice and this is reflected in our study demographics; 86% (48/56) of our T2D subjects were taking some form of insulin and 52% (29/56) performed SMBG \geq 3 times per day, much higher than people with T2D in the general local population. Despite our intensively managing study population having familiarity with SMBG data and access to expert care from diabetes specialist nurses, it was encouraging that participants still appeared to benefit from, and exhibit strong preferences for, color-coded information. It is possible that the value of color insights may be even stronger in a more generalized T2D population who typically perform SMBG less frequently and may be less able to interpret numerical glucose data.

We acknowledge that there are relatively small numbers of subjects within the lowest numeracy level (8-16), which limits robustness of the data. However, there are clear overall trends associating changes in numeracy with subject performance or preference for color. The tablet PC system used to enable subjects to experience a wide range of glucose results (with or without) color is admittedly a simulation for results on an actual glucose meter, but it allowed subjects to quickly and easily visualize sequential meter screen images or meter screens in parallel and respond in the moment. These are the kind of assessments we expect patients to make after each glucose test at home (often multiple times per day). This concentrated experience, viewing a series of glucose values, is an efficient way to obtain an estimation of each subjects' ability and perceptions concerning interpreting data with or without color.

The paper logbook exercises were not randomized; subjects always completed the black/white logbook assessment first followed by the color logbook assessment. Familiarity with the format of the materials and process may have helped some subjects. Justification for this order was that performing the color logbook first would provide additional education on what represented a low, in range, or high result, which could have influenced or improved interpretation of the standard logbook. It is also worth highlighting that subjects were given a time limit of 2 minutes to assess each logbook in turn and with the exception of 1 subject (a retired T2D male testing the minimum of 1 time per day) who provided 5 of the required 6 selections in time, no other subjects skipped any selections for any logbook in the required timeframe. On this basis, it is clear that even if we assume that there was a learning curve in witnessing the black/white logbook first, the fact that everyone completed the exercises in such a short time suggests it was not a clinically meaningful advantage.

Conclusion

Both insulin and noninsulin-using subjects may benefit from color to support interpretation of blood glucose results displayed either on a meter or in a logbook. Our study suggests strong preferences for viewing results with color and that subjects may



Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Barry Irvine for study conduct. The authors received editorial assistance from Excerpta, which was funded by LifeScan, Inc. This study was funded by LifeScan, Inc.

Conflicts of Interest

MG and HC are employees of LifeScan Scotland, Ltd. LBK, CSS, and BLL are employees of LifeScan, Inc.

References

- Schnell O, Alawi H, Battelino T, Ceriello A, Diem P, Felton A, et al. Self-monitoring of blood glucose in type 2 diabetes: recent studies. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2013 Mar 01;7(2):478-488 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/193229681300700225] [Medline: 23567007]
- Schnell O, Barnard K, Bergenstal R, Bosi E, Garg S, Guerci B, et al. Clinical Utility of SMBG: Recommendations on the Use and Reporting of SMBG in Clinical Research. Diabetes Care 2015 Sep;38(9):1627-1633. [doi: <u>10.2337/dc14-2919</u>] [Medline: <u>26294772</u>]
- 3. Bergenstal RM, Ahmann AJ, Bailey T, Beck RW, Bissen J, Buckingham B, et al. Recommendations for standardizing glucose reporting and analysis to optimize clinical decision making in diabetes: the ambulatory glucose profile. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2013 Mar 01;7(2):562-578 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/193229681300700234] [Medline: 23567014]
- 4. Cavanaugh K, Huizinga M, Wallston K, Gebretsadik T, Shintani A, Davis D, et al. Association of numeracy and diabetes control. Ann Intern Med 2008 May 20;148(10):737-746. [Medline: <u>18490687</u>]
- 5. Teft G. The role of numeracy in diabetes care. J Diabetes Nursing 2011 Dec 01;15(7):268-273.
- 6. Marden S, Thomas P, Sheppard Z, Knott J, Lueddeke J, Kerr D. Poor numeracy skills are associated with glycaemic control in Type 1 diabetes. Diabet Med 2012 May;29(5):662-669. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1464-5491.2011.03466.x</u>] [Medline: <u>21978203</u>]
- Grady M, Warren G, Levy BL, Katz LB. Interactive Exposure With a Blood Glucose Monitor With a Novel Glucose Color Range Indicator Is Associated With Improved Glucose Range Interpretation and Awareness in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2015 Jul;9(4):841-848 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296815569882] [Medline: 25652564]
- Evans JMM, Mackison D, Swanson V, Donnan PT, Emslie-Smith A, Lawton J. Self-monitoring of blood glucose in type 2 diabetes: patients' perceptions of 'high' readings. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2013 Oct;102(1):e5-e7. [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2013.07.011] [Medline: 23993470]
- 9. Grady M, Katz LB, Cameron H, Levy BL. A Comprehensive Evaluation of a Novel Color Range Indicator in Multiple Blood Glucose Meters Demonstrates Improved Glucose Range Interpretation and Awareness in Subjects With Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2016 Nov;10(6):1324-1332 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296816659307] [Medline: 27402241]
- Fagerlin A, Zikmund-Fisher BJ, Ubel PA, Jankovic A, Derry HA, Smith DM. Measuring numeracy without a math test: development of the Subjective Numeracy Scale. Med Decis Making 2007;27(5):672-680. [doi: <u>10.1177/0272989X07304449</u>] [Medline: <u>17641137</u>]
- Dolan JG, Cherkasky OA, Li Q, Chin N, Veazie PJ. Should Health Numeracy Be Assessed Objectively or Subjectively? Med Decis Making 2016 Oct;36(7):868-875. [doi: 10.1177/0272989X15584332] [Medline: 25948493]
- 12. Evans JMM, Mackison D, Swanson V, Donnan PT, Emslie-Smith A, Lawton J. Self-monitoring among non-insulin treated patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: Patients' behavioural responses to readings and associations with glycaemic control. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2013 May;100(2):235-242. [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2013.03.005] [Medline: 23523283]
- 13. Grant R, Huang E, Wexler D, Laiteerapong N, Warton M, Moffet H, et al. Patients who self-monitor blood glucose and their unused testing results. Am J Manag Care 2015 Feb 01;21(2):e119-e129 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25880487]
- Hirsch IB. Blood glucose monitoring technology: translating data into practice. Endocr Pract 2004;10(1):67-76. [doi: 10.4158/EP.10.1.67] [Medline: 15251625]
- Given JE, O'Kane MJ, Bunting BP, Coates VE. Comparing patient-generated blood glucose diary records with meter memory in diabetes: a systematic review. Diabet Med 2013 Aug;30(8):901-913. [doi: <u>10.1111/dme.12130</u>] [Medline: <u>23324062</u>]
- Franch-Nadal J, Labrador BE, Gómez-García MC, Buil-Cosiales P, Millaruelo JM, Peña MLO. Patient-reported outcomes in type 2 diabetes mellitus: patients' and primary care physicians' perspectives in the Spanish health care system. Patient Prefer Adherence 2015;9:1413-1422 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PPA.S87005] [Medline: 26504375]

Abbreviations

A1c: hemoglobin A1c
BG: blood glucose
BGM: blood glucose monitor
CRI: color range indicator
HCP: health care professional
SD: standard deviation
SMBG: self-monitoring of blood glucose
T1D: type 1 diabetes
T2D: type 2 diabetes

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 26.06.17; peer-reviewed by K Blondon; comments to author 20.07.17; revised version received 21.08.17; accepted 06.09.17; published 02.10.17.

Please cite as:

Grady M, Katz LB, Strunk CS, Cameron H, Levy BL Examining the Impact of a Novel Blood Glucose Monitor With Color Range Indicator on Decision-Making in Patients With Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes and its Association With Patient Numeracy Level JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e24 URL: http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e24/ doi:10.2196/diabetes.8299 PMID:30291065

©Mike Grady, Laurence Barry Katz, Christine Simone Strunk, Hilary Cameron, Brian Leonard Levy. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 02.10.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Case Report

iOS Appstore-Based Phone Apps for Diabetes Management: Potential for Use in Medication Adherence

Mark Martinez¹, BS; Su Bin Park¹; Isaac Maison¹, BS; Vicky Mody¹, PhD; Lewis Sungkon Soh¹, BS, MS; Harish Singh Parihar¹, BPharm, PhD

Philadelphia College of Osteopathic Medicine - GA campus, School of Pharmacy, Suwanee, GA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Harish Singh Parihar, BPharm, PhD Philadelphia College of Osteopathic Medicine - GA campus School of Pharmacy 625 Old Peachtree Rd NW School of Pharmacy Suwanee, GA, 30024 United States Phone: 1 6784077350 Fax: 1 6784077347 Email: harishpa@pcom.edu

Abstract

Background: Currently, various phone apps have been developed to assist patients. Many of these apps are developed to assist patients in the self-management of chronic diseases such as diabetes. It is essential to analyze these various apps to understand the key features that would potentially be instrumental in helping patients successfully achieve goals in disease self-management.

Objective: The objective of this study was to conduct a review of all the available diabetes-related apps in the iOS App Store to evaluate which diabetic app is more interactive and offers a wide variety of operations such as monitoring glucose, water, carbohydrate intake, weight, body mass index (BMI), medication, blood pressure (BP) levels, reminders or push notifications, food database, charts, exercise management, email, sync between devices, syncing data directly to the prescribers, and other miscellaneous functions such as (Twitter integration, password protection, retina display, barcode scanner, apple watch functionality, and cloud syncing).

Methods: Data was gathered using the iOS App Store on an iPad. The search term "diabetes" resulted in 1209 results. Many of the results obtained were remotely related to diabetes and focused mainly on diet, exercise, emergency services, refill reminders, providing general diabetes information, and other nontherapeutic options. We reviewed each app description and only included apps that were meant for tracking blood glucose levels. All data were obtained in one sitting by one person on the same device, as we found that carrying out the search at different times or on different devices (iPhones) resulted in varying results. Apps that did not have a feature for tracking glucose levels were excluded from the study.

Results: The search resulted in 1209 results; 85 apps were retained based on the inclusion criteria mentioned above. All the apps were reviewed for average customer ratings, number of reviews, price, and functions. Of all the apps surveyed, 18 apps with the highest number of user ratings were used for in-depth analysis. Of these 18 apps, 50% (9/18) also had a medication adherence function. Our analysis revealed that the Diabetes logbook used by the mySugr app was one of the best; it differentiated itself by introducing fun as a method of increasing adherence.

Conclusions: A large variation was seen in patient ratings of app features. Many patient reviewers desired simplicity of app functions. Glucose level tracking and email features potentially helped patients and health care providers manage the disease more efficiently. However, none of the apps could sync data directly to the prescribers. Additional features such as graph customization, availability of data backup, and recording previous entries were also requested by many users. Thus, the use of apps in disease management and patient and health-care provider involvement in future app refinement and development should be encouraged.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e12) doi:10.2196/diabetes.6468



KEYWORDS

diabetes; telemedicine; blood glucose self-monitoring glucose monitoring; mobile applications; self-care; mobile health

Introduction

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention define chronic diseases as "the most common, costly, and preventable of all health problems." This includes conditions such as heart disease, stroke, and cancer [1]. In the United States, approximately 70% or 1.7 million of all deaths are due to chronic diseases [2].

Diabetes is a chronic disease that occurs in three primary forms: type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM), type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), and gestational diabetes mellitus [3]. T1DM is characterized by pancreatic beta cells that are destroyed and thus cannot produce insulin [3]. T2DM is characterized by insulin resistance, markedly in muscles, liver, and adipose tissues [3]. Obesity [4,5], family history [6], physical inactivity [7], and ethnicity [8] are some of the risk factors associated with diabetes. The prevalence of diabetes in the United States in 2014 was 9.3% (29.1 million) and continues to rise [9]. Among adults aged 18 to 79 years, there were an estimated 1.4 million new cases of diabetes diagnosed in 2014 [10]. If this trend continues, as many as 1 out of every 3 adults in the United States could develop diabetes by 2050 [9].

Diabetes is managed through pharmacologic therapy and lifestyle modifications such as exercise, diet, and glucose monitoring [11], T1DM is defined by the patient's inability to produce insulin, and thus, these patients are dependent on the administration of insulin for proper management of the disease. However, T2DM can be managed through the administration of oral hypoglycemic agents, insulin, non-insulin injectable agents, or a combination of agents [12]. Hemoglobin A1C and blood glucose values are used for diagnosis and management of diabetes [11]. Improper management of glycemic levels can lead to outcomes including, but not limited to, adverse cardiovascular outcomes, retinopathy, nephropathy, hyperglycemia, and hypoglycemia [13]. Nonadherence is one contributor to the improper management of diabetes as it is estimated that 50% of patients do not take their medications as prescribed by their physicians [14]. The New England Healthcare Institute estimates that nonadherence along with suboptimal prescribing, drug administration, and diagnosis could result in as much as US \$290 billion per year in avoidable medical spending [15]. Therefore, compliance, or the proper use of medication by patients, plays a crucial role in the proper management of diabetes [16].

For patients diagnosed with diabetes, monitoring of blood glucose levels is the principal foundation of treatment planning and is performed through the use of a glucometer, a lancing device, and testing strips. Blood glucose values allow the patient or physician to adjust medication strength and also provide insight on disease progression. While A1C provides a 3-month average of blood glucose levels, it does not provide specific information that can support the adjustment of fasting plasma glucose or post-prandial glucose levels in the case of uncontrolled diabetes. An increased frequency of glucose level measurements has been associated with reduced Hemoglobin

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e12/
```

XSL•FC

A1C levels [17]. Daily logging of self-monitored blood glucose levels may increase patient safety and awareness to therapeutic effectiveness as well as aid in adjustments to treatment planning.

With roughly half of the adult US population managing one chronic disease and 25% managing two or more chronic health conditions [1], it is becoming increasingly important to provide patients with the education and tools to self-manage their diseases. Nadkarni et al have shown that the implementation of a plan for self-monitoring behavior results in an increase in the frequency of blood glucose level measurements [18]. Moreover, it has been shown that rather than written documentation, electronic record-keeping may be of greater efficacy [19]. While mobile phones were once less accessible and desirable due to cost and limited functions, innovation has led to the mobile phone becoming ubiquitous throughout the United States and globally. Mobile phone ownership in 2015 among US adults \geq 18 years old was an estimated 68% and 86% among those aged 18 to 29 years [20]. A variety of mobile phone apps tailored for the management of chronic diseases is available for download in the various app stores. Prior studies have shown that mobile phone app usage was correlated to patient behavioral patterns that facilitate diabetes self-management [21].

Prior studies have been conducted pertaining to a number of the apps included in this review [21,22,23]. However, some apps have been discontinued and many more have been added to the market since the publication of those studies. This review strives to provide a comprehensive analysis of currently available apps for tracking blood glucose levels.

The purpose of this article was to provide a qualitative review of the various apps related to diabetes self-management that are available on the iOS Apple App Store. A secondary objective was to provide a detailed analysis and comprehensive review of additional features with respect to the top 15 apps for tracking glucose levels, indicated by the number of reviews on the iOS App Store, in order to facilitate patient selection of apps.

Methods

Search Methodology

The search term used on the iOS App Store was "diabetes," which was entered on an iPad, resulting in 1209 apps as of 6th September, 2015. The iPad was selected instead of the iPhone-6 because of increased screen space and reduced tendency to crash. The search term "diabetes" produced an excessive number of results that led to crashes on an iPhone-6 while browsing through the pages. For instance, if 100 pages of search results were produced, a crash was possible at any point when changing pages, at which point a new search would have to be performed, resulting in a different order of results and thus making it more difficult to extract information.

In addition, the iPad was selected instead of a desktop because the desktop version of the App Store does not display the total number of results. The iOS App Store was also preferred over the Play Store for Android as the Play Store tends to

overestimate results through generation of less relevant results [24,25]. Moreover, the scope of this research was to only to review the apps available for iOS. Hence, Google's Play Store

was not reviewed. The broad search term "diabetes" was used to maximize the number of results pertaining to potential apps for tracking glucose levels.



Table 1. List of diabetes self-management apps available in iOS App Store.

No.	App name	Average customer rating	Number of reviews	Price (US \$)	Functions $(1^{a}, 2^{b}, 3^{c}, 4^{d}, 5^{e}, 6^{f}, 7^{g}, 8^{h}, 9^{i})$
1	Bant	2.5	183	0.00	1, 5, 7
2	Best Diabetes Control	1	2	0.99 (Lite version available)	1, 2, 6, 9
3	Blood Diary	3	1	0.00	1, 2, 9
4	Blood Glucose Tracker (japps)	3.5	2	In-app purchases	1, 2, 3, 5, 9
5	Blood Sugar Diabetes Control	2.5	150	0.99	1, 2, 5, 6, 7
6	Dafne Online	0	0	0.00	1, 2, 5, 8
7	Dbees	3	16	0.00	1, 2, 5, 6, 9
8	Dblog	3	2	0.99	1, 7, 9
9	Diabetes 360	4	21	4.99	1, 2, 5, 7, 9
10	Diabetes App	4	2940	6.99	1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9
11	Diabetes Assistant	4.5	5	1.99	1, 2, 3
12	Diabetes Companion	0	0	0.00	1
13	Diabetes Connect	4.5	67	In-app purchases	1, 2, 5, 7, 8, 9
14	Diabetes Diary	3.5	41	2.99	1, 2, 5, 9
15	Diabetes Factors	1	5	0.00	1, 5, 7, 8, 9
16	Diabetes Glucose Tracker app	2	85	2.99	1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9
17	Diabetes Health Mate	4	17	0.00	1, 2, 3, 5, 9
18	Diabetes in Check	4	989	0.00	1, 2, 3, 4, 7, 9
19	Diabetes Kit	5	287	0.00	1, 2, 3, 5, 9
20	Diabetes Log	3	1948	0.00	1, 2, 7, 8, 9
21	Diabetes Logbook by mySugr	5	1684	In-app purchases	1, 2, 3, 5, 8, 9
22	Diabetes Logger	1	1	0.00	1, 2, 5, 9
23	Diabetes Management app	1	1	In-app purchases	1, 2, 7, 9
24	Diabetes Manager	5	2	4.99	1, 2, 5, 7, 9
25	Diabetes Pal app	4	183	0.00	1, 2, 5, 8, 9
26	Diabetes Parent	0	0	0.00	1, 2, 8, 9
27	Diabetes Passport	0	0	0.00	1, 2, 5, 7, 9
28	Diabetes Pilot Classic	4	221	24.99	1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 9
29	Diabetes Plus	4.5	8	3.99	1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 9
30	Diabetes Studio	0	0	0.00	1, 3, 5, 7, 8, 9
31	Diabetes Tracker with Blood Glucose/Carb Log by MyNetDiary	4.5	447	9.99	1, 2, 4, 5, 8, 9
32	Diabetes UK Tracker	0	0	0.00	1, 2
33	Diabetespal	4.5	6	2.99	1, 2, 5, 7, 9
34	Diabetesses	0	0	0.00	1
35	Diabetesteam	0	0	0.00	1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 9
36	Diabetic Plus	0	0	0.00	1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 9
37	Diabetic Plus	0	0	0.00	1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 9
38	Diabetic Tracker Unlimited	2	25	1.99	1, 5, 7, 9
39	Diabeticplus	0	0	0.00	1, 5, 7, 8, 9
41	Diabetics Diary	4	1	0.00	1, 2, 6, 7, 9

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e12/

XSL•FO RenderX

Martinez et al

No.	App name	Average customer rating	Number of reviews	Price (US \$)	Functions $(1^{a}, 2^{b}, 3^{c}, 4^{d}, 5^{e}, 6^{f}, 7^{g}, 8^{h}, 9^{i})$
42	Diabetic's Diary	5	1	0.00	1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 9
43	Diabetik	5	79	0.00	1, 2, 3, 7, 9
44	Diabettes	0	0	0.00	1, 2, 6, 9
45	Diamedic	3.5	143	5.99	1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9
46	Ditto Glucose Logbook	2	2	0.00	1, 2, 5, 7, 9
47	Dmdiary	5	1	0.00	1, 5, 7, 9
48	Easy Diabetes	4	29	0.00	1, 2, 5, 7, 9
49	Gestational Diabetes Manager	2.5	18	2.99	1, 2, 4, 6, 7
50	Glicontrol	1	1	In-app purchases	1, 2, 5, 7, 9
51	Glucocheck	0	0	0.00	1, 2, 5, 6, 9
52	GluCoMo	2	82	0.99	1, 3, 5, 9
53	Glucorecord	2	14	In-app purchases	1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 9
54	Glucose Buddy	4	6400	In-app purchases	1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 9
55	Glucose Companion	4.5	888	1.99	1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 9
56	Glucose Monsters	2	11	0.00	1, 2, 5
57	Glucose Readings	0	0	0.99	1, 5, 7, 9
58	Glucose Recorder	3.5	30	2.99	1, 2, 5, 8, 9
59	Glucose Tracker	2.5	17	1.99	1, 2, 5, 7, 9
60	Glucose Tracker - simple and complete app	5	6	0.99	1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9
61	Glucose Wiz/Pro	4	61	1.99	1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 9
63	Glucosurfer Free	0	0	0.00	1, 2, 5, 9
64	Glucosurfer	0	0	0.99	1, 2, 6, 7, 9
65	Glucosweet	2.5	7	6.99	1, 2, 5, 7, 8, 9
66	Glycemiaquicklog	2	1	2.99	1, 3, 5, 7, 9
67	Gmate	4	9	0.00	1, 2, 5, 6, 9
68	Healthediabetes	3.5	15	5.99	1, 2, 9
69	Glucose Monitor (HealthstomeG)	4.5	331	In-app purchases	1, 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, 9
70	Ibgstar Diabetes Manager	3.5	150	0.00	1, 2, 3, 5, 9
71	Iglu-bz	0	0	0.00	1, 2, 5, 6
72	Mdiabetes	0	0	0.99	1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 9
73	Mydiabetes	0	0	3.99	1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 9
74	Mydiabetesapp	0	0	3.99	1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 9
75	Mysugr Junior	4	11	0.00	1, 2, 4, 7, 9
76	Onsync Diabetes Manager	2	28	0.00	1, 2, 5, 7, 9
77	Pomihealth	4.5	70	2.99	1, 2, 5, 9
78	Predict Bgl	5	3	0.00	1, 2, 4, 6, 9
79	Rapidcalc	4.5	25	7.99	1, 2, 5, 7, 9
80	Sidiary	3	9	5.99	1, 5, 8, 9
81	Simple Diabetes	0	0	0.00	1, 2, 7, 9
82	Sugar Sense	4.5	86	0.00	1, 2, 6, 7, 9
83	Sugarpal Diabetes Manager	3	1	3.99	1, 2, 5, 7, 9

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e12/

XSL•FO RenderX

Martinez et al

No.	App name	Average customer rating	Number of reviews	Price (US \$)	Functions $(1^{a}, 2^{b}, 3^{c}, 4^{d}, 5^{e}, 6^{f}, 7^{g}, 8^{h}, 9^{i})$
84	Track3	4.5	820	5.99	1, 2, 6, 7, 8, 9
85	Your Diabetes Diary	4	1	0.00	1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 9

^aLogs glucose levels.

^bLogs water and carbohydrate intake, weight, body mass index, medication, and blood pressure.

^cReminders or push notifications.

^dFood database.

^eCharts.

^fExercise management.

^gEmail.

^hSync between devices.

ⁱMiscellaneous (Twitter, password protection, retina display, barcode scanner, apple watch functionality, cloud syncing, and miscellaneous functions).

Of these 1209 results, 85 were ultimately retained due to the presence of the ability to track users' glucose levels (Table 1). The 1124 apps excluded focused mainly on diet, exercise, emergency services, providing general diabetes information, and other nontherapeutic options, or they were duplicate apps (Figure 1). The glucose levels tracked were visible on most apps from the landing page description. Any apps in which this information was not on the landing page were found using an iPhone, searching by the name of the app so as not to interrupt the search on the iPad. As performing the same "diabetes" search at different times or on different devices (iPhones) would result in varying results (different order or quantity), for the purpose of this analysis, we used the results for the search term "diabetes" from a single device (an iPad), and the author continuously reviewed the description of all the apps without interruption (this task required about six hours to accomplish). This method ensured that the list of search results would maintain the same apps in the same order. Based on these factors, our study focused on apps available in the iOS App Store.

Apps Reviews and Analysis

After the inclusion criteria for the presence of glucose level tracking feature were met and the 85 apps were selected, the breakdown and recording of specific features for the respective apps was split amongst three of the authors (MM, EP, and IM).

Information not available on the landing page was gathered by entering the specific app's page on the iPad and reviewing the features. Each person recorded the rating for the app, number of reviews, price, in-app purchase facility, features, and major pros and cons noted in user reviews.

An in-depth analysis was then performed by two authors (MM and LS) on the "Top 15" apps, based on the highest number of reviews, and the information is presented below and in Multimedia Appendix 1. The respective apps were downloaded on iPhones and used over the course of 2 weeks, with each author performing a qualitative analysis of the apps' ability to track glucose levels, carbohydrate intake, medication, weight, exercise, and blood pressure, as well as the apps' ease of use and graphs. The availability of additional features such as data export, back up, goal setting, forums, and integration with a meter were also recorded. Each author allotted a rating of good or poor to the qualitative features. A good rating was given if the feature demonstrated a majority of the following characteristics: being intuitive and useful, stable (the app does not crash if the feature is used), and well designed in terms of colors, font, clarity, and easily accessible from the menu. At the end of the 2-week trial period, the two authors independently completed their comprehensive reviews of the 15 apps and then came together to resolve any discrepancies in the ratings and finalize the results.



Figure 1. Selection algorithm of the top iOS apps for diabetes self-management.



Results

Among the top 15 apps tested, only 13% (2/15) featured integration with a meter (Multimedia Appendix 1). Only 13% (2/15) featured the ability to receive advice through a certified diabetes educator within the app. Availability of tracking features was 73% (11/15), 73% (11/15), 73% (11/15), 53% (8/15), and 46% (7/15) for tracking carbohydrate intake, medication tracking, weight tracking, exercise tracking, and blood pressure tracking, respectively. Despite 73% (11/15) of the apps having the feature of tracking carbohydrate intake, only 3 of the 15 apps had an integrated food database; most of the apps focused on the input of carbohydrate values as opposed to the input of food with carbohydrate values calculated by the app itself. Less than half of the apps featured the availability of adherence reminders, and among these, three did not offer the feature in the free version. We found that 93% (14/15) of the apps featured a method to export data, primarily by emailing values or graphs, and 73% (11/15) of the apps allowed the user to set goals in order to visualize when they failed to meet their goals, generally using a certain color to indicate hypoglycemia or hyperglycemia. Seven apps featured some form of advertisement within the app that could be removed by upgrading from the free to the paid version. Only one app (SugarSense) mentioned the use of guidelines and provided users with information citing the guidelines, while also providing a link directly to the American Diabetes Association (ADA) guidelines.

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e12/

RenderX

Discussion

Principal Findings

Patient self-management of chronic illness is important to assist physicians in management of the disease and increase adherence. The use of apps has been shown to be useful not only in diabetes, but also in other chronic diseases such as cancer [26] as well as non-chronic diseases such as weight loss [27]. Data obtained from apps on blood glucose, blood pressure, diet, exercise, asthma exacerbations, and so forth could be instrumental in maintaining proper medication regimens and improving the effectiveness of targeted counseling from physicians, based on where the patient is failing or succeeding.

Subsequent to the review and comparison of the top 15 apps for tracking glucose levels, the primary differentiating factors among the apps were found to be their respective supplemental features such as carbohydrate-intake tracking, medication tracking, weight tracking, exercise tracking, blood pressure tracking, ease of use, food database, graph availability, adherence reminders, data export, data backup, goal setting, notes, advertisements, community forums, access to certified diabetes educators, and integration with a meter.

Our results reflected that patient reviews emphasized the desire for simplicity, but also the availability of more complex features (highly customizable graphs, data backup, and synchronization across devices). The best apps had a large number of features but did not overwhelm the user by displaying all of the features

or customization options available. In the future, syncing data directly to prescribers could provide the patients' detailed blood glucose readings, medication adherence practices, and diet in a standardized format. The data could potentially increase health care outcomes by providing a larger pool of data to improve pharmacologic therapy and non-pharmacologic therapy counseling for patients.

Although all of the apps reviewed were for diabetes management, less than half of the top apps (7/15) had a medication adherence function (Multimedia Appendix 1). It was puzzling that although so many apps had a comprehensive list of features that ranged from tracking calories to cloud backup, they failed to implement reminders for medication, as forgetfulness is a factor of nonadherence. This may have been because many patients inject per sliding scale or with meals and the timing is nontraditional; nevertheless, reminders should be a requirement of self-management apps. One stand out feature only apparent in the Diabetes Logbook app by mySugr was the introduction of fun as a method of increasing adherence. The highest rated apps had myriad features and many comparable features between them, but having "fun" while inputting data may add the extra push that users need to continue to use the app and attain their therapeutic goals.

Limitations

There is neither regulatory body assigned to monitor the efficacy of wellness apps, nor a designated evidence base [28]. SugarSense was the only app in the top 15 that provided referenced information per ADA guidelines as well as a direct link to the ADA guidelines. Although this is important, usefulness for a patient who may be a layperson has to be evaluated. Kirwan et al have shown that an app supplemented with certified educator feedback via text messaging produced statistically significant improvement in the control of patients' blood glucose levels [29]. While text-message feedback was not incorporated in our review, two of the top 15 apps (Diabetes Logbook and Diabetes Kit) did provide the optional resource of a certified diabetes educator. User reviews reflected mixed positive and negative opinions regarding the feature. Further evaluation is needed regarding degree of usefulness.

While there are a medley of apps available for assistance in self-management of diabetes and other chronic diseases, it is important to determine exactly which features are instrumental to the success of patient goals in disease management. Patients are easily discouraged by an abundance of features, but they are equally discouraged by a lack of features and customization. The exact components of an ideal self-management app may already be possessed by the apps discussed here; it is just a matter of optimization by the removal of unnecessary features and the addition of missing features.

This study was limited in terms of the time when the apps were introduced to the market, as this may have impacted the number of reviews—apps that were available for a longer period of time for user download and use may have had reviews that were more positive or numerous. This study may have also yielded different results had we also included the paid only apps in the top 15 list (Diabetes Pilot Classic, Blood Sugar Diabetes Control, Diabetes Diary, Diamedic, and GluCoMo).

Conclusions

Apps may assist health care providers in inching closer to optimal prescriptions by increasing both patient involvement and availability of data. The use of phone apps for management of chronic diseases such as diabetes is not a novel concept, but the extent to which specific features may improve adherence along with real-world application by physicians has been minimally explored [25,30-35]. Features that should be considered by app developers are graph customization, availability of data backup, records of previous entries, and syncing directly from glucometers without the need for manual input of values. Two apps allowed syncing of glucose values directly from patient glucometers, which should increase ease of use. Ibgstar Diabetes Manager by Sanofi connects the glucometer directly to an iPhone or iPod touch and inputs glucose readings into the app. The Diabetes Pal App by Telcare provides similar functions and integration, but data from the glucometer is instead sent over wi-fi directly to the Telcare website, after which it can be synced to the app. The Telcare device was well received, whereas the Sanofi meter received a number of reviews complaining about lack of functions. Technology can assist in increasing patient compliance and quality of life in managing chronic illness; however, it is important for app developers to realize that ease, feasibility of customization, and number of functions is important for patient reliance, though developers should not get carried away and deviate from the original goal of working with patients and prescribers in order to improve health outcomes.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Attributes of the top 15 apps for diabetes self-management available in the iOS App Store.

[JPG File, 199KB - diabetes v2i2e12 app1.jpg]

References

1. Ward BW, Schiller JS, Goodman RA. Multiple chronic conditions among US adults: a 2012 update. Prev Chronic Dis 2014 Apr 17;11:E62 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd11.130389] [Medline: 24742395]

- 2. Yun S, Kayani N, Homan S, Li J, Pashi A, McBride D, et al. The burden of chronic diseases in Missouri: progress and challenges. Mo Med 2013;110(6):505-511. [Medline: 24564003]
- 3. NIDDK. 2014. What is Diabetes? URL: <u>https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-information/diabetes/types</u> [accessed 2016-12-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6msJZkkbn]
- 4. Mokdad AH, Ford ES, Bowman BA, Dietz WH, Vinicor F, Bales VS, et al. Prevalence of obesity, diabetes, and obesity-related health risk factors, 2001. JAMA 2003 Jan 1;289(1):76-79. [Medline: <u>12503980</u>]
- Nguyen NT, Nguyen XM, Lane J, Wang P. Relationship between obesity and diabetes in a US adult population: findings from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1999-2006. Obes Surg 2011 Mar;21(3):351-355 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11695-010-0335-4] [Medline: 21128002]
- 6. InterAct Consortium, Scott RA, Langenberg C, Sharp SJ, Franks PW, Rolandsson O, et al. The link between family history and risk of type 2 diabetes is not explained by anthropometric, lifestyle or genetic risk factors: the EPIC-InterAct study. Diabetologia 2013 Jan;56(1):60-69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00125-012-2715-x] [Medline: 23052052]
- Reis JP, Loria CM, Sorlie PD, Park Y, Hollenbeck A, Schatzkin A. Lifestyle factors and risk for new-onset diabetes: a population-based cohort study. Ann Intern Med 2011 Sep 06;155(5):292-299 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-155-5-201109060-00006] [Medline: 21893622]
- 8. Shai I, Jiang R, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC, Colditz GA, et al. Ethnicity, obesity, and risk of type 2 diabetes in women: a 20-year follow-up study. Diabetes Care 2006 Jul;29(7):1585-1590. [doi: 10.2337/dc06-0057] [Medline: 16801583]
- 9. CDC. 2014. Diabetes Report Card URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pdfs/library/diabetesreportcard2014.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-12-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6msM5EsvX]
- 10. CDC. 2014. Diabetes Public Health Resource URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/statistics/incidence/fig1.htm</u> [accessed 2016-12-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6msKamLTv]
- 11. Garber AJ, Abrahamson MJ, Barzilay JI, Blonde L, Bloomgarden ZT, Bush MA, American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists (AACE), American College of Endocrinology (ACE). CONSENSUS STATEMENT BY THE AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF CLINICAL ENDOCRINOLOGISTS AND AMERICAN COLLEGE OF ENDOCRINOLOGY ON THE COMPREHENSIVE TYPE 2 DIABETES MANAGEMENT ALGORITHM--2016 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY. Endocr Pract 2016 Jan;22(1):84-113. [doi: 10.4158/EP151126.CS] [Medline: 26731084]
- Bennett WL, Maruthur NM, Singh S, Segal JB, Wilson LM, Chatterjee R, et al. Comparative effectiveness and safety of medications for type 2 diabetes: an update including new drugs and 2-drug combinations. Ann Intern Med 2011 May 03;154(9):602-613 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-154-9-201105030-00336] [Medline: 21403054]
- American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes--2014. Diabetes Care 2014 Jan;37(Suppl 1):S14-S80. [doi: <u>10.2337/dc14-S014</u>] [Medline: <u>24357209</u>]
- 14. Haynes RB, McDonald H, Garg AX, Montague P. Interventions for helping patients to follow prescriptions for medications. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2002(2):CD000011. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD000011</u>] [Medline: <u>12076376</u>]
- 15. NEHI. 2009. Improving Patient Medication Adherence: A \$290 Billion Opportunity URL: <u>http://www.nehi.net/bendthecurve/</u> <u>sup/documents/Medication_Adherence_Brief.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-12-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6msL0I3eU]
- 16. Osterberg L, Blaschke T. Adherence to medication. N Engl J Med 2005 Aug 4;353(5):487-497. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMra050100</u>] [Medline: <u>16079372</u>]
- Miller KM, Beck RW, Bergenstal RM, Goland RS, Haller MJ, McGill JB, T1D Exchange Clinic Network. Evidence of a strong association between frequency of self-monitoring of blood glucose and hemoglobin A1c levels in T1D exchange clinic registry participants. Diabetes Care 2013 Jul;36(7):2009-2014 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc12-1770] [Medline: 23378621]
- Nadkarni A, Kucukarslan SN, Bagozzi RP, Yates JF, Erickson SR. A simple and promising tool to improve self-monitoring of blood glucose in patients with diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2010 Jul;89(1):30-37. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.diabres.2010.03.011</u>] [Medline: <u>20381890</u>]
- Lane SJ, Heddle NM, Arnold E, Walker I. A review of randomized controlled trials comparing the effectiveness of hand held computers with paper methods for data collection. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2006 May 31;6:23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-6-23] [Medline: 16737535]
- 20. Anderson M. Pew Internet. 2015. Technology Device Ownership: 2015 URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2015/10/29/</u> technology-device-ownership-2015/ [accessed 2016-11-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6msL9kG9d]
- 21. El-Gayar O, Timsina P, Nawar N, Eid W. Mobile applications for diabetes self-management: status and potential. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2013 Jan 01;7(1):247-262 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23439183]
- 22. Arnhold M, Quade M, Kirch W. Mobile applications for diabetics: a systematic review and expert-based usability evaluation considering the special requirements of diabetes patients age 50 years or older. J Med Internet Res 2014 Apr 09;16(4):e104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2968] [Medline: 24718852]
- 23. Eng DS, Lee JM. The promise and peril of mobile health applications for diabetes and endocrinology. Pediatr Diabetes 2013 Jun;14(4):231-238 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/pedi.12034] [Medline: 23627878]
- 24. Tran J, Tran R, White JR. Smartphone-based glucose monitors and applications in the management of diabetes: an overview of 10 salient "apps" and a novel smartphone-connected blood glucose monitor. Clin Diabetes 2012 Oct;30(4):173-178. [doi: 10.2337/diaclin.30.4.173]

- 25. Demidowich AP, Lu K, Tamler R, Bloomgarden Z. An evaluation of diabetes self-management applications for Android smartphones. J Telemed Telecare 2012 Jun;18(4):235-238. [doi: <u>10.1258/jtt.2012.111002</u>] [Medline: <u>22604278</u>]
- 26. Wesley KM, Fizur PJ. A review of mobile applications to help adolescent and young adult cancer patients. Adolesc Health Med Ther 2015 Aug 18;6:141-148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/AHMT.S69209] [Medline: 26316835]
- Chin SO, Keum C, Woo J, Park J, Choi HJ, Woo JT, et al. Successful weight reduction and maintenance by using a smartphone application in those with overweight and obesity. Sci Rep 2016 Nov 07;6:34563 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/srep34563] [Medline: 27819345]
- 28. Ozdalga E, Ozdalga A, Ahuja N. The smartphone in medicine: a review of current and potential use among physicians and students. J Med Internet Res 2012 Sep 27;14(5):e128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1994] [Medline: 23017375]
- Kirwan M, Vandelanotte C, Fenning A, Duncan MJ. Diabetes self-management smartphone application for adults with type 1 diabetes: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2013 Nov 13;15(11):e235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2588] [Medline: 24225149]
- Bloss CS, Wineinger NE, Peters M, Boeldt DL, Ariniello L, Kim JY, et al. A prospective randomized trial examining health care utilization in individuals using multiple smartphone-enabled biosensors. PeerJ 2016 Jan 14;4:e1554 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7717/peerj.1554] [Medline: 26788432]
- Cafazzo JA, Casselman M, Hamming N, Katzman DK, Palmert MR. Design of an mHealth app for the self-management of adolescent type 1 diabetes: a pilot study. J Med Internet Res 2012 May 8;14(3):e70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2058] [Medline: 22564332]
- 32. Coughlin SS, Whitehead M, Sheats JQ, Mastromonico J, Hardy D, Smith SA. Smartphone applications for promoting healthy diet and nutrition: a literature review. Jacobs J Food Nutr 2015;2(3):021 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26819969]
- Dayer L, Heldenbrand S, Anderson P, Gubbins PO, Martin BC. Smartphone medication adherence apps: potential benefits to patients and providers: response to Aungst. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003) 2013;53(4):345. [doi: <u>10.1331/JAPhA.2013.13121</u>] [Medline: <u>23892801</u>]
- 34. Hale K, Capra S, Bauer J. A framework to assist health professionals in recommending high-quality apps for supporting chronic disease self-management: illustrative assessment of type 2 diabetes apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Sep 14;3(3):e87 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4532] [Medline: 26369346]
- 35. Rao A, Hou P, Golnik T, Flaherty J, Vu S. Evolution of data management tools for managing self-monitoring of blood glucose results: a survey of iPhone applications. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2010 Jul 01;4(4):949-957 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20663461]

Abbreviations

T1DM: type 1 diabetes mellitus **T2DM:** type 2 diabetes mellitus **BMI:** body mass index **BP:** blood pressure

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 08.08.16; peer-reviewed by J Breland, N Kaufman; comments to author 10.10.16; revised version received 01.02.17; accepted 14.04.17; published 11.07.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Martinez M, Park SB, Maison I, Mody V, Soh LS, Parihar HS iOS Appstore-Based Phone Apps for Diabetes Management: Potential for Use in Medication Adherence JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e12 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e12/</u> doi:10.2196/diabetes.6468 PMID:30291096

©Mark Martinez, Su Bin Park, Isaac Maison, Vicky Mody, Lewis Sungkon Soh, Harish Singh Parihar. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 11.07.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Diabetes App-Related Text Messages From Health Care Professionals in Conjunction With a New Wireless Glucose Meter With a Color Range Indicator Improves Glycemic Control in Patients With Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes: Randomized Controlled Trial

Mike Grady¹, PhD; Laurence Barry Katz², PhD; Hilary Cameron¹, BSc (Hons); Brian Leonard Levy², MD

¹LifeScan Scotland Ltd, Inverness, United Kingdom ²LifeScan Inc, West Chester, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Mike Grady, PhD LifeScan Scotland Ltd Beechwood Park North Inverness, IV2 5DL United Kingdom Phone: 44 01463 ext 721889 Fax: 44 01463 722000 Email: mgrady@its.jnj.com

Abstract

Background: Mobile diabetes apps enable health care professionals (HCPs) to monitor patient progress, offer remote consultations, and allow more effective and informed treatment decisions between patients and HCPs. The OneTouch Reveal app aggregates data from a blood glucose meter and provides analytics to help patients and HCPs visualize glycemic trends and patterns, enabling more informed treatment and lifestyle decisions. The app also allows patients and HCPs to keep connected by exchanging text messages (short message service [SMS]) or progress reports via email.

Objective: The primary objective of our study was to assess changes in glycemic control and overall experiences of patients and HCPs using the app in conjunction with the wireless OneTouch Verio Flex blood glucose meter.

Methods: We randomly assigned 137 adults with type 1 (T1DM) or type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and a glycated hemoglobin (HbA_{1c}) level of \geq 7.5% and \leq 11.0% to use the glucose meter alone or glucose meter plus the app for 24 weeks. The meter + app group were scheduled to receive diabetes-related text messages from their HCP every 2 weeks (total of 12 texts). Clinical measures and self-reported outcomes were assessed during face-to-face clinic visits between the participant and a diabetes nurse at baseline, week 12, and week 24.

Results: In 128 completed participants, HbA_{1c} decreased after 12 and 24 weeks in both the meter-only (n=66) (0.56% and 0.55%, respectively) and meter + app groups (n=62) (0.78% and 0.67%, respectively) compared with baseline (each *P*<.001). The difference in HbA_{1c} reduction between the 2 groups was not statistically significant at 12 or 24 weeks (*P*=.12 and *P*=.45, respectively). However, the decrease in HbA_{1c} was greater in T2DM participants using the meter + app after 12 weeks (1.04%) than in T2DM participants using the meter alone (0.58%; *P*=.09). In addition, decrease in HbA_{1c} in participants using the meter + app who received at least 10 diabetes-related text messages (1.05%) was significantly greater than in meter-only participants (*P*<.01).

Conclusions: Use of the OneTouch Verio Flex glucose meter alone or in combination with the OneTouch Reveal diabetes app was associated with significant improvements in glycemic control after 12 and 24 weeks. Improvements using the app were greatest in participants with T2DM and those participants who received the highest number of HCP text messages. This study suggests that real-time availability of patient data and the ability to send personalized diabetes-related text messages can assist HCPs to improve glycemic control in patients between scheduled visits.

Trial Registration: Clinicaltrials.gov NCT02429024; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02429024 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/6sCTDRa11)

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e19) doi:10.2196/diabetes.7454

KEYWORDS

diabetes app; text message; color range indicator; blood glucose monitor, wireless

Introduction

The advent of mobile phones and smartphones provides a real opportunity to improve diabetes care by enabling patients and health care professionals (HCPs) to exchange information remotely (via text or email) with the potential to minimize or even eliminate the need for routine management office visits [1]. Systematic reviews have found that mHealth interventions improve diabetes care end points such as glycated hemoglobin (HbA_{1c}) and are particularly effective if such interventions connect patients with their HCP [2]. mHealth may also facilitate improved engagement in certain patient subgroups, such as adolescents, since a recent Web-based survey showed the most commonly used technology was text messaging (short message service [SMS]) [3]. Although mobile technologies have broad appeal, there is evidence that people with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) may derive as much, if not more, benefit as people with type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM). A meta-analysis showed that mobile phone interventions reduced HbA_{1c} by 0.5%over 6 months, with greater reductions in HbA_{1c} in people with T2DM (0.8%) than in those with T1DM (0.3%) [4]. Furthermore, a review of 13 trials found improved health outcomes in people with T2DM using automated brief messages compared with usual care [5].

Exchanging mobile phone texts or SMS between patients and their HCPs may have an impact on the clinical outcomes of patients. A single-arm study evaluating the effect of SMS text messages on glycemic control in Saudi patients with T2DM found that 5 to 7 texts per week were associated with reductions in HbA_{1c} after 4 months [6]. A study evaluating the effectiveness of daily SMS text messages from a nurse compared with weekly (then biweekly) telephone follow-ups found similar improvements in HbA_{1c} in each group, suggesting that SMS can be considered a valuable method to facilitate diabetes control [7]. Mobile solutions that allow HCPs to remotely visualize patient progress in real time enable HCPs to create personalized SMS text messages containing specific actionable advice. HbA_{1c} was reduced in a study in adults with poorly controlled T1DM or T2DM receiving an average of 13 personalized SMS text messages per week over 3 months [8].

Recent advances in cloud-based diabetes management software and apps have enabled new models of collaborative care between patients and HCPs [9]. We previously reported that using a Web-based version of the OneTouch Reveal app in patients with T1DM and T2DM was associated with a 0.4% reduction in HbA_{1c} after 12 weeks [10]. Certain patients may face other barriers to self-management such as numeracy challenges. Cavanaugh et al [11] described how low diabetes-related numeracy skills are associated with fewer self-management

XSL•FC RenderX behaviors, and poor numeracy has also been associated with suboptimal glycemic outcomes in both people with T2DM [12] and those with T1DM [13]. The simple color-coded tools used within the OneTouch Verio Flex meter and the OneTouch Reveal app may be especially helpful for these patients. The app contains features such as an easy to personalize reminder to perform self-management activities (eg, medication, physical activity, insulin); graphics showing glucose testing metrics; color coding of low, in-range, or high results (ColorSure Technology); and high- and low-glucose pattern detection tools. The app can also create a 14-day summary report that can be emailed to the HCPs or accessed online by HCPs [14-16].

The primary end point of this study was to evaluate whether use of the app and receiving diabetes-related text messages every 2 weeks from an HCP based on app insights would improve glycemic control in participants with T1DM or T2DM over the 24-week study period. Secondary end points were evaluating text metrics and gathering participant responses to surveys pertaining to acceptance of the meter and the app.

Methods

Materials

Participants used a OneTouch Verio Flex blood glucose meter (LifeScan, Wayne, PA, USA); the OneTouch Reveal mobile diabetes app (LifeScan); and a Motorola Moto E smartphone (Basingstoke, UK) preloaded with the app to receive text messages.

Methods

This parallel 2-arm, open-label, randomized controlled study was conducted at 5 sites in the United Kingdom: Highland Diabetes Institute (Inverness); Edinburgh Royal Infirmary; Queen Elizabeth University Hospital (Glasgow); Heartlands Hospital (Birmingham); and BioKinetics Europe (Belfast). We obtained appropriate ethics approval and participant informed consent before study initiation and registered the trial (NCT02429024; Multimedia Appendix 1 [17]). Participants were existing patients at each clinical site and were identified from the clinic patient databases. Participants were between 16 and 70 years of age; had a diagnosis of T1DM or T2DM for \geq 3 months; had a current HbA_{1c} of \geq 7.5% and \leq 11.0%; and were currently performing self-monitoring of blood glucose (SMBG). All participants received appropriate compensation for time and travel to the clinic site. The primary end point of the study was to determine the HbA_{1c} change from baseline in participants using the meter in conjunction with the app (meter + app) compared with meter-only participants after 12 and 24 weeks. Secondary end points were subgroup analysis of T1DM and T2DM and HbA_{1c} change from baseline at 12 weeks and 24

weeks. Further exploratory end points were the number of texts sent and their association with change in HbA_{1c} , and the HCPs' time to create text messages over 24 weeks. We also explored participant responses to acceptance surveys regarding the meter and app.

Visit 1 (Screening)

The first visit was performed 1 week before baseline and included obtaining informed consent, collecting demographic and medical history information, and evaluating inclusion and exclusion criteria. Venous blood was drawn to establish the baseline HbA_{1c} value.

Visit 2 (Baseline)

We randomly assigned eligible participants to either the meter-alone or meter + app group. The responsible HCP at each site (diabetes nurse or physician) personalized the color range indicator on the meter for all participants with appropriate low-and high-glucose range limits and gave a full explanation of the meter. Minimum SMBG requirements were recommended based on current therapy (≥ 1 /day for T2DM taking antihyperglycemic agents only; ≥ 2 /day for T2DM on premixed insulin; and ≥ 3 /day for T1DM or T2DM on premixed insulin or multiple daily injections). Participants currently performing SMBG more frequently were encouraged to continue their regimen. HCPs

explained all features of the app and ensured it was programmed with color range indicator settings identical to the meter.

Home Activities

Participants in the meter-only group were asked to perform SMBG, reflect upon insights provided by the meter, and make any diabetes-related adjustments consistent with their HCP's advice. Participants in the meter + app group were asked to perform SMBG, reflect upon insights provided by the meter, and frequently (at least weekly) review aggregated SMBG trends, patterns, and insights on the app. These participants also received text messages every 2 weeks from the site HCP containing specific diabetes-related advice or suggested adjustments.

HCP Text Messages

Real-time app data were automatically uploaded (via the cloud) from the participants' smartphone to a website version of the app accessible by site HCPs on their office computer. A text messaging program (Textlocal; Txtlocal Ltd, Chester, UK) was installed on each HCP's computer to enable them to easily manage, create, and send texts across multiple participants. HCPs reviewed the 14-day app progress report to assist in formulating diabetes-related text messages sent to the participants' phone (Figure 1). HCPs completed a log summarizing the content and time taken to create each text message.

Figure 1. Study data flow. All participants used the OneTouch Verio Flex meter to conduct self-monitoring of blood glucose (SMBG). SMBG data were transmitted wirelessly from the meter to the smartphone containing the diabetes management app OneTouch Reveal. SMBG data were automatically uploaded via the cloud to a Web-based version of the app accessible by site health care professionals (HCPs) on their office computers. HCPs reviewed the 14-day app report for each participant to assist in formulating diabetes-related text messages sent to the participant's smartphone.



Visit 3 (12 Weeks)

Venous blood was drawn for HbA_{1c} measurement. HCPs discussed progress with all participants; downloaded from the meter the first 12 weeks of SMBG data (via cable); and collected any adverse events.

Visit 4 (24 Weeks)

Venous blood was drawn for HbA_{1c} measurement and the site HCPs discussed progress with all participants. Participants completed surveys regarding their impressions of the meter and app. HCPs downloaded from the meter the last 12 weeks of SMBG data and collected any adverse events.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Randomization and Statistical Analyses

We randomly assigned 137 participants to the meter-alone or meter + app group within each study site using a stratified block randomization design with 2 stratification variables, each with 2 levels: baseline HbA_{1c} (7.5% to <9.0% or \ge 9.0% to 11.0%) and diabetes type (T1DM or T2DM). Using a pooled HbA_{1c} standard deviation of 1.0% from previous mHealth studies (data on file), we estimated sample size at 64 participants per group to achieve 80% power at 5% significance to detect a 0.5% decrease in HbA1c. We described continuous demographic variables by median and range (minimum to maximum) or mean and standard deviation. Analysis of covariance was used to assess the mean changes in HbA1c from baseline. Correlations with HbA1c were assessed using the Pearson correlation coefficient and deemed significant at a 5% significance level. We used Minitab v17.0 (Minitab Inc) and IBM SPSS v21.0 (IBM Corporation) for all analyses. We assessed associations between change in HbA1c based on the receipt of per protocol HCP text messages as an exploratory end point. In addition, we analyzed the number of SMS text messages sent by HCPs, including initial observations regarding the content of individual texts. We also completed a full analysis of the meter and app acceptance surveys.

Results

Participants

Table 1 shows baseline characteristics of all 128 participants who completed the study; 9 participants either withdrew or were lost to follow-up during the 24 weeks. Meter-only and meter + app participants had similar baseline characteristics, with a mean HbA_{1c} of 8.9% and mean duration of diabetes of about 17 years. Over 70% of participants (94/128) reported performing SMBG \geq 3 times per day. Of all 128 participants, 111 (86.7%) were on some form of insulin therapy. The great majority of participants (117/128, 91.4%) had no diabetes apps on their current phone; 122 of 128 (95.3%) had never used diabetes management software; and only 12 of 128 (9.4%) responded that their HCP had ever downloaded SMBG data during consultations.

Changes in Glycemic Control (HbA _{1c}) in all Participants

Figure 2 shows HbA_{1c} at baseline and at 12 and 24 weeks for the meter-only and meter + app groups. HbA_{1c} decreased significantly compared with baseline by 0.56% and 0.55% after 12 and 24 weeks, respectively, in the meter-only group (each P<.001). HbA_{1c} was decreased compared with baseline by 0.78% and 0.67% after 12 and 24 weeks, respectively, in the meter + app group (each P<.001). Decreases in HbA_{1c} in participants using the meter + app after 12 and 24 weeks were greater by 0.22% and 0.12%, respectively, than in those using the meter alone, but these differences were not statistically significant (P=.12 and P=.45, respectively).

Changes in Glycemic Control (HbA _{1c}) in Participants With T1DM and T2DM

Similar to results in all participants, HbA_{1c} in participants with T1DM decreased compared with baseline both in the meter-only and in the meter + app groups (P<.001), and the difference between groups was not significant at 12 or 24 weeks (P=.62 and P=.98, respectively) (Figure 3). However, in participants with T2DM, the decrease in HbA_{1c} from baseline was more pronounced in participants using the meter + app than in those participants using the meter alone. At 12 weeks, this difference (1.04% vs 0.58%) was significant at P=.09 (Figure 3).

Associations Between Glycemic Control (HbA $_{1c}$) and Text Messaging

HbA_{1c} decreased by 1.08% (n=20) in those participants using the app who received at least 10 of the maximum 12 text messages, compared with a 0.54% decrease (n=66) in HbA_{1c} in participants using the meter alone after 12 weeks (Figure 4). This additional HbA_{1c} decrease (P<.01) was maintained after 24 weeks. In contrast, there was no difference in the decrease in HbA_{1c} in participants who received fewer than 10 texts compared with participants using the meter alone. Participants (n=21) receiving between 10 and 12 diabetes-related texts from their HCP were sent 223 texts in total over 24 weeks (mean 10.7, SD 0.6 texts) compared with 40 participants receiving 9 or fewer texts (257 texts in total over 24 weeks; mean 6.2, SD 2.4 texts).



 Table 1. Baseline participant demographics.

Characteristics	Meter only	Meter + app	All participants
	(n=66)	(n=62)	(n=128)
Sex, n (%)			
Male	39 (59)	34 (55)	73 (57)
Female	27 (41)	28 (45)	55 (43)
Age in years, mean (range)	45.1 (20-71)	44.0 (19-69)	44.6 (19-71)
Diabetes type, n (%)			
T1DM ^a	41 (62)	38 (61)	79 (62)
T2DM ^b	25 (38)	24 (39)	49 (38)
Hemoglobin A _{1c,} mean (range)			
All participants	s 8.9% (7.5%-10.79	%) 8.9% (7.5%-10.8%)	8.9% (7.5%-10.8%)
T1DM	8.9% (7.5%-10.79	%) 8.8% (7.5%-10.8%)	8.9% (7.5%-10.8%)
T2DM	8.9% (7.5%-10.79	%) 8.9% (7.5%-10.7%)	8.9% (7.5%-10.7%)
Duration of diabetes in years, me	ean (range)		
All participants	s 16.7 (3.9-43.0)	17.1 (3.7-45.4)	16.9 (3.7-45.4)
T1DM	19.0 (5.1-43.0)	20.5 (3.7-45.4)	19.7 (3.7-45.4)
T2DM	13.0 (3.9-23.7)	11.8 (4.3-23.0)	12.4 (3.9-23.7)
Self-monitoring of blood glucose	e frequency, n (%)		
≥5 times/day	12 (18)	13 (21)	25 (20)
3-4 times/day	39 (59)	30 (48)	69 (54)
1-2 times/day	13 (20)	13 (21)	26 (20)
Other	2 (3)	6 (10)	8 (6)
Treatment therapy ^c for overall/I	F1DM/T2DM, n		
Basal + bolus	46/39/7	38/33/5	84/72/12
Premix	8/2/6	8/3/5	16/5/11
Basal only	2/0/2	6/1/5	8/1/7
Bolus only	1/0/1	2/1/1	3/1/2
Antihyperglyce only	emic agents 9/0/9	8/0/8	17/0/17

^aT1DM: type 1 diabetes mellitus.

^bT2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus.

^cParticipants taking insulin may or may not also have been taking antihyperglycemic agents.



Figure 2. Glycated hemoglobin (HbA_{1c}) at baseline and after 12 and 24 weeks of home use for participants using the meter only or the meter + app. Data shown are mean (SEM). Differences from baseline were significant in each group at 12 and 24 weeks (P<.001). Differences between the meter-only and meter + app groups were not statistically significant at 12 or 24 weeks.



Figure 3. Decrease from baseline in glycated hemoglobin (HbA_{1c}) after 12 and 24 weeks of home use in participants with type 1 (T1DM) or type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) in the meter-only and meter + app groups. Data shown are mean (SEM) changes. Differences from baseline were significant in each group at 12 and 24 weeks (P<.001). The reduction in HbA_{1c} from baseline was more pronounced in the meter + app group than in the meter-only group, especially at 12 weeks (P=.09).





Figure 4. Decrease from baseline in glycated hemoglobin (HbA_{1c}) after 12 and 24 weeks of home use for participants who received 10 to a maximum of 12 text messages versus the meter-only group (no text messages). Data shown are mean (SEM) changes. * P < .05; ** P < .01. Results in the meter + app group were statistically different from the corresponding meter-only group at 12 weeks (P < .01) and 24 weeks (P < .05).



HCP Text Content, and Time and Impact of App-Based Texts on Routine Patient Care

A total of 480 text messages were sent by all HCPs. These texts contained 641 specific instances of advice, including 102 text messages containing advice to adjust bolus or premixed insulin and 84 text messages containing advice on basal insulin. Participants with T1DM and T2DM received similar text advice relating to SMBG. As expected, participants with T2DM received more text advice regarding medications and texts confirming that their diabetes management or SMBG was on track than did participants with T1DM.

The time to review the app 14-day progress report and create a text message was <5 minutes (106/480, 22.1%), 5-10 minutes (244/480, 50.8%), 10-20 minutes (98/480, 20.4%), and >20 minutes (12/480, 2.5%), with 4.2% (20/480) of HCPs not recording times. In terms of managing patients in a clinical setting, the HCPs postulated they would have postponed 12 (9.7%) of the 124 scheduled study visits based on the participant being on track with their diabetes management. Of consultations that would have proceeded, HCPs expected 41 (33%) visits to be shorter and a further 41 (33%) visits to be more focused or to include better-quality conversations given they had the advantage of remote access to glycemic data in advance via the app. If this had been routine clinical practice, in 37 (29.8%) occasions HCPs postulated they would have brought forward this visit earlier or contacted the patient immediately due to concerns identified remotely. Detailed information on the exchange and content of text messages including analytics and

experiences of participants using the app will be summarized in a follow-up publication.

Safety and Tolerability

A total of 60 adverse events and 10 serious adverse events were reported by the 128 participants over the course of the 24-week study. None were related to the meter or the app.

Participants' Perceptions of the Glucose Meter and App

Table 2 summarizes participants' responses to survey statements regarding their opinion of the meter (all participants) and those using the app. Of all 126 participants who responded to the survey, 112 (88.99%) agreed that the simple color range indicator on the meter made it easy for them to manage their blood sugar because they quickly knew whether they were low, in-range, or high; 103 (81.8%) agreed that the low indicator on the meter may help them better manage lows and avoid hypoglycemic events. For app participants, 53 of 56 (95%) agreed that the colorful visuals and pattern messages in the app told them when they were doing well and when they needed to pay more attention; and 53 of 56 (95%) also wished they had had the app when first diagnosed because they felt it would have made their diabetes journey easier. In the 58 meter + app group respondents, 51 (88%) said the simple color range indicator on the meter together with the app could help them to stay on track between visits to their HCP, and 52 (90%) said that the meter and app combination provided a seamless way for them to stay connected with their HCP.



 Table 2. Participants' responses to survey statements.

Statement category					
OTVF ^b	glucose meter (n range 123-126)				
	The OTVF meter logs my past readings so I don't have to worry about writing them down	117/124 (94.4			
	The OTVF meter keeps a real-time logbook of my readings that I can carry around with me anywhere	118/125 (94.4			
	It's reassuring to know that with OTVF I have my blood sugar information at my fingertips	113/125 (90.4			
	OTVF with its simple color range indicator made it easy for me to manage my blood sugar because I quickly knew whether I was low, in-range, or high	112/126 (88.9			
	I think the OTVF meter is for people on the go	109/124 (87.9			
	The OTVF meter makes testing my blood sugar easy so I can get on with my life	107/124 (86.)			
	I found the simple color range indicator feature on OTVF to be a very helpful tool to indicate how I was managing my diabetes	108/126 (85.)			
	I love that the range indicator arrow instantly points to the appropriate color bar after each test so that I quickly know if I am low, in-range, or high	106/125 (84.			
	The low range indicator on OTVF may help me better manage my lows and avoid hypoglycemic (low blood sugar) events	103/126 (81.			
	The high range indicator on OTVF may help me better manage my highs and avoid hyperglycemic (high blood sugar) events	100/125 (80.			
	The color range indicator on the OTVF meter made me feel confident about managing my blood sugar	96/123 (78.0			
	The simple color range indicator on the OTVF meter made it easier for me to follow my HCP's ^d recommendations	98/126 (77.8			
	The low indicator on the OTVF meter may help me to avoid hypoglycemic (low blood sugar) events	97/126 (77.0			
)TR ^c aj	pp (n=56)				
	The colorful visuals and pattern messages in the OTR app tell me when I am doing well and when I need to pay more attention	53 (94.6)			
	I wish I had had the OTR app when I was first diagnosed. It would have made my journey easier	53 (94.6)			
	OTR app made it easier for me to manage my diabetes than using my meter and a paper logbook	50 (89.3)			
	OTR app reduces the tedious work of daily tracking and logging so I can focus on other important things in life	48 (85.7)			
	OTR app simplified my daily decisions using my blood sugar information	47 (83.9)			
	OTR app is a versatile tool and fits into my lifestyle	47 (83.9)			
	OTR app was simple and easy to use	47 (83.9)			
	This is a true innovation from OneTouch, a brand that I have come to trust	47 (83.9)			
	OTR app helps me get to the big picture fast, right in the palm of my hand	47 (83.9)			
)TVF g	lucose meter + OTR app (n=58)				
	The OTVF meter together with OTR app could support me in three ways: in the moment, on the go and over time	53 (91.4)			
	The OTVF meter together with the OTR app gave me instant information such as 14 day averages which helped me to discuss my progress with my HCP	52 (89.7)			
	The OTVF meter together with the OTR app provided a seamless way for me to stay connected with my HCP	52 (89.7)			
	The simple color range indicator on the OTVF meter together with the OTR app could help me stay on track between visits to my HCP	51 (87.9)			
	The simple color range indicator on the OTVF meter together with the OTR app could help me be more proactive with my diabetes management	51 (87.9)			

^aPercentages shown are favorable responses defined as a response of "strongly agree" or "agree" on a 5-point scale (5=strongly agree; 4=agree; 3=neither agree nor disagree; 2=disagree; and 1=strongly disagree). All favorable response rates are statistically significant (*P*<.001).

^bOTVF: OneTouch Verio Flex.

^cOTR: OneTouch Reveal.

^dHCP: health care professional.



Discussion

This study demonstrated improved glycemic control (HbA_{1c}) after 12 and 24 weeks in participants using a new blood glucose meter. This reduction in HbA1c with the new meter alone was more than might be reasonably attributed to just being in a clinical study (the Hawthorne effect) and for many patients in our study exceeded the reduction in HbA_{1c} typically observed when switching patients to other new meters. For example, in a study comparing participants with T2DM who were receiving multiple daily injections of insulin either trained on a new meter (Abbott Freestyle Lite) or using flash glucose monitoring (Abbott Libre), HbA_{1c} reductions of 0.31% and 0.29%, respectively, were observed after 24 weeks from a baseline HbA_{1c} of 8.8% [18]. The OneTouch Verio Flex meter used in our study features ColorSure Technology, which has been shown previously to improve the ability of patients to interpret blood glucose readings [15,16], perhaps contributing to the benefits observed in this study. To maximize the benefits of the meter, site HCPs personalized the color feature in terms of low- and high-glucose ranges for that participant and described appropriate actions to consider in response to color information. Participants using the meter may also have derived new insights from color-coded information that translated into therapy or behavioral modifications. It would have been interesting to record the extent of these modifications, perhaps using home diaries, but we did not implement these so as to avoid placing an additional burden on participants. However, in feedback surveys, 78% of participants agreed the meter made it easier to follow their HCP's recommendations, and over 80% responded that color information on the meter helped them to better manage lows (or highs) and avoid both hypoglycemic and hyperglycemic events.

In the meter + app group, HCPs were able to remotely review participants' SMBG progress in real time by analyzing app data on their office personal computer. On this basis, they considered how best to respond with appropriate diabetes therapy advice using personalized text messages directly to the participants' smartphones. The protocol instructed that text messages be sent to participants every 2 weeks to synchronize with the HCP's review of the 14-day app progress report. However, most participants did not receive the full complement of 12 diabetes-related texts over the 24-week period, although 34% (21/62) did receive 10 to 12 texts. It is possible that this lower than prescribed frequency of text contact may have limited glycemic improvement in the meter + app group compared with the improvements in the meter-alone group. This notion is supported by the decrease in HbA1c observed in app participants receiving at least 10 texts, whereas participants receiving fewer texts did not lower their HbA_{1c} any more than participants using the meter alone.

Text messages based on a review of app data was an important factor in driving improved glycemic control between scheduled consultations by prompting either specific actions (eg, changes to insulin dosing, or suggesting participants reflect on diet, exercise, or SMBG trends) or by suggesting other adjustments. It is worth highlighting that the study population was recruited

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e19/
```

XSL•FC

from hospital-based clinics caring for relatively complex diabetes cases. About 94% (58/62) of app participants were taking some form of insulin, including over 83% (20/24) of participants with T2DM. Therefore, it is not surprising that a high proportion of texts included advice to adjust bolus or basal insulin. There were expected differences between text content for participants with T1DM and T2DM. For example, participants with T2DM received a higher proportion of advice on medications than did participants with T1DM. In clinical practice, a key attribute of HCP text feedback between scheduled visits may be simply to reassure patients and encourage positive patient behaviors that have been observed remotely via real-time access to data. In this regard, it was interesting that the highest proportion of texts to participants with T2DM provided reassurance on progress, explaining that they were essentially on track.

A recent meta-analysis showed that a wide variety of telemedicine solutions (including text messaging) can improve glycemic control and lower HbA_{1c} [19]. Despite evidence of improved glycemic control, there remains concern among HCPs that mHealth connections may contribute an additional burden between scheduled office visits. It was encouraging to discover that in our study over 70% of the HCP app report review and text composition took less than 10 minutes and 22% took less than 5 minutes. Furthermore, the time required to review reports and send texts decreased over time, presumably as HCPs became more proficient using texting software and more adept at reviewing the app summary. We would expect that in routine clinical practice, texting will be patient specific depending on the changing circumstances of each patient, such as transitions to different insulin therapies or adjustments to medications, as well as the patients' desire for remote contact with their HCP. Allowing HCPs the flexibility to offer a more intensive patient-specific text frequency may further improve clinical outcomes.

Having patients use a mobile app enabled HCPs to visualize real-time participant progress and monitor remotely how well (or otherwise) each participant was doing. With this in mind, we asked site HCPs to assume that each participant was a patient they were managing in routine clinical practice and to consider whether they would have approached their next consultation differently armed in advance with knowledge of the patient's status. HCP feedback indicated that many visits could have been postponed because the patient was on track. Additionally, one-third said that visits would have been shorter or more focused, with higher-quality conversations during the visit. This feedback highlights the practical value of an mHealth solution, such as our app, and may offset the concern that such solutions increase workload burden. Tools such as this app offer HCPs more flexibility and choice in managing the individual needs of patients with diabetes. Patient engagement with technology will be a key factor to successfully managing diabetes as they consider therapy or behavioral adjustments that could contribute to improvements in glycemic control.

Study Limitations

It is conceivable that differences in glycemic reductions between the meter + app group and meter-only group were masked by

the greater than anticipated decrease in HbA_{1c} observed in the meter-only group. Previous studies have shown the value of color features on the meter [14-16] and, in hindsight, it would have been useful to have an additional group in which participants continued using their current glucose meter. However, given that our participants had significant SMBG experience, we did not anticipate such marked reductions in HbA1c when participants were switched to the new meter. As a further consideration, providing participants with a separate phone to review app insights and receive HCP texts (and to send confirmation or clarifications back to the HCP) may have diminished time spent using the app compared with having the app on the participants' personal smartphone. However, we sought to ensure a consistent app experience on the phone and minimize any bias resulting from different types of phones. Finally, certain system upgrades occurred during the study

period, which resulted in participants having to reload the app and in HCP texts being repurposed to assist participants in ways unrelated to diabetes management. This resulted in a lower number of diabetes-related texts to many participants, which may have compromised their glycemic improvement.

Conclusion

Using the OneTouch Verio Flex glucose meter alone or in combination with the OneTouch Reveal diabetes app was associated with significant improvements in glycemic control after 12 and 24 weeks. Improvements when using the app were greatest in participants with T2DM and in those who received the highest number of HCP text messages. This study suggests that real-time availability of patient data and the ability to send personalized diabetes-related text messages can assist HCPs to improve glycemic control in patients between scheduled visits.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Krisna Corrigall, Nichola Purvis, Emma Thomas, and Laura Ritchie from LifeScan Scotland for the study setup and conduct, as well as BioKinetics Europe, Belfast (Dr Ken Hugh, Dr Neil Fawkes, Declan McClintock), Glasgow Queen Elizabeth University Hospital (Dr Andrew Kernohan, Hilary Peddie), Birmingham Heartlands Hospital (Helen Jenner, DSN, Charlotte Ferris, DSN), Edinburgh Royal Infirmary (Alison Sudworth, DSN), and Highland Diabetes Institute, Inverness (Claire Henderson, DSN) for the patient interactions.

This study was funded by LifeScan, Inc.

Conflicts of Interest

MG and HC are employees of LifeScan Scotland, Ltd. BLL and LBK are employees of LifeScan Inc.

Multimedia Appendix 1

CONSORT-EHEALTH checklist V1.6.1.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 535KB - diabetes v2i2e19_app1.pdf]

References

- Steinhubl SR, Muse ED, Topol EJ. Can mobile health technologies transform health care? JAMA 2013 Dec 11;310(22):2395-2396. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.281078] [Medline: 24158428]
- 2. Garabedian LF, Ross-Degnan D, Wharam JF. Mobile phone and smartphone technologies for diabetes care and self-management. Curr Diab Rep 2015 Dec;15(12):109. [doi: 10.1007/s11892-015-0680-8] [Medline: 26458380]
- 3. Vaala SE, Hood KK, Laffel L, Kumah-Crystal YA, Lybarger CK, Mulvaney SA. Use of commonly available technologies for diabetes information and self-management among adolescents with type 1 diabetes and their parents: a web-based survey study. Interact J Med Res 2015 Dec;4(4):e24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/ijmr.4504] [Medline: 26715191]
- 4. Liang X, Wang Q, Yang X, Cao J, Chen J, Mo X, et al. Effect of mobile phone intervention for diabetes on glycaemic control: a meta-analysis. Diabet Med 2011 Apr;28(4):455-463. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1464-5491.2010.03180.x</u>] [Medline: <u>21392066</u>]
- Arambepola C, Ricci-Cabello I, Manikavasagam P, Roberts N, French DP, Farmer A. The impact of automated brief messages promoting lifestyle changes delivered via mobile devices to people with type 2 diabetes: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis of controlled trials. J Med Internet Res 2016;18(4):e86 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5425] [Medline: 27095386]
- Bin Abbas B, Al Fares A, Jabbari M, El Dali A, Al Orifi F. Effect of mobile phone short text messages on glycemic control in type 2 diabetes. Int J Endocrinol Metab 2015 Jan;13(1):e18791 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5812/ijem.18791] [Medline: 25745493]
- Zolfaghari M, Mousavifar SA, Haghani H. Mobile phone text messaging and telephone follow-up in type 2 diabetic patients for 3 months: a comparative study. J Diabetes Metab Disord 2012 Aug 24;11(1):7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/2251-6581-11-7] [Medline: 23497735]

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e19/
```

- Dobson R, Carter K, Cutfield R, Hulme A, Hulme R, McNamara C, et al. Diabetes Text-Message Self-Management Support Program (SMS4BG): a pilot study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015;3(1):e32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3988] [Medline: 25830952]
- 9. Hsu WC, Lau KHK, Huang R, Ghiloni S, Le H, Gilroy S, et al. Utilization of a cloud-based diabetes management program for insulin initiation and titration enables collaborative decision making between healthcare providers and patients. Diabetes Technol Ther 2016 Feb;18(2):59-67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/dia.2015.0160] [Medline: 26645932]
- Grady M, Cameron H, Levy BL, Katz LB. Remote health consultations supported by a diabetes management web application with a new glucose meter demonstrates improved glycemic control. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2016 May;10(3):737-743 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296815622646] [Medline: 26685995]
- 11. Cavanaugh K, Huizinga MM, Wallston KA, Gebretsadik T, Shintani A, Davis D, et al. Association of numeracy and diabetes control. Ann Intern Med 2008 May 20;148(10):737-746. [Medline: <u>18490687</u>]
- 12. Teft G. The role of numeracy in diabetes care. J Diabetes Nurs 2011;15(7):268-273 [FREE Full text]
- 13. Marden S, Thomas P, Sheppard Z, Knott J, Lueddeke J, Kerr D. Poor numeracy skills are associated with glycaemic control in type 1 diabetes. Diabet Med 2012 May;29(5):662-669. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2011.03466.x] [Medline: 21978203]
- Grady M, Campbell D, MacLeod K, Srinivasan A. Evaluation of a blood glucose monitoring system with automatic highand low-pattern recognition software in insulin-using patients: pattern detection and patient-reported insights. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2013 Jul 01;7(4):970-978 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/193229681300700419] [Medline: 23911178]
- 15. Grady M, Warren G, Levy B, Katz L. Interactive exposure with a blood glucose monitor with a novel glucose color range indicator is associated with improved glucose range interpretation and awareness in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2015 Jul;9(4):841-848 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296815569882] [Medline: 25652564]
- Grady M, Katz LB, Cameron H, Levy BL. A comprehensive evaluation of a novel color range indicator in multiple blood glucose meters demonstrates improved glucose range interpretation and awareness in subjects with type 1 and type 2. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2016 Nov;10(6):1324-1332 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296816659307] [Medline: 27402241]
- Eysenbach G, CONSORT-EHEALTH Group. CONSORT-EHEALTH: improving and standardizing evaluation reports of Web-based and mobile health interventions. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 31;13(4):e126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1923] [Medline: 22209829]
- Haak T, Hanaire H, Ajjan R, Hermanns N, Riveline J, Rayman G. Flash glucose-sensing technology as a replacement for blood glucose monitoring for the management of insulin-treated type 2 diabetes: a multicenter, open-label randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Ther 2017 Feb;8(1):55-73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13300-016-0223-6] [Medline: 28000140]
- Faruque L, Wiebe N, Ehteshami-Afshar A, Liu Y, Dianati-Maleki N, Hemmelgarn B, Alberta Kidney Disease Network. Effect of telemedicine on glycated hemoglobin in diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. CMAJ 2017 Mar 06;189(9):E341-E364 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.150885] [Medline: 27799615]

Abbreviations

HbA _{1c}: glycated hemoglobin
HCP: health care professional
SMBG: self-monitoring of blood glucose
SMS: short message service
T1DM: type 1 diabetes mellitus
T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.02.17; peer-reviewed by K Blondon, P Gee; comments to author 20.04.17; revised version received 23.05.17; accepted 15.07.17; published 07.08.17.

Please cite as:

Grady M, Katz LB, Cameron H, Levy BL

Diabetes App-Related Text Messages From Health Care Professionals in Conjunction With a New Wireless Glucose Meter With a Color Range Indicator Improves Glycemic Control in Patients With Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes: Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e19 URL: http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e19/ doi:10.2196/diabetes.7454

PMID:<u>30291092</u>

©Mike Grady, Laurence Barry Katz, Hilary Cameron, Brian Leonard Levy. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 07.08.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction
in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

One Drop | Mobile: An Evaluation of Hemoglobin A1c Improvement Linked to App Engagement

Chandra Y Osborn¹, PhD, MPH; Joost R van Ginkel², PhD; David Rodbard³, MD; Mark Heyman^{1,4}, CDE, PhD; David G Marrero⁵, PhD; Brian Huddleston¹, JD; Jeff Dachis¹, MA

¹Informed Data Systems, Inc, New York, NY, United States

²Leiden University, Leiden, Netherlands

³Biomedical Informatics Consultants LLC, Potomac, MD, United States

⁴University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States

⁵The University of Arizona Health Sciences, Tucson, AZ, United States

Corresponding Author:

Chandra Y Osborn, PhD, MPH Informed Data Systems, Inc 85 Delancey Street, Suite 71 New York, NY, United States Phone: 1 860 424 2858 Email: chandra@onedrop.today

Abstract

Background: Three recent reviews evaluated 19 studies testing the hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) benefit of 16 diabetes apps, including 5 publicly available apps. Most studies relied on small samples and did not link app engagement with outcomes.

Objective: This study assessed both HbA1c change in a large sample of people using the One Drop | Mobile app and associations between app engagement and changes in HbA1c.

Methods: The One Drop | Mobile app for iOS and Android is designed to manually and passively (via Apple HealthKit, Google Fit, and the One Drop | Chrome blood glucose meter) store, track, and share data. Users can schedule medication reminders, view statistics, set goals, track health outcomes, and get data-driven insights. In June 2017, we queried data on people with diabetes using the app who had entered at least 2 HbA1c values in the app >60 and \leq 365 days apart. Multiple imputation corrected for missing data. Unadjusted and adjusted mixed effects repeated measures models tested mean HbA1c change by time, diabetes type, and their interaction. Multiple regression models assessed relationships between using the app to track food, activity, blood glucose, and medications and HbA1c change.

Results: The sample (N=1288) included people with type 1 diabetes (T1D) (n=367) or type 2 diabetes (T2D) (n=921) who were 35% female, diagnosed with diabetes for a mean 9.4 (SD 9.9) years, and tracked an average 1646.1 (SD 3621.9) self-care activities in One Drop | Mobile between their first (mean 8.14% [SD 2.06%]) and second HbA1c entry (mean 6.98% [SD 1.1%]). HbA1c values were significantly associated with user-entered average blood glucose 90 days before the second HbA1c entry (rho=.73 to .75, P<.001). HbA1c decreased by an absolute 1.07% (unadjusted and adjusted F=292.03, P<.001) from first to second HbA1c entry. There was a significant interaction between diabetes type and HbA1c. Both groups significantly improved, but users with T2D had a greater HbA1c decrease over time than users with T1D (F=10.54, P<.001). For users with T2D (n=921), HbA1c decreased by an absolute 1.27% (F=364.50, P<.001) from first to second HbA1c entry. Finally, using One Drop | Mobile to record food was associated with greater HbA1c reductions even after adjusting for covariates and after also adjusting for insulin use for users with T2D (all P<.05).

Conclusions: People with T1D and T2D reported a 1.07% to 1.27% absolute reduction in HbA1c during a median 4 months of using the One Drop | Mobile app. Using the app to track self-care was associated with improved HbA1c. More research is needed on the health benefits of publicly available diabetes apps, particularly studies associating app engagement with short- and long-term effects.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e21) doi:10.2196/diabetes.8039



KEYWORDS

type 1 diabetes; type 2 diabetes; mobile app; tracking; self-care; glycemic control

Introduction

There are over 1500 mobile apps in the marketplace assisting with diabetes self-management but limited research on their clinical benefit. In the past year, a handful of systematic reviews and meta-analyses evaluated the impact of diabetes apps on glycemic control or hemoglobin A_{1c} (Hb A_{1c}) [1-4]. Three reviews included a total of 19 studies evaluating 16 unique apps. Only 5 of those apps were publicly available (ie, dBees [5], Diabeo [6], Glucose Buddy [7], mDiab/Mobil Diab [8,9], and WellDoc [10,11]).

The trials evaluating publicly available apps offer insights into their clinical value. For example, people with type 1 diabetes (T1D) using the dBees self-care and glucose tracking app had no HbA1c improvement over time or compared to people tracking with a paper logbook [5]. Children and adolescents with T1D using mDiab/Mobil Diab [8] lowered their HbA_{1c} , but not significantly more than a conventional care control group. In contrast, people with type 2 diabetes (T2D) using mDiab/Mobil Diab lowered their HbA_{1c} significantly more than the usual care control group [9]. In 2 separate randomized controlled trials (RCTs), people with T1D using the Diabeo insulin dosing app [6] or the Glucose Buddy tracking app [7] lowered their HbA_{1c} significantly more than controls did. Finally, people with T2D using the WellDoc tracking and coaching app substantially lowered their HbA1c relative to controls [10,11].

Limited clinical evidence supporting publicly available diabetes apps is promising, but there are still many unknowns. In the 7 trials reporting data, no studied sample was greater than 200 people, which has implications for generalizability. Moreover, effects on glycemic control were linked to being exposed to an entire intervention or app and not using the app or different aspects of it.

Qualitative studies indicate people with diabetes (PWD) want apps with automated self-care tracking [12], medication reminders [13,14], data sharing with peers and providers [15] including reports [16], and a Bluetooth-connected meter [17]. Publicly available apps offer these and other features (eg, One Drop | Mobile), but studies linking engagement with such features to health outcomes are limited.

Additional studies are needed to broaden generalizability by testing with larger samples and associating app engagement to health outcomes. To address these gaps, we assessed HbA_{1c} changes among a large sample of people with T1D and T2D

(N=1288) using the One Drop | Mobile app. We also assessed if using the app resulted in significant changes in glycemic control as measured by HbA_{1c} values.

Methods

One Drop | Mobile

The One Drop | Mobile app was launched in April 2015. It is available for free on iOS, WatchOS, and Android operating systems.

One Drop | Mobile has a variety of features to support diabetes management (see Figure 1). Users can manually and passively (via HealthKit, Google Fit, and the Bluetooth-enabled One Drop | Chrome blood glucose meter) store and track blood glucose readings, medication doses, physical activity, and foods consumed. In addition, users can view daily, weekly, and monthly summary statistics regarding these data. A built-in food library facilitates tracking food. An optional medication scheduler reminds users when a dose is due and facilitates tracking medications. Users can also view the percentage of in-range blood glucose readings over time and store and track HbA_{1c} values and body weight. Importantly, they can set daily goals (for time in range, medication adherence, carbohydrate intake, and physical activity) and monitor their progress toward these goals. Users can also access a wide array of diabetes-relevant information by using an in-app newsfeed that delivers health tips, articles, infographics, user polls, expert interviews, and scientific study results. A community section lets the user view and learn from other users' data. A map displays dots representing other One Drop | Mobile users in a local area, anywhere, and provides an option to view another user's data and give badges to offer support and encouragement. A notifications inbox delivers data-driven insights, achievements, reminders, and lists badges accumulated from other users.

Measures

User Characteristics

All One Drop | Mobile users complete a profile and can self-report gender, diabetes type, and year of diagnosis. We calculated years of diagnosed diabetes as the difference between a user's year of diagnosis entered in the app and the year his or her One Drop | Mobile profile was created. We used passively collected time zone data to determine user location. Because few users outside the United States had entered 2 HbA_{1c} values required for inclusion, we dichotomized location to United States versus outside the United States in analyses.



Figure 1. The One Drop | Mobile app.



Self-Care

One Drop | Mobile users can track blood glucose, medication, and physical activity manually and passively (via HealthKit, Google Fit, and the Bluetooth-enabled One Drop | Chrome blood glucose meter) in the app. They can also track their food consumed (measured in grams of carbohydrate). We summed data tracked between HbA_{1c} entries to obtain counts of blood glucose, medications, activity, and food tracked during that time.

Glycemic Control

Users can also self-report HbA_{1c} test results and test dates. HbA_{1c} values can be displayed in mmol/mol or percent but are stored as percent. Shortly after a One Drop | Mobile account is created, an in-app pop-up asks each user to enter his or her HbA_{1c} information. This reminder appears again 3 months after the previously entered HbA_{1c} test date. We used HbA_{1c} test dates to calculate the number of days between HbA_{1c} entries and converted days to months using the factor 30.42 (365 days/12 months.

Study Oversight

Solutions Institutional Review Board approved analyses and reporting of One Drop | Mobile's data for research purposes.

Analyses

Summary statistics characterized the sample overall and stratified by diabetes type. Distributions of continuous variables were asymmetrical, so Mann Whitney U tests compared mean ranks of continuous user characteristics, app-tracked data, and HbA_{1c} percent. Chi-square tests assessed differences in dichotomous variables by diabetes type. To examine and exclude invalid self-reported blood glucose and HbA_{1c} data, we converted each user's 90-day average blood glucose to an estimated HbA_{1c} using the formula HbA_{1c}=(90-day mean blood glucose+77.3)/35.6 [18]. We calculated the difference between the converted HbA_{1c} and self-reported HbA_{1c} and exclude

RenderX

users with more than a 2.0% difference. For the remaining users, Spearman's rho correlations tested the relationship between self-reported HbA_{1c} values and the prior 90-day average blood glucose to ensure consistency with the literature [19]. Because most users enter their first HbA_{1c} when they initiate using the app, we were unable to assess the relationship between 90-day average blood glucose prior to the first self-reported HbA_{1c}.

Missing data were handled using multiple imputation [20]. We used predictive mean matching (PMM) [21,22] to impute 100 datasets. PMM is a multiple-imputation method robust to violations of distributional assumptions (eg, normality) [23,24]. Multiple imputation was carried out in SPSS 23.0 (IBM Corp).

Next, 3 mixed effects repeated measures models tested mean HbA_{1c} change by time (pre- to posttest), diabetes type (T1D vs T2D), and their interaction. Only these effects were in the first model (ie, the unadjusted model). The second model adjusted for a priori covariates: gender, location (US vs non-US), years since a diagnosis of diabetes, and the number of months between the first and second HbA_{1c} entries. We restricted the third model to users with T2D, excluded the time by diabetes type interaction term, and adjusted for gender, location, years since diagnosis, number of months between HbA_{1c} entries, and insulin use.

Finally, 4 multiple regression models assessed the relationships between change in HbA_{1c} and using the app to track blood glucose, activity, medications, and food. The first, unadjusted model assessed the relationships between HbA_{1c} change and the 4 types of self-care tracking. The second model included diabetes type (T1D vs T2D), and the third model included gender, location, years since diagnosis, and number of months between the first and second HbA_{1c} entries. We restricted the fourth model to users with T2D and included insulin use as well as the a priori covariates. Given the skewness of self-care data and assumption violations for statistical testing, we dichotomized each variable to indicated tracking or nontracking of blood glucose, medications, activity, and food.

Results

As of June 6, 2017, 2365 One Drop | Mobile users had entered 2 HbA_{1c} values into the app at least 60 days but no more than 1 year apart. They reported a diagnosis of T2D (1526/2365, 64.5%), T1D (591/2365, 25%), prediabetes (122/2365, 5.2%), latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA) (72/2365, 3.0%), gestational diabetes (9/2365, 0.4%), other types of diabetes (eg, surgically or chemically induced diabetes; 29/2365, 1.2%), or did not enter a diabetes type (16/2365, 0.7%).

We restricted analyses to users reporting a diagnosis of T1D or T2D and confirmed the diagnosis through examination of the names of diabetes medications logged or scheduled in One Drop | Mobile. A total of 408 T1D or T2D users were excluded from the sample because they had either no medication data or because the medications logged or scheduled were inconsistent with their stated diabetes type (eg, T1D on metformin or sulfonylurea, T2D setting an auto basal insulin).

We excluded an additional 288 users with >2.0% HbA_{1c} difference between their second self-reported HbA_{1c} and the HbA_{1c} calculated from their 90-day mean blood glucose. This criterion resulted in correlations of rho=.75 and rho=.73 between

Table 1. Sample characteristics with tests of difference by diabetes type.

the 90-day mean blood glucose and second self-reported HbA_{1c} for subjects with T1D (n=367) and T2D (n=921), respectively (both P<.001). This is consistent with previous cohort studies reporting correlations between average blood glucose and HbA_{1c} varying from 0.71 to 0.86 [19].

Three of the up to 14 variables included in analyses had missing data: gender (242/1288, 18.8%), location (14/1288, 1.1%), and duration of diagnosed diabetes (325/1288, 25.5%). Multiple imputation was used to make corrections for missing data on these variables.

Analyses included N=1288 users (see Table 1) who were 35% (454/1288) female, diagnosed with diabetes for a mean 9.4 (SD 9.9) years, and tracked an average 1646.1 (SD 3621.9) self-care activities in One Drop | Mobile between their first (mean 8.14% [SD 2.06%]) and second (mean 6.98% [SD 1.1%]) HbA_{1c} (calculations prior to multiple imputation).

Table 1 presents preimputed median and interquartile range (IQR) or n (%) with *P* values for differences between diabetes type on app-entered user characteristics, app-tracked data, and HbA_{1c} entries. Chi-square tests compared dichotomous variables. Mann Whitney U tests compared mean ranks of continuous variables in Table 1.

Characteristics	Total N=1288	Type 1 diabetes	Type 2 diabetes n=921	P value
		n = 367		
Gender, n (%)				
Male	592 (46.0)	154 (42.0)	438 (47.6)	.61
Female	454 (35.2)	152 (41.4)	302 (32.8)	
Other	2 (0.2)	1 (0.3)	1 (0.1)	
Location, n (%)				
America/United States	1077 (83.6)	292 (80.7)	785 (86.1)	.001
Europe	111 (8.6)	51 (14.1)	60 (6.6)	
Asia	44 (3.4)	7 (1.9)	37 (4.1)	
Pacific	16 (1.2)	4 (1.1)	1.3 (14)	
Australia	19 (1.5)	5 (1.4)	1.5 (3)	
Africa	6 (0.5)	3 (0.8)	3 (0.3)	
Atlantic	1 (0.1)	0 (0.0)	1 (0.1)	
Insulin, n (%)				
Yes	717 (55.7)	367 (100)	350 (38)	.001
Diabetes duration in years, median (IQR)	6 (15)	10 (19)	5 (12)	.001
Food entries, n (%)	4 (88)	10 (99)	3 (82)	.04
Activity entries, n (%)	271.5 (809)	182 (786)	294 (814)	.09
Blood glucose entries, n (%)	72 (200)	102 (356)	67 (165)	.001
Medication entries, n (%)	118.5 (366)	121 (609)	117 (331)	.02
Months between HbA _{1c} entries, median (IQR)	4.0 (3.1)	4.6 (1.5)	3.9 (2.7)	.001
First HbA _{1c} %, median (IQR)	7.6 (2.4)	7.65 (2.1)	7.6 (2.5)	.43
Second HbA _{1c} %, median (IQR)	6.9 (1.4)	7.30 (1.5)	6.7 (1.3)	.001

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e21/

Compared to users with T2D (367/1288), users with T1D (921/1288) were diagnosed with diabetes for more years (U_{958} = 71,571, z=-7.07, P<.001), had more months between their first and second HbA_{1c} (for both U_{1286} =140,143.5, z=-4.79, P<.001), and tracked more food (U_{1286} =156,703.5, z=-2.09, P=.04), blood glucose (U_{1286} =147,630, z=-3.56, P<.001), and medications (U_{1286} =155,500, z=-2.26, P=.02). They were also more likely than users with T2D to log or schedule insulin in the app ($\chi^2_{1,N=1288}$ =408.7, P<.001), use the app in Europe ($\chi^2_{1,N=1274}$ =24.1, P<.001), and report a higher second HbA_{1c} (U_{1286} =125,966.5, z=-7.14, P<.001).

In the unadjusted model (Multimedia Appendix 1), HbA_{1c} decreased by an absolute 1.07% (*F*=292.03, *P*<.001) in the median 4.0 (IQR 3.1) months from first (mean HbA_{1c} 8.15%) to second entry (mean 7.08%). Users with T1D (mean 7.74%) had an absolute .25% (*F*=9.52, *P*=.002) higher HbA_{1c} than users with T2D (mean 7.49%). There was a significant interaction between diabetes type and HbA_{1c} entry (Figure 2). Both groups improved over time, but users with T2D had a greater HbA_{1c} decrease over time than users with T1D (*F*=10.54, *P*<.001).

After adjusting for gender, location, duration of diabetes, and months between HbA_{1c} entries, HbA_{1c} continued to decrease by an absolute 1.07% (*F*=292.03, *P*<.001; Multimedia Appendix 1) from first (mean HbA_{1c} 8.31%) to second entry (mean HbA_{1c} 7.24%). Regardless of time, users with T1D (mean 7.92%) continued to have a higher HbA_{1c} (.29% HbA_{1c} difference; *F*=11.66, *P*<.001) than users with T2D (mean 7.63%). In the adjusted model, the interaction between diabetes type and HbA_{1c} entry persisted (Figure 2). Users with T2D continued to have a greater HbA_{1c} decrease over time than users with T1D (*F*=10.54, *P*<.001). After adjusting for gender, location, duration of diabetes, months between HbA_{1c} entries, and insulin use, users with T2D reported a 1.27% absolute HbA_{1c} reduction (*F*=364.43, *P*<.001) from first (mean HbA_{1c} 8.16%) to second entry (mean HbA_{1c} 6.89%).

Finally, using the app to record food was associated with greater HbA_{1c} reductions even after adjusting for covariates and after further adjusting for insulin use for users with T2D (Multimedia Appendix 2, *P*<.05).





Discussion

Principal Findings

We assessed changes in HbA_{1c} for people with T1D or T2D who used the One Drop | Mobile app over a period of 1 year. We also evaluated relationships between tracking self-care with the app and HbA_{1c} change during that time. App users reported up to a 1.27% absolute decrease in HbA_{1c} depending on their diabetes type. Using the app to track food intake was associated with greater HbA_{1c} reductions.

Landmark studies, including the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial [25] and United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study [26], found lowering HbA_{1c} closer to normal levels reduced the risk of diabetes complications. According to recent reviews, diabetes apps are associated with reduction of HbA_{1c} [1-3], but their effectiveness varies widely across studies and by diabetes type.

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e21/

RenderX

One review reported people with T1D who used diabetes apps had a 0.36% HbA_{1c} reduction in 3 to 9 months [1]. For people with T1D using the dBees self-care and blood glucose tracking app, there was no HbA_{1c} reduction over time or relative to controls using a paper logbook [5]. In another trial, 34 children and teenagers with T1D using the mDiab/Mobil Diab tracking and self-care support app reduced their HbA_{1c} by 0.72%, but HbA_{1c} also fell by 0.98% in the control group [8]. In a nonrandomized controlled trial, 90 adults with T1D and HbA_{1c}≥8% using the Diabeo digital diary and insulin calculator lowered their HbA_{1c} by 0.91% relative to controls [6]. Among 36 people with T1D in Australia using the Glucose Buddy tracking app, HbA_{1c} was reduced by 1.10% [7].

Based on 367 people with T1D using the One Drop | Mobile app, we found HbA_{1c} declined by 0.86%—an amount consistent with other studies evaluating publicly available apps but more than two-fold larger than the overall effect of diabetes apps

tested among people with T1D [1]. Moreover, unlike the previous trials described above, we related HbA_{1c} change to tracking self-care with an app, and found, regardless of diabetes type, using the app to track food consumption was associated with a greater HbA_{1c} reduction.

For people with T2D, an evaluation of 10 studies testing diabetes apps found an average HbA_{1c} reduction of 0.49% [3]. One of those studies was an RCT evaluating the publicly available WellDoc app (now available as Bluestar) that reported a 2.03% drop in HbA_{1c} among 15 people with T2D in one urban area. Our observational study with no control group or randomization included a sample of 921 people with T2D, and found HbA_{1c} decreased by 1.27%. This HbA1c improvement is comparable to the difference in HbA1c improvement between the WellDoc intervention and control groups and more than double the effect of diabetes apps used by people with T2D in a recent meta-analysis by Hou et al [3]. In that meta-analysis, one other trial evaluated a publicly available app [9]. The trial evaluated the mDiab/Mobil Diab app as used by 40 people with T2D in Butembo, Democratic Republic of Congo [9]. HbA1c improved by 1.78% [9]. The baseline HbA_{1c} was 0.54% higher than in our study.

Limitations

This study has limitations. There was no control group or randomization. Multiple potential confounding factors may have contributed to the observed results, making it impossible to ascribe causal relationships between using the One Drop | Mobile app and HbA1c change. The significant relationship between using the app to track self-care and HbA_{1c} benefit enhances confidence of a direct link. Users were also self-selected in terms of their using the app and self-reporting 2 or more HbA_{1c} values, introducing external validity and generalizability concerns. This possibility, however, is also a concern with any RCT in which participants self-select to participate. Our sample also reflects people willing to use a diabetes app. It is plausible to assume these people are younger,

Conflicts of Interest

have a higher socioeconomic status (ie, a higher income,

Osborn et al

education) and are more comfortable using technology. To protect privacy, One Drop | Mobile does not collect user age, precluding the ability to describe this and other characteristics (eg, education, income, insurance status) of the sample or adjust for them in analyses. One Drop | Mobile also has other features we did not relate to HbA_{1c} change or adjust for in our analyses. HbA_{1c} was self-reported rather than assessed with a laboratory assay. Because the app is a tool for the user and not subject to review by others, it is unlikely users altered their HbA_{1c} values in response to social desirability bias. Consistent with prior studies that used laboratory HbA1c values, we found a greater HbA1c improvement among people with T2D than people with T1D [1]. Also, self-reported HbA1c was highly correlated with average blood glucose 90 days before the HbA1c, increasing confidence in its utility as an indicator of glycemic control in this study. Finally, our sample included over 1200 PWD from both within and outside the United States, differentiating it from other studies that included people from only one country or region.

Conclusion

There are currently no best practices for evaluating mobile health apps [27], and clearly more research is needed. This study adds to that body of work. Diabetes app developers collect data that can both improve product offerings and user experience and evaluate how users may be benefiting.

We believe people want and deserve mobile health apps that address their self-care needs and enhance their ability to improve the management of their chronic health condition [17,28]. Selecting an app is challenging. There are over 1500 diabetes apps to choose from with more being developed. A review of 65 publicly available diabetes apps concluded 86% were unfit for promoting self-management [29]. Ratings by consumers can be a poor indication of an app's clinical efficacy [30]. The results of carefully developed clinical evaluations will help consumers select better apps and assist providers in recommending efficacious apps to patients.

Chandra Y Osborn, Mark Heyman, Brian Huddleston, and Jeff Dachis are full-time employees and have equity in Informed Data Systems Inc, manufacturer of the One Drop | Mobile app. Joost van Ginkel received a consulting fee to assist with analyses but otherwise has no conflict of interest. Informed Data Systems Inc has paid David Rodbard of Biomedical Informatics Consultants LLC for services unrelated to this study. David G Marrero serves as a clinical advisory board member for the One Drop | Experts program on which this study does not report.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Tests of mean hemoglobin A_{1c} change by time, diabetes type, and their interaction.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 37KB - diabetes_v2i2e21_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Tests of the relationships between tracking food, activity, blood glucose, and medications in One Drop | Mobile and hemoglobin A1c change.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 70KB - diabetes_v2i2e21_app2.pdf]

References

- Wu Y, Yao X, Vespasiani G, Nicolucci A, Dong Y, Kwong J, et al. Mobile app-based interventions to support diabetes self-management: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials to identify functions associated with glycemic efficacy. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2017;5(3):e35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6522] [Medline: 28292740]
- 2. Bonoto B, de Araujo VE, Godói IP, de Lemos LL, Godman B, Bennie M, et al. Efficacy of mobile apps to support the care of patients with diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2017;5(3):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6309] [Medline: 28249834]
- 3. Hou C, Carter B, Hewitt J, Francisa T, Mayor S. Do mobile phone applications improve glycemic control (HbA1c) in the self-management of diabetes? A systematic review, meta-analysis, and GRADE of 14 randomized trials. Diabetes Care 2016;39(11):2089-2095. [doi: 10.2337/dc16-0346] [Medline: 27926892]
- 4. Cui M, Wu X, Mao J, Wang X, Nie M. T2DM self-management via smartphone applications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2016;11(11):e0166718 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166718] [Medline: 27861583]
- Drion I, Pameijer L, van Dijk P, Groenier K, Kleefstra N, Bilo HJG. The effects of a mobile phone application on quality of life in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus: a randomized controlled trial. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2015;9(5):1086-1091 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296815585871] [Medline: 25963412]
- 6. Charpentier G, Benhamou P, Dardari D, Clergeot A, Franc S, Schaepelynck-Belicar P, TeleDiab Study Group. The Diabeo software enabling individualized insulin dose adjustments combined with telemedicine support improves HbA1c in poorly controlled type 1 diabetic patients: a 6-month, randomized, open-label, parallel-group, multicenter trial (TeleDiab 1 Study). Diabetes Care 2011;34(3):533-539 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc10-1259] [Medline: 21266648]
- Kirwan M, Vandelanotte C, Fenning A, Duncan MJ. Diabetes self-management smartphone application for adults with type 1 diabetes: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(11):e235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2588] [Medline: 24225149]
- 8. Berndt R, Takenga C, Preik P, Kuehn S, Berndt L, Mayer H, et al. Impact of information technology on the therapy of type-1 diabetes: a case study of children and adolescents in Germany. J Pers Med 2014;4(2):200-217.
- 9. Takenga C, Berndt R, Musongya O, Kitero J, Katoke R, Molo K, et al. An ICT-based diabetes management system tested for health care delivery in the African context. Int J Telemed Appl 2014:1-10. [doi: 10.1155/2014/437307]
- Quinn CC, Clough SS, Minor JM, Lender D, Okafor MC, Gruber-Baldini A. WellDoc mobile diabetes management randomized controlled trial: change in clinical and behavioral outcomes and patient and physician satisfaction. Diabetes Technol Ther 2008;10(3):160-168. [doi: 10.1089/dia.2008.0283] [Medline: 18473689]
- Quinn C, Shardell M, Terrin M, Barr E, Ballew S, Gruber-Baldini AL. Cluster-randomized trial of a mobile phone personalized behavioral intervention for blood glucose control. Diabetes Care 2011;34(9):1934-1942 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc11-0366] [Medline: 21788632]
- 12. Rabin C, Bock B. Desired features of smartphone applications promoting physical activity. Telemed J E Health 2011;17(10):801-803. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2011.0055] [Medline: 22010977]
- 13. Nelson L, Mulvaney S, Johnson K, Osborn CY. mHealth intervention elements and user characteristics determine utility: a mixed-methods analysis. Diabetes Technol Ther 2017 Jan;19(1):9-17. [doi: <u>10.1089/dia.2016.0294</u>] [Medline: <u>28099052</u>]
- 14. Scheibe M, Reichelt J, Bellmann M, Kirch W. Acceptance factors of mobile apps for diabetes by patients aged 50 or older: a qualitative study. Med 2 0 2015;4(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/med20.3912] [Medline: 25733033]
- Cafazzo J, Casselman M, Hamming N, Katzman D, Palmert MR. Design of an mHealth app for the self-management of adolescent type 1 diabetes: a pilot study. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(3):e70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2058] [Medline: 22564332]
- 16. Knight BA, McIntyre HD, Hickman IJ. Qualitative assessment of user experiences of a novel smart phone application designed to support flexible intensive insulin therapy in type 1 diabetes. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2016;16(19).
- Lithgow K, Edwards A, Rabi D. Smartphone app use for diabetes management: evaluating patient perspectives. JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e2. [doi: <u>10.2196/diabetes.6643</u>]
- Rohlfing C, Wiedmeyer H, Little R, England J, Tennill A, Goldstein DE. Defining the relationship between plasma glucose and HbA(1c): analysis of glucose profiles and HbA(1c) in the diabetes control and complications trial. Diabetes Care 2002;25(2):275-278. [Medline: <u>11815495</u>]
- Makris K, Spanou L. Is there a relationship between mean blood glucose and glycated hemoglobin? J Diabetes Sci Technol 2011;5(6):1572-1583 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/193229681100500634] [Medline: 22226280]
- 20. Rubin DB. Multiple Imputation for Nonresponse in Surveys. New York: Wiley; 1987.
- 21. Little RJA. Missing-data adjustments in large surveys. J Bus Econ Stat 1988;6(3):287-296.
- 22. Rubin DB. Statistical matching using file concatenation with adjusted weights and multiple imputations. J Bus Econ Stat 1986;4(1):87-94.
- 23. Marshall A, Altman DG, Royston P, Holder RL. Comparison of techniques for handling missing covariate data within prognostic modelling studies: a simulation study. BMC Med Red Methodol 2010;10(1):7. [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-10-7]
- 24. Van Burren S. Flexible Imputation of Missing Data. Boca Raton: Chapman & Hall/CRC Press; 2012.

- Nathan DM, Genuth S, Lachin J, Cleary P, Crofford O, Davis M, et al. The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med 1993;329(14):977-986. [doi: 10.1056/NEJM199309303291401] [Medline: <u>8366922</u>]
- 26. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). Lancet 1998;352(9131):837-853. [Medline: <u>9742976</u>]
- 27. McKay F, Cheng C, Wright A, Shill J, Stephens H, Uccellini M. Evaluating mobile phone applications for health behaviour change: a systematic review. J Telemed Telecare 2016. [doi: <u>10.1177/1357633X16673538</u>] [Medline: <u>27760883</u>]
- 28. Ramirez V, Johnson E, Gonzalez C, Ramirez V, Rubino B, Rossetti G. Assessing the use of mobile health technology by patients: an observational study in primary care clinics. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2016 Apr 19;4(2):e41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4928] [Medline: 27095507]
- 29. Brzan P, Rotman E, Pajnkihar M, Klanjsek P. Mobile applications for control and self management of diabetes: a systematic review. J Med Syst 2016;40(9):210. [doi: 10.1007/s10916-016-0564-8] [Medline: 27520615]
- Singh K, Drouin K, Newmark LP, Lee J, Faxvaag A, Rozenblum R, et al. Many mobile health apps target high-need, high-cost populations, but gaps remain. Health Aff (Millwood) 2016;35(12):2310-2318. [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0578</u>] [Medline: <u>27920321</u>]

Abbreviations

HbA _{1c}: hemoglobin A_{1c}
IQR: interquartile range
LADA: latent autoimmune diabetes in adults
PMM: predictive mean matching
PWD: people with diabetes
RCT: randomized controlled trial
T1D: type 1 diabetes
T2D: type 2 diabetes

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 12.05.17; peer-reviewed by C Hou, K Blondon; comments to author 31.05.17; revised version received 24.07.17; accepted 04.08.17; published 24.08.17.

Please cite as:

Osborn CY, van Ginkel JR, Rodbard D, Heyman M, Marrero DG, Huddleston B, Dachis J One Drop / Mobile: An Evaluation of Hemoglobin A1c Improvement Linked to App Engagement JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e21 URL: http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e21/ doi:10.2196/diabetes.8039 PMID:30291059

©Chandra Y Osborn, Joost R van Ginkel, David Rodbard, Mark Heyman, David G Marrero, Brian Huddleston, Jeff Dachis. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 24.08.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Views of Patients on Using mHealth to Monitor and Prevent Diabetic Foot Ulcers: Qualitative Study

Chris Boodoo¹; Julie Ann Perry², MSc, PhD; Paul John Hunter², BSc; Dragos Ioan Duta¹, BSc (Hons); Samuel Carl Paul Newhook¹; General Leung^{1,2,3,4}, MSc, PhD; Karen Cross^{2,4,5}, MD, PhD, FRCSC

¹Department of Medical Imaging, St Michael's Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada

³Department of Medical Imaging, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁵Department of Surgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

General Leung, MSc, PhD Department of Medical Imaging St Michael's Hospital 30 Bond Street Toronto, ON, Canada Phone: 1 416 864 6060 ext 2871 Email: LeungGe@smh.ca

Abstract

Background: People with diabetes are at risk for diabetic foot ulcers (DFUs), which can lead to limb loss and a significant decrease in quality of life. Evidence suggests that mHealth can be an effective tool in diabetes self-management. mHealth presents an opportunity for the prevention and monitoring of DFUs. However, there is a paucity of research that explores its effectiveness in the DFU patient population, as well as the views and attitudes of these patients toward technology and mHealth.

Objective: This study aimed to explore the views, attitudes, and experiences of a diabetic patient population with or at risk of DFUs regarding technology, mHealth, and the diabetic foot.

Methods: We used a qualitative research approach using in-depth interviews with 8 patients with DFUs. Questions were structured around experience with technology, current health practices related to diabetic foot care, and thoughts on using an mHealth device that prevents and monitors DFUs. We transcribed and thematically analyzed all interviews.

Results: All patients had positive responses for an mHealth intervention aimed at preventing and monitoring DFUs. We found 4 themes in the data: diversity in use of technology, feet-checking habits, 2-way communication with health care professionals (HCPs), and functionality. There were varying levels of familiarity with and dependence on technology within this patient population. These relationships correlated with distinct generations found in North America, including baby boomers and Generation X. Furthermore, we found that most patients performed daily feet checks to monitor any changes in health. However, some did not perform feet checks prior to the development of a DFU. Patients expressed interest in 2-way communication with HCPs that would allow for easier appointment scheduling, sharing of medical data, decreased number of visits, and use of alerts for when medical attention is required. Patients also identified conditions of functionality for the mHealth intervention. These included consideration of debilitating complications because of diabetes, such as retinopathy and decreased mobility; ease of use of the intervention; and implementation of virtual communities to support continued use of the intervention.

Conclusions: Our patient population expressed an interest in mHealth for preventing and monitoring DFUs, although some participants were not frequent users of technology. mHealth continues to show potential in improving patient outcomes, and this study provides a foundation for designing interventions specific to a DFU population. Further research is needed to confirm these findings.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e22) doi:10.2196/diabetes.8505

KEYWORDS

RenderX

mHealth; telemedicine; diabetic foot ulcer; diabetes; qualitative research

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e22/

²Keenan Research Centre for Biomedical Science, St Michael's Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁴Institute of Biomedical Engineering Science & Technology, Ryerson University, Toronto, ON, Canada

Introduction

Diabetes affects 1 in 10 people worldwide, many of whom do not have regular access to health care. One of the most devastating consequence of diabetes is the loss of a limb (lower extremity amputation) due to complications resulting from a diabetic foot ulcer (DFU) [1,2]. Diabetic patients have a lifetime risk of 15% to 25% of developing a DFU [3], which can lead to significant decreases in the quality of life, limitations in mobility, function, and independence, and increases in susceptibility to depression and anxiety [2,4]. Moreover, DFUs and lower extremity amputation can lead to loss of livelihood; in 2011, 50% of Canadians with a diagnosis of diabetes were of working age, between 25 and 64 years [5], costing the health care system Can \$570 million annually [6]. The prevention of DFUs is of high concern, as the percentage of Canadians at risk for developing diabetes is projected to increase.

The use of mobile technologies in health care is becoming increasingly commonplace. In the United States in 2016, US \$867 million was raised by mHealth companies from investors to develop technologies in wearables and sensors, telemedicine, and digital medical devices [7]. mHealth aims to improve the health care service delivery process through support and services to health care providers, or to improve communication between patients and health care services [8]. This makes mHealth a key driver in making health care more accessible to the general population. Over 1100 diabetes-related mHealth apps are available for download, including diabetes self-management and education apps [9]. There is a growing body of evidence supporting the potential for mHealth to have a positive effect on the diabetic population [10-13]. However, there is insufficient evidence on the effectiveness of mHealth interventions for the diabetic foot [14,15]. Also, there is an increase of innovative technology to diagnose DFUs that could be complemented with mHealth, such as infrared thermography and diagnostic algorithms [16,17].

The goal of this study was to explore the views of individuals with DFUs on technology, mHealth, and the diabetic foot.

Methods

Design and Ethics

We used a qualitative, descriptive research methodology with face-to-face semistructured interviews to gain in-depth data from consenting patients with diabetes at an outpatient clinic at a tertiary care hospital [18]. We obtained ethics approval from the local institutional research ethics board.

Study Participants

The study recruited men and women with diabetes from the wound care clinic at a large, tertiary care center. We used a maximum variation purposive sampling approach in this study to maximize diversity and capture common themes relating to the intervention across a range of participants with differing characteristics [18]. Individuals with diabetes received face-to-face invitations to participate in interviews.

Data Collection

Face-to-face interviews with diabetic patients were conducted by a researcher using a standardized interview guide (Multimedia Appendix 1). A visual pamphlet (Multimedia Appendix 2) and a physical prototype of a DFU prevention and monitoring device developed by an industrial partner was presented during the interview to guide discussion around the development of an mHealth tool. The device is an imaging tool that uses near-infrared light that is attachable to mobile phones. The intended use for the device includes the monitoring of active DFUs and the prevention of DFUs. The only interaction with the device that participants had was during the interview. We conducted interviews rather than focus groups to encourage participants to express opinions that were not influenced by other individuals with diabetes. The content of the interview questions was based on the literature on the evaluation of mobile apps for people with diabetes [19], views of mHealth in a diverse diabetic population [20,21], and the theory of technology adoption [22]. We audiorecorded and transcribed the interviews with each participant's consent.

Data Analysis

We used data organization, coding, and thematic analysis to find relationships from the data we collected [18]. We then used an inductive coding approach to develop themes from the raw data [16]. Coding categories were developed and thematic analysis was conducted, using the qualitative analysis software Dedoose (v7.6.6; SocioCultural Research Consultants, LLC), by 2 independent researchers and presented to 2 researchers at our center. Any discrepancies were discussed and resolved to avoid bias in the data.

Results

Participants

We invited 7 men and 2 women to participate in the interviews. One man declined participation due to lack of interest in the study. The age of participants ranged from 36 to 77 years with a mean of 53.5 years: 2 participants were older than 65 years, 3 participants were between the ages of 45 and 64 years, and 3 participants, 1 did not have an active DFU, 4 had type 1 diabetes, and 3 did not own a mobile phone, while all participants owned a computer.

Emergent Themes

All participants were receptive to the concept of an mHealth-based intervention in the prevention and monitoring of DFUs. The participants expressed their views on personal challenges with diabetes and DFUs and their relationship with technology. A total of 4 key themes emerged from the data: diversity in use of technology, feet-checking habits, 2-way communication with health care professionals (HCPs), and functionality.

Diversity in Use of Technology

Diabetes and its complications affect individuals of all ages. This makes developing an effective mHealth intervention more difficult, as it needs to target a diverse population. All of our



study participants were open to the concept of an mHealth-based intervention in the prevention and monitoring of DFUs. While each participant had a unique relationship with technology, we found correlations between peers of similar age groups and their views on technology.

Participants aged 65 years and older acknowledged that they had limited use for technology. Technology did play a role in their lives, but on a very limited scale. The most frequent use of technology was for communication, such as accessing emails and connecting with friends and family. Both participants described that they did not have the need or use for technology. It did not fit their lifestyles.

I actually don't do a lot with my phone other than I use it for emails and for phone calls. I am not a techy guy to use my iPhone all the time...It's a different generation I'm in...I have no need for it. That's the whole point of technology, it's gotta suit your needs. And it doesn't. I don't need it, so I don't use it. [Male, 68 years old]

Participants younger than 40 years used technology more consistently and frequently. All younger participants owned both a mobile phone and a computer. They described technology as an important source of information and a means to satisfy daily needs, such as generating income, providing entertainment, and connecting with others via social media. This age group expressed the most dependence on technology when compared with other groups in this study.

Middle-aged participants, between the ages of 45 and 65 years, had a less distinctive pattern of technology use and had the most diverse relationship with technology within their own age group. Their experience with technology varied from not owning a mobile phone to frequent daily use of one. Their use of and familiarity with technology related to their daily lifestyle and specific needs. One participant described that he did not own a mobile phone because he spent most of his day in front of his computer and valued the time he had away from it. Another participant had a greater dependence on his mobile phone than did other participants in his age group, but it was not as integrated into his life as it was among participants in the younger age group. He used it as a productivity tool for work, communication, and a few entertainment purposes.

Feet-Checking Habits

At-risk people with diabetes are encouraged to check their feet every day for pre-DFU signs and to monitor active DFUs. All participants had a routine they performed for feet checking. Of the 7 participants with active DFUs, 6 checked their feet every day. Most participants inspected their feet themselves, and a few had someone else look at their feet if they could not see, especially the bottom of their feet. Some used a mirror to assist in viewing the bottom of their feet. Others used their hands to feel for abnormalities, and 2 participants mentioned that they checked their feet every day due to the formation of their DFU. This implies that feet checking was not a regular practice prior to the DFU. The participant who did not check his feet every day understood the importance of feet checking but let other

XSL•F() RenderX priorities prevent him from doing so, such as the responsibilities of being a full-time student.

Although most participants checked their feet, not all had the physical ability to conduct a thorough assessment. The complications from diabetes, such a loss of mobility and poor vision, can prevent individuals from doing a full feet check, especially in the older population. One participant described that some days his joints and muscles were stiffer, which made it more difficult to bend his leg to check his feet. Instead, he would ask his wife to check his feet.

Two-Way Communication With Health Care Professionals

mHealth has the potential to enable patients to engage in 2-way communication with their physicians. Most participants were receptive to the idea of being able to communicate with and send physiological readings to their HCP via a mobile phone app. Specifically, they liked the idea of being able to send images of their feet or DFU and receiving an alert of its status. Participants were interested in the convenience of receiving health services from the comfort of their own home and in avoiding going to a clinic if services can be done through mHealth. One participant mentioned the inconveniences of going to the clinic, such as travelling and traffic. Participants also said that they hoped it can assist in contacting their HCP, as some participants had experienced difficulties in doing so in the past. However, a few participants mentioned that the effectiveness of the intervention would depend on the physician's response time on the app. If a timely response cannot be guaranteed, then the participants would not want to use the app. They described some negative consequences, such as untimely care for health issues and introducing unnecessary worry to patients stemming from the wait for a response.

Although interest was high among participants, older individuals also expressed that they would not want their doctors to be replaced by mHealth. They preferred in-person visits and mentioned that it's what their generation is used to. They also valued the relationship between the doctor and the patient, and described it as an integral part of care given to patients. One participant described the value of in-person interactions with his doctor.

No, I would still want to go to [doctor name] every 3 weeks, or whatever he feels appropriate. He's a great guy, we're very good friends...the relation between the patient and the doctor is—well I've been very spoiled, but I know what it can be—it's crucial. [Male, 77 years old]

Functionality

For mHealth interventions to be successful, certain factors about the targeted population must be considered to increase adoption. Participants provided feedback on the presented prototype and mentioned specific features that can increase the usability of the device. One of the most frequent suggestions was to maximize ease of use, as this device might also be used by older patients. A few participants suggested being trained by a professional before being given the device, or to have a manual provided with the device to assist in learning to use the novel

technology. Two participants made recommendations for such interventions to better suit the needs of individuals living with complications from diabetes, as they can impair use of a device designed for someone without diabetic complications. One participant suggested the use of bright colors in the app to overcome vision issues caused by retinopathy. Another suggestion was to consider the decreased mobility in individuals with diabetes, which could limit people's use of this mHealth technology if it depended on certain functional movements, such as taking an image of the user's foot.

Encouraging prolonged use of an mHealth intervention is another challenge that must be considered in a DFU population. Some participants expressed ideas on how to maintain interest in and use of the device, as depression has been linked to people with diabetes. Some participants suggested incorporating some sort of community into the app, as this can keep users excited to continue self-reporting and to stay updated with other users' status. This would provide another reason to keep using the device that is not just centered on the patient's health.

Discussion

This qualitative study explored attitudes and perceptions toward technology and mHealth in individuals with and at risk of DFUs and reflected on specific conditions from the patient's perspective for increased mHealth adoption in diabetic foot care. We found that individuals responded positively to an mHealth intervention aimed at preventing and monitoring their DFUs. This study contributes to the literature by identifying potential users' DFU-related practices and by highlighting issues related to the development and integration of mHealth interventions.

Preventing and treating DFUs requires patients with diabetes to be proactive in the care of their own feet, including carefully checking their feet daily for preulcerative signs and wound healing [23]. Current efforts, such as multidisciplinary clinics and patient education, are found to be cost effective, as they relieve the economic burden on the health care system by preventing DFUs and providing higher standards of care [24-26]. However, there is no systematic foot screening program in place for at-risk diabetic patients. Therefore, innovative solutions are required to improve the systems in place for DFU prevention and care, and ideally to focus on mechanisms that would allow for thorough foot assessments outside of the clinical setting. Leveraging the strengths of mHealth may improve current patient practices in DFU prevention and care; although the evidence is mixed, there appears to be potential to increase adherence to chronic disease management [27]. In addition, caution should be taken when implementing similar interventions in this population, as individuals with DFUs are at a much higher risk of morbidity and death [28]. Future studies should further explore the effectiveness of the use mHealth for DFU prevention and care using larger sample sizes and longer follow-ups.

This study focused on participants' current DFU monitoring practices. All participants were conscious about their foot health, and most patients checked their feet every day. We found that the thoroughness of a participant's foot checks depended on

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e22/
```

their mobility and stage of diabetes. If an individual had poor mobility, increased joint stiffness, or vision problems, it was more difficult for them to inspect all parts of their feet. Some required aids such as mirrors or having someone else inspect their feet. Moreover, some did not start checking their feet daily until the formation of a DFU, which may reflect a lack of education regarding the need for monitoring rather than treatment when it comes to the development of DFUs with diabetes. Future studies should explore the daily feet-checking routine of at-risk people with diabetes to further explore potential barriers in this crucial practice.

We also identified varying levels of experience with technology among our study participants. This is consistent with the fact that DFUs affect individuals with diabetes of all ages [29]. Varying levels of familiarity with technology in a target population poses a challenge in satisfying the needs of the target users [30,31]. Specifically, older participants displayed lower familiarity with technology. This may be due to a digital divide, where older people tend to be excluded from benefiting from Internet technology [32]. This lack of familiarity with technology has been identified by other studies as a barrier to mHealth adoption [30,31,33,34], and suggests that future studies should explore how mHealth can be effective in a population where familiarity with technology is diverse.

We also identified conditions for a successful mHealth tool from the perspective of an individual with a DFU. Participants identified ease of use as an important factor, which has also been mentioned in other studies where rates of adoption increased among baby boomers and older generations [30,33,35,36]. Ease of use encourages adoption among individuals who are not familiar with technology and prevents early negative experiences that may discourage the use of the intervention [22]. Mobility and vision problems were mentioned frequently in our study (and are frequent in people with diabetes), and technology designed for this patient population must take these challenges into account [33,37]. Depression was also mentioned as a factor that can prevent mHealth adoption, and is associated with lower health-related quality of life and higher mortality in a diabetic population [38,39]. Participants suggested that communities and online forums should be integrated into mHealth interventions to encourage initial and continued use. This would allow patients to share their thoughts and experiences and to develop relationships for peer support. Health-related virtual communities have been found to be an effective way to provide information to members and provide socioemotional support where members gained psychosocial benefits, although more evidence is required to confirm this [40]. However, this does not come without the inherited risks of social media. Risks include poor quality of information shared between patients, which can lead to deviation from a professional's advice in care and risks of patient privacy breaches [41]. Therefore, careful considerations must be made when implementing such communities by including measures to protect both patients and HCPs [41,42].

Participants in this study also expressed interest in a 2-way communication channel with an HCP via the mHealth intervention. They expressed that having this channel would allow for easier appointment scheduling, sharing of medical

XSL•FO RenderX

data, decreased number of visits, and use of alerts for required medical attention. Providing a way for patients to communicate with their HCP would make access to health care services more pervasive, especially for people living in remote areas or people with decreased mobility. A review of telemedicine technologies that require an HCP to respond, either in real time or with a delay, to the clinical information transmitted via telemedicine found that it has the potential to be an effective tool for delivering more frequent and timely health care to people with chronic conditions at a distance and for improving access to health care [43]. This shows that 2-way communication with an HCP can improve health outcomes of individuals with DFUs. However, some older participants were reluctant to have technology replacing their HCPs. Future research should explore how to best implement this to ensure effective communication between patients and HCPs while sustaining the patient-doctor relationship.

Although the considerations mentioned above have been found to be important in the development of an mHealth tool, how it is implemented into an HCP's workflow is crucial for its success [44]. The adoption of such interventions does not come without change in the routine of HCPs and must be considered. Two studies qualitatively investigated conditions that would need to be addressed for successfully introducing telemedicine in diabetes foot care from the perspective of HCPs [45,46]. These included training for HCPs, concerns for whether an mHealth approach would reduce the hands-on skills and multidisciplinary approach specialized in wound care, change to communication channels within the clinical environment, and having a telemedicine champion in the work setting [45,46]. Consequently, the development of mHealth tools must consider the impact on both patients and HCPs.

Strength and Limitations

A strength of this study was the approach to include patients of all ages with DFUs, which provided the study with an accurate representation of the perspective of a typical DFU population. Conversely, having a wide variation of participants can be a limitation, as it weakens the content saturation of the study. Future research should increase the sample size or recruit individuals from similar age groups to increase content saturation in this field.

A limitation of this study was also its relatively small sample size. This may decrease the strength of the results presented. However, the exploratory objective of this study will hopefully influence future studies with larger sample sizes in this field.

Participants were also exposed to the mHealth device only during the interview session. Therefore, their views were based solely on this interaction and information from the interviewer via the pamphlet and conversation. However, the results presented are focused on their views on mHealth in general rather than direct feedback on the prototype itself.

We recruited participants from only 1 wound care clinic, and our findings cannot be generalized outside the population in this sample due to regional differences. However, regions with similar characteristics may offset these limitations. The small sample size further limits the generalizability of our findings. This study did not capture the views of individuals who are not active in the health system, and our findings may not represent their views. The findings from this study are accounts of the views of the sample's perspective on mHealth, technology, and the diabetic foot.

Conclusions

The population we studied expressed generally positive views on mHealth for preventing and monitoring DFUs. This indicates the potential for mHealth to improve health outcomes for individuals with and at risk of DFUs. Although only a small portion of the patient population were using technology for health reasons, they were open to the idea of using an mHealth technology if it would improve their quality of life. This is an important indicator that mHealth may be a platform for solutions moving forward as the health care system continues to be burdened by patients with diabetic complications. This study further improves on the understanding of opportunities and challenges of developing an mHealth intervention for individuals with diabetes and provides a foundation for interventions specific to a DFU population.

Acknowledgments

This work would not have been possible without the financial support of the St Michael's Foundation Translation Innovation Fund and funding from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research. The authors would like to thank Suzanne Lu and Ann-Marie McLaren.

Conflicts of Interest

Authors GL and KC, as well as St Michael's Hospital, have an equity interest in a spin-off company translating this work into an mHealth device.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Interview guide used by the researcher during the one-on-one interviews with participants.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 395KB - diabetes_v2i2e22_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Pamphlet shown to participants by the researcher to assist in the explanation of the presented mHealth prototype device.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 498KB - diabetes_v2i2e22_app2.pdf]

References

- Jupiter DC, Thorud JC, Buckley CJ, Shibuya N. The impact of foot ulceration and amputation on mortality in diabetic patients. I: from ulceration to death, a systematic review. Int Wound J 2016 Oct;13(5):892-903. [doi: <u>10.1111/iwj.12404</u>] [Medline: <u>25601358</u>]
- Siersma V, Thorsen H, Holstein PE, Kars M, Apelqvist J, Jude EB, et al. Health-related quality of life predicts major amputation and death, but not healing, in people with diabetes presenting with foot ulcers: the Eurodiale study. Diabetes Care 2014 Oct;37(3):694-700. [doi: 10.2337/dc13-1212] [Medline: 24170755]
- 3. Armstrong DG, Boulton AJM, Bus SA. Diabetic foot ulcers and their recurrence. N Engl J Med 2017 Dec 15;376(24):2367-2375. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1615439] [Medline: 28614678]
- 4. Siersma V, Thorsen H, Holstein PE, Kars M, Apelqvist J, Jude EB, et al. Importance of factors determining the low health-related quality of life in people presenting with a diabetic foot ulcer: the Eurodiale study. Diabet Med 2013 Nov;30(11):1382-1387. [doi: 10.1111/dme.12254] [Medline: 23758490]
- 5. Public Health Agency of Canada. Diabetes in Canada: facts and figures from a public health perspective. Ottawa, ON: Public Health Agency of Canada; 2011. URL: <u>http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/cd-mc/publications/diabetes-diabete/</u> facts-figures-faits-chiffres-2011/pdf/facts-figures-faits-chiffres-eng.pdf [accessed 2017-07-12] [WebCite Cache ID 6ruHagt5a]
- Hopkins RB, Burke N, Harlock J, Jegathisawaran J, Goeree R. Economic burden of illness associated with diabetic foot ulcers in Canada. BMC Health Serv Res 2015 Jan 22;15:13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-015-0687-5] [Medline: 25608648]
- Tecco H. 2016 year end funding report: a reality check for digital health. San Francisco, CA: Rock Health; 2017. URL: <u>https://rockhealth.com/reports/2016-year-end-funding-report-a-reality-check-for-digital-health/</u> [accessed 2017-07-06] [WebCite Cache ID 6rl8jAAs3]
- Elwood D, Diamond MC, Heckman J, Bonder JH, Beltran JE, Moroz A, et al. Mobile health: exploring attitudes among physical medicine and rehabilitation physicians toward this emerging element of health delivery. PM R 2011 Jul;3(7):678-680. [doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2011.05.004] [Medline: 21777869]
- 9. American Diabetes Association. In: Inzucchi SE, Sherwin RS, editors. Diabetes 2015 Highlights From the 75th Annual Scientific Sessions of the American Diabetes Association. Grosse Pointe Farms, MI: Norris Communications Group; Jun 2015:16.
- Michaelides A, Raby C, Wood M, Farr K, Toro-Ramos T. Weight loss efficacy of a novel mobile diabetes prevention program delivery platform with human coaching. BMJ Open Diab Res Care 2016 Sep 08;4(1):e000264. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjdrc-2016-000264</u>]
- Zhou W, Chen M, Yuan J, Sun Y. Welltang a smart phone-based diabetes management application improves blood glucose control in Chinese people with diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2016 Jun;116:105-110. [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2016.03.018] [Medline: 27321324]
- 12. Or C, Tao D. A 3-month randomized controlled pilot trial of a patient-centered, computer-based self-monitoring system for the care of type 2 diabetes mellitus and hypertension. J Med Syst 2016 Apr;40(4):81. [doi: 10.1007/s10916-016-0437-1] [Medline: 26802011]
- Lim S, Kang SM, Kim KM, Moon JH, Choi SH, Hwang H, et al. Multifactorial intervention in diabetes care using real-time monitoring and tailored feedback in type 2 diabetes. Acta Diabetol 2015 May 5;53(2):189-198. [doi: 10.1007/s00592-015-0754-8] [Medline: 25936739]
- 14. Singh TP, Vangaveti VN, Kennedy RL, Malabu UH. Role of telehealth in diabetic foot ulcer management a systematic review. Aust J Rural Health 2016 Aug;24(4):224-229. [doi: 10.1111/ajr.12284] [Medline: 27098271]
- 15. Nordheim LV, Haavind MT, Iversen MM. Effect of telemedicine follow-up care of leg and foot ulcers: a systematic review. BMC Health Serv Res 2014;14(1):565 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-014-0565-6] [Medline: 25373875]
- Hazenberg CEVB, van Netten JJ, van Baal SG, Bus SA. Assessment of signs of foot infection in diabetes patients using photographic foot imaging and infrared thermography. Diabetes Technol Ther 2014 Jun;16(6):370-377. [doi: 10.1089/dia.2013.0251] [Medline: 24690146]
- 17. Goyal M, Reeves N, Rajbhandari S, Spragg J, Yap M. Fully convolutional networks for diabetic foot ulcer segmentation. eprint arXiv:1708.01928 2017 Aug:1-7 [FREE Full text]
- 18. Green J, Thorogood N. Qualitative Methods for Health Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2004.
- Arnhold M, Quade M, Kirch W. Mobile applications for diabetics: a systematic review and expert-based usability evaluation considering the special requirements of diabetes patients age 50 years or older. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(4):e104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2968] [Medline: 24718852]
- 20. Peng W, Kanthawala S, Yuan S, Hussain SA. A qualitative study of user perceptions of mobile health apps. BMC Public Health 2016 Nov 14;16(1):1158 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3808-0] [Medline: 27842533]

- 21. Sarkar U, Gourley GI, Lyles CR, Tieu L, Clarity C, Newmark L, et al. Usability of commercially available mobile applications for diverse patients. J Gen Intern Med 2016 Dec;31(12):1417-1426. [doi: 10.1007/s11606-016-3771-6] [Medline: 27418347]
- 22. Davis FD, Bagozzi RP, Warshaw PR. User acceptance of computer technology: a comparison of two theoretical models. Manage Sci 1989 Aug;35(8):982-1003. [doi: 10.1287/mnsc.35.8.982]
- Bus SA, van Netten JJ, Lavery LA, Monteiro-Soares M, Rasmussen A, Jubiz Y, International Working Group on the Diabetic Foot. IWGDF guidance on the prevention of foot ulcers in at-risk patients with diabetes. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 2016 Jan;32 Suppl 1:16-24. [doi: 10.1002/dmrr.2696] [Medline: 26334001]
- 24. Ragnarson TG, Apelqvist J. Prevention of diabetes-related foot ulcers and amputations: a cost-utility analysis based on Markov model simulations. Diabetologia 2001 Nov;44(11):2077-2087. [doi: 10.1007/s001250100013] [Medline: 11719840]
- 25. Ortegon MM, Redekop WK, Niessen LW. Cost-effectiveness of prevention and treatment of the diabetic foot: a Markov analysis. Diabetes Care 2004 Apr;27(4):901-907. [Medline: <u>15047646</u>]
- Barshes NR, Saedi S, Wrobel J, Kougias P, Kundakcioglu OE, Armstrong DG. A model to estimate cost-savings in diabetic foot ulcer prevention efforts. J Diabetes Complications 2017 Apr;31(4):700-707. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2016.12.017</u>] [Medline: <u>28153676</u>]
- 27. El-Gayar O, Timsina P, Nawar N, Eid W. Mobile applications for diabetes self-management: status and potential. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2013;7(1):247-262 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23439183]
- Rasmussen BSB, Froekjaer J, Bjerregaard MR, Lauritsen J, Hangaard J, Henriksen CW, et al. A randomized controlled trial comparing telemedical and standard outpatient monitoring of diabetic foot ulcers. Diabetes Care 2015 Sep;38(9):1723-1729. [doi: 10.2337/dc15-0332] [Medline: 26116717]
- 29. Margolis DJ, Malay DS, Hoffstad OJ, Leonard CE, MaCurdy T, de Nava KL, et al. Data Points Publication Series. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2011 Feb 17. Incidence of diabetic foot ulcer and lower extremity amputation among Medicare beneficiaries, 2006 to 2008: data points #2 URL: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/</u><u>NBK65149/</u> [accessed 2017-09-11] [WebCite Cache ID 6tPDOCv0v]
- Alvarado MM, Kum H, Gonzalez Coronado K, Foster MJ, Ortega P, Lawley MA. Barriers to remote health interventions for type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and proposed classification scheme. J Med Internet Res 2017 Feb 13;19(2):e28. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.6382</u>]
- 31. DeGaetano N, Shore J. Conducting a telehealth needs assessment. In: Tuerk PW, Shore P, editors. Clinical Videoconferencing in Telehealth. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing; 2015:23-54.
- 32. Niehaves B, Plattfaut R. Internet adoption by the elderly: employing IS technology acceptance theories for understanding the age-related digital divide. Eur J Inf Syst 2013 Aug 20;23(6):708-726. [doi: <u>10.1057/ejis.2013.19</u>]
- Fischer SH, David D, Crotty BH, Dierks M, Safran C. Acceptance and use of health information technology by community-dwelling elders. Int J Med Inform 2014 Sep;83(9):624-635 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.06.005] [Medline: 24996581]
- 34. Granger D, Vandelanotte C, Duncan MJ, Alley S, Schoeppe S, Short C, et al. Is preference for mHealth intervention delivery platform associated with delivery platform familiarity? BMC Public Health 2016 Jul 22;16:619 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3316-2] [Medline: 27450240]
- 35. LeRouge C, Van Slyke C, Seale D, Wright K. Baby boomers' adoption of consumer health technologies: survey on readiness and barriers. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(9):e200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3049] [Medline: 25199475]
- 36. Patrick A. Baby Boomer Adoption of Healthcare Apps [master's thesis]. Greenville, NC: East Carolina University; May 2016.
- 37. Davenport RD, Mann W, Lutz B. How older adults make decisions regarding smart technology: an ethnographic approach. Assist Technol 2012 Sep;24(3):168-181. [doi: 10.1080/10400435.2012.659792]
- Ali S, Stone M, Skinner TC, Robertson N, Davies M, Khunti K. The association between depression and health-related quality of life in people with type 2 diabetes: a systematic literature review. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 2010 Feb;26(2):75-89. [doi: <u>10.1002/dmrr.1065</u>] [Medline: <u>20186998</u>]
- Hofmann M, Köhler B, Leichsenring F, Kruse J. Depression as a risk factor for mortality in individuals with diabetes: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. PLoS One 2013 Nov;8(11):e79809 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0079809] [Medline: 24278183]
- 40. Welbourne JL, Blanchard AL, Wadsworth MB. Motivations in virtual health communities and their relationship to community, connectedness and stress. Comput Hum Behav 2013 Jan;29(1):129-139. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2012.07.024</u>]
- 41. Ventola CL. Social media and health care professionals: benefits, risks, and best practices. P T 2014 Jul;39(7):491-520 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25083128]
- 42. Grajales FJ, Sheps S, Ho K, Novak-Lauscher H, Eysenbach G. Social media: a review and tutorial of applications in medicine and health care. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(2):e13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2912] [Medline: 24518354]
- Flodgren G, Rachas A, Farmer AJ, Inzitari M, Shepperd S. Interactive telemedicine: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015;9:CD002098. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD002098.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>26343551</u>]

- 44. Bradway M, Carrion C, Vallespin B, Saadatfard O, Puigdomènech E, Espallargues M, et al. mHealth assessment: conceptualization of a global framework. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 May 02;5(5):e60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7291] [Medline: 28465282]
- 45. Kolltveit BH, Gjengedal E, Graue M, Iversen MM, Thorne S, Kirkevold M. Conditions for success in introducing telemedicine in diabetes foot care: a qualitative inquiry. BMC Nurs 2017 Jan 13;16(1):2. [doi: 10.1186/s12912-017-0201-y]
- Rasmussen BSB, Jensen LK, Froekjaer J, Kidholm K, Kensing F, Yderstraede KB. A qualitative study of the key factors in implementing telemedical monitoring of diabetic foot ulcer patients. Int J Med Inform 2015 Oct;84(10):799-807. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2015.05.012</u>] [Medline: <u>26093794</u>]

Abbreviations

DFU: diabetic foot ulcer **HCP:** health care professional

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 18.07.17; peer-reviewed by F Fatehi, K Yderstraede; comments to author 10.08.17; revised version received 28.08.17; accepted 29.08.17; published 15.09.17.

Please cite as:

Boodoo C, Perry JA, Hunter PJ, Duta DI, Newhook SCP, Leung G, Cross K Views of Patients on Using mHealth to Monitor and Prevent Diabetic Foot Ulcers: Qualitative Study JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e22 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e22/</u> doi:10.2196/diabetes.8505 PMID:30291089

©Chris Boodoo, Julie Ann Perry, Paul John Hunter, Dragos Ioan Duta, Samuel Carl Paul Newhook, General Leung, Karen Cross. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 15.09.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

The Value of Children's Voices for a Video Game Development in the Context of Type 1 Diabetes: Focus Group Study

Valéria de Cássia Sparapani^{1*}, RN, PhD; Sidney Fels^{2*}, P Eng, PhD; Lucila Castanheira Nascimento^{1*}, RN, PhD

¹Ribeirao Preto College of Nursing, World Health Organization Collaborating Centre for Nursing Research Development, Department of Maternal-Infant and Public Health Nursing, University of São Paulo, Ribeirão Preto, Brazil

²Electrical and Computer Engineering, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Valéria de Cássia Sparapani, RN, PhD Ribeirao Preto College of Nursing, World Health Organization Collaborating Centre for Nursing Research Development Department of Maternal-Infant and Public Health Nursing University of São Paulo Avenida Bandeirantes, 3900 Ribeirão Preto, Brazil Phone: 55 16 3315 3435 Fax: 55 16 3315 5518 Email: valsparapani@hotmail.com

Abstract

Background: Children with type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) face daily challenges performing self-care tasks, controlling symptoms, and dealing with psychosocial issues. The use of video games to improve health is a successful support for persons with chronic diseases, promoting adequate self-management through simulations of real life. Involving future users in the development of games is essential to generating innovative, creative, and effective programs.

Objective: Our goal is to identify what children with T1DM need to know about their disease and their self-care tasks as well as their preferences in video games.

Methods: Children with T1DM provided input about their learning needs, self-care tasks, and preferences in video games. Three categories were identified through qualitative content analysis: dealing with emotions and knowledge, practical skills and awareness, and game preferences.

Results: Children expressed concerns about the difficulties of self-care, lack of knowledge about diabetes, and lack of awareness about the consequences of behaviors related to self-care, which contribute to inappropriate behaviors and significantly impact self-management of their disease. They expressed enthusiasm for a video game for children with diabetes that considered their needs and preferences.

Conclusions: Findings support the potential benefits when children's input is considered in game design. Consideration of customer needs and preferences is a powerful resource in the development of video games with enhanced learning experience.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e17) doi:10.2196/diabetes.7652

KEYWORDS

type 1 diabetes mellitus; video games; qualitative research; pediatric nursing; serious games; self-management

Introduction

Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) is one of the chronic diseases that most affect children and adolescents [1-3]. Adherence to a treatment regimen is a key component in its management; however, poor management is a common problem among

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e17/

RenderX

children with diabetes due to lack of knowledge that leads to inadequate behaviors and undeveloped skills [1]. The lack of disease understanding [4] and challenges of being a child with T1DM [5,6] may be associated with treatment nonadherence. This scenario demands educational interventions that take into account individuals and consider their clinical care routine and psychosocial needs. These interventions must engage parents

and health professionals and use psychoeducational principles and behavioral procedures [7,8] and the design of new technologies [9].

Video games have been cited in the literature as tools that capture children's attention and promote understanding and learning about their condition. Some studies report the positive effects of using video games on health determinants [10] and clinical outcomes [1]. These games use strategies that can motivate positive behavioral changes, thereby assisting in disease self-management and health promotion [3,11]. Video games aimed at children with T1DM began to be developed in the 1990s [13]. In general, studies have shown positive results from the use of these games, such as a reduction in the number of urgent care visits, improvement in self-efficacy and self-care, and improved communication about the disease among children, parents, and friends [12-16]. The best results are achieved when there is a familiarity between the player and the main character in the game, whether in the physical appearance or similar clinical conditions [15,16]. Conversely, some studies specifically aimed at children and adolescents with diabetes by using fantastical characters and themes such as elephants, card games, and plane trips [17,18]. Prompted by the potential of these tools for health improvement, our long-term objective is to develop a video game for children with T1DM that focuses on knowledge about the disease and self-care tasks.

Video games designed for children and adolescents with T1DM and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) have been the focus of literature reviews [12,14], research interventions [13,14,19], and studies on the use of conceptual frameworks for game development in this field [8,20,21]. However, few studies considered the needs and preferences of the target population during videogame development.

A recent study [22] investigated the contribution of children's experiences about diabetes self-care during the early stages of development of a video game about insulin injections. Considering the input from future users is an important step in the development of successful approaches for interactive technologies [22,23]. The following components should be considered: cognitive aspects; language abilities; literacy level [24]; particularities concerning age and culture; and needs, preferences, and experiences [3].

Although barriers that may interfere in the self-management of diabetes are well recognized in the literature, the reasons for nonadherence to treatment are linked to differences in each individual and group and these must be investigated [25]. Although video games can provide health benefits, they cannot achieve their goals unless the profile, needs, and preferences of children are considered.

Therefore, in order to improve the design of a future video game, we conducted a qualitative study that included the following research questions: What are the main learning needs related to understanding the disease and self-care tasks from the perspective of children with T1DM? How should the video game be designed to appeal to the children with T1DM? Our goal is to identify what children with T1DM need to know about their disease and their self-care tasks as well as their preferences in video games.

XSI•FC

Methods

Participants

A total of 19 children, 5 boys and 14 girls with a mean age of 9.8 (SD 1.8) years and the mean time since diagnosis of 3.5 years, participated in the study. The mean hemoglobin A_{1c} value was 9.8% in the last year of follow-up. Of the 19 children, 15 (79%) were using regular and neutral protamine Hagedorn insulin, 3 (14%) were using rapid and long-acting analogs, and 1 child (5%) used an insulin pump. All children were living in urban areas and attending school. Children were recruited at the Endocrinology and Childhood Diabetes Outpatient Clinic from educational group meetings. The clinic's multidisciplinary team provides diabetes education during weekly group meetings. For the past 5 years, these group meetings have been led by one the authors of the present study (V Sparapani), who is a nurse with experience in research, children, and parents.

The eligibility criteria included children (boys and girls) aged 7 to 12 years with a diagnosis of T1DM, regardless of the time of diagnosis. The exclusion criterion was any form of developmental delay that could interfere with the data collection strategy. The presence of developmental delay was evaluated using information provided by the health team and medical records. The lead nurse explained the activity to the children and parents, who were participants in educational group meetings, and presented the study goals, potential risks and benefits, and their rights to withdraw from participating at any time. The researcher allowed parents some time to freely consent to their children's participation in the activity. The study was approved by the institutional review board of the university and hospital. All parents of study participants provided written informed consent, and children also gave their assent to participate.

Focus Groups

The focus groups technique, a method which promotes an environment of interaction and discussion on a given topic among participants [8], has been widely used in research [11,17,20]. This technique is also used in the development of interactive technologies because it considers the user involvement in the process of technology development from conception to final evaluation. We adopted a user-centered design (UCD) approach [3,8,24,26] for this study, an approach requiring utilization of focus groups.

Data were collected from December 2012 to May 2013. The study included 6 40- to 60-minute focus group meetings consisting of 4 to 6 children per group, 6 groups in total. Four children participated twice, totaling 23 participations. These double participations resulted from the number of follow-up consultations the children had at the outpatient clinic and their willingness to participate, not configuring restrictions or exclusions from the focus groups. Focus groups were moderated by the main author of this study; a research assistant took notes from verbal and nonverbal communication. The meetings were held in a private room in the hospital concurrent to the educational meetings conducted with the children's parents. Children were aware that their parents were nearby.

According to recommendations in the literature [8], the moderator tried to create a comfortable and trustworthy atmosphere to motivate participants to share their experiences and feelings. The children were invited to sit in a circle on the floor, received name tags, and were introduced to each other to break the ice before the session started.

Because young children demonstrate differences in comprehension levels, abilities, sensitivities, abstraction capabilities, styles [8,27,28], and capabilities with video games of different complexity levels, children were assigned to 1 of 2 focus groups according to their age (7 to 9 and 10 to 12 years old). This strategy enabled us to identify age-appropriate tasks for video game development. The researcher discussed the focus group and study goals with the children and described what was expected of them. The groups were audiotaped with the children's and parents' permission. The following open-ended questions guided the activity: Why is insulin necessary? What is the most difficult task in the diabetes treatment? Why is that task difficult? What kind of video game do you like most? What would you like to see in a video game for children with diabetes? Every child had the opportunity to answer to every question. The researchers finalized the data collection through the focus group sessions when the data set from these focus groups was sufficient to reach the study's objectives.

Data Analysis

The focus group data were analyzed following deductive and inductive content analysis guidelines [29,30]. The resulting information was organized into 3 phases: preparation, organization, and reporting. During the preparation phase, data were fully transcribed and read several times until the researcher was acquainted with the contents. In the organization phase, the researcher made careful notes, defined text headings, and elaborated categories and subcategories based on data analysis [29,30]. The children's excerpts were selected to support the discussions in the reporting phase [29,30].

Results

Qualitative analysis identified 3 main categories representing learning needs related to knowledge about the disease, self-care tasks, and the children's video game preferences.

Dealing With Emotions

The children's statements brought up emotions that interfere with the proper performance of self-care tasks. Fear, insecurity, and pain were emotions linked to insulin injection.

The insulin needle is tiny, but I'm scared of it. [Girl, 11 years]

When I take the insulin syringe, I have a bad feeling! It's not really that I'm scared, I'm scared to make a mistake somewhere in my body, you know? [Boy, 11 years]

I don't shoot it because it hurts. [Girl, 8 years]

The children reported anger about having to self-monitor blood glucose (SMBG) several times per day and therefore did not monitor appropriately. One child said that she does not like to perform this task, fails to execute it, and chooses when she wants to perform it.

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e17/

I don't like doing the test. I switch the days that I do the test. If I do the test today at dinner, tomorrow, I don't do it... It's bad, and I also forget to do it. I don't like doing the test [Girl, 13 years]

Learning how to deal with desire was also an identified need. The children reported uncontrollable emotions related to consuming foods in large quantities, particularly sweets.

I am nibbling food all the time! I can't control myself. I will ask the doctor to be hospitalized. If I am at the hospital, I can comply with the diet correctly. [Girl, 8 years]

Children were also demotivated regarding healthy eating habits. Some participants do not feel motivated to eat vegetables because they do not like them. Conversely, other children would like to comply with a proper diet; however, they find themselves demotivated due to the lack of support from parents. One child shared that she asked her mother to buy fruits and vegetables because they are not frequently available in her home.

I probably don't eat vegetables because of my mother. She doesn't make salads frequently... When I ask, she says, 'Tomorrow I buy it' or 'Wait' or 'I'll go to the grocery store later.' [Girl, 12 years]

Children also have no incentives to practice physical activities. They do not accomplish this self-care task and provided several reasons for not doing it.

I don't have a bicycle. There's no place for walking or hiking. There is a park, but with no covered area. There are rocks all over the floor...and a lake around it. I like it, but it's bad to go there alone. My mom doesn't like it. [Girl, 8 years]

Knowledge, Practical Skills, and Awareness

Learning needs related to understanding the disease and self-care, practical skills required for self-care, and awareness about the consequences of favorable or unfavorable behaviors related to self-care were identified. One child demonstrated her lack of knowledge about the causes and deficiencies in T1DM.

I think I have diabetes because I had too much sugar in the pancreas. It couldn't take it, and it stopped working. [Girl, 12 years]

The children demonstrated learning needs regarding the function of insulin. According to the statements, the insulin has the role to "kill," "break," or "dissolve" the sugar present in the blood.

My body has no insulin to kill sugar. Insulin kills the sugar... [Girl, 8 years]

The children demonstrated not knowing the food groups and different energy contents. A child talked about a hypoglycemia episode and questioned the moderator about what had caused the glycemic level drop since she had eaten at a barbecue place. According to the girl, she did not understand the explanation given by a relative, who said that she had to ingest other kinds of food and not just meat.

I was at a barbecue. When I got back home, I was feeling sick. I did the blood glucose test, and it was 25. I asked my aunt why it was 25 as I had eaten, and

she said, 'It is the roast beef...' I didn't quite understand, but she said that when we go to a barbecue and only eat meat, we also have to eat other things. I didn't quite understand. [Girl, 12 years]

Moderator: Does meat have a lot or little energy?

I think that it has a lot! [Girl, 12 years]

Moderator: Is meat in the potato group?

No. [Girl, 12 years]

Moderator: To which food group does meat belong?

Proteins. [Girl, 12 years]

Moderator: And does meat have more or less carbohydrate?

Less. Is it because of this? [Girl, 12 years]

The dialogue demonstrated the lack of practical skills required to carry out effective self-care. The children reported inappropriate techniques and doubts regarding the delimitation of injection sites and what to do with air bubbles in the syringe or in the insulin pen.

Can I apply insulin here [showing the inner thigh]? I apply here! I became accustomed to doing it. [Girl, 12 years]

The deficiency in practical skills related to carbohydrate counting was observed in several children, a potential reason for nonadherence to this task.

My mother and I weren't able to do the carbohydrate counting. We thought it very difficult. Sometimes my mother would go to work, and I couldn't make the counting alone. [Girl, 11 years]

Some children reported that they use the same SMBG lancet more than once because they do not have the practical skills to change the needle in the lancing device and usually puncture the same body site.

I change the lancet device only after a long time in use because then it does not stick anymore. [Girl, 11 years]

I find it hard to change the needle in the lancing device. It seems that the needle will fall, and I'm afraid to stick my finger on it. [Girl, 8 years]

The participants showed injuries on their fingers indicating that they use only the middle finger and index finger to perform the test. The children's lack of awareness was evident about the consequences of favorable or unfavorable behaviors to self-care. Many participants acknowledged that they had lipodystrophy because they do not use all available body sites for insulin application. The moderator asked, "And do you know why this lump is over there?" The child answered, "Because I apply here a lot."

Other children mentioned that although they know about the standard diet that would help them maintain adequate blood glucose levels, they do not follow it.

The doctor explained to me that when there are pasta and rice I can only choose one to eat. If I want to choose both, I can get half portion of one and a half portion of the other. I don't want to! I want everything, or I don't want any. [Girl, 12 years]

The participants do not perform correct monitoring records using excuses such as "I forgot." Many of the children assumed they do not perform the SBMG when there is some possibility of nonideal results.

Once I woke up at an early hour and ate half of the chocolate bar from my sister... Then, I didn't even measure the blood glucose in the morning. [Girl, 9 years]

The participants reported a significant number of hypoglycemia episodes, especially during physical activity. They demonstrated a lack of awareness regarding the consequences of eating chocolates and other sweets during these hypoglycemia episodes. A child told us about the food she uses for treating hypoglycemia episodes.

Sweets. My mom gives me candy, cookies, and chocolate. [Girl, 9 years]

Game Preferences

The children provided opinions about the video games they like to play. They also presented ideas about what a video game for children with diabetes should be like. Many participants expressed an interest in seeing what happens inside their bodies as the result of diabetes through a video game.

It could be a game in which the character had a spaceship. He could enter through our mouths and go inside of us. He would go through everything we have inside our body, and thus, the game stages would unfold. [Boy, 10 years]

The character should answer three questions to pass through stages. These questions would be related to what he saw inside the body... [Girl, 12 years]

The children would like to learn how to better control their diabetes, mostly about what they can or cannot eat.

I would like to play an eating game... A game in which we could choose what we should eat. The amount of sugar and carbohydrates. I saw a video game equal to that at the mall. I played it. [Boy, 10 years]

The participants would like to see a task about carbohydrate counting in the video game for diabetes. They want the opportunity to learn how to perform this task properly.

Somewhere in the game, it could have a restaurant that you entered or you'd have to click on. In this location, you could have an explanation on the easiest way to make the carbohydrate counting. I think that I could learn in this way. [Girl, 11 years]

According to their preferences, they want to learn how to perform insulin injections properly and how to train on other materials.

I would like to see the game character applying insulin in a doll. [Girl, 10 years]

The children said that physical activities, such as swimming or cycling, could help them understand diabetes.



The game could help us counting energy levels. Each movement burns a little amount of energy and the game could go on explaining this to us.. [Girl, 13 years]

The participants also contributed with ideas for components such as the game environment, scoring system, and characters. They emphasized their preferences for adventure games.

It could be an adventure game. A space travel. [Girl, 11 years]

In another world... We want to go to new places... A park, a zoo, a forest! ... But I would like the game to talk only about diabetes. [Girl, 10 years]

The researcher also asked the children how they could win in the game or collect points during the story.

If we make the right choices, we'll be getting stronger. [Boy, 10 years]

According to the children's preferences, they would like to participate interactively in the construction of characters, choosing their physical form and clothes.

We could create the characters! We could choose the gender and the color of their eyes, hair, and their clothes and shoes. [Girl, 12 years]

Yet, they would like to have someone to play the game with them:

We want friends. [Girl, 12 years]

Discussion

Principal Findings

Accomplishing diabetes self-management demands knowledge about the disease and fulfillment of a care plan, which is not easy for any person and especially difficult for children because of their developmental stage and maturity [31,32]. The analysis of statements enabled us to identify gaps in the participants' knowledge about T1DM and reasons why they should perform proper self-care. In addition, empirical data show emotions that contribute to the understanding of behaviors of nonadherence to treatment or failure to perform self-care tasks. Our findings corroborate previous studies that present fear and anxiety associated with needles [33], depression, and difficulty controlling desires related to nutritional therapy [5,33]. Some studies discuss the importance of knowledge about the disease to the appropriate performance of self-management tasks [34,35], while other studies describe the difficulties related to practical skills for self-care and the lack of awareness of these difficulties [36].

Parents' attitudes considerably influence their child's behavior, which shows the importance of parental encouragement and support in promoting appropriate self-care, such an appropriate diet [36].

This data analysis mirrors aspects already presented in the literature, demonstrating interactions between emotions, knowledge, difficulties in practical skills for self-care, and lack of awareness towards these difficulties. These interactions have a significant influence on diabetes management. The discussion

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e17/
```

XSI•F(

that we propose has not been presented in previous studies or in studies about using video games to learn about T1DM.

In this study, participants demonstrated insecurities regarding insulin injections, which are intensified by their fear of needles. They do not feel safe performing the technique, especially in handling needles, because they fear damaging their bodies. Some of their deficiencies in these practical skills reflect doubts regarding appropriate injection sites and removal of bubbles inside the syringe, which increase the children's insecurity about self-application.

The children who participated in this study revealed that they avoid performing insulin injection in the abdomen or upper buttocks because they are afraid of feeling pain. The rotation of sites chosen for insulin injection is strongly recommended to prevent lipohypertrophy [37], which was a complication observed in this study. Lipohypertrophy is the result of fat accumulations in the subcutaneous tissue where insulin is applied due to multiple injections in the same site [38]. The observation of injections in lipohypertrophy sites demonstrates the children's lack of awareness about possible complications such as reduction in insulin absorption [38]. Although some children demonstrated awareness of some complications, their lack of knowledge about the function of insulin generated doubts as to whether or not the consequences of this action are adequately understood. The fear of insulin injections is associated with many complications such as poor glycemic control, clinical complications, and psychological comorbidity [39].

These data demonstrate the need for children with T1DM to learn how to deal with their emotions and to acquire practical skills related to insulin injections. Fear and pain are themes of studies that discuss the need to address these emotions in interventions with these children [39,40]. A video game called Koodak-e-Tavana was designed to teach children about diabetes and insulin injections and aimed at reducing fear and anxiety [22]; this study is one of the few involving children in the first step of the process that identifies needs and tasks which should be included in the game [22]. Insecurity, fear, and pain are not topics commonly discussed in video games developed for children with T1DM. However, creative and innovative approaches such as video games may be able to promote a simulated environment that involves the children and enables them to learn how to deal with these emotions. The fact that children were motivated to learn about their disease and how to manage it was evident when they wished for a game that showed them how to inject insulin and allowed them to practice injecting insulin in a doll. These tools can increase awareness about complications and improve practical skills for proper insulin injection. Behavioral changes can contribute to increased adherence to insulin therapy.

Children participating in this study stated that the recommended number of SMBG tests per day caused anger and that the use of a new lancet and new pricking site was painful: they keep using the same lancet or pricking the same finger for several days to avoid pain. According to Floch et al [41], the reuse of lancets and pricking sites demonstrates a deficiency in the children's practical skill for this task. That study concluded that

the pain and cutaneous finger injuries on pricking sites are related to frequently pricking the same sites, corroborating our results. These data indicate learning needs about facing pain and anger to improve the performance of these practical skills.

Similarly, blood glucose level evidenced by SMBG is another reason why the children say this is a bad task, because the results can reveal their nonadherence to treatment. The children's lack of understanding of the importance of this task is evident when they report their failure to monitor their glucose levels as needed. SBMG is an instrument for patients, parents, and health staff that provides for improved glycemic control [42].

There are few studies in the literature that discuss the use of video game applications aimed at motivating children to perform the SBMG in detail [17]. One study encouraged 4 24-year-old patients with T1DM to perform the SMBG and transfer the results to the game system. The game gives players the opportunity to earn reward points based on blood glucose values. However, the study does not show if patients have increased the amount of tests performed [19]. Topics such as coping with pain and how to deal with emotions such as anger and awareness about the SMBG were not covered in that study [19] or in other published studies. A video game that considers these learning needs could be very useful in providing information and encouraging the appropriate performance of SMBG by children, which, consequently, would improve T1DM self-management.

The children's awareness of the role of SMBG can be beneficial to the understanding of the influence of food on glycemic control, allowing them to make safer food choices. Learning about food groups and their energy loads and impact on glycemic control can support children in using practical skills related to nutritional therapy, such as planning meals. Carbohydrate counting was another learning need identified in this study. Carbohydrate counting is a technique for planning meals that aims to improve glycemic control and allows flexibility in food choices [43]. Children participating in this study stated that they would like to play a game that not only helps them to better select food choices but also provides an easier understanding about carbohydrate counting.

Dealing with the desire to consume sweets and other foods is another learning need identified in the children's statements. Our results are similar to other findings [5,33,44] showing that uncontrolled desire and anxiety related to nutritional therapy are self-management barriers. There are few game strategies that address coping with these emotions [22]. *Captain Novolin*, a video game released in 1992, shows the main character fighting evil doughnuts, milkshakes, sodas, and other sweets to keep normal glucose levels [14]. A video game that promotes awareness about the effects of high consumption of sugars and other foods—presenting routines with parents and friends eating together and offering healthy food options [43]—can promote better results for coping with desires and anxieties related to food intake.

The participants also demonstrated demotivation regarding the consumption of healthy foods. The lack of parents' incentives was demonstrated as a variable influencing this demotivation. A study by Baranowski et al [45] evaluates the influence of fruit and vegetable intake in the life of a child, the availability and

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e17/

XSL•FO

accessibility of these foods at home, the role of parents as role models, and the purchase of these foods as impact factors. A video game developed to change the eating behavior of children by increasing fruit and vegetable intake achieved positive results; a game that promotes training parents to increase vegetable consumption in their preschool children is also cited in the literature [46]. An environment designed to explore the positive involvement of parents and friends in children's daily routine can increase the frequency of healthy choices, helping them to deal with anxieties, desires, and demotivation that prevent adherence to the nutritional therapy.

The lack of motivation is also present in the practice of physical activities. Children are less physically active than recommended and provided several excuses [47]. However, the children mentioned preferences for an adventure video game, located in forests or in a zoo and requiring several exercises. Encouragement toward increasing physical activity and reducing sedentary behaviors is a usual theme in video games designed to reduce risks of obesity and T2DM [8,26]. Studies demonstrate that the major barrier to participating in physical activities is the child's fear of hypoglycemia [31]. However, this issue was not identified in the dialogs from the children in our study who demonstrated inappropriate management of hypoglycemia episodes by eating foods with high amounts of fats such as chocolates or ice cream. This fact may be linked to the children's desire for candy consumption. Fat consumption is not considered effective to treat hypoglycemia because it can slow down the absorption of carbohydrates [48], another learning need identified in this study.

The children expressed a desire to learn about energy expenditure during exercises in the video game. A video game script specifically designed for children with T1DM might work as an excellent strategy to motivate physical activity. It can lead to the development of a taste for exercising and promote understanding of the relationships between food, physical activity, and insulin in the control of diabetes [47]. Thus, the participation of family members and friends in playing the game can influence the children's decision about becoming more active [8]. According to Brennan and Fink [49], family, friends, and people from other social relationships can have an influence on the children's decisions about incorporating or avoiding certain behaviors.

The lack of knowledge about diabetes demonstrated by the participating children was related to insulin function, causes of diabetes, and the role of foods in the body. An increase in understanding of the disease has been shown in studies that used video games with goals of changing health behaviors through the use of educational interventions [17,50,51]. In this study, the children's suggestions indicate their desire to experience what happens inside the body after insulin injections, meals, or physical activity through a video game. However, there are no reports in the literature about video games on the theme of understanding T1DM. This design strategy could be an innovative method of enabling children with T1DM to understand the disease in an easier manner and achieve the knowledge required for its management.

The implications for the development of a video game are related to valuing the participation of the target population in this crucial stage. The study included children who were participating in a diabetes education group. Perhaps if we had included children who had not participated in these educational groups, we could identify different needs and preferences.

Conclusions

The findings of this study corroborate the importance of involving the children in the design of a video game. The analysis of the children's experiences and ideas showed potential interactions between emotions, knowledge about the disease and self-care, difficulties in practical skills for self-care, and lack of awareness toward these difficulties.

The children's input demonstrated the significant impact of identifying learning needs in diabetes self-management to develop improved learning experiences. Our future studies will focus on health behavior theories and behavioral determinants and their influence on the learning needs identified in this study to guide our long-term intervention goal, which is the development of a video game for children with T1DM.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded in part by grants from the Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel and by grants from the Sao Paulo Research Foundation (2014/0603-1).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. International Diabetes Foundation. Global IDF/ISPAD guidelines for diabetes in childhood and adolescence. URL: <u>https://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.ispad.org/resource/resmgr/Docs/ispad-lfac-pocketbook-final.pdf [WebCite Cache ID 609fZtwKN]</u>
- 2. DIAMOND Project Group. Incidence and trends of childhood type 1 diabetes worldwide 1990-1999. Diabet Med 2006 Aug;23(8):857-866. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1464-5491.2006.01925.x</u>] [Medline: <u>16911623</u>]
- American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes—2014. Diabetes Care 2014 Jan;37 Suppl 1:S14-S80. [doi: <u>10.2337/dc14-S014</u>] [Medline: <u>24357209</u>]
- 4. National Institute for Clinical Excellence. Type 1 diabetes: diagnosis and management of type 1 diabetes in children, young people and adults. London: RCOG Press URL: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG15/uptake</u> [accessed 2017-07-09] [WebCite Cache ID 6rpq8NSeH]
- 5. Delamater AM. Psychological care of children and adolescents with diabetes. Pediatr Diabetes 2009 Sep;10 Suppl 12:175-184. [doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5448.2009.00580.x] [Medline: 19754628]
- 6. Sparapani VC, Jacob E, Nascimento LC. What is it like to be a child with type 1 diabetes mellitus? Pediatr Nurs 2015;41(1):17-22. [Medline: <u>26281271</u>]
- Lange K, Swift P, Pańkowska E, Danne T, International Society for Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes. ISPAD Clinical Practice Consensus Guidelines 2014. Diabetes education in children and adolescents. Pediatr Diabetes 2014 Sep;15 Suppl 20:77-85. [doi: <u>10.1111/pedi.12187</u>] [Medline: <u>25182309</u>]
- Thompson D, Baranowski T, Buday R, Baranowski J, Thompson V, Jago R, et al. Serious video games for health: how behavioral science guided the development of a serious video game. Simul Gaming 2010 Aug 1;41(4):587-606 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1046878108328087] [Medline: 20711522]
- 9. Hayes B, Aspray W. Health Informatics: A Patient-Centered Approach to Diabetes. Cambridge: MIT Press; 2010.
- DeSmet A, Van Ryckeghem D, Compernolle S, Baranowski T, Thompson D, Crombez G, et al. A meta-analysis of serious digital games for healthy lifestyle promotion. Prev Med 2014 Dec;69:95-107. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.08.026</u>] [Medline: <u>25172024</u>]
- 11. Street Jr RL, Rimal RN. Health Promotion and Interactive Technology: Theoretical Applications and Future Directions. Mahwah: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 1997.
- 12. DeShazo J, Harris L, Pratt W. Effective intervention or child's play? A review of video games for diabetes education. Diabetes Technol Ther 2010 Oct;12(10):815-822. [doi: 10.1089/dia.2010.0030] [Medline: 20807119]
- 13. Brown SJ, Lieberman DA, Germeny BA, Fan YC, Wilson DM, Pasta DJ. Educational video game for juvenile diabetes: results of a controlled trial. Med Inform (Lond) 1997;22(1):77-89. [Medline: <u>9183781</u>]
- Lieberman DA. Video games for diabetes self-management: examples and design strategies. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2012 Jul 01;6(4):802-806 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/193229681200600410] [Medline: 22920805]
- 15. Fuchslocher A, Niesenhaus J, Krämer N. Serious games for health: an empirical study of the game "Balance" for teenagers with diabetes mellitus. Entertain Comput 2011 Jan;2(2):97-101. [doi: 10.1016/j.entcom.2010.12.001]
- Theng Y, Lee JWY, Patinadan PV, Foo SSB. The use of videogames, gamification, and virtual environments in the self-management of diabetes: a systematic review of evidence. Games Health J 2015 Oct;4(5):352-361. [doi: 10.1089/g4h.2014.0114] [Medline: 26287926]

- 17. Lieberman DA. Management of chronic pediatric diseases with interactive health games: theory and research findings. J Ambul Care Manage 2001 Jan;24(1):26-38. [Medline: <u>11189794</u>]
- Martin C, Liveley KWK, Whitehead K. A health education group intervention for children with type 1 diabetes. J Diabetes Nurs 2009;13(1):33-37 [FREE Full text]
- Klingensmith G, Aisenberg J, Kaufman F, Halvorson M, Cruz E, Riordan ME, et al. Evaluation of a combined blood glucose monitoring and gaming system (Didget) for motivation in children, adolescents, and young adults with type 1 diabetes. Pediatr Diabetes 2013 Aug;14(5):350-357. [doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5448.2011.00791.x] [Medline: 21699639]
- 20. Thompson D, Baranowski T, Buday R. Conceptual model for the design of a serious video game promoting self-management among youth with type 1 diabetes. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2010;4(3):744-749. [doi: 10.1177/193229681000400331]
- 21. Kharrazi H. Improving healthy behaviors in type 1 diabetic patients by interactive frameworks. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2009 Nov 14;2009:322-326 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20351873]
- 22. Ebrahimpour F, Najafi M, Sadeghi N. The design and development of a computer game on insulin injection. Electron Physician 2014 Apr;6(2):845-855 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14661/2014.845-855]
- 23. Thompson D. Talk to me, please! The importance of qualitative research to games for health. Games Health J 2014 Jun;3(3):117-118. [doi: 10.1089/g4h.2014.0023] [Medline: 26196170]
- 24. Fox MP. A systematic review of the literature reporting on studies that examined the impact of interactive, computer-based patient education programs. Patient Educ Couns 2009 Oct;77(1):6-13. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2009.02.011</u>] [Medline: <u>19345550</u>]
- 25. Ahola AJ, Groop PH. Barriers to self-management of diabetes. Diabet Med 2013 Apr;30(4):413-420. [doi: 10.1111/dme.12105] [Medline: 23278342]
- 26. Fails JA. Methods and Techniques for Involving Children in the Design of New Technology for Children. In: FNT in Human–Computer Interaction. Hanover: Now Publishers Inc; 2013:85-166.
- 27. Fico G, Fioravanti A, Arredondo MT, Leuteritz J, Guillén A, Fernandez D. A user centered design approach for patient interfaces to a diabetes IT platform. In: Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc. 2011 Presented at: 33rd Annual International Conference of the IEEE; 2001; Boston p. 1169-1172. [doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2011.6090274]
- 28. Bee H. The Developing Child, 9th Edition. Porto Alegre: Artmed; 2003.
- 29. Elo S, Kyngäs H. The qualitative content analysis process. J Adv Nurs 2008 Apr;62(1):107-115. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x] [Medline: 18352969]
- 30. Elo S, Kaariainen M, Kanste O, Polkki T, Utriainen K, Kyngas H. Qualitative content analysis: a focus on trustworthiness. SAGE Open 2014 Feb 11;4(1). [doi: 10.1177/2158244014522633]
- 31. Streisand R, Monaghan M. Young children with type 1 diabetes: challenges, research, and future directions. Curr Diab Rep 2014;14(9):520 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11892-014-0520-2] [Medline: 25009119]
- 32. Siminerio L, Albanese-O'Neill A, Chiang JL, Hathaway K, Jackson C, Weissberg-Benchell J, American Diabetes Association. Care of young children with diabetes in the child care setting: a position statement of the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care 2014 Oct;37(10):2834-2842. [doi: 10.2337/dc14-1676] [Medline: 25249671]
- 33. Moreira PL, Dupas G. [Vivendo com o diabetes: a experiencia contada pela crianca]. Rev Latino-am Enfermagem 2006;14(1):25-32 [FREE Full text]
- Roper SO, Call A, Leishman J, Ratcliffe GC, Mandleco BL, Dyches TT, et al. Type 1 diabetes: children and adolescents' knowledge and questions. J Adv Nurs 2009 Aug;65(8):1705-1714. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.05033.x</u>] [Medline: <u>19493147</u>]
- 35. Wiley J, Westbrook M, Long J, Greenfield JR, Day RO, Braithwaite J. Diabetes education: the experiences of young adults with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Ther 2014 Jun;5(1):299-321 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13300-014-0056-0] [Medline: 24519150]
- 36. Nansel TR, Haynie DL, Lipsky LM, Wang J, Mehta SN, Laffel LM. Relationships among parent and youth healthful eating attitudes and youth dietary intake in a cross-sectional study of youth with type 1 diabetes. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2013 Nov 06;10:125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-10-125] [Medline: 24195642]
- 37. American Association of Diabetes Educators. Teaching injection technique to people with diabetes. URL: <u>https://www.diabeteseducator.org/docs/default-source/legacy-docs/ resources/pdf/research/injectioneducationpracticeguide.pdf?sfvrsn=2</u> [WebCite Cache ID 6oCYkcv7i]
- 38. Cunningham MT, Malachi M. Lipohypertrophy in insulin-treated diabetes: prevalence and associated risk factors. J Diabetes Nurs 2013;17(9) [FREE Full text]
- Fu AZ, Qiu Y, Radican L. Impact of fear of insulin or fear of injection on treatment outcomes of patients with diabetes. Curr Med Res Opin 2009 Jun;25(6):1413-1420. [doi: <u>10.1185/03007990902905724</u>] [Medline: <u>19422281</u>]
- 40. Rzeszut JR. Children with diabetes: the impact of fear of needles. J Pediatr Nurs 2011 Dec;26(6):589-592. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2011.09.003] [Medline: 21925589]
- 41. Floch JL, Bauduceau B, Lévy M, Mosnier-Pudar H, Sachon C, Kakou B. Self-monitoring of blood glucose, cutaneous finger injury, and sensory loss in diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 2008;31:e73 [FREE Full text]
- 42. Rewers M, Pihoker C, Hanas R, Swift P, Klingensmith GJ. Assessment and monitoring of glycemic control in children and adolescents with diabetes. Pediatr Diabetes 2014;10:71-78 [FREE Full text]

- 43. Smart CE, Annan F, Bruno LP, Higgins LA, Acerini CL, International Society for Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes. ISPAD Clinical Practice Consensus Guidelines 2014. Nutritional management in children and adolescents with diabetes. Pediatr Diabetes 2014 Sep;15 Suppl 20:135-153. [doi: 10.1111/pedi.12175] [Medline: 25182313]
- 44. Samson J. Exploring young people's perceptions of living with type 1 diabetes. J Diabetes Nurs 2006;10(9):351 [FREE Full text]
- 45. Baranowski T, Beltran A, Chen T, Thompson D, O'Connor T, Hughes S, et al. Predicting use of ineffective vegetable parenting practices with the model of goal directed behavior. Public Health Nutr 2015 Apr;18(6):1028-1035 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1368980014001220] [Medline: 24946833]
- 46. Beltran A, O'Connor T, Hughes S, Baranowski J, Nicklas TA, Thompson D, et al. Alpha test of a videogame to increase children's vegetable consumption. Games Health J 2012 Jun;1(3):219-222 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/g4h.2011.0027] [Medline: 24761315]
- Robertson K, Riddell MC, Guinhouya BC, Adolfsson P, Hanas R. ISPAD Clinical Practice Consensus Guidelines 2014. Exercise in children and adolescents with diabetes. Pediatr Diabetes 2014 Sep;15 Suppl 20:203-223. [doi: <u>10.1111/pedi.12176</u>] [Medline: <u>25182315</u>]
- 48. Fowler MJ. Hypoglycemia. Clin Diabetes 2008;26(4):170-173 [FREE Full text]
- 49. Brennan PF, Fink SV. Health Promotion and Interactive Technology: Theoretical Applications and Future Directions. Mahwah: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 1997.
- 50. Kato PM, Cole SW, Bradlyn AS, Pollock BH. A video game improves behavioral outcomes in adolescents and young adults with cancer: a randomized trial. Pediatrics 2008 Aug;122(2):e305-e317. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-3134] [Medline: 18676516]
- 51. Baranowski T, Baranowski J, Thompson D, Buday R, Jago R, Griffith MJ, et al. Video game play, child diet, and physical activity behavior change a randomized clinical trial. Am J Prev Med 2011 Jan;40(1):33-38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2010.09.029] [Medline: 21146765]

Abbreviations

SMBG: self-monitor blood glucose T1DM: type 1 diabetes mellitus T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus UCD: user-centered design

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.03.17; peer-reviewed by L Diehl, K Bul, P Stourac, S Yang; comments to author 16.06.17; revised version received 04.07.17; accepted 04.07.17; published 19.07.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Sparapani VDC, Fels S, Nascimento LC The Value of Children's Voices for a Video Game Development in the Context of Type 1 Diabetes: Focus Group Study JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e17 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e17/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/diabetes.7652</u> PMID:<u>30291061</u>

©Valéria de Cássia Sparapani, Sidney Fels, Lucila Castanheira Nascimento. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 19.07.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Mutual Involvement in Families With Type 2 Diabetes Through Web-Based Health Care Solutions: Quantitative Survey Study of Family Preferences, Challenges, and Potentials

Tobias Vitger^{1*}, MSc; Henning Langberg^{2*}, DMSc, MSc, PhD; Dan Grabowski^{1*}, MA, PhD

¹Health Promotion Research, Steno Diabetes Center Copenhagen, Gentofte, Denmark

²CopenRehab, Department of Public Health, Section of Social Medicine, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Tobias Vitger, MSc Health Promotion Research Steno Diabetes Center Copenhagen Niels Steensens Vej 8 Gentofte, DK-2820 Denmark Phone: 45 40887966 Email: tobias.vitger@regionh.dk

Abstract

Background: Type 2 diabetes (T2D) is a prevalent chronic disease that affects not just patients but entire families. Both the patient and the rest of the family may benefit from gaining knowledge about the disease and from supportive interfamilial interaction. The Internet is becoming a widely-used resource for health information, so a Web-based solution could potentially promote awareness and knowledge on how to manage T2D as a family, while also providing support for the family.

Objective: We aim to assess the usage of online diabetes information by patients with T2D and their relatives, and explore the families' needs and preferences regarding online information on diabetes.

Methods: A quantitative self-reported questionnaire survey was performed with Danish families that had at least one family member diagnosed with T2D. The survey consisted of 36 closed questions on demographics, usage of the Internet, preferences in the source of information, interest in online information on six problem domains within family life related to T2D, preferences towards the delivery format of online information, and peer-to-peer communication. Two open-ended questions were also included to elicit any additional comments or suggestions about improving online information on T2D regarding family life.

Results: Fifty participants from 22 families with T2D answered the questionnaire individually. Relatives (25/28, 89%) and patients (22/22, 100%) indicated that information on T2D is relevant for them, while indicating that the Internet is the first or second preferred source when in need of information on T2D (25/28, 89% vs 21/22, 95%). Only a minority of the participants indicated that they had searched the Internet to gain knowledge on T2D regarding family life (9/28, 32% vs 10/22, 46%). Also, patients were more likely to have used the Internet to gain information on T2D (P=.027). Both groups indicated a preference for watching videos or reading about T2D in relation to family life while a minority of the participants indicated an interest in peer-to-peer communication. Regarding the six problem domains, the domains Support, Knowledge, and Everyday Life were slightly more popular. These three domains were considered interesting by at least 79% (22/28) and 73% (16/22) of the relatives and patients respectively, while the domains Communication, Worries, and Roles were considered interesting by at least 46% (20/28) and 50% (11/22).

Conclusions: Despite an interest in online information on T2D, there appears to be an unsatisfied need for more supportive online information on T2D aimed at Danish families with T2D. Based on family preferences, online information should focus on the six problem domains and be presented through text and videos by health care practitioners and peers. Peer-to-peer communication elements may be beneficial, but are only expected to be used by a very limited number of families.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e23) doi:10.2196/diabetes.7456



KEYWORDS

online; health information; diabetes; support; family

Introduction

Type 2 diabetes (T2D) affects more than 300 million people worldwide and projections indicate that more than 1.1 billion people will be either living with diabetes or at high risk of diabetes in 2040 [1]. Most patients with T2D provide more than 90% of their own daily care, so health behavior interventions often seek to improve the patient's lifestyle, medication adherence, and diabetes management [2]. Many of these interventions have found social support, such as the involvement of the patient's relatives (eg, spouses, family, offspring, close friends) to be an effective means of improving the patient's health behavior or self-care [3]. With the rapid development of the World Wide Web, the Internet can facilitate supportive interaction while also being an increasingly popular method to gain educational information on diabetes [4-6].

Social support is an important positive factor related to the patient's diabetes management, either by facilitating healthy behaviors (eg, buying or preparing healthy meals) or by helping the patient overcome stress and frustrations through communication [3]. Contrarily, relatives can also have a negative impact on the patient's diabetes management by representing a barrier (rather than a facilitator) towards healthy behaviors, or by being supportive in an unappreciative way [3]. Relatives who are living in the same household as a patient with T2D may also be affected by the patients' disease through changes in the family's everyday life and family roles, while also being at increased risk of developing T2D, mainly due to genetics, lifestyle, and a lack of awareness about this risk [7,8]. Promoting mutual involvement between patients and relatives is often met by multiple barriers such as: families not perceiving the relevance of including relatives in the management of T2D, individuals who are at risk of developing T2D being apparently less engaged in risk-reducing health behavior, and patients with T2D seldom expressing serious concerns about relatives developing T2D [9-12]. Despite the seemingly important factor of social support in T2D, few intervention studies on T2D management have included the whole family (ie, the patient and their relatives) [3]. A study by Zrebiec and Jacobson found that an online discussion group on different diabetes topics moderated by health care providers (HCPs) was a useful method to engage both patients and relatives in receiving emotional support and exchanging information [4]. However, most diabetes websites do not provide sufficient information to support patients, making it unlikely that the information is sufficient for the rest of the family [6,13]. Web-based interventions for other chronic diseases have found improvements in interfamilial communication, knowledge on managing symptoms, medication adherence for the patients, and reduced stress levels for relatives in the role of caregivers [14-17]. Online information has also been assessed as a useful supplement to the information gained from consultations with HCPs [18].

Although the literature suggests that Web-based solutions could be a promising tool for families with T2D, research on the whole family's preferences regarding online information aimed at

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e23/
```

XSL•FO

families with T2D is lacking. Previous studies investigating online health information on T2D have primarily focused on the patient, and assessments of the information aimed at supporting the whole family are needed, together with more evidence on the effects of Web-based health care solutions for families with T2D. Hillard et al argued that there is a need for research to better understand both patients' and relatives' reasons for, or their barriers to, participating in diabetes online communities [19]. More research on family preferences and their needs related to information on T2D is needed to develop more personalized (and potentially more effective) Web-based health care solutions for the whole family. In addition to the content of online information, several studies highlight the need for presenting relevant information in an understandable and compelling format to the end-user; a focus that is often left out in scientific research [20,21].

In a previously reported comprehensive qualitative study, we investigated problems and challenges associated with family life in families with T2D [22]. We described six problem domains: *Support, Knowledge, Communication, Worries, Roles,* and *Everyday Life* [22]. The study described here serves as an extension of this qualitative study, and will provide quantitative data on families' interests and preferences in terms of online information. The main objective of this study was to use these six problem domains to provide insight into the needs of families with T2D related to online information, while discussing the challenges and potentials of supporting mutual involvement in families with T2D via Web-based health care solutions.

Methods

To investigate the objectives of this project, we developed a questionnaire to determine the preferences of families with T2D on information content and the presentation of online information on T2D. The inclusion criteria in this study were: Danish families who had access to the Internet, and at least one family member diagnosed with T2D. Participating family members had to be between 15 and 80 years old. Families were excluded if the patient did not include at least one of his/her family members in the survey. Families were recruited between April and May of 2016. The sample size of the study was 50 participants from 22 families with T2D.

Recruitment Process

The recruitment process of study participants was undertaken with the assistance of 38 HCPs who were identified with help from the Danish Diabetes Association and subsequently contacted by email. These HCPs had previously been involved in the initial phase of the project regarding family needs and problems in relation to family life with T2D, and they were therefore familiar with the scope of the study [22]. Of these 38 HCPs, 9 did not respond and 21 replied that they were interested in recruiting participants for this project. Of the interested HCPs, 6 recruited at least one family with T2D. The occupations of these 6 HCPs were: nurse (2), dietician (2), health consultant (1), and coordinator in a health care facility (1). Each HCP came

from a different city across Denmark. The HCPs contacted patients with T2D through consultations, diabetes schools, emails, and phone calls. Patients who were interested in participating in the study were contacted by the person responsible for the project (TV) by email or telephone, and were asked how many relatives were interested in participating in the study. One questionnaire was sent for each participating family member. Patients were excluded if none of their relatives were participating, and relatives were excluded if the family member with T2D withdrew from the study. Nonrespondents were sent a reminder email after 2 weeks, followed by a maximum of two further reminders.

Questionnaire Design

With no validated instrument to investigate family perceptions of online health care information, a quantitative self-reported questionnaire was developed. The questionnaire was inspired by the work by Jones et al [23] and consisted of 38 questions, including 6 questions on participant characteristics, 5 on preferences in the source of information on T2D, 3 on Internet usage, 12 regarding interest in online information on six problem domains within family life related to T2D, and 10 questions on preferences regarding the presentation of online information and peer-to-peer communication. Questions regarding the participants' preference in the source of information on T2D were answered by rating 5 choices from 1-5, with lower scores indicating a higher preference. Questions regarding families' interests and preferences in the six problem domains and in the presentation of online information were answered using a 5-point and a 6-point Likert scale, respectively. These questions were developed based on comprehensive qualitative data from similar settings that focused on the relationships and interactions within families with T2D [22]. The analysis of this study's results was done with these qualitative findings in mind. Furthermore, the six domains used for this project were identical to the problem domains identified by Grabowski et al [22] and consisted of Support, Knowledge, Communication, Worries, Roles, and Everyday Life. Two questions were asked for each domain. Regarding the presentation of online information, participants were asked to indicate their preference towards information delivered through text and video format, their preference towards information delivered by HCPs and other families with T2D, their interest in references for additional information, and the relevance of providing differentiated information based on the reader (eg, is the reader a patient or a relative). Two open-ended questions were included at the end of the questionnaire to elicit any additional comments or suggestions for improving online information aimed at families with T2D. Answers from these two open-ended questions were, however, excluded from the results due to a lack of relevant answers. The questionnaire was tested with two families prior

to the collection of data to ensure that questions were unambiguous and had the right focus. During the data collection phase, the questionnaire was first sent to 10% of the participants to assess data quality. Each family member was instructed to answer the questionnaire individually.

Statistical Analysis

The results from the questionnaire were transposed from self-completed paper or Word questionnaires into an Excel (version 10; Microsoft for Windows) spreadsheet and SPSS (Version 23; IBM for Macintosh) software for further analysis. Shapiro-Wilk tests were performed to test for normality. Independent t-tests were used when data were normally distributed, and Mann-Whitney U tests were used when data was not normally distributed. Significance was taken at 5% level.

Ethical Considerations

The Danish Research Ethics Committee has approved the study (reference number H-15006088). All participants gave informed consent.

Results

Thirty-two patients with T2D were recruited by the HCPs but four did not respond when contacted by the person responsible of the project (TV). One patient withdrew before being included and five patients were excluded for not including their relatives in the study. A total of 22 families were included in the project, incorporating 50 respondents (28 relatives and 22 patients), which corresponded into a response rate of 69%. Seventeen families (17/22, 77%) consisted of the patient and one relative (eg, spouse, parent, offspring, or friend), four families (4/22, 18%) included three family members, and one family (1/22, 5%) included four family members. 12 families answered the questionnaire by letter and 10 families answered by email.

Demographics of Participants

The group of relatives were mostly male (15/28, 54%), between 50-59 years old (7/28, 25%), and most often a spouse or partner to the patient (18/28, 64%). The group of patients were mostly female (16/22, 73%), between 60-69 years old (11/22, 50%), and had been diagnosed with T2D for less than 10 years (13/22, 59%). Most respondents in each group used the Internet on a daily basis (27/28, 96% vs 20/22, 91%), perceived information on T2D to be relevant (25/28, 89% vs 22/22, 100%), and had a higher education of 2-3 years or a primary school education/equivalent (9/28, 32% vs 8/22, 36%). None of the relatives were diagnosed with T2D. The population characteristics of the relatives and the patients are presented in Table 1 and Table 2, respectively.



 Table 1. Participant characteristics for relatives.

Characteristics	N=28, n (%)
Females	13 (46)
Usage of the Internet daily	27 (96)
Perceives information on T2D to be relevant	25 (89)
Education	
Primary school, skill in craft or equivalent	9 (32)
2-3 years of higher education	9 (32)
3-4 years of higher education	6 (21)
>4 years of higher education	4 (14)
Age	
Mean age (years)	50
<30	3 (11)
30-39	5 (18)
40-49	4 (14)
50-59	7 (25)
60-69	6 (21)
>70	3 (11)
Relationship to the patient	
Spouse/partner	18 (64)
Offspring	8 (29)
Friend	2 (7)

Table 2. Participants characteristics for patients.

Characteristics	N=22, n (%)
Females	16 (73)
Usage of the Internet daily	20 (91)
Perceives information on T2D to be relevant	22 (100)
Education	
Primary school, skill in craft or equivalent	8 (36)
2-3 years of higher education	8 (36)
3-4 years of higher education	4 (18)
>4 years of higher education	2 (9)
Age	
Mean age (years)	60
<30	1 (5)
30-39	2 (9)
40-49	1 (5)
50-59	4 (18)
0-69	11 (50)
>70	3 (14)
Diagnosis	
Diabetes duration <10 years	13 (59)
Mean diabetes duration (years)	9

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e23/

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Diabetes 2017 | vol. 2 | iss. 2 |e23 | p.102 (page number not for citation purposes)

Vitger et al

Preferences in Access to Diabetes Information

The group of patients clearly indicated a preference for information delivered by HCPs, with a mean score of 1.2 (lower mean scores indicate a higher preference for the source of information on T2D). Most of the patients (18/22, 82%) rated the HCP as their first pick, while the Internet was a clear second pick for the majority of respondents (3/22, 14%; mean score=2.3). The group of relatives were somewhat split between the Internet (11/27, 41%; mean score=2.0) and HCPs (13/27, 13/27, 13/27)48%; mean score=2.2) as their preferred source of information on T2D, which could suggest that relatives do not have the same relationship to HCPs regarding T2D as patients do. The mean difference between the two groups' preference for information from HCPs resulted in a statistically significant difference (P=.006). A lower self-perceived preference for receiving information on T2D through online forums was similar for both groups, along with family and friends, and books (0-7%, mean scores=3.2-4.1). There was, however, a statistically significant difference between the two groups regarding their preference for information from family and friends (P=.016) with relatives generally indicating a higher preference than patients (Table 3). A Mann-Whitney U test was performed to assess whether the difference between the groups was statistically significant.

Usage of the Internet to Search for Information on Type 2 Diabetes

In terms of searching for general online information on T2D, most relatives (16/28, 57%) and patients (19/22, 86%) responded that they had done so, or had others search for information on their behalf. Patients were significantly more likely to have used the Internet to gain information on T2D than relatives (P=.027). Despite the relatively large number of participants who had

Table 3. Preferences in the source of information on T2D

searched for general information on T2D, only a minority of relatives (9/28, 32%) and patients (10/22, 46%) had used the Internet for information regarding how T2D can affect the whole family. Of the relatives and patients who had searched for online information on T2D regarding family life, most indicated that they found what they were looking for (Table 4). A Mann-Whitney U test was performed to assess whether the difference between the groups was statistically significant.

Interest in Online Information on Type 2 Diabetes Regarding Family Life

Families generally perceived all six domains as relatively interesting although there was a tendency for the three domains of Support, Knowledge, and Everyday Life to be slightly more popular. These three domains were perceived as "Interesting" or "Very interesting" by 73-95% of the patients and by 79-85% of the relatives (Q1-Q4, Q11, and Q12). The remaining three domains (Communication, Worries, and Roles) were perceived as "Interesting" or "Very interesting" by a smaller majority: 50-73% of the patients and 46-71% of the relatives (Q5-Q10). These three domains also received a larger amount of "Neither nor" responses as compared to the other domains, suggesting difficulties in understanding or relating to the questions. The findings may indicate that families perceive information on Support, Knowledge, and Everyday Life as the most relevant and relatable domains. A tendency for all six domains was that the group of relatives more often responded "Uninterested" or "Very Uninterested" to the questions compared to the group of patients. These uninterested responses may partly be explained by the relatives who indicated that information on T2D was irrelevant for them. The questions in Figure 1 were translated and shortened to ease the reading of the figure.

Information source	Relatives (N=27) ^a mean score (%)	Patients (N=22) mean score (%)	P-value
The Internet (eg, fact-based website)	2.0 (41%)	2.3 (14%)	.319
HCP	2.2 (48%)	1.2 (82%)	.006
Online social forums	3.4 (7%)	3.6 (0%)	.681
Family and friends	3.2 (4%)	4.0 (5%)	.016
Books	4.1 (0%)	3.8 (0%)	.306

^aOne relative made an invalid data entry and was excluded.

Table 4. Usage of online information on T2D.

Specifics of search	Relatives (N=28) (%)	Patients (N=22) (%)	P-value
Searched for general online information on T2D	16 (57%)	19 (86%)	.027
Searched for online information on T2D regarding family life	9 (32%)	10 (46%)	.341
Found what they were looking for (only including those who searched for online information on T2D regarding family life	19 (67%)	15 (70%)	.879

Figure 1. Interest in online information on type 2 diabetes regarding family life for all participants. The absolute values and cumulative percentages of the responses for both groups are displayed at the end of each bar.



A total of 71% of the relatives and 68% of the patients indicated an interest in watching educational videos of peers, while videos of HCPs were considered interesting by 86% and 82% of the relatives and patients respectively (Q13, Q14). Regarding the reading of relevant experiences written by peers, 75% of the relatives and 86% of the patients indicated interest, while 82% and 86% of the relatives and patients were interested in reading experiences by HCPs (Q15, Q16). Patients were more likely to

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e23/

RenderX

respond "Yes, definitely" for reading experiences by HCPs compared to peers. With regards to communicating with peers online, patients generally responded more positively than relatives. Although 71% of relatives and 73% of patients indicated that they could be interested in reading relevant posts in an online forum (Q17), only 25% of relatives and 41% of patients indicated that they were likely to make a post themselves (Q18). Furthermore, only 7% of relatives and 36%

of patients perceived communicating directly with peers as interesting (Q19). Communicating with peers online was considered to be as good as communicating with peers in person by 14% of the relatives, while 50% of the patients thought so (Q20). Overall, the questions on online communication with peers received a considerably higher amount of "Don't know" and "Neutral" responses, suggesting difficulties in understanding or relating to the questions for many family members. Lastly, 82% of relatives and 100% of patients highlighted the importance of having references to additional information (Q21), while 68% of relatives and 91% of patients indicated a need for information that is differentiated based on whether the reader is a patient or relative (Q22). The questions in Figure 2 were translated and shortened to ease the reading of the figure.

Figure 2. Preferences in the presentation of online information on type 2 diabetes and peer-to-peer communication for all participants. The absolute values and cumulative percentages of the responses for both groups are displayed at the end of each bar. HCP: heath care provider.



Discussion

Families' Strategies to Find Online Information on Type 2 Diabetes

Overall, most of the patients and relatives in this study indicated that information on T2D was relevant for them and that the Internet was the first or second preferred source when they needed information on T2D. Online information is more accessible and not time dependent compared to a consultation with a HCP, so Web-based solutions could be a relevant and appropriate way for families to gain support and offer an opportunity to establish an appropriate knowledge base on T2D. Relatives were generally less likely to have searched for online information on T2D than patients, suggesting that many relatives either receive information elsewhere (eg, from the patient) or that relatives do not receive (or seek) information on T2D at all (Table 4). Furthermore, there was a discrepancy between the families' interest for online diabetes information on problem domains within family life and their likelihood of having searched for this information. These findings may illustrate a challenge in involving the whole family in the care of the patient's T2D, as existing literature has previously concluded [9,10,22]. In addition to this challenge, families may also experience difficulties in locating relevant online information, since much of the educational information on T2D that exists on the Internet has been assessed as insufficient [6,13]. The lack of quality information on the Internet may result in a risk of uncorrected misinformation, misunderstandings, and frustrations for the user [18]. Therefore, since families have indicated an interest in online information on T2D, it would be relevant to ensure that families have easy access to validated, reliable, and user-friendly information on T2D regarding family life.

Presenting Online Information on Type 2 Diabetes

Overall, the participants in this study indicated a preference for one-way communication (ie, read, watch, or listen to information) compared to two-way communication (ie, communicating with peers or HCPs). Families had a small tendency to prefer educational videos of HCPs over videos of peers, which may suggest that information from HCPs is perceived as more trustworthy than information from other families with T2D. The families' preferences could also be explained by the concept of the "mere-exposure effect", suggesting that the increased preference for HCPs as the source of information may be due to families being more familiar with receiving health information from HCPs than from peers [24]. With regards to receiving information from texts or videos, a study by Walthouwer et al [25] found that there are no significant outcome differences between receiving health related text information compared to information presented through videos. However, participants who receive information in their preferred delivery format are significantly more likely to use the information. Therefore, to promote the likelihood of families using online information on T2D, it would be relevant to provide users with information presented through both video and text.

Online Peer-to-Peer Communication

Online forums were considered to be one of the less preferred routes for receiving information, with patients being more

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e23/
```

interested in peer-to-peer communication than relatives. Due to the challenges of engaging the whole family in the patient's T2D, families may not be able to identify the relevance of communicating with other families or be able to assess its benefits. Although most of the families in this study indicated no interest in communicating with peers online, online communities for families with T2D have been shown to be a useful tool for exchanging information and for emotional support [4,5]. One barrier for online forums is that new or potential users of online forums are often cautious and reticent about taking an active role in a forum. This barrier makes it difficult to develop an online community, and its success in the start-up phase is often dependent on subtle prodding from moderators and existing users [26]. A common issue for online communities is a lack of active users, which may weaken the effect of an online community, and as stated by Richardson et al, "size does matter in an online community" [27]. However, if new users become familiar and comfortable in an online community, they tend to become more actively involved and appreciative of the forum over time [26]. Since most families in this study indicated that they would read online posts written by peers-thereby indicating that they would use the online forum as a one-way communication form-it is possible that a professionally moderated online forum could engage motivated families with T2D to communicate with each other. More research regarding family perceptions of online social forums is needed to identify the challenges and potential of online communities for families with T2D.

Strengths and Limitations of the Study

A major strength of the presented study was its unique focus on the whole family in relation to their needs and preferences, while building on existing evidence regarding the six problem domains for families with T2D. Only a minority of studies have previously focused on mutual involvement, support, and empowerment for the whole family in families with T2D. One strength of the questionnaire survey was its combination of questions on both content and delivery of online information. Although research on user perspectives regarding both content and delivery of online information is uncommon, it appears to be a relevant and appropriate method to gain valuable insight on what content the user is interested in and how the content should be presented [20,21]. A limitation of this study was its sample size and gender imbalance, which questions the statistical power and the lack of knowledge regarding the relatives' level of engagement in the patient's disease management. The study does, however, build on recent comprehensive qualitative data and serves as a needs assessment in a significant yet under-researched area. The sample size may also highlight challenges in recruiting families with at least one family member diagnosed with T2D for research projects. Lastly, the study lacks clarity on whether the presented findings might be applicable for different population groups. As identified elsewhere, it will be relevant for future research to investigate whether generic information aimed at families with T2D is sufficient, or if information should be differentiated based on age, gender, ethnicity, or socioeconomic status [28].

Web-based solutions could be a promising tool to inform and support families with T2D by being highly accessible and

XSL•FO RenderX

providing options for differentiated information based on the user's competences. Since families have indicated an interest in receiving health information through the Internet, improvement of the available online information on T2D regarding families is needed. Findings from this study suggest that information should be presented through both video and text, as families valued both information formats. Online social forums for families with T2D appear to be difficult to develop, but require more research to better understand the potentials and challenges of these platforms.

Implications for Diabetes Websites

Findings from this study indicate that most families with T2D are interested in using the Internet to gain knowledge on T2D regarding family life. Still, the literature indicates that much of the online information on T2D is insufficient and improvements may be needed to better support families with T2D [6,13]. Previous studies suggest that Web-based solutions aimed at families with a chronic disease could be a supportive instrument for the whole family [29,30]. Therefore, ensuring access to relevant online information of an acceptable quality may be useful for interested families with T2D. Based on findings from the questionnaire, it will be relevant to provide families with online information on six problem domains related to family life with T2D: Support, Knowledge, Communication, Worries, Roles, and Everyday Life. Previous studies have also identified similar domains for families with chronic diseases, while also assessing diet and heredity as popular topics [4,5,31]. With regards to the presentation of online information, families appear to be interested in educational information delivered through text and videos, and relevant experiences told by HCPs and peers, while also indicating that references to additional information is important.

Implications for Health Care Practice

Previous studies have highlighted the importance of making information appropriate, practical, and accessible for families with T2D. Consequently, considerations on how families become aware of the information are important [32]. Since families have indicated an interest for online information on T2D regarding family life, HCPs are encouraged to refer families to websites with tailored information aimed at families with T2D. However, if the current information on T2D regarding family life is as insufficient as the literature suggests, improvements may be needed before HCPs can refer families to diabetes websites with comprehensive information. In addition, it will be relevant to consider how to approach families of different socioeconomic statuses, who may have problems accessing online information.

Implications for Future Research

This study has identified preferences and needs for online information in families with T2D, but there is still a need for further studies focusing on online information aimed at families with T2D. With the presented findings on family preferences, it will be relevant to assess whether diabetes websites meet these preferences, while also measuring the quality of the information. Previous research has assessed online information on T2D to be insufficient, and a comparison of the literature suggests that online health educational information on cancer, cardiac diseases, and cardiovascular diseases is of a higher quality than that on T2D [6,13-17]. In addition, previous studies have found that people with low health literacy levels are less likely to use online health information, and that they tend to prefer short concise health information rather than longer and more detailed information [28,33,34]. As found by Mayberry et al [34], future research should investigate the barriers and facilitators for using online information in individuals with different levels of health literacy, while also investigating how family members may support each other in accessing and understanding online health information. Lastly, it will be relevant to investigate the effects of providing families with tailored information on T2D to determine which characteristics of the information have the most positive effects.

Acknowledgments

The project was funded by the Danish Ministry of Health and the four project partners: Steno Diabetes Center, The Danish Diabetes Association, the Capital Region of Denmark, and the Region of Southern Denmark. The authors would like to thank all of the HCPs who showed an interest in the study, and Kasper Olsen for assisting with the development and analysis of the survey.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. International Diabetes Federation. In: Cavan D, da Rocha Fernandes J, Makaroff L, Ogurtsova K, Webber S, editors. IDF Diabetes Atlas, Seventh Edition. Brusssels: International Diabetes Federation; 2016.
- 2. Miller TA, Dimatteo MR. Importance of family/social support and impact on adherence to diabetic therapy. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes 2013 Nov 06;6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S36368] [Medline: 24232691]
- 3. Mayberry L, Osborn CY. Family support, medication adherence, and glycemic control among adults with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2012 Jun;35(6) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc11-2103] [Medline: 22538012]
- 4. Zrebiec J, Jacobson AM. What attracts patients with diabetes to an internet support group? A 21-month longitudinal website study. Diabet Med 2001 Feb;18(2). [Medline: <u>11251681</u>]

- Amann J, Zanini C, Rubinelli S. What online user innovation communities can teach us about capturing the experiences of patients living with chronic health conditions. A scoping review. PLoS One 2016;11(6):e0156175 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0156175] [Medline: 27272912]
- 6. Weymann N, Härter M, Dirmaier J. Quality of online information on type 2 diabetes: a cross-sectional study. Health Promot Int 2015 Dec;30(4). [doi: 10.1093/heapro/dau019] [Medline: 24688114]
- 7. Weijnen C, Rich SS, Meigs JB, Krolewski AS, Warram JH. Risk of diabetes in siblings of index cases with type 2 diabetes: implications for genetic studies. Diabet Med 2002 Jan;19(1):41-50. [Medline: <u>11869302</u>]
- 8. Khan A, Lasker SS, Chowdhury TA. Are spouses of patients with type 2 diabetes at increased risk of developing diabetes? Diabetes Care 2003 Mar;26(3). [Medline: <u>12610026</u>]
- Myers M, Fernandes SL, Arduser L, Hopper JL, Koehly LM. Talking about type 2 diabetes: family communication from the perspective of at-risk relatives. Diabetes Educ 2015 Dec;41(6):716-728. [doi: <u>10.1177/0145721715604367</u>] [Medline: <u>26323720</u>]
- 10. Følling IS, Solbjør M, Midthjell K, Kulseng B, Helvik A. Exploring lifestyle and risk in preventing type 2 diabetes-a nested qualitative study of older participants in a lifestyle intervention program (VEND-RISK). BMC Public Health 2016 Aug 25;16(1):876 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3559-y] [Medline: 27557801]
- 11. Godino J, van Sluijs EM, Sutton S, Griffin SJ. Understanding perceived risk of type 2 diabetes in healthy middle-aged adults: a cross-sectional study of associations with modelled risk, clinical risk factors, and psychological factors. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2014 Dec;106(3):412-419 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2014.10.004] [Medline: 25467619]
- van Esch S, Nijkamp MD, Cornel MC, Snoek FJ. Patients' intentions to inform relatives about type 2 diabetes risk: the role of worry in the process of family risk disclosure. Diabet Med 2012 Dec;29(12):e461-e467. [doi: <u>10.1111/dme.12029</u>] [Medline: <u>23003196</u>]
- 13. Del Giglio A, Abdala B, Ogawa C, Amado D, Carter D, Gomieiro F, et al. Quality of internet information available to patients on websites in Portuguese. Rev Assoc Med Bras (1992) 2012;58(6):645-649 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23250091]
- Hu C, Kung S, Rummans TA, Clark MM, Lapid MI. Reducing caregiver stress with internet-based interventions: a systematic review of open-label and randomized controlled trials. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2015 Apr;22. [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2014-002817] [Medline: 25125686]
- Linn AJ, Vervloet M, van DL, Smit EG, Van Weert JC. Effects of eHealth interventions on medication adherence: a systematic review of the literature. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 05;13(4) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1738] [Medline: 22138112]
- Song L, Rini C, Deal AM, Nielsen ME, Chang H, Kinneer P, et al. Improving couples' quality of life through a web-based prostate cancer education intervention. Oncol Nurs Forum 2015 Mar;42(2) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1188/15.ONF.183-192] [Medline: 25806885]
- Kaltenbaugh DJ, Klem ML, Hu L, Turi E, Haines AJ, Hagerty LJ. Using web-based interventions to support caregivers of patients with cancer: a systematic review. Oncol Nurs Forum 2015 Mar;42(2). [doi: <u>10.1188/15.ONF.156-164</u>] [Medline: <u>25806882</u>]
- Pohjanoksa-Mäntylä M, Bell JS, Helakorpi S, Närhi U, Pelkonen A, Airaksinen MS. Is the Internet replacing health professionals? A population survey on sources of medicines information among people with mental disorders. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2011 May;46(5). [doi: 10.1007/s00127-010-0201-7] [Medline: 20225134]
- 19. Hilliard ME, Sparling KM, Hitchcock J, Oser TK, Hood KK. The emerging diabetes online community. Curr Diabetes Rev 2015;11(4) [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25901500]
- Byczkowski T, Munafo JK, Britto MT. Family perceptions of the usability and value of chronic disease web-based patient portals. Health Informatics J 2014 Jun;20(2). [doi: 10.1177/1460458213489054] [Medline: 24056751]
- 21. Muller I, Rowsell A, Stuart B, Hayter V, Little P, Ganahl K, et al. Effects on engagement and health literacy outcomes of web-based materials promoting physical activity in people with diabetes: an international randomized trial. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jan 23;19(1) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6601] [Medline: 28115299]
- 22. Grabowski D, Andersen TH, Varming A, Ommundsen C, Willaing I. Involvement of family members in life with type 2 diabetes: six interconnected problem domains of significance for family health identity and healthcare authenticity. SAGE Open Med 2017;5. [doi: 10.1177/2050312117728654] [Medline: 28839943]
- 23. Jones J, Cassie S, Thompson M, Atherton I, Leslie SJ. Delivering healthcare information via the internet: cardiac patients' access, usage, perceptions of usefulness, and web site content preferences. Telemed J E Health 2014 Mar;20(3):223-228. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2013.0182] [Medline: 24404814]
- 24. Zajonc R. Mere exposure: a gateway to the subliminal. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 2001 Dec 01;10(6):224-228. [doi: 10.1111/1467-8721.00154]
- 25. Walthouwer M, Oenema A, Lechner L, de Vries VH. Use and effectiveness of a video- and text-driven web-based computer-tailored intervention: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2015 Sep 25;17(9) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4496] [Medline: 26408488]
- 26. Kirk J, Ebert CN, Gamble GP, Ebert CE. Social support strategies in adult patients with diabetes: a review of strategies in the USA and Europe. Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab 2014 Jan 10;8(4):379-389. [doi: 10.1586/17446651.2013.811895]
- Richardson C, Buis LR, Janney AW, Goodrich DE, Sen A, Hess ML, et al. An online community improves adherence in an internet-mediated walking program. Part 1: results of a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2010 Dec 17;12(4) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1338] [Medline: 21169160]
- Coughlin S, Prochaska JJ, Williams LB, Besenyi GM, Heboyan V, Goggans DS, et al. Patient web portals, disease management, and primary prevention. Risk Manag Healthc Policy 2017;10:33-40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/RMHP.S130431] [Medline: 28435342]
- 29. Stopford R, Winkley K, Ismail K. Social support and glycemic control in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review of observational studies. Patient Educ Couns 2013 Dec;93(3):549-558. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2013.08.016] [Medline: 24021417]
- Golics C, Basra MK, Finlay AY, Salek S. The impact of disease on family members: a critical aspect of medical care. J R Soc Med 2013 Oct;106(10):399-407 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0141076812472616] [Medline: 23759884]
- 31. Golics C, Basra MK, Salek MS, Finlay AY. The impact of patients' chronic disease on family quality of life: an experience from 26 specialties. Int J Gen Med 2013;6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/IJGM.S45156] [Medline: 24092994]
- 32. White P, Smith SM, O'Dowd T. Living with type 2 diabetes: a family perspective. Diabetic Med 2007 Jul;24(7):796-801. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2007.02171.x]
- Yardley L, Morrison LG, Andreou P, Joseph J, Little P. Understanding reactions to an internet-delivered health-care intervention: accommodating user preferences for information provision. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2010 Sep 17;10:52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-10-52] [Medline: 20849599]
- Mayberry L, Kripalani S, Rothman RL, Osborn CY. Bridging the digital divide in diabetes: family support and implications for health literacy. Diabetes Technol Ther 2011 Oct;13(10):1005-1012 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/dia.2011.0055] [Medline: 21718098]

Abbreviations

HCP: health care provider **T2D:** type 2 diabetes

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.02.17; peer-reviewed by C Samuel-Hodge, L Hu, H Akram; comments to author 15.04.17; revised version received 19.07.17; accepted 09.08.17; published 27.09.17.

Please cite as:

Vitger T, Langberg H, Grabowski D Mutual Involvement in Families With Type 2 Diabetes Through Web-Based Health Care Solutions: Quantitative Survey Study of Family Preferences, Challenges, and Potentials JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e23 URL: http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e23/ doi:10.2196/diabetes.7456 PMID:30291067

©Tobias Vitger, Henning Langberg, Dan Grabowski. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 27.09.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Transitional Needs of Australian Young Adults With Type 1 Diabetes: Mixed Methods Study

Ashley H Ng¹, BHealthSc, BFS&N (Hons), MDiet; Timothy C Crowe², BSc (Hons), MNutrDiet, PhD; Kylie Ball³, BA (Psych), PhD; Bodil Rasmussen⁴, RN, Grad Dip Nursing, MEd, PhD

¹School of Nursing and Midwifery, Deakin University, Burwood, Australia

²School of Exercise and Nutrition Science, Deakin University, Geelong, Australia

³Institute for Physical Activity and Nutrition, School of Exercise and Nutrition Science, Deakin University, Geelong, Australia

⁴Centre for Quality and Patient Safety Research, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Deakin University, Geelong, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Ashley H Ng, BHealthSc, BFS&N (Hons), MDiet School of Nursing and Midwifery Deakin University 221 Burwood Highway Burwood, 3125 Australia Phone: 61 425741757 Email: hxn@deakin.edu.au

Abstract

Background: Young adulthood is marked by transitions that impact diabetes self-management behaviors, which require ongoing diabetes education and support. Traditional diabetes education programs and services currently do not meet the needs of many young adults with type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) as they continue to fall through the cracks of clinical services. Age-centered diabetes education programs and services present an opportunity for young adults to meet in a supportive environment and gain a better understanding about diabetes management.

Objective: The aim of the study was to identify the health and well-being needs of Australian young adults aged between 18 and 35 years with T1DM to develop appropriate solutions to keep them engaged with diabetes self-management.

Methods: In total, 13 semistructured individual interviews and self-reported surveys were obtained to understand participants' experiences with diabetes education programs and services. Together with survey data, transcribed interviews were analyzed into themes and categories using comparative analysis to identify the health and well-being needs of young adults with T1DM during young adulthood.

Results: Diabetes education and service needs for young adults with T1DM related to improving access to existing diabetes education programs and services, having credible informational resources, as well as having personalized diabetes management advice. Participants especially valued relevant and real-time information and opportunities for peer support, mostly sourced from Web-based platforms.

Conclusions: There is a need for diabetes education programs and services to be age-appropriate and easily accessible, to provide relevant and credible information, and to provide opportunities for peer support to better support young adults with T1DM. These findings also support the use of diabetes education programs or services delivered online through mHealth systems in this population.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e29) doi:10.2196/diabetes.8315

KEYWORDS

type 1 diabetes; mHealth; young adults; transition

Introduction

Young adults with type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) have different needs compared with the pediatric and older adult

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e29/

populations as they are required to adapt their diabetes management against more dynamic and significant turning points encountered in young adulthood [1]. Turning points can be significant life events that represent a change in an

individual's life pattern, such as starting university, full-time employment, moving out of home, developing new relationships, or starting a family [1]. These critical life events are often stressful and can impact a young adult's diabetes-related decision-making process [1].

Navigating Through Life Transitions

As young adults navigate through life transitions, they are more likely to experience depressive symptoms and diabetes distress compared with older adults [2,3]. Additionally, competing life demands may ultimately displace self-care and diabetes management from being a priority, which may result in glycemic control deterioration [1,4]. Significant health-related turning points such as developing diabetes-related complications may further impact young adults' diabetes management [1].

As young adults start to adapt and transition through turning points presented during the tumultuous period of young adulthood, they begin to acknowledge the importance and long-term health benefits that accompany an investment in self-care [4]. With renewed motivation, young adulthood presents as an opportunity for diabetes education programs and services to engage young adults who are ready for positive behavior change [4].

Diabetes education programs and services are crucial to promote health literacy in people with diabetes through the provision of skills and knowledge for efficient diabetes self-management [5]. Health literacy is a concept that expands beyond literacy and numeracy skills to how individuals access, understand, and use information to make appropriate decisions to promote and maintain good health [6,7]. Poor health literacy has been associated with inadequate health-related knowledge, lack of social support, and poor communication skills with health care professionals [8]. Collectively, these factors correlate with increased rates of hospitalization and use of emergency services [8]. Low levels of health literacy have also been associated with a lower motivation to engage in diabetes self-management and greater communication difficulties with health care professionals [9].

Meeting the Needs of Australian Young Adults With Diabetes

Unfortunately, current diabetes education programs and services do not meet the needs of Australian young adults with T1DM [10]. Young adults face a host of barriers, which discourages access to current diabetes education programs and services [11]. Common barriers to access can be separated into logistical challenges, such as time constraints, cost, and distance needed to travel, and emotional barriers, such as feeling disempowered and disillusioned from appointments and a fear of judgment from health care professionals [11]. Enablers to diabetes education programs and services access corresponded with previously identified barriers such as continuity of care, time of day of clinical appointments, and proximity of clinic to home [11]. Additionally, although enablers to engage young adults in diabetes education programs and services have been identified and suggested to diabetes clinics, subsequent implementation status of these changes or patient outcomes is not known [11].

A major concern associated with low engagement in diabetes education programs and services is the lack of health care professional support for young adults with diabetes as they progress from pediatric health care services [10]. From the 2012 Australian Youth Transition Survey, it was found that only 42% of young adult respondents with diabetes aged between 18 and 24 years attended a diabetes clinic, which is the primary source of diabetes education provided to this population [10]. In contrast, 71% of adolescent respondents aged between 14 and 17 years attended a diabetes clinic [10]. A majority of young adults with diabetes who do not regularly receive clinical follow-up may subsequently have poorer glycemic control and increased risk of diabetes-related complications [11]. Low diabetes clinic attendance rates also reflect the lack of appropriate diabetes education program and services tailored for young adults [10].

Young adulthood is a complex period for young adults with T1DM where additional ongoing support would be of benefit as they learn to balance diabetes self-management with dynamic life changes. However, there is a paucity of research to inform diabetes education programs and service delivery to support and empower young adults with T1DM with their diabetes self-management as they transition through turning points. The aim of this study was to identify the diabetes education and service needs of young adults with T1DM during these turning points.

Methods

Study Design

A mixed-methods approach that included semistructured interviews and cross-sectional surveys was utilized to gain an understanding of the health and well-being needs of young adults with T1DM. Concepts derived from constructivist grounded theory influenced the qualitative approach of the study [12]. Cross-sectional surveys provided additional quantitative information around participants' health literacy levels, emotional well-being, and diabetes distress level. Ethics approval was granted by Deakin University Human Research Ethics Committee, and the study has fulfilled the consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ) guidelines for reporting [13].

Participants and Recruitment

Participants were Australian young adults living with T1DM aged between 18 and 35 years. Inclusion criteria included English proficiency and access to the Internet either through a smartphone or through a Web browser to complete a Web-based survey. There were no predetermined exclusion criteria. Recruitment was conducted online through flyers that were posted on relevant Australian diabetes-related social media channels and online support groups. Snowball sampling was used for recruitment until data saturation was achieved from qualitative interviews.

Semistructured Interviews

Interviews were offered in person or online and took approximately an hour to complete. A set of guided questions included topics around events that impacted participants'

XSL•FO

diabetes management and their experiences and recommendations to improve diabetes education programs and services. The question guide was reviewed and piloted by independent researchers to ensure questions were easy to understand and follow. Interviews were organized and conducted by AN, a PhD candidate with a dietetics background and lived experience with diabetes. AN's background was only disclosed to participants when she felt it would help develop rapport. Face-to-face interviews were conducted at Deakin University (Burwood, Australia). A secure Web-based communication platform, Zoom videoconferencing software (California, United States of America), was used for Web-based interviews. To minimize bias from AN's lived experience with diabetes, all interviews were audiotaped and field notes were recorded to critically reflect on the guided questions and interview to ensure objectivity was maintained. Guided questions were further refined if necessary after discussion of field notes with BR. After the interviews, participants were sent a one-page summary by email of the main points discussed during the interview to confirm and validate the data through a process called member-checking [14]. Participants were then asked to complete a Web-based survey, which was a compilation of validated questionnaires to gather information on their level of health literacy, emotional well-being, diabetes distress, and demographic details. The Web-based survey was administered through Qualtrics (Utah, United States of America), which uses a secure cloud storage platform.

Health Literacy Questionnaire

The health literacy questionnaire (HLQ) is a self-administered 44-item questionnaire, which covers 9 domains of health literacy concepts that support effective self-management of chronic health conditions [15]. The 9 domains are as follows: (1) feeling understood and supported by health care providers, (2) having sufficient information to manage health, (3) active management of health, (4) social support for health, (5) appraisal of health information, (6) ability to actively engage with health care providers, (7) navigating the health care system, (8) ability to find good health information, and (9) understanding health information well enough to know what to do. Scores were averaged for each domain with scores toward the higher end of the scale indicating strength, or greater literacy, within that health literacy domain.

Diabetes Distress Scale

The Diabetes Distress Scale (DDS) is a 17-item self-administered questionnaire, which comprises the following 4 subscales that contribute to overall diabetes distress: emotional distress, physician-related distress, regimen-related distress, and diabetes-related interpersonal distress [16]. DDS uses a 5-point Likert scale to rate statements related to living with diabetes. A higher overall score indicates greater diabetes-related

distress, whereas subscale scores provide an indicator to the primary source of concern.

World Health Organization-5 Well-Being Index

The World Health Organization-5 Well-Being Index (WHO-5) consists of 5 positively worded items relating to mood, vitality, and general interest over a 2 week period [17]. The self-administered questionnaire uses a 6-point Likert scale where participants are asked to rate the frequency of experiencing a feeling. Summated scores are converted into a percentage; with scores below 50 indicating a low mood and scores of 28 and lower indicating the likelihood of depression.

Well-Being Questionnaire 12

The Well-being Questionnaire 12 (W-BQ12) is a 12-item self-administered questionnaire, which uses a 4-point Likert scale to describe how often participants experienced a feeling in the past few weeks [18]. For this study, the 4-item positive well-being subscale of the W-BQ12 was used. A higher overall score correlates with greater general well-being.

Data Analysis

Interviews were recorded and transcribed by AN and analyzed using NVivo (QSR International, Australia, Melbourne). Transcripts from interviews underwent line-by-line coding, categorization, and subcategorization in line with the process of constructivist grounded theory as described by Charmaz [19]. Codes with similar meaning or context identified through line-by-line coding from the interviews were integrated into a category or theme by AN in a process known as thematic comparative analysis. Through this process, turning points experienced by participants as well as their associated transitional needs to be able to successfully transition through those turning points were identified. Categories and subthemes were reviewed by BR and TC, and discrepancies were discussed until a consensus was reached. A one-page summary of findings from the interviews was then provided to participants for further feedback.

Descriptive statistics were used to analyze demographic and other quantitative cross-sectional data from the Web-based questionnaire.

Results

Participant Characteristics

From 20 initial expressions of interest, 13 participants completed both the interview and the Web-based survey. Reasons cited for nonparticipation included unwilling to complete an interview and lack of time. On average, participants were predominantly female, aged between 19 and 35 years, lived with diabetes between 2 and 25 years, and managed their diabetes with an insulin pump. Other participant characteristics are described in Table 1.



Table 1. Summary of participant characteristics (N=13).

Characteristics	Participants with T1DM ^a
Gender	
Female, n (%)	10 (77)
Male, n (%)	3 (23)
Age in years, mean (SD ^b)	20 (5)
Diabetes duration in years, mean (SD)	8 (6)
Diabetes management	
Insulin pump, n (%)	8 (62)
Multiple daily injections, n (%)	5 (38)
Residential area	
Metropolitan area, n (%)	10 (77)
Regional area, n (%)	2 (15)
Undisclosed, n (%)	1 (8)
Employment status	
Working full time, n (%)	7 (53)
Studying full time, n (%)	3 (23)
Studying part time, n (%)	1 (8)
Other, n (%)	1 (8)
Undisclosed, n (%)	1 (8)

^aT1DM: type 1 diabetes mellitus.

^bSD: standard deviation.

Health Literacy and Emotional Well-Being

Table 2 summarizes participant scores across all quantitative measures within the Web-based survey, which includes the HLQ, DDS, W-BQ12, and WHO-5. On average, participants scored toward the higher end across each HLQ domain, indicating adequate health literacy levels toward self-management. Average scores from the DDS and subscales were not indicative of any overall moderate diabetes distress. However, individual scores demonstrated that moderate distress existed within each domain, with moderate distress reported by 75% (9/12) of participants within the emotional burden subscale, 50% (6/12) of participants within the interpersonal burden subscale, 33% (4/12) of participants within the regimen burden subscale, and 25% (3/12) of participants within the physician domain subscale. Overall, participants reported satisfactory emotional well-being and positive well-being.

Key themes identified from the qualitative data fell into two major categories and included events considered as turning points in participants' diabetes management and transitional needs to successfully navigate a turning point. The following section will focus on the transitional needs of young adults and subthemes identified, supported with descriptive quotes.

Transitional Needs

As participants described their transition through turning points, they highlighted several factors or needs that enabled them to modify their diabetes self-management to cope and adapt. These transitional needs included receiving support from health care professionals; awareness of and easier access to existing diabetes education programs and services; access to credible, relevant, and timely information; and peer support.

Health Care Professional Support

Although 8 participants acknowledged the value of health care professionals in their diabetes management, they described an absence of rapport due to a lack of continuity of care. As a result, participants expressed difficulty in the ability to communicate their needs with health care professionals. Participants who are within the public health care system had no guarantee to see the same health care professional during clinical appointments. Without rapport, young adults reported being less likely to receive personalized health advice in response to their current needs and circumstances from health care professionals. One participant stated:

There's no ongoing relationship. It's like seeing a new GP fresh from the start every time you go in. So, we see a new specialist and you'd have to keep giving the background every time and it doesn't get to the point where they get to know you well enough to understand what could help you. So, I find that it is a bit of a waste of time. [Female, 29]

Ng et al



Table 2. Participant scores across quantitative measures.

Ng et al

Quantitative measures	Mean (SD ^a)	
Health literacy questionnaire domains (n=13)		
1. Feeling understood and supported by health care professionals	3.06 (0.58)	
2. Having sufficient information to manage my health	3.02 (0.55)	
3. Actively managing my health	3.31 (0.56)	
4. Social support for health	2.80 (0.61)	
5. Appraisal of health information	2.91 (0.36)	
6. Ability to actively engage with health care providers	3.38 (0.53)	
7. Navigating the health care system	3.37 (0.53)	
8. Ability to find good health information	3.63 (0.71)	
9. Understanding health information well enough to know what to do	4.02 (0.49)	
Diabetes distress scale (n=12)		
Emotional burden	2.83 (1.03)	
Physician burden	1.93 (0.71)	
Regimen burden	2.08 (0.70)	
Interpersonal burden	2.42 (1.04)	
Total score	2.32 (0.72)	
Emotional well-being (n=12)		
Well-being questionnaire 12 4-item subscale	59.33 (19.88)	
World Health Organization-5 Well-Being Index	6.33 (3.31)	

^aSD: standard deviation.

Out of the participants, 4 young adults reported feeling judged by health care professionals during clinical appointments when their lab results were outside target ranges. Participants perceived that health care professionals assumed young adults with poor glycemic control held negative attitudes toward their health. One participant stated:

I have had negative comments and feedback from [health care professionals] who haven't bothered to understand why I haven't controlled my diabetes. They've kind of just made judgements and made me feel like I'm failing with my diabetes. [Female, 30]

Awareness of Diabetes Education Programs and Services

Of the participants, 7 reported that they were not always aware of available diabetes education programs, or services offered to them, which could inform their diabetes management choices. Additionally, 3 participants described that most topics offered through diabetes-related information sessions or workshops were not relevant to their current needs or situation. Consequently, participants were less likely to attend diabetes services if they perceived them to be of little value. One participant stated:

I know there is a little bit of a dead spot at this sort of age group. You get a whole lot of support when you're an adolescent and a child and for things like pregnancy. But I think you definitely have to go looking if you're a young person with type 1 diabetes. [Female, 24]

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e29/

RenderX

Participants were more likely to hear of a diabetes education program or service through their local diabetes organization or social networks rather than during appointments. However, one participant still felt that diabetes information sessions or peer support were not readily promoted to those who would benefit from them. Another participant believed that it would be better received by young adults and more appropriate for health care professionals to connect them with upcoming diabetes information sessions and services. One participant stated:

I don't think [diabetes education programs and services] as widely advocated by the health care professionals. But I think there's a wide range if you know what you're looking for and you need to know someone who's kind of promoting these things. [Female, 35]

Unsurprisingly, 5 participants agreed that it was crucial to improve awareness around existing diabetes education programs and services to young adults with diabetes. Although participants understood the importance of such services in helping people to cope or adapt to life with diabetes after accessing them, they felt that it needed further emphasis to reach those who need it most. One participant stated:

The biggest suggestion I would have is letting people know that [diabetes education programs and services are] available. Through social networking, I guess, promoting its importance and doing that not only through social networks but through GPs, through

endocrinologists, through other people with diabetes out there. [Male, 35]

Although participants highlighted the desire for health care professionals to promote greater awareness of diabetes services, they valued their independence to seek out such services at a time when they feel ready. Turning points are a time where young adults report feeling motivated and ready to engage in health behavior change and therefore present as a prime opportunity to promote diabetes education programs and services. Of the participants, one shared her experience of completing the Dose Adjustment for Normal Eating (DAFNE) workshop for the second time as an example of the importance of timing to be engaged with information presented for effective education:

To do education like DAFNE you need to be in the right mindset, you need to be engaged and have a little bit of motivation to take the information on board. Or you can go and do the course and come away thinking I wasn't in the right space to do it, which was why I did it for the second time. [Female, 30]

Diabetes Education Program and Service Access

Participants reported that they were aware of some diabetes education programs and services they could access. However, a significant challenge encountered by 6 participants was the ability to find time to attend clinical appointments or diabetes services, such as peer support groups or educational sessions. Participants talked about the need to juggle multiple commitments against a busy lifestyle, which made it difficult for them to prioritize a continued investment into their health. Services offered by the public health care system often fell within business hours, alongside participants' other commitments such as work and study. Participants perceived taking leave from paid work or study time as a major disruption to their career development. One participant stated:

I work full time obviously, like most people, so it's hard to get away and get the time to seek out [diabetes education] as well. [Male, 35]

When participants did access clinical services, they expressed frustration at long wait times to see health care professionals. Especially within the public health care system, participants reported spending up to 3 hours in the waiting room before being attended to. Although diabetes services offered beyond clinical settings were reported to be readily available, they only benefited those who lived within metropolitan areas. Due to the long travel distance, young adults who lived in regional areas missed out on valuable diabetes-related information events, which could help them navigate turning points such as addressing their mental health. One participant stated:

I get some things in the mail occasionally for seminars...but I had moved 2 hours away and so it was more of an inconvenience to go. So, I never really went. [Female, 21]

Another participant stated:

I think mental health is important and the stress of diabetes can affect some people...I was never offered any mental health support or help that I needed. It was never there. [Male, 33]

As an alternative to face-to-face services, 8 participants discussed using the Internet to search for diabetes-related information when they were unable to access relevant information sessions or ask their health care professional.

One participant stated:

It's very helpful to be able to look up a website and get the information that you need. [Female, 34]

Another participant stated:

I probably get information online more than anything else. [Female, 24]

Access to Credible, Relevant, and Timely Information

Turning points are dynamic events in young adults' lives during which participants have reported a need for real-time and ongoing support outside clinical appointments. In total, 9 participants stated that they turned to alternative sources for diabetes-related information, which largely included online search engines and social media, when health care professionals were unavailable. For these young adults, the convenience of having information at their fingertips through their smartphones was well suited to meet their needs when transitioning through turning points. Additionally, participants who are on the cusp of a transition were able to search for relevant information discreetly in their own time. Participants also regarded Web-based sources of information and flexible communication methods as being cost- and time-effective compared with physically attending an appointment with their health care professional.

One participant stated:

I wish I had an educator that I could drop a quick email or a text or a phone call to ask, "can you help me with this." I definitely wouldn't have needed a face-to-face appointment but having that access to somebody in a professional capacity would be good. [Female, 30]

Another participant stated:

If I had to find something out that I couldn't get an answer from the public hospital system, I would Google it. I've had to Google to find out what my sugar levels would do at altitudes because I was going overseas. [Female, 29]

Despite the heavy reliance on Web-based sources for diabetes-related information, participants questioned the reliability and credibility of the information they would come across. Of the participants, 5 stated that they felt competent enough to filter inaccurate information through their own experience and common sense.

One participant stated:

The information on the net is really unreliable. I mean some of it is great but you don't know what's accurate

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e29/
```

and what's not. What's kind of a peer-reviewed article versus somebody stating this happened to me therefore it is the case for all people with diabetes. There's reliable and then there's blogs, which can be helpful in hearing what other people have experienced. [Female, 32]

On the contrary, some participants felt intimidated by the wealth of information on the Internet, which further compounds on the often-stressful nature of transitioning through a turning point. Subsequently, participants lacked the confidence to identify evidence-based facts and credible Web-based sources as highlighted by a young adult:

You do a search on Google and you don't even know where to begin. Like what's real and what's reputable...so I wouldn't know where to begin. [Female, 32]

Participants valued evidence-based updates around various aspects of diabetes management, such as nutrition and exercise, as they transition toward positive health behavior changes in response to a maturation in their perception of health. Specifically, 6 participants wanted practical tips around making healthy food choices, managing diabetes around alcohol, and information on how different exercises affect blood glucose levels.

One participant stated:

The right [nutrition] messages aren't that easy to interpret because people go to the shops and something claims to be healthy but it's not necessarily healthy. [Male, 35]

Additionally, as participants explored various diabetes management strategy options to adapt to changes in their lives, 4 young adults were keen to receive more information and user reviews of various diabetes technologies available in Australia. However, some participants found it challenging to navigate through the plethora of information available online. One participant stated:

There is so much [information online]. It's hard to sift through what's going to be useful and what's not and there's a lot of people making money off it as well. So, it would be nice to know what programs and what meters are useful, all of that sort of thing. [Female, 24]

Participants also expressed the need for tips and guidance around factors that indirectly affect diabetes management such as budget assistance and mental health support. Among the participants, 4 stated that health care professionals generally failed to recognize the importance of emotional well-being in diabetes management. Consequently, participants felt isolated as they attempted to navigate information or services to help them cope or validate the emotional aspect that accompanies living with chronic condition. One participant stated:

I think having psychological support isn't something I've found generally offered but it's something that everybody needs regardless of what age you've been diagnosed. [Female, 30]

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e29/

Overall, majority of participants wanted easy access to credible diabetes-related information, through an easy-to-navigate Web-based resource. Convenience and perceived value were important considerations to participants, especially during stressful periods as they transition through a turning point. Young adults needed to be reassured that their efforts in their search for information would not be wasted. One participant stated:

[I would like] something that I can access at 5 am in the morning when I'm feeding my baby and have got nothing else to read. It sounds really bad but things that can fit into my lifestyle because I don't have time. [Female, 34]

Peer Support

Overall, 7 participants regarded peer support as a highly valuable source of information and support in general as well as through turning points. Primarily, participants appreciated the ability to relate with others who understood or have experienced similar turning points, which reduces the sense of isolation. As a result, participants credited peer support as a positive impact on their emotional well-being through reciprocal support and encouragement toward their own diabetes management. Such a level of understanding and support was rarely received from health care professionals, unless the participant's health care professional, often a diabetes educator, also lived with diabetes.

One participant stated:

It's kind of nice knowing people who understand if you're having a tough time or you need a little bit of advice, knowing someone else who lives with diabetes is probably more likely to understand than a health care professional. [Female, 30]

Another participant stated:

I spoke to a few people [with diabetes] and said I drank too much one night and they said "yeah, well I've done that heaps of times." It felt good to go "oh, I'm not alone in this." [Male, 33]

Discussion

This study aimed to identify the health and well-being needs of young adults with T1DM during life transitions. Although it appeared that quantitative measures of health literacy, emotional well-being, and diabetes distress, on average, did not reflect major difficulties faced by participants in their diabetes management, individual scores showed otherwise. These findings were further supported by the qualitative data. Additionally, a significant gap in appropriate and relevant diabetes education and services for this population was highlighted through qualitative interviews. Transitional needs to manage turning points identified by participants included health care professional support, improved awareness and access to current diabetes services, resources with credible and relevant information delivered in a timely manner, and opportunities for peer support.

Principal Findings

Turning points are often described as stressful events in a young adult's life, which can result in glycemic changes that subsequently affect their well-being [1]. For a positive transition from a turning point to occur, the needs of young adults must be addressed through breaking down barriers for them to access the relevant information and support they require [20].

Young adults are required to balance competing life demands while they navigate turning points, which may displace self-care behaviors from being a priority [1,21]. Erratic schedules are commonly seen within the young adult population, which further compounds on positive health behavior required for diabetes self-management [22,23]. As majority of diabetes education programs and services are provided during typical business hours, participants considered attendance to be intrusive on their schedules, especially if the value of attendance is perceived to be low. Findings from this study suggest that the use of Web-based events held outside business hours and flexible communication methods with health care professionals may overcome these logistical barriers young adults face in attending diabetes education programs and services.

Apart from logistical barriers, many identified transitional needs that are closely aligned with the definition of health literacy and the HLQ [15]. For example, participants scored the lowest within the social support for health domain of the HLQ, which was reflected as they emphasized the importance of peer support to aid transitions through turning points. Psychosocial support motivates individuals toward positive health behavior changes and has been continuously recognized for its positive impact on emotional well-being [24,25]. Peers with diabetes understand and relate to the unique challenges of living with diabetes through their own experiences [1]. As they share past experiences, peers provide practical informational support, which helps other young adults with diabetes to build upon their problem-solving skills [24]. The importance of peer support was highlighted in this study as young adults described how connecting with other people with diabetes removed the isolation of living with T1DM through their shared experiences. Through the creation of a sense of normality for young adults with T1DM, they are further encouraged to continue with their efforts of diabetes self-management.

Effective communication between health care professionals and people with diabetes preface the concept of patient-centered care, which is closely intertwined with health literacy [26]. Patient-centered care posits that the person living with diabetes should lead the way in his or her self-management plan, under the guidance and support of health care professionals [26]. Participants often encountered a lack of continuity of care within the health care system and found it a challenge to build rapport with health care professionals. As a result, young adults perceive that without rapport, health care professionals are less likely to provide personalized diabetes management advice, which is relevant to their changing needs and circumstances. These findings are concerning as previous research identified that young adults who were made to feel disempowered or disillusioned by their health care professionals are then less likely to attend a follow-up appointment [11].

Life transitions during young adulthood comprise several sensitive topics such as experimenting with alcohol, managing diabetic ketoacidosis episodes, and starting a family, including contraceptive options [27]. Without readily available access to relevant diabetes education and services, a majority of participants turned to Web-based sources for diabetes-related information. The Internet allows young adults to maintain anonymity as they search for information required to make decisions in relation to their turning points [27]. Web-based sources of health-related information hold several advantages such as the absence of physical and geographical limitations to access, a sense of anonymity, and its cost-effectiveness. [1,28]. However, some participants reported lack of confidence to identify credible sources of information, which relates to the appraisal of health information domain of the HLQ, the second lowest scoring domain in this study.

Strengths and Limitations

Although inferential statistics could not be drawn from quantitative measures because of the small sample size, its data provided additional value to the qualitative data drawn from participants' interviews. As such, the main strength of the study was the use of a mixed-methods approach to determine the health and well-being needs of young adults with T1DM.

Conclusions

Young adults living with T1DM would benefit from learning to adapt their diabetes management to cope with a host of significant life- or health-related events. As young adults encounter a turning point that subsequently impacts their health, there can be an increase in motivation for positive health behavior change. However, adequate support from health care professionals and peers; access to appropriate, credible, and timely information resources; and targeted diabetes education and services tailored for young adults are required to enable a successful transition from a turning point. Findings from this study highlight a significant gap within present diabetes education programs and services and put forward the benefits in the use of mHealth for young adults with T1DM during life transitions.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by Deakin University through a Deakin University Postgraduate Research Scholarship. KB is supported through an NHMRC Principal Research Fellowship (ID 1042442). The authors would also like to acknowledge and thank participants for sharing their experiences and insight.



Authors' Contributions

As the PhD candidate, AN contributed to the study conception and design, data collection, data analysis, and drafting and critically revising the paper. As the primary supervisor, BR contributed to the study conception and design, data analysis, and critical revision of the paper. As the co-supervisor, TC contributed to the study conception and design, data analysis, and critical revision of the paper. As the co-supervisor, KB contributed to the critical revision of the paper.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Rasmussen B, Ward G, Jenkins A, King SJ, Dunning T. Young adults' management of type 1 diabetes during life transitions. J Clin Nurs 2011 Jul;20(13-14):1981-1992. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2702.2010.03657.x</u>] [Medline: <u>21545569</u>]
- 2. Garvey KC, Wolpert HA. Identifying the unique needs of transition care for young adults with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Spectr 2011 Feb 15;24(1):22-25. [doi: <u>10.2337/diaspect.24.1.22</u>]
- Ventura A, Browne J, Holmes-Truscott E, Hendrieckx C, Pouwer F. Diabetesmiles. Melbourne: Diabetes Victoria; 2016. Diabetes MILES-2 2016 Survey Report URL: <u>http://www.diabetesmiles.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/</u> C292 DV miles-2 web final.pdf [accessed 2017-11-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6v0LdjuCm]
- 4. Anderson BJ. Living with depression and type 1 or type 2 diabetes in late adolescence and young adulthood: lessons from research. Diabetes Spectr 2010 Feb 21;23(1):32-37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/diaspect.23.1.32]
- Batterham RW, Buchbinder R, Beauchamp A, Dodson S, Elsworth GR, Osborne RH. The OPtimising HEalth LIterAcy (Ophelia) process: study protocol for using health literacy profiling and community engagement to create and implement health reform. BMC Public Health 2014 Jul 07;14:694 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-694] [Medline: 25002024]
- 6. The Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. National Statement on Health Literacy 2014 URL: <u>https://safetyandquality.gov.au/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/Health-Literacy-National-Statement.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-11-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6v0LjtKKB]
- 7. World Health Organization. 1998. Health Promotion Glossary 1998 URL: <u>http://www.who.int/entity/healthpromotion/</u> about/HPR%20Glossary%201998.pdf?ua=1 [accessed 2017-11-16] [WebCite Cache ID 6v0LoYZ0Z]
- Fransen MP, von Wagner C, Essink-Bot ML. Diabetes self-management in patients with low health literacy: ordering findings from literature in a health literacy framework. Patient Educ Couns 2012 Jul;88(1):44-53. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2011.11.015] [Medline: 22196986]
- Fransen MP, Beune EJ, Baim-Lance AM, Bruessing RC, Essink-Bot ML. Diabetes self-management support for patients with low health literacy: perceptions of patients and providers. J Diabetes 2015 May;7(3):418-425. [doi: 10.1111/1753-0407.12191] [Medline: 25042519]
- 10. Diabetes Australia. 2012. Youth Transition Survey URL: <u>https://www.diabetesqld.org.au/media/97091/</u> youth transition survey report web v3.pdf [accessed 2017-11-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6v0LwCPaH]
- Kibbey KJ, Speight J, Wong JL, Smith LA, Teede HJ. Diabetes care provision: barriers, enablers and service needs of young adults with type 1 diabetes from a region of social disadvantage. Diabet Med 2013 Jul;30(7):878-884. [doi: 10.1111/dme.12227] [Medline: 23659590]
- 12. Higginbottom G, Lauridsen EI. The roots and development of constructivist grounded theory. Nurse Res 2014 May;21(5):8-13. [doi: <u>10.7748/nr.21.5.8.e1208</u>] [Medline: <u>24877905</u>]
- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzm042</u>] [Medline: <u>17872937</u>]
- 14. Guba EG, Lincoln YS. Effective Evaluation: Improving the Usefulness of Evaluation Results Through Responsive Naturalistic Approaches. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass; 1981.
- Osborne RH, Batterham RW, Elsworth GR, Hawkins M, Buchbinder R. The grounded psychometric development and initial validation of the Health Literacy Questionnaire (HLQ). BMC Public Health 2013 Jul 16;13:658 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-658] [Medline: 23855504]
- 16. Polonsky WH, Fisher L, Earles J, Dudl RJ, Lees J, Mullan J, et al. Assessing psychosocial distress in diabetes: development of the diabetes distress scale. Diabetes Care 2005 Mar;28(3):626-631. [Medline: 15735199] [doi: 10.2337/diacare.28.3.626]
- 17. Hajos TR, Pouwer F, Skovlund SE, Den Oudsten BL, Geelhoed-Duijvestijn PH, Tack CJ, et al. Psychometric and screening properties of the WHO-5 well-being index in adult outpatients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabet Med 2013 Feb;30(2):e63-e69. [doi: 10.1111/dme.12040] [Medline: 23072401]
- 18. Speight J, Bradley C. The W-BQ 28 measure of generic and diabetes-specific well-Being is shown to be reliable, valid and sensitive to change in DIABQoL+ and DAFNE studies. Diabet Med 2002;19(2):10.
- 19. Charmaz K. Constructing Grounded Theory: A Practical Guide Through Qualitative Analysis (Introducing Qualitative Methods series). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2006.

- 20. Meleis AI, Sawyer LM, Im E, Hilfinger Messias DK, Schumacher KL. Experiencing transitions: an emerging middle-range theory. ANS Adv Nurs Sci 2000;23(1):12-28. [doi: 10.1097/00012272-200009000-00006]
- 21. Hanna KM. A framework for the youth with type 1 diabetes during the emerging adulthood transition. Nurs Outlook 2012;60(6):401-410 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.outlook.2011.10.005] [Medline: 22226223]
- Hessler DM, Fisher L, Mullan JT, Glasgow RE, Masharani U. Patient age: a neglected factor when considering disease management in adults with type 2 diabetes. Patient Educ Couns 2011 Nov;85(2):154-159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2010.10.030] [Medline: 21112720]
- 23. Garvey KC, Markowitz JT, Laffel LM. Transition to adult care for youth with type 1 diabetes. Curr Diab Rep 2012 Oct;12(5):533-541 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11892-012-0311-6] [Medline: 22922877]
- 24. Dale JR, Williams SM, Bowyer V. What is the effect of peer support on diabetes outcomes in adults? A systematic review. Diabet Med 2012 Nov;29(11):1361-1377. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2012.03749.x] [Medline: 22804713]
- Peyrot M, Rubin RR, Lauritzen T, Snoek FJ, Matthews DR, Skovlund SE. Psychosocial problems and barriers to improved diabetes management: results of the Cross-National Diabetes Attitudes, Wishes and Needs (DAWN) Study. Diabet Med 2005 Oct;22(10):1379-1385. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2005.01644.x] [Medline: 16176200]
- 26. Funnell MM, Anderson RM. Empowerment and self-management of diabetes. Clin Diabetes 2004 Jul 01;22(3):123-127. [doi: 10.2337/diaclin.22.3.123]
- 27. Rasmussen B, Dunning P, O'Connell B. Young women with diabetes: using Internet communication to create stability during life transitions. J Clin Nurs 2007 Mar;16(3A):17-24. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2006.01657.x] [Medline: 17518865]
- 28. Nadasan V. The Quality of Online Health-Related Information an Emergent Consumer Health Issue. Acta Medica Marisiensis 2016;62(4):408-421. [doi: 10.1515/amma-2016-0048]

Abbreviations

DAFNE: Dose Adjustment for Normal Eating
DDS: Diabetes Distress Scale
HLQ: Health Literacy Questionnaire
T1DM: type 1 diabetes mellitus
W-BQ12: Well-being Questionnaire 12
WHO-5: World Health Organization-5 Well-Being Index

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 29.06.17; peer-reviewed by Ç Özçelik, E Da Silva; comments to author 10.08.17; revised version received 11.08.17; accepted 28.08.17; published 30.11.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Ng AH, Crowe TC, Ball K, Rasmussen B Transitional Needs of Australian Young Adults With Type 1 Diabetes: Mixed Methods Study JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e29 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e29/</u> doi:10.2196/diabetes.8315 PMID:30291076

©Ashley H Ng, Timothy C Crowe, Kylie Ball, Bodil Rasmussen. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 30.11.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



The Effect of Telehealth on Quality of Life and Psychological Outcomes Over a 12-Month Period in a Diabetes Cohort Within the Whole Systems Demonstrator Cluster Randomized Trial

Shashivadan P Hirani¹, BSc (Hons), MSc, CPsychol, PhD; Lorna Rixon¹, BSc (Hons), MSc, CPsychol, PhD; Martin Cartwright¹, BSc (Hons), MSc, CPsychol, PhD; Michelle Beynon¹, BSc (Hons), MSc; Stanton P Newman¹, B Soc Sci (Hons), D Phil, CPsychol, MRCP; WSD Evaluation Team

¹Centre for Health Services Research, School of Health Sciences, University of London, London, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Stanton P Newman, B Soc Sci (Hons), D Phil, CPsychol, MRCP Centre for Health Services Research School of Health Sciences University of London Northampton Square London, EC1V 0HB United Kingdom Phone: 44 0207 040 0881 Fax: 44 0207 040 0881 Email: <u>Stanton.Newman.1@city.ac.uk</u>

Abstract

Background: Much is written about the promise of telehealth and there is great enthusiasm about its potential. However, many studies of telehealth do not meet orthodox quality standards and there are few studies examining quality of life in diabetes as an outcome.

Objective: To assess the impact of home-based telehealth (remote monitoring of physiological, symptom and self-care behavior data for long-term conditions) on generic and disease-specific health-related quality of life, anxiety, and depressive symptoms over 12 months in patients with diabetes. Remote monitoring provides the potential to improve quality of life, through the reassurance it provides patients.

Methods: The study focused on participant-reported outcomes of patients with diabetes within the Whole Systems Demonstrator (WSD) Telehealth Questionnaire Study, nested within a pragmatic cluster-randomized trial of telehealth (the WSD Telehealth Trial), held across 3 regions of England. Telehealth was compared with usual-care, with general practice as the unit of randomization. Participant-reported outcome measures (Short-Form 12, EuroQual-5D, Diabetes Health Profile scales, Brief State-Trait Anxiety Inventory, and Centre for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale) were collected at baseline, short-term (4 months) and long-term (12months) follow-ups. Intention-to-treat analyses testing treatment effectiveness, were conducted using multilevel models controlling for practice clustering and a range of covariates. Analyses assumed participants received their allocated treatment and were conducted for participants who completed the baseline plus at least one follow-up assessment (n=317).

Results: Primary analyses showed differences between telehealth and usual care were small and only reached significance for 1 scale (diabetes health profile-disinhibited eating, P=.006). The magnitude of differences between trial arms did not reach the trial-defined minimal clinically important difference of 0.3 standard deviations for most outcomes. Effect sizes (Hedge's g) ranged from 0.015 to 0.143 for Generic quality of life (QoL) measures and 0.018 to 0.394 for disease specific measures.

Conclusions: Second generation home-based telehealth as implemented in the WSD evaluation was not effective in the subsample of people with diabetes. Overall, telehealth did not improve or have a deleterious effect quality of life or psychological outcomes for patients with diabetes over a 12-month period.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e18) doi:10.2196/diabetes.7128



KEYWORDS

telehealth; self-monitoring; health-related quality of life: diabetes-specific quality of life

Introduction

The increasing demands of diabetes care on health resources in many countries [1] has led to the development of innovative information-communication-technology-based interventions that facilitate patient self-care and the monitoring and communication of disease status to health care professionals [2]. The range of technologies includes disc- and computer-based systems [3], Web-based interventions [4,5], mobile apps [6], remote monitoring systems [7,8], and combinations of these. One system gaining traction in the last 10 years is telehealth, which involves the remote exchange of physiological or symptom data between a patient and health care professional [9,10]. Algorithms within systems logging the data sent can alert health care professionals when disease-specific clinical parameters are breached; allowing the potential for earlier intervention, which can reduce the frequency with which expensive hospital-based care is required, and thereby improving patient outcomes (eg, reducing avoidable hospitalizations, improving clinical parameters) and health-related quality of life (HRQoL), the latter of which is the focus of this paper.

Primary studies and systematic reviews that have examined the effect of telehealth on HRQoL in people with diabetes, typically conclude that telehealth leads to QoL improvements, potentially because of improved care processes and health status, and reductions in worry about timely interventions as physiological and physical status are being monitored by health care professionals. For example, one potential pathway by which telehealth impacts patient outcomes is the increased feelings of reassurance participants get by being more closely monitored by the health care team, the other potential mediating mechanism it that increasing knowledge of the condition and increasing confidence leads to improvements in self-care behaviors, such as checking feet regularly, and so on [11]. However, in 1 systematic review [12], it was not possible to quantitatively synthesize the evidence on patient outcomes due to the heterogeneity of the patient-reported outcomes (PROMS). The authors found 5 studies that measured HRQoL, and of these 4 reported no significant differences [13-16], which is consistent with a recent randomized controlled trial (RCT) that found no differences in PROMs in a UK-based telehealth service [7]. In contrast, Chumbler et al. [17] found statistically significant improvements in 3 of 8 short-form (SF-36) subscales (role functioning, bodily pain, and social functioning) after 1 year of home telehealth. A further source of heterogeneity in the studies is the mixture of generic versus disease specific measures of HROoL.

Few studies, however, have examined psychological distress. This is despite some contention about whether telehealth, despite monitoring benefits, can have potentially detrimental effects increasing patient burden and distress [18], through greater isolation and reduced face-to-face contact with health care professionals [19], and at times low acceptability of telehealth [20].

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e18/

XSL•FO

The evidence base for telehealth in people with diabetes is characterized by methodologically weak studies that generate equivocal findings and the studies have been critiqued for their variability in quality (small samples, poor methodology, few RCTs) and heterogeneity (in systems examined and outcomes measured) that has made the information produced difficult to interpret or synthesize [12]. The effectiveness of telehealth, in terms of QoL benefits, has yet to be substantiated in high-quality trials. Furthermore, few studies have used diabetes-specific QoL instruments, which are more sensitive to changes in this population than generic QoL measures, and few studies have extended the psychosocial outcomes to examine anxiety and depression.

The current study was part of the Whole Systems Demonstrator (WSD) programme, commissioned by the UK Department of Health. A previous paper has already reported on the effect of telehealth on HbA1c control in the larger diabetes trial cohort [21]. This paper reports on a subsample of the cohort providing data on the PROMs. It aimed to address the inconsistencies in data observed in previous research in telehealth and patient-reported QoL outcomes, and evaluated the effectiveness of telehealth in a sample of people with diabetes, examining its effect on HRQoL and psychological distress in the short and long term. It was hypothesized that should telehealth demonstrate significant improvements in QoL measures, these would be detected in disease-specific measures to a greater degree than generic QoL measures; and that telehealth would significantly improve psychological distress due to the reassurance the monitoring systems would provide to patients.

Methods

Design and Randomization

The WSD evaluation was one of the largest trials evaluating telehealth and telecare in the United Kingdom. The detailed protocol and design for the WSD evaluation has been reported elsewhere [22]. Within the evaluation, the WSD Telehealth Trial (n=3230) was a multicenter, pragmatic, cluster-RCT of telehealth across 3 regions in England (Cornwall, Kent, and the London Borough of Newham) with a nested questionnaire study, the WSD Telehealth Questionnaire Study (1573/3230, 48.7%).

Participants in the trial were allocated to a trial arm (ie, telehealth or usual care) using cluster randomization, based on participants' registration with a general practice. Allocation was balanced for region (WSD site), practice size, deprivation index, non-white proportion and prevalence of diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and congestive heart failure, using an algorithm by the trial statistician. For individual participants, trial arm allocation was maintained from the main trial, through to the questionnaire study and diabetes participant analyses. The WSD Telehealth Questionnaire Study involved a total of 204 general practices recruited across the 3 WSD Sites, of which 111 contributed participants to the diabetes questionnaire analysis; 46.8% (52/111) in the control and 53.2% (59/111) in the intervention trial arm.

Participants diagnosed with diabetes were recruited between May 2008 and December 2009 from 4 primary care trusts across the 3 WSD regions. Final 12-month follow-ups were conducted in December 2010. Participants in the trial were invited to take part in a nested questionnaire study measuring PROM. Neither participants nor assessors could be blinded to trial arm allocation, due to the nature of the intervention. Participants not allocated to receive telehealth were informed that they would be offered the technology at the end of the trial period, following a reassessment of need.

The study protocol was approved by the Liverpool Research Ethics Committee (Reference number: 08/H1005/4). Full consent procedures are available in the protocol papers by Bower et al. [22] and Cartwright et al. [8]. In brief, practices at each of the sites signed memorandums of agreement to participate in the trial. Telehealth trial participants provided signed, informed consent to share data with the trial team; with those going onto the questionnaire study, providing further signed consent.

Participants

Adult patients at participating general practices were deemed eligible for the study if they were diagnosed with diabetes according to: (1) the Quality Outcomes Framework register in primary care, (2) a confirmed diagnosis in medical records as indicated by general practice Read Codes or the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems-10 codes, or (3) confirmation of diabetes by a clinician involved in their care. Participants were not excluded because of additional co-morbidities. However, they were required to have sufficient cognitive capacity and English language skills to complete a self-reported questionnaire and use telehealth kit.

Participants were also required to have a landline telephone for broadband Internet connection, and in the London Borough of Newham an additional requirement was a television set. Local WSD project teams paid for financial costs associated with the telehealth (including phone calls to the monitoring centers, broadband service, and data transmission to the monitoring centers).

Telehealth Treatment: Intervention Arm

WSD sites delivered variations of a 'second generation' telehealth [23] that had a focus on monitoring vital signs, symptoms, and self-management behaviors, and providing health education in common. A full description of the intervention is published elsewhere [8].

In general, participants with diabetes in the trial arm received a glucometer and blood pressure monitor, plus additional peripherals depending on clinical need (eg, weighing scales, pulse oximeter, peak-flow meter, thermometer). The peripheral devices were attached to a home monitoring system comprising a base unit with a liquid-crystal display screen to allow questions about health and educational messages to be transmitted to participants or set-top box that connected to a television allowing symptom questions, educational videos, and a graphic history of clinical readings to be accessed via a dedicated channel. Participants were asked to take measurements via the peripherals on a schedule determined via individual circumstances (eg, daily readings, twice weekly readings).

Data transmitted by participants to a monitoring center were processed via an algorithm for unusual patterns, out of range values, and/or missing data. Contravening a rule triggered an alert to an operator at a monitoring center who would follow a decision tree to determine an appropriate response. The range of responses included: doing nothing—wait and see approach; requesting a repeat reading through the telehealth kit, contacting the participant or their named informal carer, arranging a visit to the participant's home by their community matron, or referring to another health care service, as appropriate. The intervention arm participants received the telehealth in addition to usual health and social care. At the end of the 12-month trial participants were given the option of keeping telehealth or having it removed from their home.

Usual-Care Treatment: Control Arm

Participants randomized to the control arm received usual health and social care in line with local protocols for the 12-month duration of the trial (eg, combination of community matrons, district nurses, specialist nurses, general practice, and hospital services based on clinical need). At the end of the trial control participants were offered the installation of telehealth services in their homes, if they were still eligible following a needs assessment.

Trial Assessment Procedures

Outcome measures were self-completed by participants. At baseline, a trained researcher was on hand to explain or clarify the meaning of particular questions or assist with the completion of the questionnaire. Two further assessments were conducted at short-term follow-up conducted at approximately 4 months (median duration = 128 days; interquartile range [IQR] = 47 days) and a long-term assessment, conducted at approximately 12-months (median duration = 366 days; IQR = 54 days).

The short-term follow-up questionnaire was primarily administered as a postal survey with 1 reminder letter for nonresponders; some participants also received telephone reminders. Long-term follow-up surveys were posted to participants, with nonresponders contacted to arrange home interviews with a trained researcher in line with the baseline protocol. Participants who withdrew from the trial, including intervention participants who asked for the telehealth equipment to be removed before the end of the trial period, were not sent further questionnaires.

Outcome Measures

Generic and disease-specific HRQoL was assessed by: (1) the SF-12 [24] subscales for physical component summary (PCS), and mental component summary (MCS), (2) EuroQual (EQ-5D) York-Tariff [25], 1990, which produces a summary index over 5 domains (mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression), (3) the diabetes health profile (DHP) [26] with subscales measuring psychological distress, barriers to activity and disinhibited eating, and (4) study-specific diabetes HRQoL measures of social marginalization and social conspicuousness. Measures were also taken of anxiety with the

brief state trait anxiety inventory (STAI) [27] and depressive symptoms by the 10-item Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression scale (CESD-10) [28]. Higher scores on the QoL instruments pertained to better QoL and higher scores on the anxiety and depression instruments indicated greater psychological distress.

Demographic information recorded included age, sex, ethnicity, number of co-morbid conditions, and level of education. Participants' levels of deprivation were allocated using an Index of Multiple Deprivation score [29] as assessed through postcodes.

Sample Size Calculation

For the disease-specific aspects of the questionnaire study, a power calculation was conducted on the basis of detecting a small effect size, equivalent to a Cohen *d* of 0.3 [30], allowing for an intracluster correlation coefficient of 0.05, power of 80% and P<.05. This indicated that between 420 and 520 participants would be required to allow sufficient power to detect this small difference taking account of the cluster design. These numbers were inflated by 10% to allow for the maximum possible increase in sample size due to variable cluster size. The required minimum sample size increased to 550.

Statistical Methods

Missing data rates (at the scale/item level used in analyses) among those returning questionnaires at short and long term were low (\leq 3%) and were imputed (m=10) using the SPSS MCMC function within each administration. Thereafter, standard multiple imputation procedures were employed [31]. Details of multiple-imputation processes are available from the authors.

Sample Characteristics

Frequencies and mean scores are reported for each trial arm at each follow-up. Analyses were conducted on a modified intention-to-treat basis (ie, available case analyses—where data was available for baseline plus at least 1 follow-up point).

Detecting Telehealth Effects

Repeated measures in each outcome over the 1-year follow-up period were analyzed with linear mixed-effects modeling procedures to detect: trial-arm effects, time effects, and their interaction. This method took account of the hierarchy within the data observations (ie, assessment points, were nested within participants, nested within general practices). Data are presented as estimated marginal means (EMMs) with standard errors (SE).

Covariates to adjust for case-mix differences between trial arms were: age, sex, deprivation, ethnicity, co-morbidities, highest education level, WSD site, number of devices, and baseline outcome score. For all parameter tests the alpha level was set to .05; Sidak's adjustment was used to compensate for post hoc multiple comparisons; 95% confidence intervals (CI) were used to account for the uncertainty in the estimates. Effect sizes for the trial arm effects of each outcome were reported as Hedge's g. Analyses were conducted in SPSS v19.

Results

Sample Recruitment and Attrition

Of the 3230 participants in the WSD Telehealth Trial, 23.6% (763/3230) were indexed as participants with diabetes. Of the 1573 participants in the nested telehealth questionnaire study, 28.9% (455/1573) were people with diabetes; of these 54.1% (246/455) were in the intervention arm and 45.9% (209/455) were in the usual care arm. Figure 1 shows participants per trial arm within the questionnaire study.

Sample Characteristics

Baseline sample characteristics by trial arm of the 455 questionnaire participants are reported in Table 1. The mean age of the sample was approximately 65 years with most participants being of white, British/Irish ethnicity. Most participants came from the London Borough of Newham WSD Site, and were mainly male. The sample had on average 2 co-morbid conditions and the majority (247/455, 54.3%) had received little formal education. On average, the intervention group received just short of 3 telehealth devices. In the telehealth arm 237 glucometers were distributed, with 232 blood pressure monitors, 185 weight scales, and 56 pulse oximeters.

Unadjusted means by trial arm for baseline PROM data are presented in Table 1. CIs calculated around each mean suggested differences between the telehealth and usual care groups were not statistically significant in any measure at baseline.

Physical and mental health component scores for the SF12 and EQ5D health status measures were lower/equal than population averages, but were considered appropriate for a population in this age range with long-term conditions [24,25]. Both anxiety and depression levels were slightly high with the depression level means close to the cut-off point for screening clinical levels of depression. The diabetes health profile (DHP) scales and additional social-based HRQoL scales (social conspicuousness and social marginalization) did not indicate problems with diabetes specific QoL, and showed a relatively well-functioning long-term condition sample.



Figure 1. All sites CONSORT diagram for the WSD Telehealth Diabetes Trial.



FIGURE 1: All Sites CONSORT Diagram WSD Telehealth Diabetes Trial



 Table 1. Site, sex, and ethnicity frequencies per trial arm of the questionnaire participants with diabetes.

Hirani et al

	Intervention (n=246)	Control (n=209)	Total (N=455)
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Site ^a			
Cornwall	64 (26.0)	55 (26.3)	119 (26.2)
Kent	44 (17.9)	46 (22.0)	90 (19.8)
London Borough of Newham	138 (56.1)	108 (51.7)	246 (54.1)
Sex ^a			
Female	115 (46.7)	84 (40.2)	199 (43.7)
Male	131 (53.3)	125 (59.8)	256 (56.3)
Ethnicity			
Non-white	79 (32.1)	72 (34.4)	151 (33.2)
White British / Irish	167 (67.9)	137 (65.6)	304 (66.8)

^aNot multiply imputed.

 Table 2. Baseline sample characteristics per trial arm of questionnaire participants with diabetes.

	Intervention (n=246)	Control (n=209)	Total (N=455)
	Mean (standard error)	Mean (standard error)	Mean (standard error)
Age, years ^a	64.72 (.874)	65.27 (.875)	64.97 (.620)
Deprivation score	35.12 (.957)	33.70 (.896)	34.47 (.661)
Number of Comorbidities ^a	2.11 (.118)	2.17 (.128)	2.14 (.087)
Amount of telehealth - number of devices ^a	2.89 (.047)	0.16 (.051)	1.64 (.073)
Level of education	0.83 (.078)	0.97 (.088)	0.89 (.059)
SF-12 ^b Physical Component Scale	30.31 (0.61)	30.75 (0.66)	30.51 (0.45)
SF-12 Mental Component Scale	35.27 (0.57)	35.38 (0.61)	35.32 (0.42)
EQ5D ^c scale	0.50 (0.02)	0.52 (0.03)	0.51 (0.02)
State Anxiety scale (Brief STAI ^d)	11.37 (0.29)	10.92 (0.31)	11.16 (0.21)
Depression scale (CESD10 ^e)	11.10 (0.44)	10.32 (0.45)	10.74 (0.32)
Disinhibited Eating DHP ^f -subscale	42.44 (1.28)	41.39 (1.24)	41.96 (0.90)
Psychological Distress DHP-subscale	23.84 (1.54)	24.03 (1.66)	23.93 (1.12)
Barriers to Activity DHP-subscale	32.58 (1.44)	32.81 (1.65)	32.69 (1.08)
Social Impact DHP-subscale	12.20 (1.03)	11.79 (1.04)	12.01 (0.73)
Social Marginalization DHP-subscale	13.61 (1.09)	13.64 (1.13)	13.62 (0.79)
Social Conspicuousness DHP-subscale	10.30 (1.21)	9.22 (1.17)	9.81 (0.84)

^aNot multiply imputed. ^bShort-Form 12 item survey.

^cEuroQual EQ-5D.

^dState Trait Anxiety Inventory.

^eCenter for Epidemiologic Studies Depression scale.

^fDiabetes Health Profile.



Hirani et al

Table 3. Parameter estimates for trial arm and time in the linear mixed-effects modeling analysis for available cases (n=317).

	Trial Arm			Time			Time × Tria	al Arm	
	Estimate	Standard error	Significance	Estimate	Standard error	Significance	Estimate	Standard error	Significance
SF 12 - PCS ^a	0.338	1.801	0.851	0.335	0.703	0.634	-0.298	0.976	0.760
SF 12 - MCS ^b	1.806	1.776	0.309	-0.024	0.639	0.970	0.024	0.881	0.978
EQ5D ^c	0.087	0.068	0.201	0.021	0.026	0.417	-0.050	0.036	0.167
Anxiety	-0.232	1.053	0.825	0.604	0.415	0.146	-0.250	0.568	0.660
Depression	0.488	1.364	0.720	0.100	0.528	0.849	-0.189	0.734	0.797
Psychological Distress	-1.161	4.63	0.802	0.042	1.826	0.982	3.491	2.64	0.187
Barriers to Activity	3.561	4.524	0.431	1.779	1.694	0.294	-1.293	2.441	0.596
Disinhibited Eating	10.674 ^d	3.847 ^d	0.006 ^d	1.754	1.649	0.287	-0.649	2.386	0.786
Social Marginalization	-3.476	3.677	0.345	-0.703	1.493	0.638	2.288	2.087	0.273
Social Conspicuousness	-2.275	3.374	0.500	0.764	1.427	0.592	1.610	1.973	0.415

^aShort Form 12-item Physical Component Summary.

^bShort Form 12-item Mental Component Summary.

^cEuroQual EQ-5D.

^dSignificant effects (P<.05).

Detecting Telehealth Effects

Table 3 presents key parameter estimates for the effect of trial arm, time, and their interaction from linear mixed-effects modeling analyses (adjusting for case-mix) conducted for each outcome (parameters for covariates are not presented). Only 1 effect from the 10 PROMs was significant, on the DHP disinhibited eating subscale—where a significant trial arm effect was detected. Adjusted means (EMMs) for each outcome measure by trial arm and time point are presented in Figure 2, (for unadjusted means see Multimedia Appendix 1).

Parameter estimates indicate that being a member of the telehealth intervention trial arm provides an approximately 10-point advantage on the DHP disinhibited eating scale (after the intracluster correlation, all covariates and data hierarchy are

taken into account), as indicated by EMM of the DHP disinhibited eating scale of the control (mean=35.512, SE=2.074) and intervention arms (mean=45.861, SE=2.086; $F_{1,757.625}$ =7.697, P=.006). Effect-size estimates reveal this to be a small to medium effect, however the effect size had large 95% CIs, which crossed the 0 border (Figure 3).

The only measure to have ES CI that did not cross the 0 mark was the EQ-5D. However, the estimated effect size was very small (Cohen criteria) and the upper CI did not exceed 0.2, suggesting that although this is a robust ES, its magnitude is unlikely to have a substantial clinical impact.

Sensitivity analyses (ie, analyses per protocol, with complete cases, and/or excluding covariates) indicated similar trends in effects.



Hirani et al

Figure 2. Covariate adjusted mean scores (with 95% confidence interval) for each patient-reported outcomes by trial arm. ST: short-term, LT: long-term.



LT



ST

XSL•FO RenderX 0.0

ST

LT

Figure 3. Effect size estimates for the (a) generic quality of life (QoL) and psychosocial well-being outcomes, and (b) the disease-specific QoL outcome measures.

(a)

						(4)						
Generic Quality of Life Outcome	-2.0	-1.5	-1.0	-0.5	0.0	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	Hedge's g	Lower Confidence Interval	Upper Confidence Intervals
SF12 – Physical Component score		F								0.015	-1.376	1.406
SF12 – Mental Component score			<u>بــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ</u>							0.143	-1.250	1.536
EQ5D					+=+					0.130	0.077	0.182
Anxiety							4			-0.049	-0.853	0.756
Depression										0.041	-1.003	1.086

(b)

Diabetes Health Profile Sub-scales	-4.0	-3	8.0 ·	-2.0	-1.0	0.0	1.0	2.0	3.0	4.0	Hedge's g	Lower Confidence Interval	Upper Confidence Intervals
Psychological Distress		ı									0.018	-3.481	3.518
Barriers to Activity		ı								-	0.091	-3.436	3.617
Disinhibited Eating			F								0.394	-2.494	3.281
Social Marginalisation			H								-0.091	-2.902	2.720
Social Conspicuousness									4		-0.062	-2.649	2.524

Discussion

Principal Findings

This analysis examined the effect of telehealth on participant reported outcomes in a relatively large sample of patients with diabetes, who partook in the WSD telehealth trial. Overall scores for the sample indicate that physical and mental health component scores for the SF12 and EQ5D health status measures were similar to a population with diabetes. Both anxiety and depression levels were slightly high, with the depression level means close to the cut-off point for screening clinical levels of depression. The DHP scales and additional social-based HRQoL scales (social conspicuousness and social marginalization) did not indicate problems with diabetes-specific QoL, and indicated a relatively well-functioning long-term condition diabetes sample. The telehealth group means generally indicated marginally better generic HRQoL outcomes for the telehealth group; and the usual care better marginally better outcomes on the disease-specific and psychological distress scales. However, overall these differences did not reach statistical significance, with the results suggesting that telehealth, relative to usual care, does not significantly impact upon patients HRQoL (generic and disease-specific) or their psychological distress over a period of 12 months. Nor does the status of these participants' PROMs greatly alter over the 12-month period, regardless of their treatment group.

The only significant effect across the analyses of the PROMs was found on the DHP disinhibited eating subscale—where a significant trial arm effect was detected. Parameter estimates indicated that being a member of the telehealth intervention trial arm provided an approximately 10-point increase on the DHP disinhibited eating scores. This may have indicated that with telehealth patients are more likely to undertake disinhibited

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e18/
```

eating (eg, lack eating control, emotional eating), perhaps as a response to knowing that should any effects of lacking eating control become extreme, they are being monitored and health care professionals will be able to suitably intervene. The provision of telehealth has the potential to increase individual's empowerment and self-care behaviors to manage their conditions through remote monitoring, rather than leading to a reliance of health care professional control. The mechanisms of such unexpected negative effects need further investigation in relation to theoretical constructs of behavioral change. Furthermore, effect-size estimates revealed this effect on disinhibited eating to be a small to medium effect, with large CIs that crossed the 0 border, indicating poor reliability in this estimate.

The only outcome with an effect size CI that appeared robust was with the EQ5D measure. However, the magnitude of this effect indicated that it would unlikely be clinically significant. The lack of effects on these PROM could also be because patients with diabetes are used to monitoring their conditions, in terms of checking blood glucose, monitoring their diets, and activity levels [32,33], and the potential benefits of the additional remote connections to health care professionals do not add value to their self-monitoring behaviors.

Despite lack of effects on PROMs, the WSD diabetes cohort showed modest gains in glycemic control [21], which was similar to another UK-based RCT [7]. There was also evidence that the telehealth trial was effective at reducing hospital admissions and mortality [34]. There were no differences on diabetes specific QoL, self-care behaviors, self-efficacy, which is consistent with recent pragmatic multicenter RCT in the UK [7], and other long-term conditions in the WSD trial [8,35]. However, these results demonstrated no substantial decreases in these outcomes either. To gain improvement in PROMS, the telehealth system may need to be broader than self-monitoring of blood glucose and designed to target the behavioral antecedents to these PROMs in individuals with impaired mood and HRQoL. Telehealth services may need to be more tailored to the individual, so that there is a match between the person and the technology to increase its impact.

This study also examined the use of novel social functioning with diabetes scales of social marginalization and social conspicuousness. Overall, the results showed that there are only small impacts in these 2 areas of social life and that they are not impacted upon by telehealth as delivered in this study. However, it may be the case that non-home-based remote monitoring, other technology-enabled care systems or mobile monitoring [3-6] would have a greater impact in these areas.

Strengths and Limitations

This clustered RCT addresses many of the methodological limitations identified in previous studies and adds evidence to an important gap in the literature. However, caution is required as although this was a relatively large sample of patients with diabetes compared with past studies, in the available cases analyses, the sample size did fall short of the recommended number required to detect a small effect. Despite recruiting 455 patients at baseline, the required number was not met due to attribution. This highlighted the difficulties in recruiting and maintaining participants in a trial of this size and complexity;

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e18/
```

nevertheless, a larger sample may help narrow the CIs of effect sizes and identify further statistically significant effects.

Also, the WSD trial was a pragmatic trial, but with associated limitations. While it has good ecologic validity, 1 potential criticism is the number of confounding factors (eg, the nature of the telehealth intervention delivered at each of the regional WSD sites/participating). Like other studies in this area, there is a high risk of selection bias given that the numbers of eligible patients the study sample were drawn from is unknown. Nevertheless, the WSD trial recruited a large number of patients with diabetes, is 1 of very few UK-based studies conducted in the National Health Service, and benefits from high generalizability across different centers, given the inclusion of a many general practices (n=204) delivering telehealth or standard care to patients with diabetes. However, in his study we did not examine differences between patients using insulin as well as oral medication and those who were only using oral medication. It is likely that insulin use will have a greater effect on HRQoL than medications alone, and thus insulin users may have a greater potential for the support via telehealth. This potential impact requires further investigation, especially in relation to the timeframes within which telehealth may have positive impacts upon HRQoL and psychological distress in each group of patients with diabetes.

Importantly, as an RCT, this study did not aim to specifically examine the mechanisms by which telehealth may impact PROMs. The differences in the types of telehealth and how they may differentially affect outcomes needs better investigation-as they likely use different mechanisms for action on HRQoL and psychological distress, making it problematic to compare the effectiveness of trials. Telehealth solutions also need to be described in sufficient detail, to determine how their use in the complex health care environment of diabetes management, may lead to improved HRQoL outcomes. Monitoring and interpreting readings in diabetes self-management is only 1 domain of a complex set of behaviors patients are advised to follow. Thus, the complexity of interventions, including the integrated role of telehealth across services, need to be adequately described with the mediating and moderating variables also examined. Furthermore, additional types of technology that patients with diabetes may use in addition to the telehealth services provided by the general practitioner/local authority also need to be considered, as they may mask effects specific to these services.

Implications and Future Research

The findings have implications for mainstreaming telehealth. Providing telehealth alone, in the absence of monitoring and enhancing the mediating mechanisms (eg, self-care behaviors, self-efficacy [Cartwright et al. Unpublished data], acceptability [20], and reducing dropout [36]) will not necessarily lead to improvements in HRQoL. In the future, further improvements to these complex interventions maybe required for telehealth to be used as a tool to improve patients' self-care and HRQoL. For example, evidence-based self-management interventions could be delivered via telehealth to facilitate the management of long-term conditions, such as diabetes and the capability of mobile monitoring may need to be integrated into home-based telehealth packages.

XSL•FO RenderX

Conclusions

This study found no substantial impacts of telehealth on either generic or disease-specific HRQoL measures in a population with diabetes. However, this study also demonstrated that there were no substantial decreases in HRQoL with the introduction of telehealth. Coupled with moderate improvements in glycemic control, there is potential promise for telehealth interventions, but more effective telehealth interventions aimed specifically at improving outcomes measured by PROMs are needed. Self-monitoring using telehealth is insufficient to improve PROMS by itself, but we recommend using evidenced based self-management techniques targeting self-care and QoL delivered via telehealth, as a tool to facilitate the delivery of the intervention.

Acknowledgments

A special thanks to Alan Glanz and Professor Chris Ham (Kings Fund) for the support throughout the study.

We are extremely grateful to all the individual participants for their time and interest in the study, all the managers and professionals in Cornwall, Kent, and the London Borough of Newham in the Health and Social Services and to the participating case study organizations for their help. Participants are not named to preserve anonymity. We are also grateful to members of the remote care community for their continuing support, and the reviewer of the manuscript for their insightful comments.

This is an independent report commissioned and funded by the Policy Research Programme in the Department of Health. The views expressed are not necessarily those of the Department.

Authors' Contributions

SN was the chief investigator of the Whole Systems Demonstrator Trial. SH, MC, MB, and LR were responsible for the day-to-day running of the trial. SH ran the analysis and all authors contributed to the preparation of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Unadjusted mean scores (with 95% confidence interval) for each patient-reported outcome by trial arm. BL: base line; ST: short term; LT: long term.

[JPG File, 653KB - diabetes v2i2e18 app1.jpg]

References

- 1. Zhang P, Zhang X, Brown J, Vistisen D, Sicree R, Shaw J, et al. Global healthcare expenditure on diabetes for 2010 and 2030. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2010;87:293-301. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.diabres.2010.01.026</u>] [Medline: <u>20171754</u>]
- 2. Dinesen B, Nonnecke B, Lindeman D, Toft E, Kidholm K, Jethwani K, et al. Personalized Telehealth in the Future: A Global Research Agenda. J Med Internet Res 2016;18:e53 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5257] [Medline: 26932229]
- 3. Connelly J, Kirk A, Masthoff J, MacRury S. The use of technology to promote physical activity in Type 2 diabetes management: a systematic review. Diabet Med 2013;30:1420-1432. [doi: <u>10.1111/dme.12289</u>] [Medline: <u>23870009</u>]
- van Vugt M, de Wit M, Cleijne WH, Snoek FJ. Use of behavioral change techniques in web-based self-management programs for type 2 diabetes patients: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2013;15:e279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2800] [Medline: 24334230]
- 5. Pereira K, Phillips B, Johnson C, Vorderstrasse A. Internet delivered diabetes self-management education: a review. Diabetes Technol Ther 2015;17:55-63. [doi: 10.1089/dia.2014.0155] [Medline: 25238257]
- 6. Bonoto BC, de Araújo VE, Godói IP, de Lemos LLP, Godman B, Bennie M, et al. Efficacy of mobile apps to support the care of patients with diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017;5:e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6309] [Medline: 28249834]
- Wild SH, Hanley J, Lewis SC, McKnight JA, McCloughan LB, Padfield PL, et al. Supported telemonitoring and glycemic control in people with type 2 diabetes: the Telescot Diabetes Pragmatic Multicenter Randomized Controlled Trial. PLoS Med 2016;13:e1002098 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002098] [Medline: 27458809]
- 8. Cartwright M, Hirani SP, Rixon L, Beynon M, Doll H, Bower P, Whole Systems Demonstrator Evaluation Team. Effect of telehealth on quality of life and psychological outcomes over 12 months (Whole Systems Demonstrator telehealth questionnaire study): nested study of patient reported outcomes in a pragmatic, cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2013;346:f653 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23444424]
- 9. McLean S, Protti D, Sheikh A. Telehealthcare for long term conditions. BMJ 2011;342:d120. [Medline: 21292710]

- 10. Sood S, Mbarika V, Jugoo S, Dookhy R, Doarn CR, Prakash N, et al. What is telemedicine? A collection of 104 peer-reviewed perspectives and theoretical underpinnings. Telemed J E Health 2007;13:573-590. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2006.0073</u>] [Medline: <u>17999619</u>]
- Ciere Y, Cartwright M, Newman SP. A systematic review of the mediating role of knowledge, self-efficacy and self-care behaviour in telehealth patients with heart failure. J Telemed Telecare 2012;18:384-391. [doi: <u>10.1258/jtt.2012.111009</u>] [Medline: <u>23019605</u>]
- Polisena J, Tran K, Cimon K, Hutton B, McGill S, Palmer K. Home telehealth for diabetes management: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Obes Metab 2009;11:913-930. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1463-1326.2009.01057.x</u>] [Medline: <u>19531058</u>]
- 13. Maljanian R, Grey N, Staff I, Conroy L. Intensive telephone follow-up to a hospital-based disease management model for patients with diabetes mellitus. Disease Management 2005;81:15-25. [Medline: 15722700]
- 14. Piette JD, Weinberger M, McPhee SJ. The effect of automated calls with telephone nurse follow-up on patient-centered outcomes of diabetes care: a randomized, controlled trial. Med Care 2000;38:218-230. [Medline: 10659695]
- 15. Whitlock WL, Brown A, Moore K, Pavliscsak H, Dingbaum A, Lacefield D, et al. Telemedicine improved diabetic management. Mil Med 2000;165:579-584. [Medline: <u>10957848</u>]
- 16. Jansa M, Vidal M, Viaplana J, Levy I, Conget I, Gomis R. Telecare in a structured therapeutic education programme addressed to patients with type 1 diabetes and poor metabolic control. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2006;741:26-32. [Medline: 16621113]
- Chumbler N, Neugaard B, Kobb R, Ryan P, Qin H, Joo Y. Evaluation of a care coordination/home-telehealth program for veterans with diabetes - Health services utilization and health-related quality of life. Eval Health Prof 2005;284:464-478. [Medline: <u>16272426</u>]
- Rogers A, Kirk S, Gately C, May CR, Finch T. Established users and the making of telecare work in long term condition management: implications for health policy. Soc Sci Med 2011;72:1077-1084. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.01.031</u>] [Medline: <u>21397373</u>]
- Sanders C, Rogers A, Bowen R, Bower P, Hirani S, Cartwright M, et al. Exploring barriers to participation and adoption of telehealth and telecare within the Whole System Demonstrator trial: a qualitative study. BMC Health Serv Res 2012;12:220 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-12-220] [Medline: 22834978]
- 20. Hirani SP, Rixon L, Beynon M, Cartwright M, Cleanthous S, Selva A, et al. Quantifying beliefs regarding telehealth: development of the Whole Systems Demonstrator Service User Technology Acceptability Questionnaire. J Telemed Telecare 2017;23:460-469. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X16649531] [Medline: 27224997]
- Steventon A, Bardsley M, Doll H, Tuckey E, Newman SP. Effect of telehealth on glycaemic control: analysis of patients with type 2 diabetes in the Whole Systems Demonstrator cluster randomised trial. BMC Health Serv Res 2014;14:334 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-14-334] [Medline: 25100190]
- 22. Bower P, Cartwright M, Hirani SP, Barlow J, Hendy J, Knapp M, et al. A comprehensive evaluation of the impact of telemonitoring in patients with long-term conditions and social care needs: protocol for the whole systems demonstrator cluster randomised trial. BMC Health Serv Res 2011;11:184 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-11-184] [Medline: 21819569]
- 23. Anker SD, Koehler F, Abraham WT. Telemedicine and remote management of patients with heart failure. Lancet 2011;378:731-739. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61229-4] [Medline: 21856487]
- 24. Ware JJ, Kosinski M, Turner-Bowker D, Gandek B. User's Manual for the SF-12v2 Health Survey with a Supplement Documenting SF-12 Health Survey. Lincoln, RI: QualityMetric Incorporated; 2002.
- 25. EuroQol G. EQ-5D: A Standardised Instrument for Use as a Measure of Health Outcome. the Netherlands: EuroQual; 1996.
- 26. Meadows KA, Abrams C, Sandbaek A. Adaptation of the Diabetes Health Profile (DHP-1) for use with patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: psychometric evaluation and cross-cultural comparison. Diabet Med 2000;17:572-580. [Medline: 11073178]
- 27. Marteau T, Bekker H. The development of a 6-item short-form of the state scale of the Spielberger State Trait Anxiety Inventory STAI. B J Clin Psychol 1992:31-36.
- Andresen EM, Malmgren JA, Carter WB, Patrick DL. Screening for depression in well older adults: evaluation of a short form of the CES-D (Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale). Am J Prev Med 1994;10:77-84. [Medline: 8037935]
- 29. Department OH. Indices of Deprivation. London: Department of Health; 2007.
- 30. Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. 2nd Edition ed. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 1988.
- 31. Rubin D. Multiple Imputation for Nonresponse in Surveys. Chichester, New York: Wiley; 1987.
- 32. Skrøvseth SO, Årsand E, Godtliebsen F, Joakimsen RM. Data-driven personalized feedback to patients with type 1 diabetes: a randomized trial. Diabetes Technol Ther 2015;17:482-489 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/dia.2014.0276] [Medline: 25751133]

- Dang S, Remon N, Harris J, Malphurs J, Sandals L, Cabrera AL, et al. Care coordination assisted by technology for multiethnic caregivers of persons with dementia: a pilot clinical demonstration project on caregiver burden and depression. J Telemed Telecare 2008;14:443-447. [doi: 10.1258/jtt.2008.080608] [Medline: 19047456]
- Steventon A, Bardsley M, Billings J, Dixon J, Doll H, Hirani S, Whole System Demonstrator Evaluation Team. Effect of telehealth on use of secondary care and mortality: findings from the Whole System Demonstrator cluster randomised trial. BMJ 2012;344:e3874 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22723612]
- 35. Rixon L, Hirani S, Cartwright M, Beynon M, Doll H, Steventon A, et al. A RCT of telehealth for COPD patient's quality of life: the whole system demonstrator evaluation. Clin Respir J 2017:459-469. [Medline: <u>26260325</u>]
- Rixon L, Hirani PS, Cartwright M, Beynon M, Selva A, Sanders C, et al. What influences withdrawal because of rejection of telehealth the whole systems demonstrator evaluation. J Assist Technol 2013;7:219-227 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1108/JAT-06-2013-0017]

Abbreviations

CESD-10: Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression scale CI: confidence interval DHP: diabetes health profile EMM: estimated marginal means EQ5D: EuroQual 5D HRQoL: health-related quality of life IQR: interquartile range MCS: mental component summary PCS: physical component summary PROMS: patient-reported outcomes RCT: randomized controlled trial SE: standard errors SF: short-form STAI: state trial anxiety inventory WSD: whole systems demonstrator

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 08.12.16; peer-reviewed by B Larsen, E Murray, J Hanley; comments to author 26.01.17; revised version received 25.05.17; accepted 22.06.17; published 01.09.17.

Please cite as:

Hirani SP, Rixon L, Cartwright M, Beynon M, Newman SP, WSD Evaluation Team The Effect of Telehealth on Quality of Life and Psychological Outcomes Over a 12-Month Period in a Diabetes Cohort Within the Whole Systems Demonstrator Cluster Randomized Trial JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e18 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e18/</u> doi:10.2196/diabetes.7128 PMID:30291060

©Shashivadan P Hirani, Lorna Rixon, Martin Cartwright, Michelle Beynon, Stanton P Newman, WSD Evaluation Team. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 01.09.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

A Feasible and Efficacious Mobile-Phone Based Lifestyle Intervention for Filipino Americans with Type 2 Diabetes: Randomized Controlled Trial

Melinda S Bender^{1*}, PhD, RN, PNP-BC; Bruce A Cooper^{2*}, PhD; Linda G Park^{3*}, PNP, RN, FNP-BC, FAHA; Sara Padash^{4*}, BS; Shoshana Arai^{1*}, PhD, RN

¹Family Health Care Nursing Department, School of Nursing, University of California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

²Office of the Dean and Administration, School of Nursing, University of California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

³Community Health Services, School of Nursing, University of California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

⁴School of Nursing, University of San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

*all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Melinda S Bender, PhD, RN, PNP-BC Family Health Care Nursing Department School of Nursing University of California San Francisco 2 Koret Way, N431C, Box 0606 San Francisco, CA, 94143 United States Phone: 1 415 502 5668 Email: melinda.bender@ucsf.edu

Abstract

Background: Filipino Americans have a high prevalence of obesity, type 2 diabetes (T2D), and cardiovascular disease compared with other Asian American subgroups and non-Hispanic whites. Mobile health (mHealth) weight loss interventions can reduce chronic disease risks, but these are untested in Filipino Americans with T2D.

Objective: The objective of this study was to assess feasibility and potential efficacy of a pilot, randomized controlled trial (RCT) of a culturally adapted mHealth weight loss lifestyle intervention (Pilipino Americans Go4Health [PilAm Go4Health]) for overweight Filipino Americans with T2D.

Methods: This was a 2-arm pilot RCT of the 3-month PilAm Go4Health intervention (phase 1) with an active waitlist control and 3-month follow-up (phase 2). The waitlist control received the PilAm Go4Health in phase 2, whereas the intervention group transitioned to the 3-month follow-up. PilAm Go4Health incorporated a Fitbit accelerometer, mobile app with diary for health behavior tracking (steps, food/calories, and weight), and social media (Facebook) for virtual social support, including 7 in-person monthly meetings. Filipino American adults \geq 18 years with T2D were recruited from Northern California. Feasibility was measured by rates of recruitment, engagement, and retention. Multilevel regression analyses assessed within and between group differences for the secondary outcome of percent weight change and other outcomes of weight (kg), body mass index (BMI), waist circumference, fasting plasma glucose, HbA1c, and steps.

Results: A total of 45 Filipino American adults were enrolled and randomized. Mean age was 58 (SD 10) years, 62% (28/45) were women, and mean BMI was 30.1 (SD 4.6). Participant retention and study completion were 100%, with both the intervention and waitlist group achieving near-perfect attendance at all 7 intervention office visits. Groups receiving the PilAm Go4Health in phase 1 (intervention group) and phase 2 (waitlist group) had significantly greater weight loss, -2.6% (-3.9 to -1.4) and -3.3% (-1.8 to -4.8), respectively, compared with the nonintervention group, resulting in a moderate to small effect sizes (d=0.53 and 0.37, respectively). In phase 1, 18% (4/22) of the intervention group achieved a 5% weight loss, whereas 82% (18/22) maintained or lost 2% to 5% of their weight and continued to maintain this weight loss in the 3-month follow-up. Other health outcomes, including waist circumference, BMI, and step counts, improved when each arm received the PilAm Go4Health, but the fasting glucose and HbA1c outcomes were mixed.

Conclusions: The PilAm Go4Health was feasible and demonstrated potential efficacy in reducing diabetes risks in overweight Filipino Americans with T2D. This study supports the use of mHealth and other promising intervention strategies to reduce obesity and diabetes risks in Filipino Americans. Further testing in a full-scale RCT is warranted. These findings may support intervention translation to reduce diabetes risks in other at-risk diverse populations.

Trial Registration: Clinicaltrials.gov NCT02290184; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02290184 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/6vDfrvIPp)

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e30) doi:10.2196/diabetes.8156

KEYWORDS

randomized controlled trial; mobile health; Filipino American; type 2 diabetes; weight loss; physical activity; diet

Introduction

Background

As the fastest growing US racial/ethnic group, Asian Americans represent 6.4% (approximately 21 million) of the US population [1] and are at a high risk for early development of type 2 diabetes (T2D) at lower body mass index (BMI) than non-Hispanic whites [2]. Filipino Americans (FA) are the third largest US Asian subgroup (2,717,844) and the largest California Asian population (1,474,707) [3]. Filipino Americans have the highest burden and prevalence of obesity and T2D among Asian American subgroups and non-Hispanic whites, and have early cardiovascular-metabolic disease risk, with higher mortality rates [4]. Yet, there is limited and incipient preventive health research focused on the Filipino American health disparity [5,6]. Thus, it is imperative to identify effective interventions to reduce these critical health disparities.

Weight loss lifestyle interventions promoting increased physical activity (PA) and a healthy diet (with as little as 5%-7% weight loss) have been shown to reduce obesity and related T2D risks by 58% [7]. The American Heart Association and Healthy People 2020 recommends such interventions, particularly for high-risk racial/ethnic minority populations [8-10]. However, intensive lifestyle interventions, such as the Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP) requiring 16 sessions, may be burdensome for participants and labor intensive to deliver [7]. Alternatively, education, coaching, and social support can be delivered virtually via the Internet, providing real-time feedback promoting adherence to healthy behaviors. Combining mobile health (mHealth) technologies, including commercially available apps and PA trackers (eg, pedometers), offers optional intervention delivery mechanisms that can be scalable and cost-effective [11].

US demographics support the delivery of lifestyle intervention programs via mHealth technology. Approximately 95% of US adults own a mobile phone (77% smartphones) and 76% access Facebook daily [12]. A recent study found that Filipino AmericansA (81.7%) ranked highest for mobile technology ownership and usage compared with whites (69.9%) [13]. A systematic review found mHealth interventions to be beneficial for increasing PA and weight loss [14] and effective for T2D self-management [15]. A meta-analysis found that mHealth weight loss interventions had a medium effect size of 0.43, supporting its continued development and use with lifestyle interventions [16].

Objective

Therefore, we conducted a pilot randomized controlled trial (RCT) called the Pilipino (ie, Filipino) Americans Go4Health (PilAm Go4Health). PilAm Go4Health was an mHealth culturally adapted weight loss lifestyle intervention promoting PA and healthy eating for Filipino Americans with obesity and T2D to reduce subsequent cardiovascular risks. The purpose of this paper is to report the feasibility of PilAm Go4Health (measured by recruitment, engagement, and retention) and potential efficacy (measured by percent weight and weight [kg] change). Positive findings will support a follow-on full-scale RCT to test the effectiveness of a culturally adapted mHealth weight loss lifestyle intervention for Filipino Americans with T2D. Qualitative assessments from participants' responses of the PilAm Go4Health's acceptability and cultural relevance (measured by process evaluations and postprogram interviews) were previously reported [17].

Methods

Design

This was a pilot RCT of the PilAm Go4Health, a 3-month culturally adapted mHealth weight loss lifestyle intervention for Filipino Americans with obesity and T2D, followed by a 3-month follow-up maintenance period. This 2-arm trial consisted of an intervention group and an active waitlist control (waitlist) group. Institutional approval from the Committee on Human Research was obtained before the implementation of the study. Before enrollment, all participants provided written informed consent.

PilAm Go4Health consisted of a weight loss lifestyle intervention based on the DPP [7] that was modified to incorporate mobile technologies (Fitbit accelerometer plus app with diary) and private Facebook group for healthy behaviors tracking, real-time feedback, coaching, and virtual social support. The overall PilAm Go4Health weight loss goal was a 5% weight reduction from baseline by 3 months.

Participants

Participants were recruited from the San Francisco Bay Area from December 2014 to December 2015. Recruitment was primarily through word of mouth, community events, and snowball methods.

Online recruitment strategies included the following: San Francisco Bay Area Craigslist (a San Francisco company providing websites for local classified ads of sale items and



XSL•F() RenderX

services), a dedicated study Facebook website, and an institutional website. Complete recruitment details are published elsewhere [18]. Those who met the screening and eligibility criteria (N=45) were enrolled and randomized into the study (Figure 1).

Inclusion Criteria

Eligibility was based on the DPP criteria and American Heart Association metabolic syndrome risks [7,19]. Key inclusion criteria were self-identified Filipino; \geq 18 years; BMI >23 kg/m² for Asians; physician diagnosis of T2D (non-insulin dependent); own a smartphone, tablet, or laptop with Internet access; and English language proficient.

Exclusion Criteria

Exclusions included disabilities precluding walking for 20 min; on a special exercise program; participation in a weight loss program in the past year; uncontrolled T2D (fasting plasma

Figure 1. Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (Consort) flow diagram.

glucose >200 mg/dL); endocrine or glucose metabolism associated disease (eg, Cushing syndrome or polycystic ovary syndrome); and uncontrolled hypertension. A detailed list of screening and eligibility criteria are reported in a previous publication [18].

Theoretical Framework

Social cognitive theory and the transtheoretical model for health behavior change helped to guide the study design [20,21]. According to the social cognitive theory, role models along with sociocultural and environmental feedback (positive or negative) can influence engagement and adherence to healthy lifestyle behaviors, including healthy eating and PA. Social support may also enhance self-efficacy for healthy weight loss behaviors. To enhance social support, PilAm Go4Health incorporated a private Facebook group and welcomed family members to in-person research office visits.



The transtheoretical model posits that health behavior change involves progress through 6 stages of change: precontemplation, contemplation, preparation, action, maintenance, and termination [21]. Applied research has demonstrated dramatic improvements in recruitment, retention, and engagement using stage-matched interventions and proactive recruitment procedures. To confirm that potentially eligible participants were stage-matched (ie, preparation for change stage) with the PilAm Go4Health, we incorporated a 2-week run-in period to assess readiness for change to help facilitate assessment of both feasibility and potential efficacy of this intervention program.

Cultural Adaptation

Before the study, the PilAm Go4Health was culturally tailored for Filipino Americans according to recommended published cultural adaptation guidelines [22] that include the following 5 components: (1) peripheral, (2) evidential, (3) constituent involving, (4) sociocultural, and (5) linguistics. Examples of each are provided in Table 1. A comprehensive description of the adaptation strategies used in the study is provided in a previous publication [18].

Screening Baseline Visit and Run-In Period

Eligible participants who passed the telephone screening were invited for a screening baseline visit that included a physical exam (weight, height, BMI, waist and hip circumference, and blood pressure), fasting blood draw (eg, fasting plasma glucose and hemoglobin A1c), and questionnaires. Those who passed the screening baseline visit and fasting blood draw received a Fitbit Zip accelerometer and Fitbit app with diary with training and were then enrolled in a 14-day run-in period.

A study run-in period was incorporated to assess whether participants were in the transtheoretical model's *readiness or preparation for change stage* [21]. The run-in period was designed to screen out potential noncompliant participants. Although this may minimize the sample size, it increases the statistical power [24] to reduce the possibility of erroneously rejecting the PilAm Go4Health as a potentially efficacious weight loss intervention. This helps to determine whether the intervention was feasible (acceptable and practical) and potentially efficacious (able to generate beneficial results under ideal circumstances) [25].

Participants in the run-in period were asked to wear the Fitbit Zip daily for at least 10 hours/day and send photos of all food and drinks consumed for 3 consecutive days. Those who complied at least 70% of the time with the run-in requirements demonstrated readiness for behaviors change and were enrolled and randomized into the study. Further details on the run-in protocol were previously published [18].

Randomization

A total of 45 participants were enrolled and randomized in a 1:1 ratio (computer-generated random allocation sequence) and then stratified by gender in permuted randomly selected block sizes of 2 and 4 to an intervention group (n=22) or an active waitlist group (n=23; see Figure 1). Due to the nature of a lifestyle intervention, only the lab technicians and statistician were blinded, but research investigators, staff, and participants were not.

Intervention Group

Trained research staff implemented the PilAm Go4Health intervention. In phase 1 (baseline to 3 months) immediately after randomization, intervention participants were trained on using the Fitbit accelerometer to self-monitor real-time PA steps and associated app with diary to self-report daily food/calorie intake and weekly weight. They joined the study's private Facebook group for virtual social support, coaching, and weekly education topics posted by research staff. Participants were encouraged to join the Facebook discussions at least once a week. At this training visit, they were given tailored short- and long-term weight loss goals based on the participant's baseline weight, PA, and diet information. Depending on their progress with tailored goals, research staff provided each participant tailored feedback, coaching, and support during research office visits at 1, 2, and 3 months. Table 2 outlines the PilAm Go4Health components delivered at each visit and weekly Facebook discussion topics posted by research staff.

In phase 2 at the 3-month office visit, intervention participants transitioned to a 3-month follow-up and were removed from the private Facebook group. Participants were asked to continue using their Fitbit and app with diary to track health behaviors and maintain their weight loss goals. Follow-up office visits were scheduled at 4 and 6 months. Intervention participants completed the study at 6 months. Further PilAm Go4Health intervention details are reported elsewhere [18].

Table 1.	Examples of Pilipino	Americans Go4Health	[PilAm Go4Health]	cultural adaptation strategies.
----------	----------------------	---------------------	-------------------	---------------------------------

Components	Example
Peripheral	Photos of common Filipino foods were used in Filipino food pamphlet
Evidential	Health education sessions included information on the high prevalence of and factors associated with type 2 diabetes among Filipino Americans
Constituent involving	Filipino American community stakeholder (leaders, members, organizations, and health providers) input from individ- ual interviews and focus group helped to inform the study design
Sociocultural	To align with a Filipino American family-centric culture, family members were welcome to attend the participant's scheduled office visits
Linguistics	Healthy lifestyle education pamphlets translated in Tagalog for Filipino Americans were provided by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute [23]

Table 2. Pilipino Americans Go4Health [PilAm Go4Health] intervention sessions (physical exam includes height, weight, body mass index, waist circumference, and blood pressure).

Schedule	Lifestyle education and coaching			
Phase 1 (baseline to 3 months) Pilipino Americans Go4Health [PilAm Go4Health] intervention				
Baseline visit (individual)	Lifestyle balance and social networking			
	Initiating physical activity and healthy eating plan with short- and long-term goals for weight loss			
	Physical exam, blood draw, and surveys			
	Fitbit Zip, app and diary training for tracking steps, food/calories, and weight and private Facebook group training			
1-month visit (family members welcome)	Progress report and coaching on healthy behaviors			
	Benefits and ways to be physically active			
	Social support for physical activity			
	Filipino dancing (Zumba, cha cha), basketball, and walking			
	Monitoring physical activity steps			
2-month visit (family members welcome)	Progress report and coaching on healthy behaviors			
	Benefits and ways of healthy eating and limiting fat			
	Social support for healthy eating			
	Healthy Filipino food alternatives and recipes			
	Monitoring weight			
3-month visit (family members welcome)	Progress report + relapse prevention, problem-solving, and staying motivated			
	Handling barriers to healthy behaviors			
Transition to phase 2	Social support for maintaining healthy behaviors			
	Physical exam, blood draw, and surveys			
	Postintervention process evaluation interview			
rivate Facebook group				
Baseline to 3 months only; removed from Facebook group at 3-month visit	Research staff monitored and posted 12 weekly discussions covering topics such as the following: benefits of regular exercise, healthy fruits and vegetables, water and low-calorie drinks, tracking weight, healthy recipes, handling barriers to weight loss and healthy lifestyle behaviors, benefits of social support for weight loss, maintaining glycemic control, and medication adherence			
	Weekly prompts to post and share photos, recipes tried, progress reports or barriers en- countered, and encouragement for Facebook peers			
Phase 2 (3 to 6 months) follow-up maintenance				
4-month visit (family members welcome)	Progress report, continue using Fitbit and app with diary to track steps, food, and weigh			
	Personal Facebook support group			
	Reviewed relapse prevention, maintaining healthy behaviors, and dealing with barriers to healthy lifestyle			
6-month visit (individual)	Progress report and relapse prevention, handling barriers			
	Coaching to maintain healthy behaviors			
	Physical exam, blood draw, and surveys			
	Poststudy process evaluation interview			

Waitlist Control Group

for daily wear. They returned for 1- and 3-month office visits when they received hepatitis B and C education, respectively.

In phase 1 at the baseline randomization visit, waitlist participants received only the Fitbit accelerometer and training

In phase 2 at the 3-month office visit, waitlist participants transitioned to receive the PilAm Go4Health intervention and

XSL•FO RenderX

returned for 3 office visits at 4, 5, and 6 months (Table 2). Waitlist participants completed the study at 6 months.

Data Collection

All participants' anthropometric measures-weight (kg), height, BMI (kg/m²), waist circumference (cm), blood pressure, serum labs (eg, plasma glucose and HbA1c)-were collected at baseline, 3 months, and 6 months during research office visits and stored in secure study data servers. All Fitbit steps and self-reported app and diary data (calorie/food and weight) were wirelessly uploaded and transmitted in real time directly to secure Fitbit data servers. Each participant's secure Fitbit account was also linked to a secondary Fitabase account (Fitabase, a San Diego based corporation) where data were uploaded and stored on secure confidential Fitabase data servers [26]. Facebook group data were wirelessly uploaded to secure Facebook data servers. All participant data were subsequently uploaded to secure institutional study data servers. Only approved research staff and investigators had access to study data. For further details on data collection protocol, see previous publication [18].

Outcome Measures

Primary Outcome

Feasibility was based upon three criteria: recruitment, engagement, and retention. Recruitment goal was to have 45 eligible participants recruited, enrolled, and randomized for this study. Engagement goal was to have participants attend 5 out of 7 intervention office visits (receipt of 9 of the 16 DPP sessions) as a measure for completing the program. This threshold was based on the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) required number of DPP sessions considered for program completion [27]. Retention goal was to have at least 80% of randomized participants complete the study, as defined by attending 5 of 7 office visits and complete all required study assessments (physical exams, labs, and surveys) at baseline, 3-month, and 6-month visits.

We monitored adherence to tracking target health behaviors using the Fitbit Zip and Fitbit app with diary. These additional engagement measures described the uptake and acceptance of the PilAm Go4Health program by participants. The criteria for mobile technology tracking by participants were as follows: (1) logging weight at least once/week, (2) logging daily food/calories at least once/week, and (3) wearing Fitbit Zip at least 5 days/week. However, currently there are no standard thresholds for frequency of mHealth app use to evaluate feasibility of an intervention. Any such thresholds would be arbitrary. Therefore, we chose not to use adherence as a measure of engagement to evaluate feasibility.

Secondary Outcome

Percent weight change was used to assess potential efficacy during phase 1 and 2 for each arm. In phase 1, the intervention group received the PilAm Go4Health from baseline to 3 months, whereas the waitlist group only used the Fitbit Zip without coaching. In phase 2, the waitlist group received the PilAm Go4Health from 3 to 6 months, whereas the intervention group transitioned to the follow-up maintenance phase.

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e30/
```

Other Outcomes

For each arm, change in weight (kg) was measured weekly for 6 months, and change in BMI, waist circumference, fasting plasma glucose, and HbA1c were measured at baseline, 3 months, and 6 months, whereas daily step counts were measured in real time via the Fitbit Zip.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive analyses for demographic, clinical, and outcome measures were computed using IBM SPSS for Windows version 24. Descriptive statistics were obtained by using t test, Mann-Whitney U test, Wilcoxon signed-rank test, or chi-square test for continuous, nonparametric, or categorical variables as appropriate. Between-group differences in percent weight change categories over time were analyzed using a bootstrap chi-square test, including the Mantel-Haenszel test of trend.

The feasibility outcome for recruitment was based upon achieving the target sample size. We reported the simple proportion (%) of participants within each randomized group who met the various target behavior threshold criteria for engagement and retention during the 3-month PilAm Go4Health.

The question for each secondary outcome was whether the change during both study phases was greater for the group receiving the PilAm Go4Health than the nonintervention group. Multilevel regression (aka linear mixed models or hierarchical linear models) was employed to test differences between the 2 arms in their change trajectories. This effect is also called the cross-level interaction between time and group [28,29]. In addition to the primary test of between-group change, the simple slopes were also tested to determine whether the change was significant *within* each group.

For these analyses, there were no missing data for the 2 groups. Therefore, a multilevel regression models approach was used over more traditional repeated measures analysis of variance (since missing data were not an issue) [28,29]. The use of multilevel regression allowed for the use of bootstrapping when the assumption of normality was not tenable. Bootstrapped full information maximum likelihood models were estimated to obtain nonparametric, bias-corrected bootstrapped CIs (BC CI) for estimation and inference regarding hypotheses [30-32]. These analyses were carried out with Stata/SE version 14 [33,34]. Primary analysis included intention to treat. Significance was evaluated using a 2-sided alpha of .05.

Results

Sociodemographic Results

A total of 113 potential participants were screened; 45 were eligible, enrolled, and randomized (see Figure 1). Mean age was 57.6 (SD 9.8), with 62% (28/45) female. The majority were immigrants (38/45; 84%). Overall, participants were categorized as obese with mean BMI 30.1 (SD 4.6) (Table 3). The only sociodemographic variable with a difference between the 2 groups was "Years lived in the United States" (often used as a proxy for acculturation). Although a majority of participants were immigrants, they were highly acculturated (Marin Acculturation Scale [35], mean score=3.5). As there were no

XSL•FO RenderX

between-group differences in acculturation scores, the outcome analyses were not adjusted for years lived in the United States.

Primary Outcomes

Results of all primary outcomes indicated that the PilAm Go4Health intervention program was feasible. For the study, 45 eligible participants were recruited, passed the run-in period, and enrolled and randomized over a 1-year period (Figure 1). Word of mouth was the dominate recruitment strategy that yielded the highest number of potential participants, followed by in-person invitation to join the study at local Lion's Club faith-based weekly health fairs. Feasibility engagement was measured by attendance at intervention office visits. Both the

intervention and waitlist group achieved near-perfect attendance at all 7 intervention office visits (95% [21/22] and 100% [23/23], respectively), well above the standard CDC threshold for DPP completion. Finally, all 45 participants (100%) completed the study at 6 months, meeting the retention rate goal (Table 4).

Adherence to additional mHealth engagement measures, including logging weight and food/calories and wearing the Fitbit, was similar between the intervention and waitlist groups. With the exception of logging weight at least once/week, both groups demonstrated relatively high adherence to tracking weekly health behaviors in excess of 80% of the time when they received the 3-month intervention (Table 4).

Variable	Overall (N=45)	Intervention (n=22)	Waitlist (n=23)	P value
Age in years, mean (SD ^a)	57.6 (9.8)	57.4 (9.8)	57.7 (10.0)	.90
Race (Filipino), n (%)	45 (100)	22 (100)	23 (100)	.99
Gender (female), n (%)	28 (62)	14 (63)	14 (60)	.85
Marital status, n (%)				.06
Never married	5 (11)	1 (5)	4 (17)	
Divorced/widowed	10 (22)	7 (32)	3 (13)	
Married/cohabitating	30 (67)	14 (64)	17 (70)	
Education, n (%)				.67
College 1-4 years	36 (80)	18 (82)	18 (78)	
Graduate school	9 (20)	4 (18)	5 (22)	
Employed, n (%)				.21
Full or part time	31 (69)	17 (77)	14 (61)	
Unemployed	2 (4)	1 (5)	1 (4)	
Retired, n (%)	12 (27)	4 (8)	8 (35)	
Years lived in the United States, n (%)				.003
US born	7 (16)	0 (0)	7 (30)	
\geq 5-10+ years	38 (84)	22 (100)	16 (70)	
Marin acculturation score				
Mean (SD)	3.5 (0.6)	3.5 (0.6)	3.5 (0.7)	.91
Low score <2.99, n (%)	9 (20)	4 (18)	5 (22)	.77
High score >2.99, n (%)	36 (80)	18 (82)	18 (78)	
Weight in kg				
Mean (SD)	75.8 (15.4)	72.6 (10.8)	78.8 (18.6)	.19
Median	74.5	72.7	74.9	
Body mass index in kg/m ² (SD)	30.1 (4.6)	28.6 (3.6)	31.5 (5.1)	.03
Waist circumference in cm (SD)	99.6 (10.7)	97.1 (8.7)	101.9 (12.1)	.13
Fasting glucose in mg/dL (SD)	135.3 (25.8)	133.0 (20.8)	137.4 (30.1)	.57
HbA1c, % (SD)	7.42 (0.87)	7.39 (0.82)	7.44 (0.93)	.84
Steps per day (SD)	7101 (2391)	7483 (2416)	6736 (2363)	.30

^aSD: standard deviation.



Table 4. Pilipino Americans	Go4Health [PilAm Go4Health]	office visit attendance and adherence to	target health behaviors by group.

Target behaviors (N=45)	Intervention group (n=22) rate of adherence (0 to 3 months) n (%)	Waitlist control group (n=23) rate of adherence (3 to 6 months) n (%)
Attended all 7 intervention office visits	21 (95)	23 (100)
Logging weight at least once/week ^a	17 (79)	15 (64)
Logging food/calorie intake at least once/week ^a	20 (89)	19 (83)
Wear the Fitbit at least 5 days/week ^a	21 (97)	21 (91)

^aAdherence signifies weekly mean of participants adhering to target behavior over the 12-week intervention period.

Secondary Outcomes

The results of the analysis for the main secondary outcome (percent weight change) are compelling, as are the results of the other secondary outcomes (Table 5). All statistically significant (indicated by no zero in 95% BC CI) simple slopes and cross-level interactions are highlighted in italicized type. The estimated simple slopes in Table 5 represent within-group changes, and cross-level interactions represent the between-group differences.

All the cross-level interactions for phase 1 were significant and in the expected direction (Table 5). For example, in the column for the cross-level interaction, the point estimate for weight shows that the decrease was 2 kg greater for the intervention group than for the waitlist group. The BC CI for the 2 kg decrease shows that the population difference might be as great as 3 kg or as small as 1.1 kg, but it is not 0. This weight change had a moderate effect size of 0.53 (Cohen *d*). Close examination of the simple slope for the intervention group was significant but not that of the waitlist group—just what we would expect. The intervention group's weight loss was equivalent to a significant 2.9% loss in their baseline weight (BC CI: -3.9 to -2.0). This is in contrast in to the waitlist group's insignificant 0.3% loss in their baseline weight (Figure 2).

As one might expect in phase 2, when the intervention group transitioned to the follow-up and the waitlist group received the PilAm Go4Health intervention program, the results were inverted. Waitlist group's mean weight decreased 2.5 kg more than the intervention group (BC CI: 1.4 to 3.5). This is between a weak and medium effect (Cohen d=0.37). The intervention group's simple slope showed a trivial 0.28 kg increase in weight (BC CI: -.24 to .83), whereas waitlist group's phase 2 simple slope decreased 2.2 kg (BC CI: -3.1 to -1.3). In phase 2, the cross-level interaction showed a 3.3% greater decrease for the waitlist group's 3.0% decrease in weight loss was significant (BC CI: -4.2 to -1.7), but the intervention group's increase of 0.35% in the simple slope was not (BC CI: -.37 to 1.1).

Intervention Group—Percent Weight Loss Goals Achieved

The overall PilAm Go4Health weight loss goal was a 5% weight reduction. In phase 1, about 18% (4/22) of the intervention group achieved a 5% weight loss, whereas 82% (18/22) of the group's remaining participants maintained or lost 2% to 5% of

their weight. During maintenance in phase 2, over 90% (20/22) of the intervention group continued to maintain or lose 2% to 5% more weight (Table 6).

Waitlist Group—Percent Weight Loss Goals Achieved

In phase 1, over 83% (19/23) of the waitlist group maintained or gained 2% to 5% more weight (see Table 6). This pattern was reversed in phase 2 with 70% (16/23) of the waitlist participants receiving PilAm Go4Health having maintained or lost between 2% and 5% of their weight. Most notably, 30% (7/23) of waitlist participants achieved the 5% weight loss goal, almost twice that of the phase 1 intervention group.

Other Outcomes

A similar pattern of weight effects was also observed for other outcomes, waist circumference, BMI, and step counts, with mixed improvements in fasting glucose and HbA1c (Table 5). Significant cross-level interactions were detected for fasting glucose in both phases for the PilAm Go4Health activated groups. The simple slope (within group) for the intervention group was *significant*, indicating that the fasting glucose value had *increased* significantly during follow-up (10.7 mg/dL [3.4-18.5]). However, the simple slope for the waitlist group was not significant in phase 2, although it was in the expected direction (-8.9 mg/dL [-21.0 to 1.7]).

Opposing and mixed patterns were displayed in the HbA1c's outcomes. In phase 1, the intervention group's cross-level interaction was not significant, although the group's simple slope was significant and in the expected direction (-.49% [BC CI: -.80 to -.21]). In contrast, the waitlist group's HbA1c's cross-level interaction in phase 2 was significant and in the expected direction, but not the simple slope, although it was in the expected direction.

Overall step counts significantly increased for each study arm that received the PilAm Go4Health in phase 1 and phase 2 compared with the nonintervention group. The greater number of assessments (14 weeks in phase 1; 13 weeks in phase 2) allowed for a more sensitive examination of the linear and quadratic components of change for the 2 groups and phase-related changes in trajectories. The cross-level interactions and simple slopes for both linear and quadratic slopes were significant for the PilAm Go4Health intervention group for phase 1 and the PilAm Go4Health waitlist group during phase 2 with expected significant large effect sizes.

XSL•FO RenderX

 Table 5. Pilipino Americans Go4Health [PilAm Go4Health] multilevel regression analyses of secondary outcomes for phase 1 (baseline to 3 months) and phase 2 (4 to 6 months) (N=45; intervention group: n=22; and waitlist group: n=23). All statistically significant (indicated by no zero in 95% BC CI) simple slopes and cross-level interactions are highlighted in italicized type.

Outcome measures	Intervention ^a mean (SD ^b)	Intervention simple slopes ^c (95% BC CI) ^d	Waitlist ^a mean (SD)	Waitlist simple slopes ^c (95% BC CI) ^d	Cross-level interactions ^e (95% BC CI) ^d	Effect size Cohen d
Percent weight chan	ige				•	
P1 (phase 1)	-2.9 (2.4)	$-2.9(-3.9to-2.0)^{ m f}$	-0.28 (2.0)	28 (-1.0 to .56)	− 2.6 (−3.9 to −1.4)	
P2 (phase 2)	-2.5 (3.0)	.35 (37 to 1.1)	-3.3 (3.4)	$-3.0 (-4.2 to -1.7)^{\rm f}$	- 3.3 (-1.8 to -4.8)	
Weight (kg)						
BL (Baseline)	72.6 (10.8)		78.8 (18.6)			
P1	70.5 (10.6)	$-2.1 (-2.9 to -1.4)^{\rm f}$	78.6 (19.2)	12 (72 to .59)	- 2.0 (-3.0 to -1.1)	0.53
P2	70.8 (11.0)	.28 (24 to .83)	76.4 (19.8)	$-2.2 (-3.1 \text{ to } -1.3)^{\mathrm{f}}$	2.5 (1.4 to 3.5)	0.37
Body mass index (kş	g/m ²)					
BL	28.5 (3.6)		31.5 (5.1)			
P1	27.7 (3.6)	$81 (-1.1 to56)^{f}$	31.5 (5.5)	05 (29 to .24)	77 (-1.2 to41)	
P2	27.8 (3.6)	.10 (11 to .31)	30.5 (5.6)	$92 (-1.3 to51)^{ m f}$	1.0 (.55 to 1.5)	
Waist circumference	e (cm)					
BL	97.1 (8.7)		101.9 (12.1)			
P1	94.6 (9.2)	$-2.5(-3.8 to -1.4)^{\rm f}$	102.1 (12.4)	.16 (-1.1 to 1.5)	- 2.7 (-4.5 to91)	
P2	94.2 (9.5)	43 (-1.5 to .54)	99.9 (13.0)	$-2.2 (-3.5 to -1.1)^{\rm f}$	1.8 (.23 to 3.4)	
Fasting glucose (mg	/dL)					
BL	133 (20.8)		137.4 (30.1)			
P1	118 (20.3)	$-15(-25 to -5.3)^{\rm f}$	141.0 (32.1)	3.5 (-4.2 to 11.2)	– 18.5 (-31.4 to -6.5)	
P2	128.7 (30.6)	10.7 (3.4 to 18.5)	132.0 (33.0)	$-8.9 (-21.0 \text{ to } 1.7)^{\text{f}}$	19.6 (6.7 to 33.6)	
HbA1c (%)						
BL	7.4 (0.82)		7.4 (0.93)			
P1	6.9 (0.67)	$49(80\ to\21)^{ m f}$	7.3 (1.0)	14 (41 to .05)	34 (70 to .04)	
P2	7.1 (0.98)	.15 (03 to .37)	7.1 (1.2)	$18 (42 \text{ to } .07)^{f}$.32 (.01 to .64)	
Step counts						
P1 Linear	7483 (2415)	L560 (210 to 862) $^{ m f}$	6735 (2363)	L -93 (-205 to 15)	L654 (275-975)	1.74
Quadratic	10,178 (4593)	Q -35 $(-56$ to $13)^{f}$	6469 (2936)	Q 2.4 (-6.6 to 11.8)	<i>Q</i> −37 (−60 to −14)	
P2 Linear	9524 (3626)	L -206 (-477 to 39)	7208 (2719)	<i>L 403 (56-770)</i> ^f	L-610 (-1064 to -187)	1.44
Quadratic	8546 (4416)	Q10.9 (-6.2 to 29.3)	7538 (4025)	Q –27 (–55 to –2) ^f	Q 38 (7.8 to 72)	

^aObserved values.

^bSD: standard deviation.

^cEstimated simple slope.

^dNonparametric bias-corrected bootstrapped CI (BC CI) is significant if "0" not in confidence interval.

^eDifference between groups.

^fReceived PilAm Go4Health.



Figure 2. Percent weight change over 6 months by group—multilevel regression (phase 1—intervention group received PilAm Go4Health [Pilipino Americans Go4Health] weight loss intervention; phase 2—waitlist control group received PilAm Go4Health weight loss intervention).



Table 6. Percentage weight change achieved by group (N=45).

Phases	Gained ≥2% to <5% n (%)	Stable + <2% n (%)	Lost ≥2% to <5% n (%)	Lost ≥5% to <10% n (%)	P value ^a
Phase 1	,			,	.001
Intervention ^b (n=22)	0 (0)	10 (45)	8 (36)	4 (18)	
Waitlist (n=23)	4 (17)	15 (65)	4 (17)	0 (0)	
Phase 2					.001
Intervention (n=22)	2 (9.1)	16 (72)	4 (18)	0 (0)	
Waitlist ^b (n=23)	0 (0)	10 (43)	6 (26)	7 (30)	

^a*P* value for Mantel-Haenszel chi-square test for trend.

^bReceived PilAm Go4Health.

Discussion

Key Findings

The PilAm Go4Health was feasible as measured by achieving the recruitment, engagement, and retention threshold goals. Results demonstrated potential efficacy of the PilAm Go4Health in reducing weight in Filipino Americans with overweight and T2D. Each group receiving the PilAm Go4Health program (intervention group in phase 1 and waitlist group in phase 2) demonstrated significant weight loss, underscoring the PilAm Go4Health potential efficacy. In phase 1, over half of the intervention participants lost weight. Although only 18% (4/22) achieved the overall 5% weight loss goal by 3 months, the weight loss trajectory matched that of the typically longer DPP-based interventions [36]. More importantly, in the phase 2 follow-up, most of the intervention participants continued to maintain or lose weight.

Primary Outcome

Full participant recruitment was achieved within 1 year for this difficult-to-reach population. Acceptance criteria presented an interesting conundrum, in that the inclusion and exclusion

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e30/
```

RenderX

criteria were stringent and at odds with one another. Participants had to be overweight/obese non-insulin-dependent T2D, with controlled hypertension, yet still capable of walking 30 min per day and willing to deal with a time-consuming protocol and inconvenient blood tests and office visits. Potential participants were approached using various indirect and in-person recruitment strategies, resulting in 185 referrals, yielding only 45 qualified and willing to participate. Yet, despite these recruitment obstacles, the study was feasible.

Recruitment was successful, engagement (office visit attendance) was close to 100%, and a 100% retention rate was achieved, possible due to the culturally adapted intervention and use of a community health worker model to successfully recruit and administer the study. Although cultural adaptation strategies were not quantitatively measured for adherence and feasibility, qualitative process evaluations through semistructured interviews were conducted at the 3-month and 6-month visits to assess cultural acceptability and relevance of the intervention for Filipino Americans. As detailed in a previous publication [17], over half (58%; 26/45) stated that "the culturally tailored support (eg, Filipino research staff) enhanced their engagement" in the study. Furthermore, a

majority of participants (64%; 29/45) reported that the intervention helped boost their self-confidence in managing their health. Thus, Filipino American participants deemed the culturally adapted PilAm Go4Health intervention acceptable and relevant.

Adherence to using mobile technology was excellent for wearing the Fitbit to track PA and logging foods to monitor calorie intake. However, adherence for self-monitoring weight was markedly lower. This could be due to the negative feedback that can occur with self-weighing, particularly among those with overweight/obesity. There is debate about self-weighing because in some overweight/obese individuals, it appears to generate negative psychological conditions, such as depression, anxiety, and stress [37,38]. Future studies should assess barriers and facilitators for tracking weight to improve intervention strategies promoting weight loss.

Due to the small sample size of our study, we were unable to assess the relative contribution of the mobile app use to weight loss outcomes. Such analyses may be feasible in future studies with a larger sample size. Nevertheless, the PilAm Go4Health adherence data add to the body of knowledge that mobile apps are useful for tracking health behaviors in weight loss interventions.

More importantly, our participants' mean age was 57.6 years, which demonstrated that older adults can successfully learn and use mobile technology to self-monitor health. In our previous publication, overall, participants highly endorsed and adopted the Fitbit as a means for tracking PA and reported that the mobile technology helped improve accountability for monitoring target health behaviors [17]. Previous studies have shown that a majority of older adults go online and own a smartphone, but few engage in using mobile technology [39,40]. Future mHealth lifestyle intervention studies should evaluate whether older adults will continue to engage in the use of mobile technology after receiving an mHealth-based intervention.

Secondary Outcomes

Evidence indicates that weight loss of 5% to 7% by 6 months is associated with preventing or reducing T2D and cardiovascular risks [10,40-42]. Even a modest weight loss of 5% in patients with T2D is associated with significant clinical improvements (eg, systolic blood pressure, glucose, HbA1c, and triglycerides). Due to the short 3-month intervention duration, PilAm Go4Health study participants may not have had sufficient time to achieve the 5% weight loss goal set forth in other 6-month weight loss lifestyle interventions [36].

Overall, 24% (11/45) of intervention group and waitlist group participants achieved the study's primary 5% weight loss goal after completing PilAm Go4Health, and 31% (14/45) achieved a 2% to 5 % weight loss (Table 6). However, considering the reduced number of office visits and educational meetings condensed into 3 months, the trajectory for PilAm Go4Health participant weight loss rates was similar to those of longer DPP-based studies [36]. Increasing the PilAm Go4Health duration to 6 months may be necessary to achieve the 5% to 7% weight reduction for optimum health benefits.

Notably, compared with phase 1 when only 18% (4/22) of intervention participants achieved the 5% weight loss goal, nearly twice the number of waitlist participants, 30% (7/23), achieved their 5% weight loss goal in phase 2. When waitlist participants received PilAm Go4Health, they had already been self-monitoring PA steps for the prior 3 months. During phase 1, the waitlist group was asked to only self-monitor PA steps using the Fitbit app. This prior PA tracking behavior may have contributed to the greater number of waitlist participants achieving the 5% weight loss goal in phase 2 compared with the intervention group.

Other Outcomes

Our study results highlight the important relationship between weight management and diabetes control. Not surprising, the other outcomes of weight (kg), waist circumference, and BMI mirrored the results of the secondary outcome for reduced percent weight over 3 months when both study arms received the PilAm Go4Health. Similarly, the PilAm Go4Health had a large effect on PA measured by increased steps over time. Furthermore, improvements in fasting glucose and HbA1c give promise to the efficacy of the PilAm Go4Health mHealth intervention to enhance diabetes self-management. There were clear improvements in diabetes self-management and control as reflected in the significant cross-level interactions (with the exception of phase 1 for HbA1c); however, long-term studies are needed to detect whether serum levels for diabetes control can be improved and sustained.

Strengths

PilAm Go4Health intervention program has several noteworthy strengths. This is one of the first rigorous lifestyle intervention studies focused on Filipinos with obesity and T2D to reduce further cardiovascular-metabolic complications. The efficacy of the PilAm Go4Health program was evident in the (1) 100% (45/45) participant study completion rate, demonstrating the excellent participant recruitment and engagement of this hard-to-reach Filipino population; (2) ability to promote weight loss among Filipino Americans with overweight and T2D (in both study arms receiving the intervention) in only 3 months; and (3) sustained intervention group weight loss in the subsequent 3 months.

There are multiple intervention factors (eg, intensity, Facebook, self-monitoring behaviors, cultural adaptation) that may have contributed to the PilAm Go4Health potential efficacy. Although relative contributions of each factor are unknown, previous studies indicate that each may have had a positive impact on the outcomes. First, intensive interventions with multiple components have shown that participants are able to lose 5% of their baseline weight over short durations [36,43,44]. PilAm Go4Health findings are consistent with these studies.

Second, evidence indicates that self-monitoring lifestyle behaviors improve weight loss and health outcomes [7,45]. Furthermore, higher adherence to activity tracking was associated with greater weight loss and increased PA [46,47]. Our findings support these 2 premises in that the waitlist group's self-monitoring (tracking) of PA alone in phase 1 was not sufficient to achieve a significant weight reduction by 3 months.

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e30/
```

XSI•FC

However, in phase 2, when the waitlist group received the PilAm Go4Health intervention, tracking PA in combination with tracking food calories and weight resulted in significant weight reductions or weight stabilization in 3 months.

A third intervention factor was cultural relevance, an integral element of the PilAm Go4Health design. Culturally relevant interventions have been shown to improve health outcomes, especially in diverse immigrant populations [48,49]. Cultural tailoring is an important strategy to improve recruitment, engagement, and retention in a hard-to-reach vulnerable population [18,22]. Cultural adaptation strategies used in the study design reflected Filipino family and community preferences by welcoming family members at research office visits for in-person social support and incorporating a private Facebook group for virtual social support with peers. Therefore, these culturally adaptations may have influenced the weight loss achieved by a primarily immigrant population.

Incorporating mobile technology was a fourth factor in the PilAm Go4Health study design. Including a mobile phone app to supplement standard lifestyle counseling had positive impact on PA and diet, even over short 3-month intervention periods such as that of the PilAm Go4Health [43,50]. Furthermore, our findings are consistent with other studies that show technology-based interventions are feasible, acceptable, and efficacious among older adults [16,51]. On the basis of FA's prolific use of mobile technology and social media [13], PilAm Go4Health incorporated this technology to promote participant engagement and motivate self-monitoring of lifestyle behaviors to achieve weight loss goals. The addition of virtual social networking via Facebook in our study may have contributed to adherence for tracking health behaviors. Virtual social media has also been shown to improve health outcomes. For example, Facebook has also been used in weight loss interventions, with positive results among overweight/obese adults and college students [52,53].

Our study supports evidence that older individuals can successfully use mobile technology to improve diabetes self-management. The Pew Research Center reported that older adults with higher education more easily adopt mobile technology compared with less-educated older adults [51]. On the basis of our study's previously reported qualitative outcome [17], our highly educated older Filipino American adults seemed to readily adopt the mobile technology to track health behaviors for diabetes management. The mobile technology used in our study may have influenced adherence to healthy behaviors, contributing to weight reduction and improvements in other health outcomes. Further research is needed to evaluate the relative influence of the mHealth components used in the PilAm Go4Health program.

Limitations

There are several limitations of note. The duration of this pilot RCT 3-month lifestyle intervention with a 3-month follow-up was shorter than a typical DPP-based 6-month weight loss program. This may have influenced participants' ability to achieve the overall study's 5% weight loss goal. The small sample size consisted of a highly educated immigrant Filipino population from a geographic area of Northern California, limiting the internal validity and generalizability. The study was also limited to those who were English literate and owned smartphones with Internet access. This may have resulted in a biased sample excluding non-English speakers and those less likely to afford mobile devices requiring Internet service. The sample size also limited statistical analyses of this multifactorial intervention program, restricting the ability to determine the relative contribution of each factor influencing weight loss and other outcomes. Nevertheless, many secondary/other outcomes (eg, percent weight, weight [kg], and fasting glucose change) were statistically significant, indicating that power (and therefore the sample size) was sufficient to support the potential efficacy of the PilAm Go4Health [54,55].

The run-in period to assess participant eligibility may have biased retention levels and study outcomes as it may have excluded noncompliant potential participants. However, out of 52 potential PilAm Go4Health participants completing the run-in, only 4% (2/52) were categorized as noncompliant (see Figure 1). Furthermore, a recent meta-analysis of interventions in which weight loss was the primary outcome showed studies did not differ significantly in weight loss with or without a run-in period [56] and thus did not compromise generalizability.

Implications

These study findings have practical clinical implications for health care providers. As the obesity epidemic grows, health care providers should routinely address the issues of obesity and inactivity that are associated with poor health outcomes. Our results will help inform clinicians about commercially available mHealth tools and social media for patients' use to improve health outcomes. Clinicians can tailor patient weight loss goals using these tools to promote engagement and adherence to healthy lifestyle behaviors. In our study, real-time feedback from the Fitbit accelerometers along with the associated mHealth app with diary for tracking weight and food/calories may have been an important motivational factor. Utilizing Facebook capabilities for virtual social support among peers in tandem with health education postings may have also influenced improvements in health behavior change [34].

Conclusions

PilAm Go4Health demonstrated that a mobile technology–based culturally adapted lifestyle intervention was feasible and potentially efficacious in weight reduction among older understudied Filipino Americans with obesity and T2D. Results are promising for targeted, culturally tailored lifestyle interventions in achieving short-term weight loss. Therefore, a larger RCT is warranted to test effectiveness of the PilAm Go4Health in maintaining long-term weight loss to reduce T2D and cardiovascular-metabolic risks in this vulnerable population.
Acknowledgments

This study was funded by the American Heart Association NCRP Winter 2014 Mentored Clinical & Population Research Grant Award #14CRP19560008 and NHLBI grant R25HL126146. The authors would like to thank Daniel M Bender for his support for this project with respect to editing, statistics, tables, and figures. The authors are also grateful to community stakeholders and members for their important contribution in helping to culturally tailor the intervention and participating in the study.

Authors' Contributions

MSB is the principal investigator who conceived the study idea and methodology; oversaw the intervention cultural adaptation, implementation, data collection, and analysis; and drafted the manuscript, along with some tables and figures. BAC, the statistician, helped condition the data, performed the statistical analysis, drafted the data analysis section, drafted Figure 2, and critically reviewed the manuscript draft. LGP provided guidance for organizing the paper, interpreted the data to formulate input for the Results and Conclusions sections, drafted the initial Discussion section, and critically reviewed the manuscript draft. SA provided guidance for organizing the paper, performed additional statistical analysis and data interpretation, provided the initial Results and Discussion drafts, drafted several of the tables, and critically reviewed the manuscript. SP helped in the participant recruitment; assisted with intervention implementation, data collection, and management; and helped prepare manuscript citations and edit references.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

CONSORT - EHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 680KB - diabetes_v2i2e30_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. United States Census Bureau. Census. 2016. FFF: Asian/Pacific American Heritage Month: May 2016 URL: <u>https://www.census.gov/newsroom/facts-for-features/2016/cb16-ff07.html</u> [accessed 2017-06-05] [WebCite Cache ID 6qzGYEWGT]
- 2. Becerra MB, Becerra BJ. Disparities in age at diabetes diagnosis among Asian Americans: implications for early preventive measures. Prev Chronic Dis 2015 Sep 10;12:E146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd12.150006] [Medline: 26355827]
- Asian Americans Center for Advancing Justice. 2013. A Community of Contrasts: Asian Americans, Native Hawaiians, and Pacific Islanders in California URL: <u>https://www.advancingjustice-la.org/system/files/</u> <u>Communities of Contrast California 2013.pdf [WebCite Cache ID 6tqhtystv]</u>
- 4. Nguyen TH, Nguyen TN, Fischer T, Ha W, Tran TV. Type 2 diabetes among Asian Americans: prevalence and prevention. World J Diabetes 2015 May 15;6(4):543-547. [doi: 10.4239/wjd.v6.i4.543]
- Bender MS, Choi J, Won GY, Fukuoka Y. Randomized controlled trial lifestyle interventions for Asian Americans: a systematic review. Prev Med 2014 Oct;67:171-181 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.07.034] [Medline: 25086326]
- 6. Inouye J, Matsuura C, Li D, Castro R, Leake A. Lifestyle intervention for Filipino Americans at risk for diabetes. J Community Health Nurs 2014;31(4):225-237. [doi: <u>10.1080/07370016.2014.926674</u>] [Medline: <u>25356992</u>]
- Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Lachin JM, Walker EA, Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med 2002 Feb 7;346(6):393-403 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa012512] [Medline: 11832527]
- 8. HealthyPeople.gov. Healthy People 2020 URL: <u>https://www.healthypeople.gov</u> [accessed 2017-09-29] [WebCite Cache ID 6tqlP9SAr]
- Jensen MD, Ryan DH, Apovian CM, Ard JD, Comuzzie AG, Donato KA. 2013 AHA/ACC/TOS guideline for the management of overweight and obesity in adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and The Obesity Society. Circulation 2014;129(25 Suppl 2):S102-S138. [doi: 10.1161/01.cir.0000437739.71477.ee] [Medline: 24222017]
- Jensen MD, Ryan DH, Apovian CM, Ard JD, Comuzzie AG, Donato KA, American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines, Obesity Society. 2013 AHA/ACC/TOS guideline for the management of overweight and obesity in adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and The Obesity Society. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014 Jul 01;63(25 Pt B):2985-3023 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.11.004] [Medline: 24239920]
- Payne HE, Lister C, West JH, Bernhardt JM. Behavioral functionality of mobile apps in health interventions: a systematic review of the literature. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Feb 26;3(1):e20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3335] [Medline: 25803705]

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e30/

- 12. Anderson M. Pew Internet. 2015. Technology Device Ownership: 2015 URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2015/10/29/</u> technology-device-ownership-2015/ [accessed 2017-07-10] [WebCite Cache ID 6tqimIOiH]
- 13. Bender MS, Choi J, Arai S, Paul SM, Gonzalez P, Fukuoka Y. Digital technology ownership, usage, and factors predicting downloading health apps among caucasian, filipino, korean, and latino americans: the digital link to health survey. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2014 Oct 22;2(4):e43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3710] [Medline: 25339246]
- 14. Stephens J, Allen J. Mobile phone interventions to increase physical activity and reduce weight: a systematic review. J Cardiovasc Nurs 2013;28(4):320-329 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/JCN.0b013e318250a3e7] [Medline: 22635061]
- Connelly J, Kirk A, Masthoff J, MacRury S. The use of technology to promote physical activity in Type 2 diabetes management: a systematic review. Diabet Med 2013 Dec;30(12):1420-1432. [doi: <u>10.1111/dme.12289</u>] [Medline: <u>23870009</u>]
- 16. Lyzwinski LN. A systematic review and meta-analysis of mobile devices and weight loss with an intervention content analysis. J Pers Med 2014 Jun 30;4(3):311-385 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jpm4030311] [Medline: 25563356]
- 17. Maglalang DD, Yoo GJ, Ursua RA, Villanueva C, Chesla CA, Bender MS. "I don't have to explain, people understand": acceptability and cultural relevance of a mobile health lifestyle intervention for Filipinos with type 2 diabetes. Ethn Dis 2017 Apr 20;27(2):143-154. [doi: 10.18865/ed.27.2.143] [Medline: 28439185]
- Bender MS, Santos G, Villanueva C, Arai S. Development of a mobile phone-based weight loss lifestyle intervention for Filipino Americans with type 2 diabetes: protocol and early results from the PilAm Go4Health randomized controlled trial. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Sep 8;5(3):e178 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5836] [Medline: 27608829]
- Grundy SM, Brewer Jr HB, Cleeman JI, Smith Jr SC, Lenfant C, American Heart Association, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Definition of metabolic syndrome: report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute/American Heart Association conference on scientific issues related to definition. Circulation 2004 Jan 27;109(3):433-438 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000111245.75752.C6] [Medline: 14744958]
- 20. Bandura A. The evolution of social cognitive theory. In: Smith KG, Hitt MA, editors. Great Minds in Management. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2007:9-35.
- 21. Prochaska JO, Velicer WF. The transtheoretical model of health behavior change. Am J Health Promot 1997;12(1):38-48. [Medline: 10170434]
- 22. Bender MS, Clark MJ. Cultural adaptation for ethnic diversity: a review of obesity interventions for preschool children. Calif J Health Promot 2011 Sep;9(2):40 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24159268]
- 23. National Heart Lung and Blood Institute. : US Department of Health and Human Services; 2008. Healthy Heart, Healthy Family A Community Health Worker's Manual for the Filipino Community URL: <u>https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/files/docs/</u>resources/heart/filipino_manual.pdf [accessed 2017-03-14] [WebCite Cache ID 6tqjGVTOQ]
- 24. Schechtman KB. Run-in periods in randomized clinical trials. J Card Fail 2017 Sep;23(9):700-701. [doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2017.07.402] [Medline: 28757151]
- 25. Bowen DJ, Kreuter M, Spring B, Cofta-Woerpel L, Linnan L, Weiner D, et al. How we design feasibility studies. Am J Prev Med 2009 May;36(5):452-457 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.02.002] [Medline: 19362699]
- 26. Small Steps Labs LLC. Fitabase. URL: <u>https://www.fitabase.com/tour/</u> [accessed 2017-09-29] [WebCite Cache ID 6tqkG9nAi]
- 27. Atlanta: Center for Disease Control and Prevention; 2015. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Diabetes Prevention Recognition Program: Standards and Operation Procedures URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/prevention/pdf/dprp-standards.</u> <u>pdf</u> [accessed 2017-03-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6tqkdUrea]
- 28. Hox J, Moerbeek M, van de Schoot R. Multilevel Analysis: Techniques and Applications, Second Edition (Quantitative Methodology Series). New York: Routledge Academic; 2010.
- 29. Singer JD, Willett JB. Applied Longitudinal Data Analysis: Modeling Change and Event Occurrence. New York, New York: Oxford University Press, Inc; 2003.
- Carpenter J, Bithell J. Bootstrap confidence intervals: when, which, what? A practical guide for medical statisticians. Stat Med 2000 May 15;19(9):1141-1164. [Medline: <u>10797513</u>]
- 31. Efron B. The bootstrap and modern statistics. J Am Stat Assoc 2000 Dec;95(452):1293-1296. [doi: 10.2307/2669773]
- 32. LaFleur BJ, Greevy RA. Introduction to permutation and resampling-based hypothesis tests. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol 2009 Mar;38(2):286-294. [doi: 10.1080/15374410902740411] [Medline: 19283606]
- 33. StataCorp. 2017. Stata. College Station, TX: Stata Press; 2017. Stata Statistical Software: Release 15 URL: <u>https://www.stata.com/support/faqs/resources/citing-software-documentation-faqs/</u> [accessed 2017-11-12] [WebCite Cache ID 6uvj8ytsK]
- 34. Rabe-Hesketh S, Skrondal A. Multilevel and Longitudinal Modeling Using Stata. College Station, TX: Stata Press; 2012.
- Dela Cruz FA, Lao BT, Heinlein C. Level of acculturation, food intake, dietary changes, and health status of first-generation Filipino Americans in Southern California. J Am Assoc Nurse Pract 2013 Nov;25(11):619-630. [doi: 10.1111/1745-7599.12031] [Medline: 24170537]
- Ali MK, Echouffo-Tcheugui J, Williamson DF. How effective were lifestyle interventions in real-world settings that were modeled on the diabetes prevention program? Health Aff (Millwood) 2012 Jan;31(1):67-75 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2011.1009] [Medline: 22232096]
- 37. Dionne MM, Yeudall F. Monitoring of weight in weight loss programs: a double-edged sword? J Nutr Educ Behav 2005;37(6):315-318. [Medline: <u>16242063</u>]

- Neumark-Sztainer D, van den Berg P, Hannan PJ, Story M. Self-weighing in adolescents: helpful or harmful? Longitudinal associations with body weight changes and disordered eating. J Adolesc Health 2006 Dec;39(6):811-818. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2006.07.002] [Medline: 17116510]
- Anderson M, Perrin A. Pew Internet. 2017 May 17. Tech adoption climbs among older adults URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2017/05/17/tech-adoption-climbs-among-older-adults/</u> [accessed 2017-06-01] [WebCite Cache ID 6tqkmq51Q]
- 40. Brown JD, Buscemi J, Milsom V, Malcolm R, O'Neil PM. Effects on cardiovascular risk factors of weight losses limited to 5-10. Transl Behav Med 2016 Sep;6(3):339-346 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-015-0353-9] [Medline: 27528523]
- 41. Wing RR, Lang W, Wadden TA, Safford M, Knowler WC, Bertoni AG, Look AHEAD Research Group. Benefits of modest weight loss in improving cardiovascular risk factors in overweight and obese individuals with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2011 Jul;34(7):1481-1486 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc10-2415] [Medline: 21593294]
- Magkos F, Fraterrigo G, Yoshino J, Luecking C, Kirbach K, Kelly SC, et al. Effects of moderate and subsequent progressive weight loss on metabolic function and adipose tissue biology in humans with obesity. Cell Metab 2016 Apr 12;23(4):591-601 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.02.005] [Medline: 26916363]
- 43. Recio-Rodriguez JI, Agudo-Conde C, Martin-Cantera C, González-Viejo MN, Fernandez-Alonso MD, Arietaleanizbeaskoa MS, EVIDENT Investigators. Short-term effectiveness of a mobile phone app for increasing physical activity and adherence to the Mediterranean diet in primary care: a randomized controlled trial (EVIDENT II study). J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 19;18(12):e331 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6814] [Medline: 27993759]
- Lim S, Kang SM, Kim KM, Moon JH, Choi SH, Hwang H, et al. Multifactorial intervention in diabetes care using real-time monitoring and tailored feedback in type 2 diabetes. Acta Diabetol 2016 May;53(2):189-198. [doi: 10.1007/s00592-015-0754-8] [Medline: 25936739]
- 45. Burke LE, Wang J, Sevick MA. Self-monitoring in weight loss: a systematic review of the literature. J Am Diet Assoc 2011 Jan;111(1):92-102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2010.10.008] [Medline: 21185970]
- 46. Poirier J, Bennett WL, Jerome GJ, Shah NG, Lazo M, Yeh HC, et al. Effectiveness of an activity tracker- and internet-based adaptive walking program for adults: a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2016 Feb 9;18(2):e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5295] [Medline: 26860434]
- 47. Pourzanjani A, Quisel T, Foschini L. Adherent use of digital health trackers is associated with weight loss. PLoS One 2016 Apr 6;11(4):e0152504 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152504] [Medline: 27049859]
- Bender MS, Clark MJ, Gahagan S. Community engagement approach: developing a culturally appropriate intervention for Hispanic mother-child dyads. J Transcult Nurs 2014 Oct;25(4):373-382 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1043659614523473] [Medline: 24595163]
- Siddiqui F, Kurbasic A, Lindblad U, Nilsson PM, Bennet L. Effects of a culturally adapted lifestyle intervention on cardio-metabolic outcomes: a randomized controlled trial in Iraqi immigrants to Sweden at high risk for Type 2 diabetes. Metabolism 2017 Jan;66:1-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2016.10.001] [Medline: 27923444]
- 50. Zhao J, Freeman B, Li M. Can mobile phone apps influence people's health behavior change? An evidence review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Oct 31;18(11):e287 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5692] [Medline: 27806926]
- 51. Smith A. Pew Internet. Washington DC: Pew Research Center; 2014. Older Adults and Technology Use URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2014/04/03/older-adults-and-technology-use/</u> [accessed 2017-11-12] [WebCite Cache ID 6uvkdHubx]
- Hales SB, Davidson C, Turner-McGrievy GM. Varying social media post types differentially impacts engagement in a behavioral weight loss intervention. Transl Behav Med 2014 Dec;4(4):355-362 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-014-0274-z] [Medline: 25584084]
- 53. Godino JG, Merchant G, Norman GJ, Donohue MC, Marshall SJ, Fowler JH, et al. Using social and mobile tools for weight loss in overweight and obese young adults (Project SMART): a 2 year, parallel-group, randomised, controlled trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2016 Sep;4(9):747-755. [doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(16)30105-X] [Medline: 27426247]
- 54. Murphy KR, Myors B, Wolach A. Statistical Power Analysis: A Simple and General Model for Traditional and Modern Hypothesis Tests. 3rd edition. New York, NY: Routledge; 2009.
- 55. Cohen J. A power primer. Psychol Bull 1992 Jul;112(1):155-159. [Medline: 19565683]
- 56. Affuso O, Kaiser KA, Carson TL, Ingram KH, Schwiers M, Robertson H, et al. Association of run-in periods with weight loss in obesity randomized controlled trials. Obes Rev 2014 Jan;15(1):68-73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/obr.12111] [Medline: 24118736]

Abbreviations

BMI: body mass index
BC CI: bias-corrected bootstrapped confidence interval
CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
DPP: Diabetes Prevention Program
mHealth: mobile health
PA: physical activity

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e30/

PilAm Go4Health: Pilipino Americans Go4Health **RCT:** randomized controlled trial **T2D:** type 2 diabetes

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 07.06.17; peer-reviewed by A Haste, B Bock; comments to author 25.08.17; revised version received 02.10.17; accepted 29.10.17; published 12.12.17.

Please cite as:

Bender MS, Cooper BA, Park LG, Padash S, Arai S A Feasible and Efficacious Mobile-Phone Based Lifestyle Intervention for Filipino Americans with Type 2 Diabetes: Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e30 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e30/</u> doi:10.2196/diabetes.8156 PMID:30291068

©Melinda S Bender, Bruce A Cooper, Linda G Park, Sara Padash, Shoshana Arai. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 12.12.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Assessing Diabetes-Relevant Data Provided by Undergraduate and Crowdsourced Web-Based Survey Participants for Honesty and Accuracy

Mary Turner DePalma¹, PhD; Michael C Rizzotti¹, BS; Matthew Branneman¹

Ithaca College, Department of Psychology, Ithaca, NY, United States

Corresponding Author: Mary Turner DePalma, PhD Ithaca College Department of Psychology 119F Williams Hall 953 Danby Road Ithaca, NY, 14850 United States Phone: 1 607 274 1323 Fax: 1 607 274 5112 Email: depalma@ithaca.edu

Abstract

Background: To eliminate health disparities, research will depend on our ability to reach select groups of people (eg, samples of a particular racial or ethnic group with a particular disease); unfortunately, researchers often experience difficulty obtaining high-quality data from samples of sufficient size.

Objective: Past studies utilizing MTurk applaud its diversity, so our initial objective was to capitalize on MTurk's diversity to investigate psychosocial factors related to diabetes self-care.

Methods: In Study 1, a "Health Survey" was posted on MTurk to examine diabetes-relevant psychosocial factors. The survey was restricted to individuals who were 18 years of age or older with diabetes. Detection of irregularities in the data, however, prompted an evaluation of the quality of MTurk health-relevant data. This ultimately led to Study 2, which utilized an alert statement to improve conscientious behavior, or the likelihood that participants would be thorough and diligent in their responses. Trap questions were also embedded to assess conscientious behavior.

Results: In Study 1, of 4165 responses, 1246 were generated from 533 unique IP addresses completing the survey multiple times within close temporal proximity. Ultimately, only 252 responses were found to be acceptable. Further analyses indicated additional quality concerns with this subsample. In Study 2, as compared with the MTurk sample (N=316), the undergraduate sample (N=300) included more females, and fewer individuals who were married. The samples did not differ with respect to race. Although the presence of an alert resulted in fewer trap failures (mean=0.07) than when no alert was present (mean=0.11), this difference failed to reach significance: $F_{1,604}$ =2.5, P=.11, ²=.004, power=.35. The modal trap failure response was zero, while the mean was 0.092 (SD=0.32). There were a total of 60 trap failures in a context where the potential could have exceeded 16,000.

Conclusions: Published studies that utilize MTurk participants are rapidly appearing in the health domain. While MTurk may have the potential to be more diverse than an undergraduate sample, our efforts did not meet the criteria for what would constitute a diverse sample in and of itself. Because some researchers have experienced successful data collection on MTurk, while others report disastrous results, Kees et al recently identified that one essential area of research is of the types and magnitude of cheating behavior occurring on Web-based platforms. The present studies can contribute to this dialogue, and alternately provide evidence of disaster and success. Moving forward, it is recommended that researchers employ best practices in survey design and deliberately embed trap questions to assess participant behavior. We would strongly suggest that standards be in place for publishing the results of Web-based surveys—standards that protect against publication unless there are suitable quality assurance tests built into the survey design, distribution, and analysis.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e11) doi:10.2196/diabetes.7473



KEYWORDS

crowdsourcing; diabetes mellitus; survey design; survey methodology; survey quality; mechanical turks; MTurk; data accuracy

Introduction

Study 1

Diabetes Self-Care

Diabetes is a complex, chronic illness in which a patient's body has difficulty regulating the amount of glucose in the blood. This illness requires continuous self-care, which is critical to the prevention of acute and long-term complications. In 2013, the International Diabetes Federation estimated that 382 million people worldwide had diabetes, and that number is expected to increase to 592 million people by 2035 [1]. In the context of these projections, there is concern that the cost-heavy treatment of this disease may outstrip existing healthcare resources. Monies spent on the treatment of diabetes will then limit the funds available for the prevention of this disease, as well as the prevention of other chronic conditions.

As a result, research continues to investigate biological methods for treating diabetes. Because researchers estimate that 95% of care associated with the disease is personal behavioral self-care [2], research is also underway to examine the psychosocial markers of how well someone manages the disease. For example, DePalma et al found in a small, largely Non-Hispanic white sample, that greater perceptions of personal responsibility for disease onset were related to poorer diabetes self-care [3]. In a subsequent investigation of these variables in an American Indian and Alaska Native sample, DePalma et al failed to replicate this finding and instead found that diabetes self-efficacy was a strong predictor of more effective diabetes self-care [4]. Because of the possibility that racial, ethnic, or cultural differences played a role in these disparate findings, the researchers bore the responsibility of continued investigation on groups that are disproportionately affected by diabetes (eg, Asian Americans, African Americans, and Latinos). In order to eliminate health disparities, research will depend on our ability to obtain such select groups of people (ie, samples of a particular racial or ethnic group with a particular disease); unfortunately, researchers often experience difficulty recruiting samples of sufficient size [5].

The Need for Sample Diversification

There are obvious and practical reasons why the bulk of research is on undergraduates, but there has been a strident call to work toward sample diversification, particularly in health research. This concern is not new; the limitations of using undergraduate samples for conducting research have been discussed for decades. Given that this is particularly true in the social and behavioral sciences, Arnett evaluated the diversity of psychological research by analyzing 4037 studies from six different American Psychological Association journals published over 20 years [6]. Analyses showed that in 2007 alone, 67% of American studies published in the *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* used undergraduate psychology participants. In countries other than the United States, undergraduates were used in 80% of studies [6]. Henrich et al estimated that when

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e11/

participants are selected for research, an American undergraduate is 4000 times more likely to be selected than is a non–Western individual [7]. Arnett argued that "the rich get researched" [6].

Of course, researchers should be cautious when extending results from undergraduate participants to diverse adult populations. Why would observations of samples of 18-22 year old undergraduates who are primarily white and increasingly female [8] be expected to generalize to phenomenon describing diverse health, business, and social behaviors? Using a series of large-scale meta-analyses, Peterson showed that, when compared with responses from non-student samples, undergraduate psychological and behavioral responses were more homogenous and the associated effect sizes often differed in magnitude and direction [9]. This could be especially problematic when investigating disparities that exist in a behavioral health context. Notably, Peterson and Merunka observed "...even if theory testing is the study purpose, few researchers using convenience samples of college students appear to recognize that their investigation possesses the characteristics of a limited laboratory test that cannot generalize to other samples" [10].

In addition to concerns about response homogeneity, some researchers have also questioned the quality of undergraduate data. Chen utilized data from the National Survey of Student Engagement (NSSE) involving undergraduates from 587 US colleges and universities [11]. About 11% of first year and 7% of fourth year undergraduates failed to answer 30% or more of the 85 Web-based survey questions. Students who responded to the Web-based version provided more responses of lower quality than did those responding in a paper-and-pencil format. Chen expressed concern that participants may not properly understand survey questions or that their responses may be careless, negatively affecting the quality of the resultant data.

Web-Based Samples Can Be More Diverse

Although the extensive reliance on undergraduate samples remains in practice, an increasing amount of survey research is now being conducted on the Internet, which allows researchers to quickly and easily collect data from local and global participants [12]. While there are certainly students on these survey platforms, a researcher is no longer restricted to samples of undergraduate psychology students.

Amazon Mechanical Turk (MTurk)

MTurk, a Web-based crowdsourcing platform for conducting survey research, is touted as providing an economical, diverse sample [13]. Based on their research, Crump et al dramatically conclude that Amazon MTurk (AMT) "...is a revolutionary tool for conducting experiments. It offers the ability to run experiments with large numbers of subjects in a matter of hours. This has the potential to transform behavioral research. Additionally, AMT provides an opportunity to reach a more representative population that varies widely in age, education, and ethnicity and geographic location" [14]. Amazon

XSL•FO RenderX

Mechanical Turk seemed to have the potential to fulfill our need to obtain a specific sample efficiently and inexpensively.

On MTurk, "Requesters" post Web-based Human Intelligence Tasks (HITs) to be completed by "Workers" who are paid to complete the HIT. There are typically more than 100,000 HITs that are readily available for MTurk Workers [13]. For example, HITs might include completing basic surveys or performing accounting tasks. An MTurk Worker then earns a HIT quality "approval rating" based on the number of HITs accepted by the Worker compared to the number of times Requestors reject the completed work for being of low quality. Accepted work then receives compensation ranging between US \$.01 and several dollars per HIT. In essence, a survey researcher could conceivably collect 1000 responses from a 10 min survey in less than one week for US \$100 [15]. It is easy to see how this rapid and inexpensive mode of data collection could be attractive.

The primary draw for our research team was the purported diversity of MTurk participant pools. Kraut et al contend that internet-based surveys "...can provide a large, diverse sample at low cost" [16]. Mason and Suri report that MTurk Workers "...tend to be from a very diverse background, spanning a wide range of age, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, language, and country of origin" [17]. MTurk includes more than 500,000 Workers from 190 countries [13], including the United States (47%) and India (34%) [18]. Of the US MTurk Workers, there are currently more women (64.85%) than men (35.15%), and many have a higher educational level than the general US population [18]. Although Berinsky et al report that MTurk samples are largely white in terms of racial composition, these samples are considered comparable to adult participants found in other convenience samples [19].

In addition, college samples are not an efficient option for conducting some types of health research because these groups tend to be too young to produce significant sample sizes of people with diabetes and other chronic illnesses. Thus, MTurk is likely to be superior to a college population whenever the researcher is examining health issues that are not widely present in undergraduate samples. Finally, although it is important to note that MTurk samples are expected to be more diverse because they would include anyone over the age of 18, be larger than one cohort of students, and extend beyond a single college campus, it is also important to emphasize that this would not necessarily result in more socioeconomically diverse samples. Individuals who do not have access to computers and the Internet will not be represented in these samples.

Web-Based Sample Quality

There is no conclusive answer regarding the quality of MTurk responses as the available data offer a conflicting report. Some evidence suggests that Web-based samples are of worse quality than undergraduate samples. Rouse reported that MTurk responses to a personality measure were less reliable than responses reported for an adult community sample [20]. MTurk Workers also tend to score slightly higher on social desirability [21]. The desire to please researchers may be detrimental because the Worker may provide the answer they believe the researcher wants or look to outside sources for more information

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e11/
```

 $XSI \bullet FC$

to "correctly" answer questions [22,23]. Kees et al contend, however, that lower quality MTurk data is largely the result of using MTurk Workers who have non-US IP addresses [24].

In addition, some people have expressed concern that only a limited number of participants are accounting for a significant proportion of the data produced by MTurk Workers [25]. For example, Kumar suggests creating a reusable list of Workers who routinely provide high quality data [26]. Although this may be an excellent strategy for individual HITs that are using Workers for "work," this would defeat any use of these pools for research conducted for the purpose of collecting generalizable data.

However, other research evidence suggests that Web-based samples produce data comparable to, or substantially better than, those obtained using traditional samples. However, there is the added benefit of potentially being more diverse [27]. For example, Paolacci et al compared the data collected on MTurk Workers to a traditional subject pool from a Midwestern US university [18]. MTurk Workers were not more likely to cheat than undergraduate participants, nor was there evidence suggesting that Web-based methods produced poorer quality data. The authors concluded that data collected through MTurk Workers can be comparable to data collected from more traditional means. Mullinix and colleagues compare population-based data and MTurk data across 20 studies and conclude that there is considerable similarity in treatment effects, supporting the potential utility of MTurk samples [28]. Clifford and Jerit provided even more striking data that showed that student samples self-reported cheating at rates between 24-41%, while comparable MTurk self-reports hovered between 4-7% [29]. The authors acknowledge, however, that it could be that MTurk respondents were less likely to report cheating behavior because of the impact such an admission might have on their approval rating or pay. However, in a direct comparison of MTurk and undergraduate samples, Hauser and Schwarz report that, across three studies, MTurk respondents were significantly more attentive to specific instructions contained in manipulation checks than were respondents from undergraduate subject pools [30].

Purpose

Based on previous research, we hypothesized that a judgment of responsibility for the onset of diabetes would be related to disease self-care. MTurk's diversity attributes would offer a promising tool to examine this hypothesis in a large and diverse sample.

However, preliminary analysis of the data revealed significant inconsistencies. These irregularities spurred the investigation of the quality of our initial data for health-relevant material, and prompted a second direct test of the quality of MTurk data.

Study 2

Survey Design Practices

Of course, researchers bear the responsibility of being continually vigilant and cognizant of the quality concerns for all self-report data, independent of whether the participant is physically present or on the Internet. Even if care has been

exercised in the recruitment of respondents, participants can occasionally subvert the onboarding process and contribute responses that would be unhelpful at best and misleading at worst. Maniaci and Rogge present evidence that poor quality data may reduce power and effect sizes and obscure findings that are visible in the responses of attentive respondents [31]. Thus, researchers could incorporate survey design practices to attempt to increase quality. Researchers can choose from attention checks or reminders, alerts, or actual trap questions; however, each of these methods has strengths and weaknesses.

Attention Checks

Goodman et al suggest the use of methods to gauge participant attention [32]. Attention filters are "trick" questions that require a respondent to answer in a particular way in order for the survey to continue; that is, the survey process does not continue until the "correct" box is checked. However, Paolacci and Chandler contend that having these types of attention checks are no more beneficial to having higher quality data than just working exclusively with Workers who have high approval ratings [22].

Alerts

Some research suggests that the use of a warning message or an alert will produce higher quality data. Clifford and Jerit found that the presence of an item asking respondents to be attentive and honest produced more reliable responses [33]. While some researchers have expressed concern that these types of affirmations may be interpreted negatively in light of a reference to participant honesty, Clifford and Jerit report that respondents were not visibly upset by their survey manipulation that specifically asked participants not to use outside sources to find a correct answer [29]. These "honesty affirmation" items may prod people to be more conscientious, but these items will not provide a way to evaluate whether participants were actually conscientious in their responses.

Trap Questions

Trap questions can be included within surveys to identify respondents who are not reading carefully (or at all) or who are using automated response methods. Examples of trap questions include simple requests to choose a specific answer from a subsequent response list. Or, the response of a participant who answered "yes" to being a biological male could be compared to his response on the question: "have you ever been pregnant?" Downs at al suggest that researchers should deliberately embed trick questions to measure whether participants answer conscientiously [34]. These "catch trials" would help researchers determine which subjects were not paying close attention.

Worker Qualifications

When creating a HIT, it is possible to manage the level of qualifications a Worker needs in order to be able to participate. For example, one could increase the approval rating to 95% and increase the required number of previous HITs that have been completed successfully. Another strategy is to restrict the survey to MTurk Masters, who are "...an elite group of Workers, who have demonstrated superior performance while completing thousands of HITs for a variety of Requesters across the Mechanical Turk Marketplace" [35].

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e11/

Purpose

The potential for the conduct of research through the Internet is staggering. In fact, a 2011 article published in *Science* presented the MTurk platform as likely to become a "mainstream" form of data collection [36]. Published studies are now appearing that use MTurk participants; however, few provide information on the quality of the resultant data. Although there appears to be significant potential for MTurk to be a "revolutionary tool" that could assist in reaching more diverse samples, there remains significant concern over the quality of the resultant data as well as the degree to which these samples are truly diverse..

Therefore, the present study utilized both an undergraduate and an MTurk sample and hypothesized that the conscientiousness of the participants' responses could be evaluated using trap questions as well as the time of survey completion. In addition, we randomly assigned half of the participants to receive an alert statement. We hypothesized that an alert statement would positively influence response quality. This study was designed to employ stronger restrictions and directly test whether MTurk can be a reliable data collection method for health-related information gathered from a diverse sample.

Methods

Study 1

Materials and Procedure

Subsequent to Institutional Research Board approval, a 25-min "Health Survey" was posted on MTurk. To investigate the psychosocial determinants of diabetes care in the United States, only US Workers who had a HIT approval rating of greater than 90% could "accept" the HIT, which allowed them to access the survey.

Qualification Questions

A preliminary qualification question required Workers to disclose whether or not they had any of the following diseases: diabetes, heart disease, asthma, osteoporosis, or none of the above. If diabetes was not selected, the participants were directed out of the survey and thanked for their interest. Workers who did select diabetes were prompted with a secondary age qualification question. Only Workers who specified that they were at least 18 years of age were allowed to continue to an informed consent page, where they again confirmed that they were 18 years of age or older, with diabetes.

Survey Questions

If the participants successfully met the relevant criteria, they completed a 40-question survey that included multiple choice, fill-in-the-blank, and Likert-type scale items. Workers first answered basic demographic questions (eg, age, sex, and race). Additional scales were included to measure psychosocial aspects of diabetes self-care. Participants were also prompted about their own disease status: "With which type of diabetes have you been diagnosed?" Answers included "type 1," "type 2," "I don't know," or "I don't have diabetes." At the conclusion of the survey, participants who entered a valid MTurk ID received a

code to obtain their compensation of US \$0.25. A debriefing statement was subsequently provided.

Study 2

Participants and Procedure

A 10-min survey on "Health Issues and Health Organizations" was created using Qualtrics and, following Institutional Research Board approval, released on MTurk and the SONA systems platform (a local Web-based survey management system) for approximately 15 weeks. Restrictions were imposed such that only one response could be entered from a particular IP address. After providing informed consent, participants were directed to the survey, which ultimately concluded with a CAPTCHA and a debriefing statement.

Sample 1: MTurk

The survey was posted as a HIT available only to US MTurk Masters with a 95% approval rating over 1000 HITs. At the conclusion of the survey, participants who entered their MTurk IDs received a compensation of US \$0.75.

On MTurk, 377 participants accessed the survey, but only 83.8% (316/377) of the participants finished the survey (138 were male, 176 were female, and 2 did not provide a response to this question). Demographic information for these samples can be found in Table 2. The individuals ranged in age from 20-69 years (mean=37.67, SD=11.83).

Sample 2: Undergraduate Sample

Undergraduates were recruited from introductory psychology classes to complete a Web-based SONA survey for which they received extra credit in a course. These undergraduates were recruited from non-majors courses and participants spanned the academic range from first-year students to seniors. Although 330 undergraduate participants accessed the survey, only 90.9% (300/330) finished the survey. Participants ranged in age from 17-62 (mean=19.37, SD=2.97; see Table 2).

Materials

Primary Measures

In a survey that was pre-tested to take less than 10 min, participants responded to basic demographic items (eg, age, sex, and race), an assessment of personal and family health history regarding different diseases (eg, diabetes and lung cancer), as well as their personal diabetes information (eg, type of diabetes, treatment, and medication).

Alerts

XSL•F() RenderX

Approximately half of the participants were randomly assigned to an alert condition that examined whether an emphasis on conscientiousness would positively influence the quality of the participants' survey responses. The alert was preceded by the word "IMPORTANT" in large bold red font, followed by the message "The following is a health survey that relies on your conscientiousness. We ask that you be attentive because your input will strengthen our understanding of an important area of research for the health community. Please also note that not being truthful breaches research (MTurk) guidelines. Thank you. We greatly appreciate your participation."

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e11/
```

Trap Questions

The Web-based survey included a total of 26 potential trap questions to measure participant conscientiousness. Participants were first asked to record the current date. They were also asked about family disease history. In a list of diseases, nine trap failures were embedded to check if responders claimed to have been diagnosed with, or had a family member diagnosed with, a fictitious disorder (eg, hyperemblyopia). There were 13 linked trap questions, which are those that are mutually exclusive. For example, if a participant identified his biological sex as "male" and responded "yes" to having been pregnant, trap failure would be noted. Finally, a trap failure would be recorded if participants noted at the beginning of the survey that they had diabetes and then later indicated that they did not, or indicated that they had both type 1 and type 2 diabetes.

Secondary Measures

As part of our cover story, we presented exploratory questions regarding health-related organizational "footprints." These questions measured the participants' knowledge and the perceived visibility of different health organizations. In addition, behavioral and lifestyle risk factors have been shown to be related to the onset of diabetes and heart disease (eg, sedentary living and poor dietary choices). Several studies have shown robust effects such that the perception that one could control disease onset will result in higher levels of perceived responsibility for disease onset, as well as higher ratings of blame [37]. To examine the ability to replicate these findings in the present sample, participants were also randomly assigned to evaluate a vignette that presented individuals with a disease (diabetes or heart disease) reportedly caused by either genetics or lifestyle choices. Using a Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree), participants rated their emotional reaction toward the individual (ie, perceived responsibility, anger, and blame).

Results

Study 1

Participant Information

Using the MTurk platform, 4165 responses to the Health Survey were recorded over 6 months. However, initial data analyses revealed that an unusual number of data points had been entered in close temporal proximity from the same IP address. Further examination of this finding prompted a complete shift in the data analysis plan. The sample was abandoned for the original purposes, and we began a new focus on investigating the quality of the resultant data.

Of the original 4165 survey responses, 2667 responses (64.03%) came from individuals who made one attempt to take the survey, but did not meet the qualifications. Two hundred and fifty two individuals (6.05%) met the criteria for inclusion in the study. However, 1246 data points (29.92%) came from duplicate IP addresses. These 1246 data points had been entered by individuals coming from 533 distinct IP addresses (see Table 1). This subgroup of participants attempted to take the survey from two to six times (mean=2.34 attempts).

Number of attempts per IP address	n	Total number of responses
2	400	800
3	101	303
4	19	76
5	11	55
6	2	12
Total	533	1246

Of the 533 participants making repeated attempts, 48.0% (256/533) made multiple attempts reporting diseases other than diabetes. The remaining 277 participants (52.0%, 277/533) reported having diabetes in at least one of their attempts. Most of these participants (n=210) began taking the survey reporting diseases other than diabetes or no disease at all; they were subsequently excluded from the study. However, these participants returned moments later, after multiple attempts, to ultimately indicate that they had diabetes. Of these 210 participants, 185 participants "developed" diabetes within 60 s. A much smaller group (n=13) began the survey by indicating they already had diabetes, but later reported on a subsequent attempt that they did not have diabetes. However, it took much longer for these participants to be "cured" of their diabetes - approximately 3.57 h.

Had we not examined the data for the duplicate IP addresses, we would have simply restricted our sample to those respondents who indicated that they had diabetes on the qualifications page. This method would have resulted in a sample of 559 participants, or 13.42% (559/4165) of the original response pool. With a prevalence rate of 9.3% in the United States [38], 13.42% of the sample reporting diabetes is a larger percentage than one might expect in a national sample. However, this finding would not have been remarkable; it is consistent with the idea that people with diabetes might be drawn to a "Health Survey."

The Remaining 252 Participants

Six percent of the initial pool of 4165 respondents made only a single attempt to take the survey and reported having diabetes (n=252). Demographic information for this subsample can be found in Table 2. Individuals ranged in age from 18-74 (mean=38.93, SD=13.6). With respect to diversity, the sample was predominantly non-Hispanic white, female, married, and had earned at least some college credit.

Disease Misrepresentation

As noted earlier, there were two initial qualifications pages on which participants indicated that they had diabetes and were 18 years of age or older. In addition, when participants provided informed consent, they clicked on a "submit" button to confirm that they were 18 years of age or older, with diabetes. Recall, however, that participants were also prompted about their disease status later in the actual survey with the question, "With which type of diabetes have you been diagnosed?" Of the 252 participants, 61 indicated they had type 1 diabetes (24.2%), 146 had type 2 diabetes (57.9%), 11 individuals did not know which type of diabetes they had (4.4%), and 3 individuals said they

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e11/
```

RenderX

did not have diabetes (1.2%). Notably, 12.3% (31/252) of this subsample left this question blank. Therefore, it was necessary to exclude even more assuredly non-conscientious responses. Three people were excluded for indicating on this question that they did not have diabetes. One could also make an effective argument for excluding the 31 individuals (12.3%) who failed to answer this question.

Survey Completion Times

Pre-testing indicated that the survey would take approximately 25 min to complete. The average MTurk survey completion time was 12 min and 40 s (SD=19 min 3 s), ranging from completion in 8 s to 4 h and 45 min. Further analysis of the survey completion times indicated that 19.4% (49/252) completed the survey in less than 5 min. When our research team members were explicitly given instructions to barely skim the survey questions and answer randomly without thinking about their answers, the mean completion time was above 5 min. By all accounts, data from these 49 participants who completed the survey in less than 5 min (at the very minimum) should also be excluded from further analyses.

Fundamentally, in these instances we were examining the conscientious behavior of our participants. The Oxford English Dictionary defines conscientious as: "Wishing to do one's work or duty well and thoroughly." Did the participants take the time to read the material carefully and thoroughly? Did they misrepresent their disease status? It is important to note that the small subsample of 252 individuals comprised participants we could not exclude from the sample for not being conscientious in their responses. Given that of these 252 participants, further examination indicated that at least 52 more responses should not be considered for evaluation, we could not, in good conscience, analyze any of the data for our original intent. Clearly, if one is not vigilant with survey design and Web-based parameter settings, the results can be disastrous. Therefore, our second survey was specifically designed to test a means by which to improve the likelihood of conscientious behavior, and to provide a way to detect cheating if it occurred.

Study 2

Types of Trap Failures

Table 3 presents the descriptive data associated with the different types of trap failures. Trap failures were recorded for individuals who entered the incorrect date at the beginning of the survey, or who indicated that they, or a member of their family, had the fictitious disease of "hyperemblyopia." Trap failures were also recorded for sex-specific trap questions (a male who indicated

that he had been pregnant), as well as for individuals who diabetes. alternately indicated that they had, and then did not have,

Table 2. Demographic characteristics across each of the three samples.

Characteris	tics	Study 1, n (%);	Study 2, n (%);	Study 2, n (%);
		Original Sample	MTurk	Undergraduates
Biological s	sex			
	Male	95 (37.7)	138 (43.7)	67 (22.4)
	Female	153 (60.7)	176 (55.7)	232 (77.3)
	Did not specify	4 (1.6)	2 (0.6)	1 (0.3)
Race				
	Non-Hispanic white	172 (68.3)	244 (77.2)	222 (74.0)
	American Indian or Alaska Native	7 (2.8)	2 (0.6%)	3 (1.0)
	Asian American, Native Hawaiian, or other Pacific Islander	19 (7.5)	24 (7.6)	21 (7.0)
	Hispanic or Latino American	16 (6.3)	12 (3.8)	16 (5.3)
	Non-Hispanic black or African American	25 (9.9)	26 (8.2)	17 (5.7)
	Other	10 (4.0)	7 (2.2)	18 (6.0)
	Did not specify	3 (1.2)	0 (0.0)	3 (1.0)
Marital sta	itus			
	Single	62 (24.6)	150 (47.5)	291 (97.0)
	Married or partnered	119 (47.2)	115 (36.4)	7 (2.4)
	Divorced	38 (15.1)	42 (13.3)	1 (0.3)
	Separated	6 (2.4)	4 (1.2)	0 (0.0)
	Widowed	8 (3.2)	5 (1.6)	0 (0.0)
	Did not specify	19 (7.5)	0 (0.0)	1 (0.3)
Educationa	al level			
	No High School Diploma	12 (4.8)	3 (0.9)	0 (0.0)
	High School Diploma, GED ^a or Equivalent	30 (11.9)	36 (11.4)	72 (24.0)
	Some College Credit	85 (33.7)	97 (30.7)	208 (69.3)
	Associate's Degree	21 (8.3)	39 (12.3)	11 (3.7)
	Bachelor's Degree	62 (24.6)	114 (36.1)	7 (2.4)
	Master's Degree	21 (8.3)	22 (7.0)	1 (0.3)
	Professional Degree	2 (0.8)	3 (1.0)	0 (0.0)
	Doctorate	2 (0.8)	2 (0.6)	0 (0.0)
	Omitted	17 (6.8)	0 (0.0)	1 (0.3)
Total numl	per of participants	252	316	300

^aGED: general education diploma.



Table 3. Different types of trap failures.

Trap category	Number of failures in MTurk sample	Number of failures in under- graduate sample	Total number of failures
Date (1 question)	19	10	29
Fictitious disorder 9 questions)	0	2	2
Sex-specific (13 questions)	7^{a}	2	9
Diabetes (2 questions)	2	0	2
Survey completion time	13	5	18
Total	41	19	60

^aThis represents 3 participants with 1 failure and 2 participants with 2 failures.

Table 4.	Percentage	of trap	failures.
----------	------------	---------	-----------

Number of traps failed	MTurk, %	Undergraduate, %	Combined samples, %
0	88.0	95.0	91.4
1	11.1	4.0	7.6
2	0.9	0.7	0.8
3	0.0	0.3	0.2

Survey Completion Times

The time it took for participants to complete the survey was calculated for all items presented *after* the alert statement. The survey pretested at an average of just over 7 min (mean=7 min 14 s). Participant survey completion time ranged from 1 min and 24 s to 1 h 19 min (mean=5 min 39 s, SD=4 min 22 s). Univariate general linear modeling indicated that, on average, participants who received the alert took longer to complete the remainder of the survey (mean=5 min 32 s), but this difference failed to reach significance: $F_{1,610}$ =.40, P=.53, ²=.001, power=.10. Notably, the effect size associated with the alert hovered near zero. On average, MTurk participants completed the survey 1 min and 37 s faster (mean=4 min 47 s) than did the undergraduate sample (mean=6 min 24 s): $F_{1,610}$ =16.97, P<.001 ²=.027, power=.98.

For the purposes of trap failure, any person who exceeded three standard deviations above the mean time (18 min 45 s) received a trap failure notation. Given the large standard deviation associated with completion time (SD=4 min 22 s), using a similar three standard deviation rule below the mean was not sufficient and would have permitted the inclusion of a completion time of 0 s. Simply randomly completing the survey without reading the questions or the answers takes more than 2 min. Therefore, any person who took less than 2 min to complete the survey received a trap failure notation.

Trap Failure Rates

There were a total of 26 trap opportunities embedded within the survey (see Tables 3 and 4). Trap failure responses ranged from zero to three trap failures. The modal trap failure response was zero, while the mean was 0.092 (SD=0.32). There were only 60 trap failures in a context where the potential number of trap failures could have exceeded 16,000.

Univariate general linear modeling was then used to examine trap failure rates across the participant sample, biological sex, as well as within the alert statement manipulation. A significant difference emerged between the MTurk and undergraduate samples: $F_{1,604}$ =4.33, P=.04, ²=.007, power=.55. Although the overall magnitude of trap failures was actually quite low (mean=0.09), the MTurk sample had approximately twice as many trap failures (mean=0.12) than did the undergraduate sample (mean=0.06).

Moreover, although the presence of an alert resulted in fewer trap failures (mean=0.07) as compared with when no alert was present (mean=0.11), this difference failed to reach significance: $F_{1,604}=2.5, P=.11, 2=.004$, power=.35. In addition, no significant differences emerged across sex, $F_{1, 604}=.62, P=.43, 2=.001$, power=.12.

Sample Diversity

Chi-square analyses indicated that, when compared with the MTurk Master Worker sample (see Table 2), the undergraduate sample included more females (χ^2_1 =31.9, *P*<.001), fewer individuals who were married (χ^2_4 =188.4, *P*<.001), and, naturally, fewer individuals who had obtained a Bachelor's degree or higher educational qualification (χ^2_7 =189.5, *P*<.001). The samples did not differ with respect to race (χ^2_6 =8.6, *P*=.20), but the MTurk sample (mean=37.67) was considerably older than the undergraduate sample (mean=19.37; *t*₅₉₈=25.36, *P*<.001).



Replicating Previous Data Trends

Several other studies have shown robust effects such that the perception that one could control disease onset would result in higher levels of perceived responsibility for disease onset, as well as higher ratings of anger and blame [37]. These findings were fully replicated within the present data. Multivariate general linear modeling revealed that participants who read scenarios in which the target acquired a disease through lifestyle choices rated the target higher in responsibility, anger, and blame (mean=3.15, 2.01, and 2.76, respectively) when compared with ratings for targets who were said to have acquired their disease through a genetic contribution (mean=1.44, 1.26, and 1.34, respectively): F_{3.596}=183.77, P<.001, ²=.48, power=1.0. These ratings did not differ across sample, were not influenced by the presence of an alert, nor were they influenced by the type of disease presented in the scenario (diabetes or heart disease): *Fs*_{3,596}<1.78, *Ps*>.15, ²<.009, power<.46.

Discussion

Study 1

We utilized MTurk to attract a very specific type of respondent; indeed, the data was gathered simply, effortlessly, and at an affordable total cost. However, with the initial discovery that nearly one-third of the responses represented duplicate IP addresses, the focus of the study was re-directed towards examining the quality of the Workers' responses.

The Quality of Our MTurk Data

The survey had been launched without restricting it from being completed by two or more people at the same IP address. The justifications for this decision were as follows: (1) If more than one individual with diabetes resided at a particular household, we wanted the survey to be open to all members of the household, and (2) This was a 25-min survey paying only US \$0.25.

With this in mind, lying about having diabetes for US \$0.25 did not seem to be an advantageous decision. With respect to subversive activities, Berinsky et al use the same logic to suggest that "given the relatively low pay rate of our studies and the availability of other paid work, we do not believe our work is likely to encourage such behavior" [19]. Yet the sheer number of individuals who entered our study using duplicate IP addresses was unexpected, and, in retrospect, naïve. Because these IP addresses were presented within seconds of one another, the most plausible explanation is that these were Workers attempting to get past the qualifications page to receive compensation. It is essential that researchers properly utilize controls to protect against repeated access from a single IP address.

In addition, this particular study paid only US \$0.25 for a lengthy survey. It is possible that this amount of money is not sufficient for participants to invest conscientiously in the work [39]. The survey description, however, included the appropriate time estimate for completion. Workers had the opportunity to simply avoid the survey given the explicit expectations, but some may have chosen, instead, to complete the work with low

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e11/
```

quality. High pay, however, may not mitigate these concerns because Chandler and Paolacci provide evidence that participants were even more likely to try to fraudulently enter a high-paying study (US \$1.00) than a low-paying study (US \$0.25) [40].

Another red flag was the extremely quick, virtually inhuman survey completion times. Maniaci and Rogge report that, in some types of studies, respondents demonstrating extraordinarily reaction times are simply and easily-and fast routinely-excluded from analyses [31]. In our case, that would be advisable because some of our responses were most likely responses from automated form-filling bots that have been programmed to complete Internet surveys. For example, in our study, 12 respondents logged response times of less than 60 s on a survey that had been pretested at 25 min. Moreover, our research team could not reproduce these speeds even when we tried, even by simply clicking each page without reading any portion of it. As a result of our experience, we believe it is essential for researchers to report survey completion time data as a perfunctory part of the publication process. In addition, adding a "CAPTCHA" would also be a recommended practice because it protects against bots by generating tests that humans, but not computer programs, can accomplish.

The subsample of 252 was comprised of participants we could not exclude from the sample for not being conscientious; however, it did not allow us to conclude that they were conscientious in their responses. Nor did it allow us to conclude that they were actually diagnosed with diabetes, despite their answers on the initial qualifications page. For example, some research suggests that the use of qualifications pages at the beginning of a survey is not optimal to study design. Chandler and Paolacci provide evidence that explicitly prescreening conditions can substantially increase fraudulent reports in an attempt to meet study qualifications [40]. The authors believe that the prescreen practice may lend researchers to be overly confident that the respondent is honestly reporting a particular characteristic or condition (eg, race or diabetes). These data are disturbing given that the basis for the interpretation of entire projects can rest on the supposition that a respondent possesses certain specific characteristics [25]. Chandler and Paolacci contend that these types of responses "create an obvious validity problem and may lead to erroneous conclusions about the population of interest" [40].

Instead, Chandler and Paolacci propose a pre-screen survey. Those individuals who acknowledge particular characteristics important to the study design in the initial pre-screen survey could then be invited back to the actual survey. Notably, Chandler and Paolacci believe that this could have the added benefit of enabling the recruitment of a more diverse pool of respondents [40].

Nonetheless, we must openly acknowledge that recommending that we must restrict duplicate IP addresses, that we cannot be confident that participants will be honest when answering qualification questions, that we should not use obvious screens, or that we must cross a particular threshold of monetary payments to get high-quality data affirms an underlying assumption that a substantial portion of MTurk Workers cannot

XSL•FO

be trusted to produce honest, high-quality data. Ipeirotis provides evidence that the majority of US MTurk Workers do not participate because the tasks are fun [41]; instead, 12% use it as a primary source of income, and money earned on MTurk is "...at least relevant to the vast majority of MTurk Workers" [17].

The Diversity of Our MTurk Data

Participant diversity was essential to the conduct of the present study. If we limit our attention to the 252 respondents that could not, a priori, be excluded from consideration, we find that the demographic composition is roughly similar to that reported in other MTurk samples. We report that 60.7% (153/252) were female, whereas Berinsky et al found that 60.1% were female [19]. Berinsky et al reported a mean age of 32.3 years, whereas our sample averaged nearly 39 years. A large portion of our sample reported being married (47.2%; 119/252). Berinsky et al reported that large percentages of MTurk Workers report never having been married and that they currently rent the home they are living in; however, we would also expect to see that trend in a college student sample.

With respect to the self-report of race or ethnicity, 83.5% of the Berinsky et al sample was white [19], whereas 68.3% (172/252) of our sample identified as Non-Hispanic white. The samples were comparable with respect to the proportion of Hispanic individuals, but our sample reported more than twice as many African Americans as Berinsky et al (9.9% vs 4.4%).

Ultimately, as we continue to applaud MTurk for its ability to secure a diverse sample, it is important to make a clear distinction between whether a sample is more diverse than some standard (eg, a college student population or adult convenience sample) and whether it meets the criteria for what would constitute a diverse sample in and of itself. For example, Behrend et al report a significant chi-square difference between their MTurk and undergraduate samples in terms of ethnicity [21]. Rather than being actually more diverse, one interpretation might be that the crowdsourced sample appears instead to be differently diverse, with more Hispanics but fewer African-Americans. The authors highlight that both samples are, nonetheless, predominantly Caucasian (82.20% and 79.78%, respectively). Likewise, in the current sample, we ultimately obtained data on only 77 individuals across several racial categories. We certainly did not meet any reasonable standard for what would constitute a truly diverse sample.

Summary

As problematic as these data were, they highlighted a very important question: Are there other researchers out there who have made similar mistakes? This could suggest two important potential outcomes: (1) Perhaps those Web-based responses made it through the publication process, or (2) Perhaps there are a lot of "file drawer" research studies out there that have quietly produced poor quality Web-based data, which is a methodological issue that needs to be openly discussed, debated, and formally addressed. This effort prompted the question: How can we *know* if our data is of sufficiently high quality unless we methodically test for it?

Study 2

Clearly, as indicated in Study 1, if one is not vigilant with survey design and Web-based parameter settings, the results can be disastrous. Our second survey was specifically designed to test a means by which to increase the likelihood of conscientious behavior, to provide a way to detect cheating if it occurred, and ultimately, to encourage the purposeful reporting of such information by researchers during the journal review process. There are a number of techniques that help in keeping unconscientious responders out of surveys. For example, MTurk provides the opportunity to set high approval ratings and restrict samples to individuals who have completed a large number of successful HITs. Our first study was restricted to individuals who had a 90% approval rating or better, while our second study was restricted to elite Master Workers with an approval rating of at least 95%. Restricting to Master Workers, however, severely limits the pool numbers and, by its very nature, would likely result in a more homogenous group; this technique would further limit generalizability. Thus, some researchers simply use a 95% or greater approval rating, without the application of the Master Worker designation [40].

However, one must consider the accuracy and utility of approval ratings. Approval ratings must be used carefully. If you approve a Worker's submission, the Worker gets paid. If you reject the Worker's submission, payment is not made. Given Institutional Review Board protocols for conducting research with human subjects, it is likely that approval ratings are artificially inflated by some social science research projects. For example, it is quite common for research participants to be told that they may choose to skip questions they feel uncomfortable answering. At the same time, it would then be unethical for a researcher to reject a Worker's submission for not being complete. While this may be irrelevant to individuals using MTurk for "work," this is particularly tricky if you are conducting research on a sensitive health topic. The way around this, of course, is to present a consent form that fully and clearly articulates that (1) the Worker must answer every question in order to receive compensation and (2) a person will not receive compensation unless he or she answers each question adequately. It is likely that this practice could discourage respondents from participation. In support of the idea that approval ratings may be inflated, Kumar initially suggested using Workers with an approval rating greater than 95%, but less than one year later had increased his recommendation to greater than 98% [42].

Alternatively, one could improve data quality by improving conscientious responding *during* the administration. With this in mind, we empirically tested whether an alert would improve conscientious behavior. Not only did our alert have no impact on conscientious responding, the effect size was functionally zero. This outcome is potentially the byproduct of a ceiling effect of our highly conscientious sample; nonetheless, the present data suggest that an alert may not be the answer.

Finally, one can work to assure data quality *after the fact* by including traps to test for conscientious responding. We found that, although MTurk Master Workers were more likely to fail traps than the undergraduate sample, overall trap failure rates were remarkably low. We do not want to lose sight of what we

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e11/
```

believe to be exceptional performance on our survey by emphasizing that there were only 60 trap failures in a context where the potential number of trap failures could have exceeded 16,000. And, in fact, we were able to fully replicate an established finding in psychosocial health research.

One can also examine how long it took the respondents to complete the survey in comparison to a pre-testing standard [43]. One could exclude the responses from all participants who exceed three standard deviations from the mean completion time, as was done in the present study. However, speed is not a singularly effective determinant of unconscientious responders. Those who are unconscientious "speeders" could potentially manipulate their overall response time simply by spending some amount of time idling. Respondents could also be exposed to distractions such as phone calls or text messages that would affect response time. In addition, Clifford and Jerit provide evidence that respondent motives can significantly affect response time, which makes it difficult to determine the meaning that should be attached to response time [29]. Their data revealed a positive correlation between cheating and response time; students who were self-reported cheaters spent longer answering questions. Thus, unreasonably fast speeds could reflect a respondent not paying attention, while unreasonably slow speeds could be consistent with the idea that cheating was a function of searching outside sources for a "correct" answer to a knowledge question. Our study also showed that we can expect MTurk respondents to be significantly faster in completing a Web-based survey. This is likely due to their extensive experience with this medium. It certainly is a difficult balancing act when considering response time, given that faster speeds in an MTurk respondent result in financial gain.

Perhaps comprehensive examples for trap measures ought to be developed for researchers to implement in their Web-based surveys. For example, a trap question might ask the participant to select the word "cat" from a list of response options. In this case, it is not an attention check because the participant could continue to subsequent questions even if they answer incorrectly, but the researcher would know that the participant had not read the question carefully. However, even this recommendation that trap questions be routinely utilized within surveys may not necessarily assure conscientious responses. MTurk users are sophisticated and would quickly become aware of any specific trap questions that were recommended [25]. In fact, MTurk blogs exist where MTurk users routinely compare information about HITs; in this community, word can spread quickly. Most importantly, our embedded traps were specifically designed to camouflage within the cover story of our research. These questions were not salient, and this continues to be a very desirable design feature. Because this was a study, in part, about trap questions, a total of 26 potential traps were included. While we do not suggest that there is a need for that many trap questions in subsequent studies, we would suggest that at least some trap questions be included in every survey, and that they be fully and carefully camouflaged during the survey design phase.

When a survey response is flagged as being of poor quality, the data analysts must decide whether to keep or delete the data. Measuring response accuracy ultimately leads to a discussion

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e11/
```

XSI•FC

on what to do with the data after poor-quality responses have been identified. Casler et al suggest that "...with thoughtful and creative manipulation checks in place, researchers usually can discard participants who have not taken the task seriously or who had insufficient skills to complete it correctly" [44]. This is not a universally accepted proposition as Chandler et al contend that researchers are overzealous when excluding participants [45]. Moreover, Oppenheimer et al, as well as Berinsky et al offer an interesting perspective by suggesting that removing inattentive performers skews the sample by removing a certain type of person [46,47]. For example, if people who are more educated pay more attention and pass more screens, then the resultant sample will be biased in favor of more educated respondents, potentially influencing validity. Thus, the paring down of a sample by discarding "certain" participants would seem to be a very slippery slope. Who, exactly, should be deleted, and how many participants can be deleted for viable use of a dataset? We do not pretend to offer a definitive solution, but we do believe that at least a reporting of this information should be a perfunctory part of the review process.

Limitations

Sample Diversity

We started this investigation with an attempt to achieve sample diversity. Compared to the MTurk sample, the undergraduate sample included more females, fewer individuals who were married, and, naturally, fewer individuals who had obtained a Bachelor's degree or higher. The samples did not differ with respect to race. Overall, out of the 616 total participants recruited over a span of 15 weeks, only 121 self-reported a race other than Non-Hispanic white.

To mitigate health disparities, it is essential to study diverse samples. Some researchers suggest that one way to increase diversity representation in Web-based samples is to screen a large pool of MTurk Workers and then select a subset of participants who match desired sample characteristics [19]. Because of issues associated with access to computers and the Internet, however, this method will still ignore those of lower socioeconomic status that we often want as participants in health research. While MTurk samples may be ideal for work and specific types of research questions, these samples may not impact our ability to make a meaningful contribution to understanding how to reduce health disparities.

In essence, it does not appear, in any rendition, that our diversity goals were met. While published reports laud MTurk for its ability to foster a diverse sample, our studies highlight that while the sample could potentially be more diverse than a standard college student sample, our efforts did not lend themselves to meeting the criteria for what would constitute a diverse sample in and of itself. Our two studies provide support for continuing a meaningful mutualistic environment and presence in, for example, community centers and churches. Ultimately, improving open access to a wide range of study participants and funding cost-effective and cooperative efforts for a variety of health-relevant studies are ways to mitigate health disparities.

Recommendations

Above all, our recommendation is not to be complacent. With respect to diversity, it is imperative to find ways to expand minority recruitment efforts even in an Internet environment. With respect to data quality, we suggest that every posted survey include traps. Attention checks alone are not sufficient-they would serve as reminders during the survey administration, but would not assist in assessing the quality of the resultant responses. Notably, some researchers suggest that questions with factual answers should be avoided in the survey design phase, arguing that participants may be more likely to use the Internet to search for correct answers [32]. However, routinely avoiding factual answers would be a costly mistake because, by definition, we would be unable to ever assess the quality of the resultant data. Ultimately, in any self-report format, it is difficult to be certain that your participants have been conscientious in their responses. This is particularly the case with Web-based surveys, where a certain degree of trust is implicit in every administration. Of course, the same criticism would be made about any self-report measure, even if the participant is in the same room with the researcher.

Conclusions

Published studies in the health domain are rapidly appearing that utilize MTurk participants. Some report the qualifications that were imposed on the participants during data collection or the quality control checks that were applied to the resultant data [48,49]. Others present insufficient detail or no information at all [50,51]. As a result, the reader does not know whether sufficient standards were applied and not reported, or not applied at all. Because some researchers have clearly experienced successful data collection on MTurk, while others report disastrous results, Kees et al recently identified that one essential area of research is the continued investigation of the types and magnitude of cheating behavior occurring on Web-based platforms [24]. These studies can contribute to this dialogue, and they alternately provide evidence of disaster and success. As a result of our experience, however, we would strongly suggest that standards be in place for publishing the results of Web-based surveys of health-relevant data, as an expanded version of the CHERRIES Checklist [52]. These standards should protect against publication of surveys that do not include suitable quality assurance tests built into the survey design, distribution, and analysis. We would recommend that specific information be reported, including the settings for the hosting platform, any filters that were applied, as well as the specific qualifications of the Worker. How much incentive was provided? And how did participants respond to embedded trap questions? It is essential that we create strict protocols for reporting quality checks of all data collected through Web-based research. Health-relevant research, in particular, cannot risk conclusions built on faulty data, and this should not be a file-drawer problem. We must scrutinize Web-based methodological techniques as we would any other paradigm.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Guariguata L, Whiting DR, Hambleton I, Beagley J, Linnenkamp U, Shaw JE. Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2013 and projections for 2035. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2014 Feb;103(2):137-149. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.diabres.2013.11.002</u>] [Medline: <u>24630390</u>]
- Funnell MM, Anderson RM. MSJAMA: the problem with compliance in diabetes. JAMA 2000 Oct 04;284(13):1709. [Medline: <u>11015809</u>]
- 3. DePalma MT, Rollison J, Camporese M. Psychosocial predictors of diabetes management. Am J Health Behav 2011;35(2):209-218. [Medline: 21204683]
- 4. DePalma MT, Trahan LH, Eliza JM, Wagner AE. The relationship between diabetes self-efficacy and diabetes self-care in American Indians and Alaska Natives. Am Indian Alsk Native Ment Health Res 2015;22(2):1-22. [Medline: <u>26053882</u>]
- 5. Im E, Chee W. Methodological issues in the recruitment of ethnic minority subjects to research via the internet: a discussion paper. Int J Nurs Stud 2005 Nov;42(8):923-929. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2005.01.002] [Medline: 16210030]
- Arnett JJ. The neglected 95%: why American psychology needs to become less American. Am Psychol 2008 Oct;63(7):602-614. [doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.63.7.602] [Medline: 18855491]
- Henrich J, Heine SJ, Norenzayan A. The weirdest people in the world? Behav Brain Sci 2010 Jun;33(2-3):61-83. [doi: 10.1017/S0140525X0999152X] [Medline: 20550733]
- 8. Snyder T, Dillow S. NCES. 2013. Digest of education statistics URL: <u>https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2015/2015011.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-02-01] [WebCite Cache ID 6nxFrw0bh]
- 9. Peterson R. On the use of college students in social science research: insights from a second-order meta-analysis. J Consum Res 2001 Dec 01;28(3):450-461. [doi: 10.1086/323732]
- Peterson R, Merunka D. Convenience samples of college students and research reproducibility. J Business Res 2014 May;67(5):1035-1041. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jbusres.2013.08.010</u>]
- 11. Chen PD. Finding quality responses: the problem of low-quality survey responses and its impact on accountability measures. Res High Educ 2011 Jan 13;52(7):659-674. [doi: 10.1007/s11162-011-9217-4]
- 12. Evans JR, Mathur A. The value of online surveys. Internet Res 2005 Apr;15(2):195-219. [doi: 10.1108/10662240510590360]

- 13. Gardner RM, Brown DL, Boice R. Using Amazon's Mechanical Turk website to measure accuracy of body size estimation and body dissatisfaction. Body Image 2012 Sep;9(4):532-534. [doi: 10.1016/j.bodyim.2012.06.006] [Medline: 22832086]
- Crump MJC, McDonnell JV, Gureckis TM. Evaluating Amazon's Mechanical Turk as a tool for experimental behavioral research. PLoS One 2013 Mar;8(3):e57410 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0057410] [Medline: 23516406]
- 15. Buhrmester M, Kwang T, Gosling S. Amazon's Mechanical Turk: a new source of inexpensive, yet high-quality, data? Perspect Psychol Sci 2011 Jan;6(1):3-5. [doi: 10.1177/1745691610393980] [Medline: 26162106]
- Kraut R, Olson J, Banaji M, Bruckman A, Cohen J, Couper M. Psychological research online: report of Board of Scientific Affairs' Advisory Group on the conduct of research on the internet. Am Psychol 2004;59(2):105-117. [doi: <u>10.1037/0003-066X.59.2.105</u>] [Medline: <u>14992637</u>]
- 17. Mason W, Suri S. Conducting behavioral research on Amazon's Mechanical Turk. Behav Res Methods 2012 Mar;44(1):1-23. [doi: 10.3758/s13428-011-0124-6] [Medline: 21717266]
- 18. Paolacci G, Chandler J, Ipeirotis P. Running experiments on Amazon Mechanical Turk. Judgment Decis Making 2010;5(5):411-419.
- 19. Berinsky AJ, Huber GA, Lenz GS. When most prescreening responses are honest but most "eligible" respondents are lies. Polit Analysis 2012 Mar 02;20(3):351-368. [doi: 10.1093/pan/mpr057]
- 20. Rouse SV. A reliability analysis of Mechanical Turk data. Comput Human Behav 2015 Feb;43:304-307. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.11.004]
- 21. Behrend TS, Sharek DJ, Meade AW, Wiebe EN. The viability of crowdsourcing for survey research. Behav Res Methods 2011 Sep;43(3):800-813. [doi: 10.3758/s13428-011-0081-0] [Medline: 21437749]
- 22. Paolacci G, Chandler J. Inside the turk: understanding Mechanical Turk as a participant pool. Curr Dir in Psychol Sci 2014 Jun;23(3):184-188. [doi: 10.1177/0963721414531598]
- 23. Cui L, Carter R, Zhang GQ. Evaluation of a novel conjunctive exploratory navigation interface for consumer health information: a crowdsourced comparative study. J Med Internet Res 2014 Feb 10;16(2):e45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3111] [Medline: 24513593]
- 24. Kees J, Berry C, Burton S, Sheehan K. Reply to "Amazon's Mechanical Turk: A Comment". J Advertising 2017 Mar 15;46(1):159-162. [doi: 10.1080/00913367.2017.1281781]
- 25. Ford JB. Amazon's Mechanical Turk: a comment. J Advertising 2017 Mar 15;46(1):156-158. [doi: 10.1080/00913367.2016.1277380]
- 26. Kumar N. New York: Columbia University; 2011. Describable visual attributes for face images [dissertation] URL: <u>http://neerajkumar.org/papers/nk_phd_thesis2011.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-06-14]
- 27. Turner AM, Kirchhoff K, Capurro D. Using crowdsourcing technology for testing multilingual public health promotion materials. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(3):e79 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2063] [Medline: 22664384]
- 28. Mullinix KJ, Leeper TJ, Druckman JN, Freese J. The generalizability of survey experiments. J Exp Polit Sci 2016 Jan 12;2(02):109-138. [doi: 10.1017/XPS.2015.19]
- 29. Clifford S, Jerit J. Cheating on political knowledge questions in online surveys. Public Opin Quart 2016 Aug 12;80(4):858-887. [doi: 10.1093/poq/nfw030]
- 30. Hauser D, Schwarz N. Attentive turkers: MTurk participants perform better on online attention checks than do subject pool participants. Behav Res Methods 2016 Mar;48(1):400-407. [doi: 10.3758/s13428-015-0578-z] [Medline: 25761395]
- 31. Maniaci M, Rogge R. Caring about carelessness: participant inattention and its effects on research. J Res Pers 2014 Feb;48:61-83. [doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2013.09.008]
- 32. Goodman J, Cryder C, Cheema A. Data collection in a flat world: the strengths and weaknesses of Mechanical Turk samples. J Behav Dec Making 2012 Apr 02;26(3):213-224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/bdm.1753]
- Clifford S, Jerit J. Do attempts to improve respondent attention increase social desirability bias? Public Opin Quart 2015 Jun 22;79(3):790-802. [doi: <u>10.1093/poq/nfv027</u>]
- 34. Downs J, Holbroook M, Sheng S, Cranor L. Are your participants gaming the system? screening Mechanical Turk workers. 2010 Presented at: Annual CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; April 10-15, 2010; Atlanta URL: http://lorrie.cranor.org/pubs/note1552-downs.pdf
- 35. Amazon Mechanical Turk. Amazon Web Services. 2011. Requestor best practices URL: <u>https://mturkpublic.</u> <u>s3.amazonaws.com/docs/MTURK_BP.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-06-14] [WebCite Cache ID 6rDSp1w76]
- 36. Bohannon J. Social science for pennies. Science 2011 Oct 21;334(6054):307. [doi: <u>10.1126/science.334.6054.307</u>] [Medline: <u>22021834</u>]
- 37. Weiner B. Judgments of responsibility: a foundation for a theory of social conduct. New York: Guilford Press; 1995.
- 38. Haire-Joshu DL. Next steps: eliminating disparities in diabetes and obesity. Prev Chronic Dis 2015 May 07;12:E71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd12.150102] [Medline: 25950578]
- Brady CJ, Villanti AC, Pearson JL, Kirchner TR, Gupta OP, Shah CP. Rapid grading of fundus photographs for diabetic retinopathy using crowdsourcing. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(10):e233 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3807] [Medline: 25356929]

- Chandler J, Paolacci G. PsyArXiv. 2016. Lie for a dime: When most prescreening responses are honest but most study participants are imposters URL: <u>https://osf.io/preprints/psyarxiv/mcvwk/</u> [accessed 2017-06-14] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6rDQeXkEK]</u>
- 41. Ipeirotis P. Handle. 2010. Demographics of Mechanical Turk URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/2451/29585</u> [WebCite Cache ID <u>6nxEvwAmS</u>]
- 42. Kumar N. 2014. Effective use of Amazon Mechanical Turk (MTurk): tips and techniques for better usage of Amazon Mechanical Turk for researchers URL: <u>http://neerajkumar.org/writings/mturk/</u> [accessed 2017-02-01] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6nxKZt06S]</u>
- Smith SM, Roster CA, Golden LL, Albaum GS. A multi-group analysis of online survey respondent data quality: comparing a regular USA consumer panel to MTurk samples. J Business Res 2016 Aug;69(8):3139-3148. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.12.002]
- 44. Casler K, Bickel L, Hackett E. Separate but equal? a comparison of participants and data gathered via Amazon's MTurk, social media, and face-to-face behavioral testing. Comput Human Behav 2013 Nov;29(6):2156-2160. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.05.009]
- Chandler J, Mueller P, Paolacci G. Nonnaivete among Amazon Mechanical Turk workers: consequences and solutions for behavioral researchers. Behav Res Methods 2014 Mar;46(1):112-130. [doi: <u>10.3758/s13428-013-0365-7</u>] [Medline: <u>23835650</u>]
- 46. Oppenheimer D, Meyvis T, Davidenko N. Instructional manipulation checks: detecting satisficing to increase statistical power. J Exp Soc Psychol 2009 Jul;45(4):867-872. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jesp.2009.03.009</u>]
- 47. Berinsky A, Margolis M, Sances M. Separating the shirkers from the workers? making sure respondents pay attention on self-administered surveys. Am J Polit Sci 2013 Nov 06;58(3):739-753. [doi: 10.1111/ajps.12081]
- 48. Pearl R, Puhl R, Dovidio J. Can legislation prohibiting weight discrimination improve psychological well-being? a preliminary investigation. Anal Soc Issues Public Policy 2017 Jan 25;00:1-21. [doi: <u>10.1111/asap.12128</u>]
- Voytyuk M, Hruschka D. Cognitive differences accounting for cross-cultural variation in perceptions of healthy eating. J Cog Culture 2017;17:116-128. [doi: <u>10.1163/15685373-12342194</u>]
- McDonnell G, Sucala M, Goldsmith R, Montgomery G, Schnur J. Cancer victim identity for individuals with histories of cancer and childhood sexual abuse. J Rat-Emo Cognitive-Behav Ther 2017 Mar 4:- Epub ahead of print. [doi: 10.1007/s10942-017-0268-0]
- 51. Atakere DK, Baker TA. Predictors of perceived vulnerability to cancer diagnoses among adult Black males. J Health Psychol 2017 Feb:1-11. [doi: 10.1177/1359105317695426]
- 52. Eysenbach G. Improving the quality of web surveys: the checklist for reporting results of internet e-surveys (CHERRIES). J Med Internet Res 2004 Sep 29;6(3):e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.3.e34] [Medline: 15471760]

Abbreviations

AMT: Amazon Mechanical Turk HIT: Human Intelligence Task IP: Internet Protocol MTurk: Amazon Mechanical Turk NSSE: National Survey of Student Engagement

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 08.02.17; peer-reviewed by PS Chen, S Clifford; comments to author 16.03.17; revised version received 12.04.17; accepted 12.05.17; published 12.07.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> DePalma MT, Rizzotti MC, Branneman M Assessing Diabetes-Relevant Data Provided by Undergraduate and Crowdsourced Web-Based Survey Participants for Honesty and Accuracy JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e11 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e11/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/diabetes.7473</u> PMID:<u>30291072</u>

©Mary Turner DePalma, Michael C Rizzotti, Matthew Branneman. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 12.07.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium,

provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Addressing Disparities in Diabetes Management Through Novel Approaches to Encourage Technology Adoption and Use

Amy R Sheon¹, MPH, PhD; Shari D Bolen^{2*}, MPH, MD; Bill Callahan^{3*}, BS; Sarah Shick^{2*}, MA; Adam T Perzynski^{2*}, PhD

¹Urban Health Initiative, School of Medicine, Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, United States

²Center for Health Care Research and Policy, Department of Medicine, MetroHealth/Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, United States ³Connect Your Community, Cleveland, OH, United States

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Amy R Sheon, MPH, PhD Urban Health Initiative School of Medicine Case Western Reserve University 10900 Euclid Avenue TA-208, Box 4976 Cleveland, OH, United States Phone: 1 216 368 0915 Fax: 1 216 368 8713 Email: ars174@case.edu

Abstract

Type 2 diabetes (T2D) is one of the nation's leading drivers of disability and health care utilization, with elevated prevalence among individuals with lower education, income, and racial/ethnic minorities. Health information technology (HIT) holds vast potential for helping patients, providers, and payers to address T2D and the skyrocketing rates of chronic illness and associated health care costs. Patient portals to electronic health records (EHRs) serve as a gateway to consumer use of HIT. We found that disparities in portal use portend growing T2D disparities. Little progress has been made in addressing identified barriers to technology adoption, especially among populations with elevated risk of T2D. Patients often lack digital literacy skills and continuous connectivity and fear loss of the relationship with providers. Providers may experience structural disincentives to promoting patient use of HIT and apply hidden biases that inhibit portal use. Health care systems often provide inadequate training to patients and providers in use of HIT, and lack resources devoted to obtaining and optimizing use of data generated by HIT. Lastly, technology-related barriers include inadequate consideration of user perspectives, lack of evidence for patient-focused apps, and lack of features to enable providers and health care systems to readily obtain aggregate data to improve care and facilitate research. After discussing these barriers in detail, we propose possible solutions and areas where further research is needed to ensure that individuals and health care systems obtain the full benefit of the nation's planned \$38 billion HIT investment. A digital inclusion framework sheds new light on barriers posed for patients with social health inequalities. We have determined that partnerships with community organizations focused on digital inclusion could help health systems explore and study new approaches, such as universal screening and referral of patients for digital skills, health literacy, and Internet connectivity.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e16) doi:10.2196/diabetes.6751

KEYWORDS

diabetes; chronic illness; vulnerable populations; digital divide; community health workers; healthcare disparities; patient portals; patient engagement; meaningful use; health literacy



Sheon et al

Introduction

The Promise of Health Information Technology for Type 2 Diabetes Management

More than 29 million adults have type 2 diabetes (T2D), with prevalence elevated among Hispanics (12.8%), blacks (13.2%), and individuals with less than a high school education (13.6%) versus some college (7.8%) and whites (7.6%) [1]. Medication, diet, and physical activity can limit the health consequences of T2D [2,3], but recommended targets for blood sugar, lipids, and blood pressure control are met by only about one-half of those affected [4].

Responding to federal financial incentives [5,6], physicians rapidly adopted electronic health records (EHRs) between 2009 and 2015, making portals available for 65% of patients to view their records [7]. Serving as persuasive technology [8], portals offer significant potential for improving medical management of chronic diseases. Portals also open the door to telehealth and to remote monitoring of data from connected devices such as glucose monitors [9]. Remote glucose monitoring saves California Medicaid \$939 yearly per diabetic patient. Nearly every state Medicaid program now covers some telehealth and about one-half reimburse for remote monitoring [10]. Barriers to technology adoption among populations facing social health inequalities (SHIs) [11], however, are not being addressed and research is not keeping pace.

Digital Inclusion Perspective on Health Information Technology

MetroHealth System in Cleveland, Ohio, was the nation's first public hospital to adopt EHRs (1999-2002) [12]. In 2015, MetroHealth received a national award for improving care while returning nearly \$8 million on its health information technology (HIT) investment [13]. Nevertheless, similar to adoption rates reported elsewhere [14-16], only 29.1% (70,835/243,248) of MetroHealth adult patients have logged in to their portal accounts. Use lags for blacks (23.4%) and Hispanics (23.8%) and for those without commercial insurance (39.3%) [17]. Many patient barriers to portal adoption [18] are also associated with the digital divide.

Based on engagement with the digital inclusion movement, we offer this Viewpoint to illuminate HIT adoption barriers faced by those with reduced digital skills and health literacy and those who lack always-on smartphones and ample data plans. Digital inclusion refers to "the activities necessary to ensure that all individuals and communities, including the most disadvantaged, have access to and use of information and communication technologies" [19]. We suggest new approaches to addressing HIT-related disparities in hopes of defying the inverse care law [20].

Findings

Patient-Related Barriers to Health Information Technology Adoption

Some leading barriers to adoption among patients include inadequate Internet access, digital skills, and eHealth literacy

and concerns about diminution of the relationship with the provider. General technology adoption among SHI populations is a prerequisite for HIT adoption. Differences in residential access to broadband explained 68% of portal use variation among MetroHealth patients [17]. Lack of computer skills and Internet access have been identified by others as barriers to portal use [21-24].

Nationally, census data show that home broadband Internet subscriptions are considerably less prevalent among seniors (67.0%), blacks (69.7%), Hispanics (74.5%), and those with annual income less than \$20,000 (48.8%) compared with all households (80.8%) [25]. Smartphone adoption is growing rapidly but gaps remain for those over 65 years (47.1%), with less than high school (50.9%) and high school (62.8%) education, with a disability (51.4%), and living in poverty (60.2%) compared with 74.8% ownership for all individuals age 15 years and older. Ownership among Hispanics (75.8%) slightly exceeds that for whites (74.6%); blacks lag only slightly (70.3%) [26].

Smartphone access to portals is new and not widespread [17,27], but apps are sometimes easier to use than Web-based services. However, mobile Internet is generally slower and more expensive than fixed broadband. Dependency on smartphones for Internet is now seen among 13.9% to 18.5% of SHI groups versus 7.9% of all adults [26]. About half of smartphone-dependent individuals report needing to disconnect service at times [28]. Among low-income mobile broadband subscribers, 30% exceed their data caps every month, resulting in service interruption (21%), slowed speeds (24%), or costly fees (27%) [29]. Data disruptions are especially problematic for enabling patients to address underlying social determinants of health in light of Internet-based job applications, government benefits management, coursework requirements, and the like. Computers offer large screens and keyboards that are easier for typing and searching. Fixed broadband connections are typically fast, secure, and include ample data. However, 59% of nonusers cite cost as the leading barrier to adoption [30]. Having both mobile and fixed connectivity optimizes convenience and productivity but is an unaffordable luxury to many.

Cellular phones (smart or not) are replacing landlines, especially among adults living in poverty, those younger than 44 years, and Hispanics. Cost-related cellular service interruptions are particularly disruptive to mobile-only households. Portals provide a vital connection with health care providers for those in a state of "dependable instability" of mobile communications [31].

Some evidence shows benefits from home monitoring of glucose, blood pressure, and weight [32]. However, only 20% of invited participants agreed to join a study in England of telehealth with regular transmission of physiologic information; concerns about operating the technology were an important barrier [33].

A systematic review of adherence-focused mobile apps found improvements in diabetes-specific clinical outcomes in 11 of 26 randomized trials [34]. Use of health-related smartphone apps is prevalent although user characteristics are inconsistent across surveys [35,36]. Portal adoption is strongly predicted by

XSL•FO RenderX

eHealth literacy [16,37,38], the ability to obtain and use health information from digital devices [39,40]. More common among those age 65 years and older, blacks and Hispanics, and individuals with low income and education [41], lower health literacy is associated with requiring more assistance and time to perform standard portal tasks [42].

MetroHealth patients had small differences by race or type of insurance in viewing lab results but larger differences using functions that required composition such as requesting advice and responding to messages. Patients were less likely to send messages if black, Hispanic, not commercially insured, less educated, or with less access to broadband [17]. SHI disparities in messaging frequency have also been reported [15,16].

Diabetic patients [43] and black and Latino portal nonusers [44] revealed in surveys and focus groups fears that portals would undermine relationships with providers or reduce valued human contact. Others reported fears about portal use invoking government surveillance and deportation [45].

Provider- and Health Care System–Related Barriers to Health Information Technology Adoption

Providers may encounter structural disincentives or act on biases that inhibit patient use of HIT. Provider endorsement is important for portal adoption among diabetic [21] and other patients [16]. However, providers may withhold portal promotion fearing income loss from reduced clinical visits [46,47] or lacking time [34] or compensation [45] for responding to messages.

About 40% of adult MetroHealth patients had established portal accounts by 2015 [13], but only 29.1% (70,835/243,248) had ever logged in [17]. This gap has been reported elsewhere [14,48,49], perhaps reflecting an observation from a safety net facility study: "The assumption built into the [Meaningful Use] metric is that providing patients with instructions is sufficient to convert them into active portal users. Therefore, outreach strategies often emphasized enrolling as many patients as possible" [45].

Provider bias in recommending portals has received little attention. According to results of a national survey, the odds of a provider offering portal access were only 0.59 for blacks (CI 0.42-0.84) versus whites and 0.47 for Hispanics (CI 0.32-0.68) versus non-Hispanics [50]. Similar findings were reported among federally qualified health center patients [22].

Portal recommendations may reflect provider assumptions about whether patients have digital skills or value connectivity. Reminiscent of historic discriminatory lending practices [51], Callahan and the National Digital Inclusion Alliance recently documented "digital redlining" by the predominant Internet Service Provider in Cleveland, who "withheld fiber-enhanced broadband improvements" from areas with high concentrations of black and low-income residents [52]. This pattern was also reported for the entire state of California [53]. Thus, patients facing SHIs may lack the option of home broadband at any price.

Among nearly 50,000 patients with T2D seen at health systems participating in the Better Health Partnership regional health

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e16/
```

 $XSI \bullet FC$

quality improvement collaborative (for which Bolen serves as the Director of Cardiovascular Disease Programs), careful analysis of aggregate EHR data led to improvements and reduced disparities in care and outcomes [54]. Yet health care systems may lack resources that enable optimal use of the EHR for such purposes or for direct patient engagement. Expanded portal use could generate data that would add value to EHR data, especially when typologies of portal usage patterns are applied [55].

Technology Barriers

HIT developers have been long criticized for lack of user-friendly design [56,57]. Usability issues were the main reason for nonuse of HIT among low-income racial and ethnic minorities [58]. Little has been written about how health systems support patient use of portals, suggesting that little help is being offered. Portal research study publications usually note that instruction was provided by clinicians or research assistants; such individuals are unlikely to have expertise in digital skills training. Password management and recovery is challenging for those with lower digital literacy [43] and "even for extremely experienced users with a high degree of savvy regarding new technologies" [58]. Safety net patients who were regular Internet users had difficulty registering for the Diabetes Prevention Program mobile app because they "rarely checked email and some participants did not have email accounts, requiring help to set up new ones." Patients with fewer computer skills had fundamental difficulties navigating an online form, such as knowing how to enter a Web address or skip a question [59]. Patients reliant on public Wi-Fi or shared phones are especially concerned about account security [43,60].

Much consumer-focused HIT, including patient portals, has been introduced with limited evidence of effectiveness. Regarding diabetes-specific outcomes, a 2014 review found consistent improvements in hemoglobin A_{1c} levels but not in other biomarkers [61]. In another study, individuals randomized to use wearable activity trackers and a Web interface to monitor diet lost *less* weight than those in the control arm [62]. Nonetheless, some evidence shows that with heavy utilization portals can have an impact on SHI populations [63,64].

Solutions

Low-cost smartphones, Internet access programs, and free digital skills training are now widely available [65], offering an unprecedented opportunity to address key portal use barriers. Four actions to reduce SHIs through eHealth have been suggested: promote universal access to eHealth technology, consider patient literacy level, consider cultural factors, and engage populations at risk of SHIs with eHealth design [11]. We offer additional suggestions for expanding HIT adoption.

The MetroHealth Patient Centered Media Lab team is testing having physicians issue prescriptions for portal adoption and offering training for the portal smartphone app. Elsewhere, a portal opt-out approach enabled community health centers to reduce racial disparities in repeat portal use [66]. To go even further, we suggest screening all patients for digital skills (with a checklist, hands-on demo, or free online tools) [67,68]; health

literacy (with a single question) [69,70]; and connectivity (using standard survey questions) [30,71,72]. Or patients could simply be asked about their interest in low-cost desktop, tablet, and mobile equipment and broadband or mobile data and referred to local partners for assistance. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services funded the United Way of Greater Cleveland and several other communities to screen patients for certain barriers to health such as lack of funds for transportation and utilities and refer them to community organizations for support [73,74]. Screening for Internet access and then referring clients to community partners for skills training and connectivity would be a valuable augmentation to this new initiative.

As part of a national program [75,76], Callahan engaged community organizations in several cities (from 2010 to 2012) to equip, train, and connect 21,000 low-income residents who lacked computers or home Internet. Training and connectivity support were transformative for many [77,78], and we are now referring patients to that initiative's Cleveland-area partners for skills training and connectivity support. Patients may be eligible for free or reduced-cost equipment and service through federal, state (including Medicaid), and commercial programs [65,79,80]. (Plans with unlimited data are especially valuable versus ones with low data caps [29]). Similar partnerships are underway in just a few other cities [81-85]. However, integration of clinical and community systems is now seen as essential for treating obesity and related chronic diseases [86]. Community Reinvestment Act funds invested by local banks in communities to redress the legacy of discriminatory lending from the 1930s to the 1970s could be leveraged to expand broadband access and skills training [87].

Consumer-focused software should not require instruction. However, between digital skill and health literacy gaps and technology shortcomings, portal training is essential for increased adoption, reduced disparities, and increased impact on health. Instruction time will vary from 15 minutes among eHealth literate individuals [83,88,89] to many hours for patients with such conditions as serious mental illness [90]. Portal training could be tailored based on digital skill and health literacy assessments; options include on-line, tutor-facilitated, individual, and group classes [82]. Portal training should use evidence- or theory-based techniques geared to the pivotal moments in the learning progression, from fear to mastery [91].

Tieu [42] identifies 5 key portal functions on which patients should be trained: logging in, viewing visit summaries, viewing prescribed health education information, viewing test results, and looking up information in a connected online library. Those with low numeracy may need assistance interpreting laboratory results [92]. Dictation and autocomplete [60] plus template messages could help with tasks requiring composition. Portal training should address concerns around authentication and password management, data security, loss of the personal relationship with the provider, and fear of deportation [45] as expressed by persons with SHIs.

In preparation for expanding referrals of patients to the portal, we are training community health workers to perform digital skills assessments and some portal training; others are using technology navigators for similar purposes [48]. Clinical and

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e16/
```

digital skills training content should be provided by individuals with the relevant expertise. Family caregivers represent a largely untapped resource to help patients bridge digital skill and connectivity gaps, albeit raising privacy concerns [93].

Discussion

Further Research and Development

To accelerate health improvement and reduced disparities through HIT, better technology and intervention studies are needed. Extracting the full value from rich EHR and portal data requires dedicated, trained staff [94]. Their jobs could be made much easier if software makers included tools for such purposes.

Mobile access could increase portal use, but there has been little uptake at our own or other institutions [17,27]. Portal instructions and health information should be presented at patients' reading level, with ready access to more detailed or simplified information. Movies, illustrations, and graphs are especially useful for those with lower literacy or language barriers [18]. Portal adoption interventions must be developed and tested. The Network of Digital Evidence in Health (NODE Health) is applying evidence-based medicine rigor to address the current void in much digital health technology [95]. As a NODE Health consortium member, Sheon seeks to ensure [96] that overlooked SHI perspectives [97] are considered in assessment of digital health efficacy [98].

Patient input to technology development benefits both underserved and advantaged patients [58]. Inclusion of technology novices is especially important for usability testing [57]. One project paid "citizen scientists" for helping to create a diabetes mobile app [99]; SHI patients may need such funds participate. For patient convenience, treatment to recommendations that are shared among comorbidities, such as physical activity for T2D and depression, could be addressed in a single app or portal feature [57]. In the Patient Centered Media Lab, Perzynski [100] engages patients in designing and deploying HIT apps such as an augmented reality exercise game to prevent T2D. Perzynski and Shick [101] have created a single-click app that displays social and environmental determinants of health specific to a patient's residential address plus links to community support to address these issues.

Finally, mobile phone ownership is almost universal in the United States with disparities nearly closed [102]. Short message service (text) messaging improves insulin titration [103] and medication adherence for chronic diseases [104]. Text messages require only a cellular phone and do not require a data plan and should thus be considered for interventions.

Conclusion

A digital inclusion lens reveals digital skill and connectivity barriers that must be addressed to avoid widening T2D disparities. Health care systems should partner with local digital inclusion advocates to screen and help patients obtain low-cost Internet service, equipment, and basic digital skills training. These are essential for portal training to be efficient and effective. Portal training should be informed by those with expertise in digital skills and health literacy acquisition. Paraprofessionals such as community health workers could be

trained accordingly to assume some of these responsibilities at a relatively low cost. Research on the cost effectiveness and

impact of these novel approaches should lead to support for broad dissemination, if not insurance reimbursement.

Acknowledgments

Shari Bolen wrote the first draft of the manuscript with other authors contributing equally. Amy Sheon led a major revision and took over as the lead author. The other authors contributed equally to the revision.

Conflicts of Interest

Dr Sheon is the founder and CEO of Public Health Innovations, LLC, advising clients on using innovation to improve public or population health. Mr Callahan is an employee or paid consultant for organizations which advocate, facilitate, or provide digital skills training, training in use of patient portals, and support for low-income households to attain Internet connectivity. Philanthropic support for these activities may be affected by matters discussed in the manuscript. Dr Perzynski is cofounder of Global Health Metrics, LLC, a company that produces health risk assessment software, and created HealthStead.org. Callahan, Sheon, and Perzynski volunteer as President, Secretary, and Member of the Board of Connect Your Community Institute, a nonprofit organization promoting digital inclusion in northeast Ohio.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Diabetes at a glance 2016. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/</u> resources/publications/aag/diabetes.htm [accessed 2017-06-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6qhovlz3e]
- Nathan DM. Diabetes: advances in diagnosis and treatment. JAMA 2015 Sep 8;314(10):1052-1062. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.9536] [Medline: 26348754]
- 3. American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes—2017: summary of revisions. Diabetes Care 2017 Jan;40(Suppl 1):S4-S5. [doi: 10.2337/dc17-S003] [Medline: 27979887]
- 4. Ali MK, Bullard KM, Gregg EW. Achievement of goals in US diabetes care, 1999-2010. N Engl J Med 2013 Jul 18;369(3):287-288. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMc1306652] [Medline: 23863067]
- Public Law 111-5: Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) of 2009. URL: <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/PLAW-111publ5/html/PLAW-111publ5.htm</u> [accessed 2017-05-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6qkfY8n4K]
- 6. Public Law 111-148: The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010. URL: <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/</u> PLAW-111publ148/html/PLAW-111publ148.htm [accessed 2017-05-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6qkfhJi20]
- Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. 2016 Report to Congress on health IT progress. URL: <u>https://dashboard.healthit.gov/report-to-congress/</u> <u>2016-report-congress-examining-hitech-era-future-health-information-technology.php</u> [accessed 2017-06-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6qig0HFPa]
- 8. Saparova D. Motivating, influencing, and persuading patients through personal health records: a scoping review. Perspect Health Inf Manag 2012;9 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22783154]
- 9. Martinez-Millana A, Fico G, Fernández-Llatas C, Traver V. Performance assessment of a closed-loop system for diabetes management. Med Biol Eng Comput 2015 Feb 11;53(12):1295-1303. [doi: 10.1007/s11517-015-1245-3] [Medline: 25667016]
- Gutierrez M. State telehealth laws and reimbursement policies.: Center for Connected Health Policy; 2017. URL: <u>http://www.cchpca.org/sites/default/files/resources/</u> <u>50%20STATE%20PDF%20FILE%20APRIL%202017%20FINAL%20PASSWORD%20PROTECT.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-06-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6qigNvS7n]
- 11. Latulippe K, Hamel C, Giroux D. Social health inequalities and eHealth: a literature review with qualitative synthesis of theoretical and empirical studies. J Med Internet Res 2017:e136.
- Kaelber DC, Waheed R, Einstadter D, Love TE, Cebul RD. Use and perceived value of health information exchange: one public healthcare system's experience. Am J Manag Care 2013 Nov;19(10 Spec No):SP337-SP343 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24511888]
- 13. Kaelber D. MetroHealth core case study for Davies Award: return on investment financial value: historical ambulatory EHR ROI. Cleveland: MetroHealth System; 2015. URL: <u>http://www.himss.org/sites/himssorg/files/FileDownloads/</u> <u>MetroHealth%20ROI.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-06-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6qhpiQb6c]
- Neuner J, Fedders M, Caravella M, Bradford L, Schapira M. Meaningful use and the patient portal: patient enrollment, use, and satisfaction with patient portals at a later-adopting center. Am J Med Qual 2015;30(2):105-113. [doi: 10.1177/1062860614523488] [Medline: 24563085]
- Smith SG, O'Conor R, Aitken W, Curtis LM, Wolf MS, Goel MS. Disparities in registration and use of an online patient portal among older adults: findings from the LitCog cohort. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2015 Jul;22(4):888-895 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocv025] [Medline: 25914099]

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e16/

- 16. Yamin C, Emani S, Williams D, Lipsitz S, Karson A, Wald J, et al. The digital divide in adoption and use of a personal health record. Arch Intern Med 2011 Mar 28;171(6):568-574. [doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2011.34] [Medline: 21444847]
- 17. Perzynski A, Roach M, Shick S, Callahan B, Gunzler D, Cebul R, et al. Patient portals and broadband Internet inequality. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017 Mar 23. [doi: <u>10.1093/jamia/ocx020</u>] [Medline: <u>28371853</u>]
- Irizarry T, DeVito DA, Curran CR. Patient portals and patient engagement: a state of the science review. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(6):e148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4255] [Medline: 26104044]
- 19. Digital inclusion outcomes-based evaluation. Evanston: Benton Foundation; 2017. URL: <u>https://www.benton.org/sites/</u> <u>default/files/outcomes-based-evaluation.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-06-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6qhpv6CLY]
- 20. Hart JT. The inverse care law. Lancet 1971 Feb 27;1(7696):405-412. [Medline: <u>4100731</u>]
- Amante D, Hogan T, Pagoto S, English T. A systematic review of electronic portal usage among patients with diabetes. Diabetes Technol Ther 2014 Nov;16(11):784-793. [doi: <u>10.1089/dia.2014.0078</u>] [Medline: <u>24999599</u>]
- Ancker JS, Barrón Y, Rockoff ML, Hauser D, Pichardo M, Szerencsy A, et al. Use of an electronic patient portal among disadvantaged populations. J Gen Intern Med 2011 Oct;26(10):1117-1123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-011-1749-y] [Medline: 21647748]
- 23. Kruse RL, Koopman RJ, Wakefield BJ, Wakefield DS, Keplinger LE, Canfield SM, et al. Internet use by primary care patients: where is the digital divide? Fam Med 2012 May;44(5):342-347 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23027117]
- 24. Ralston JD, Rutter CM, Carrell D, Hecht J, Rubanowice D, Simon GE. Patient use of secure electronic messaging within a shared medical record: a cross-sectional study. J Gen Intern Med 2009 Mar;24(3):349-355 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-008-0899-z] [Medline: 19137379]
- 25. US Bureau of the Census. Types of Internet subscriptions by selected characteristics—American Community Survey 1-year estimates. 2016. URL: <u>https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?src=bkmk</u> [accessed 2017-06-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6qjhMjccE]
- 26. Lewis J. Handheld device ownership: reducing the digital divide?. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.census.gov/library/</u> working-papers/2017/demo/SEHSD-WP2017-04.html [accessed 2017-05-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6qkfoCVrz]
- 27. Ancker J, Nosal S, Hauser D, Way C, Calman N. Access policy and the digital divide in patient access to medical records. Health Policy and Technology 2017 Mar;6(1):3-11. [doi: 10.1016/j.hlpt.2016.11.004]
- 28. Smith A. The smartphone difference. Washington: Pew Internet and American Life Project; 2015 Apr. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2015/04/01/us-smartphone-use-in-2015/</u> [accessed 2017-06-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6qhqBG027]
- 29. Bridging the gap: what affordable, uncapped Internet means for digital inclusion. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.mobilebeacon.org/</u> wp-content/uploads/2017/05/MB_ResearchPaper_FINAL_WEB.pdf [accessed 2017-05-24] [WebCite Cache ID 6qhqNwrBo]
- Anderson M, Horrigan J. Smartphones may not bridge digital divide for all.: Factank News Numbers URL: <u>http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2016/10/03/</u> smartphones-help-those-without-broadband-get-online-but-dont-necessarily-bridge-the-digital-divide/ [accessed 2017-05-24] [WebCite Cache ID 6qhq7R5eM]
- 31. Gonzales A, Ems L, Suri V. New Media Soc. 2014. Cell phone disconnection disrupts access to healthcare and health resources: a technology maintenance perspective URL: <u>http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1461444814558670</u> [accessed 2017-06-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6rUWTNGhS]
- 32. Or CK, Tao D. Does the use of consumer health information technology improve outcomes in the patient self-management of diabetes? A meta-analysis and narrative review of randomized controlled trials. Int J Med Inform 2014 May;83(5):320-329. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.01.009] [Medline: 24534118]
- 33. Steventon A, Bardsley M, Doll H, Tuckey E, Newman S. Effect of telehealth on glycaemic control: analysis of patients with type 2 diabetes in the Whole Systems Demonstrator cluster randomised trial. BMC Health Serv Res 2014;14:334.
- Hamine S, Gerth-Guyette E, Faulx D, Green B, Ginsburg A. Impact of mHealth chronic disease management on treatment adherence and patient outcomes: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2015 Feb 24;17(2):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3951] [Medline: 25803266]
- 35. Krebs P, Duncan D. Health app use among US mobile phone owners: a national survey. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Nov 04;3(4):e101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4924] [Medline: 26537656]
- Carroll J, Moorhead A, Bond R, LeBlanc W, Petrella R, Fiscella K. Who uses mobile phone health apps and does use matter? A secondary data analytics approach. J Med Internet Res 2017 Apr 19;19(4):e125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5604] [Medline: 28428170]
- 37. Noblin A, Wan TT, Fottler M. The impact of health literacy on a patient's decision to adopt a personal health record. Perspect Health Inf Manag 2012;9:1-13 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23209454]
- Sarkar U, Karter AJ, Liu JY, Adler NE, Nguyen R, Lopez A, et al. The literacy divide: health literacy and the use of an Internet-based patient portal in an integrated health system-results from the diabetes study of northern California (DISTANCE). J Health Commun 2010;15 Suppl 2:183-196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2010.499988] [Medline: 20845203]
- 39. Norman CD, Skinner HA. eHealth literacy: essential skills for consumer health in a networked world. J Med Internet Res 2006 Jun;8(2):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.2.e9] [Medline: 16867972]

- 40. Visser M. Digital literacy definition. URL: <u>http://connect.ala.org/node/181197</u> [accessed 2017-05-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6qjiYzcmB]
- 41. Kim H, Xie B. Health literacy in the eHealth era: a systematic review of the literature. Patient Educ Couns 2017 Jun;100(6):1073-1082. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2017.01.015] [Medline: 28174067]
- 42. Tieu L, Schillinger D, Sarkar U, Hoskote M, Hahn KJ, Ratanawongsa N, et al. Online patient websites for electronic health record access among vulnerable populations: portals to nowhere? J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016 Jul 8. [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocw098] [Medline: 27402138]
- 43. Tieu L, Sarkar U, Schillinger D, Ralston JD, Ratanawongsa N, Pasick R, et al. Barriers and facilitators to online portal use among patients and caregivers in a safety net health care system: a qualitative study. J Med Internet Res 2015 Dec 03;17(12):e275 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4847] [Medline: 26681155]
- 44. Lyles CR, Allen JY, Poole D, Tieu L, Kanter MH, Garrido T. "I want to keep the personal relationship with my doctor": understanding barriers to portal use among African Americans and Latinos. J Med Internet Res 2016 Oct 03;18(10):e263 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5910] [Medline: 27697748]
- 45. Ackerman S, Sarkar U, Tieu L, Handley M, Schillinger D, Hahn K, et al. Meaningful use in the safety net: a rapid ethnography of patient portal implementation at five community health centers in California. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017 Mar 15. [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocx015] [Medline: 28340229]
- 46. Zhou YY, Garrido T, Chin HL, Wiesenthal AM, Liang LL. Patient access to an electronic health record with secure messaging: impact on primary care utilization. Am J Manag Care 2007 Jul;13(7):418-424 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 17620037]
- 47. Kruse C, Argueta D, Lopez L, Nair A. Patient and provider attitudes toward the use of patient portals for the management of chronic disease: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2015 Feb 20;17(2):e40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3703] [Medline: 25707035]
- 48. McAlearney A, Sieck C, Hefner J, Aldrich A, Walker D, Rizer M, et al. High touch and high tech (HT2) proposal: transforming patient engagement throughout the continuum of care by engaging patients with portal technology at the bedside. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Nov 29;5(4):e221 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.6355] [Medline: 27899338]
- 49. Sarkar U, Karter AJ, Liu JY, Adler NE, Nguyen R, López A, et al. Social disparities in internet patient portal use in diabetes: evidence that the digital divide extends beyond access. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2011 May 01;18(3):318-321 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jamia.2010.006015] [Medline: 21262921]
- Peacock S, Reddy A, Leveille SG, Walker J, Payne TH, Oster NV, et al. Patient portals and personal health information online: perception, access, and use by US adults. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017 Apr 01;24(e1):e173-e177. [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocw095] [Medline: 27413120]
- 51. Reece J. History matters: understanding the role of policy, race and real estate in today's geography of health equity and opportunity in Cuyahoga County. 2015. URL: <u>http://kirwaninstitute.osu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/history-of-race-real-estate.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-05-24] [WebCite Cache ID 6qhqrDiss]
- 52. Callahan B. AT&T's digital redlining of Cleveland. URL: <u>https://digitalinclusion.org/blog/2017/03/10/</u> atts-digital-redlining-of-cleveland/ [accessed 2017-04-16] [WebCite Cache ID 6qhqlLWbM]
- 53. Strain G, Moore E, Gambhir S. AT&Ts digital divide in California. 2017. URL: <u>http://haasinstitute.berkeley.edu/</u> <u>digitaldividecalifornia</u> [accessed 2017-06-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6qjiw3kFD]
- 54. Cebul R. Celebrating 10 years of collaboration. 2017 Feb. URL: <u>http://betterhealthpartnership.org/pdfs/checkup_reports/</u> report_18_020717/bhp_10th_anniversary_020717.pdf [accessed 2017-06-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6qhr2xLcY]
- 55. Jones J, Weiner J, Shah N, Stewart W. The wired patient: patterns of electronic patient portal use among patients with cardiac disease or diabetes. J Med Internet Res 2015 Feb 20;17(2):e42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3157] [Medline: 25707036]
- 56. Gibbons M, Casale CR. Reducing disparities in health care quality: the role of health IT in underresourced settings. Med Care Res Rev 2010 Oct;67(5 Suppl):155S-162S. [doi: 10.1177/1077558710376202] [Medline: 20829238]
- 57. Aguilera A, Lyles C. The case for jointly targeting diabetes and depression among vulnerable patients using digital technology. JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e1.
- Gibbons M, Lowry S, Patterson E. Applying human factors principles to mitigate usability issues related to embedded assumptions in health information technology design. JMIR Hum Factors 2014 Dec 18;1(1):e3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/humanfactors.3524] [Medline: 27025349]
- 59. Fontil V, McDermott K, Tieu L, Rios C, Gibson E, Sweet C, et al. Adaptation and feasibility study of a digital health program to prevent diabetes among low-income patients: results from a partnership between a digital health company and an academic research team. J Diabetes Res 2016;2016:8472391 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2016/8472391] [Medline: 27868070]
- 60. Broderick A, Gillette D, Steinmetz V. Digital health solutions to advance health and well-being for vulnerable populations. 2016. URL: <u>http://www.dialogue4health.org/web-forums/detail/</u> <u>digital-health-solutions-to-advance-health-and-well-being-for-vulnerable-populations</u> [accessed 2017-05-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6qjjH4yWE]

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e16/

- 61. de Jong CC, Ros W, Schrijvers G. The effects on health behavior and health outcomes of Internet-based asynchronous communication between health providers and patients with a chronic condition: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2014 Jan 16;16(1):e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3000] [Medline: 24434570]
- 62. Jakicic J, Davis K, Rogers R, King W, Marcus M, Helsel D, et al. Effect of wearable technology combined with a lifestyle intervention on long-term weight loss: the IDEA randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2016 Sep 20;316(11):1161-1171. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.12858] [Medline: 27654602]
- Lyles C, Sarkar U, Schillinger D, Ralston J, Allen J, Nguyen R, et al. Refilling medications through an online patient portal: consistent improvements in adherence across racial/ethnic groups. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016 Apr;23(e1):e28-e33
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocv126] [Medline: 26335983]
- Shimada SL, Allison JJ, Rosen AK, Feng H, Houston TK. Sustained use of patient portal features and improvements in diabetes physiological measures. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jul 01;18(7):e179 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5663] [Medline: 27369696]
- 65. Everyone On. 2017. URL: <u>http://everyoneon.org/about/</u> [accessed 2017-05-24] [WebCite Cache ID 6qhrH5Vtc]
- 66. Ancker J. Effective design and use of patient portals and their impact on patient-centered care. Washington: Agency for Health Research and Quality; 2017. URL: <u>https://healthit.ahrq.gov/events/</u> <u>national-web-conference-effective-design-and-use-patient-portals-and-their-impact-patient</u> [accessed 2017-05-24] [WebCite Cache ID 6qhrMzPO1]
- 67. Bradlow E, Hoch S, Wesley Hutchinson J. An Assessment of Basic Computer Proficiency Among Active Internet Users: Test Construction, Calibration, Antecedents and Consequences. Journal of Educational and Behavioral Statistics 2002 Jan 01;27(3):237-253. [doi: 10.3102/10769986027003237]
- 68. Northstar Basic Computer Skills Certificate. URL: <u>https://www.digitalliteracyassessment.org/</u> [accessed 2017-05-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6qijd52ny]
- 69. Chew LD, Bradley KA, Boyko EJ. Brief questions to identify patients with inadequate health literacy. Fam Med 2004 Sep;36(8):588-594 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15343421]
- Sarkar U, Schillinger D, López A, Sudore R. Validation of self-reported health literacy questions among diverse English and Spanish-speaking populations. J Gen Intern Med 2011 Mar;26(3):265-271 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-010-1552-1] [Medline: 21057882]
- 71. US Bureau of the Census. Types of computers and Internet subscriptions, 2015: American Community Survey 1-year estimates. 2016. URL: <u>https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?src=bkmk [WebCite Cache ID 6qjk5fdQ2]</u>
- 72. Horrigan J, Duggan M. Home broadband 2015. Washington: Pew Internet and American Life Project; 2015 Dec. URL: http://www.pewinternet.org/files/2015/12/Broadband-adoption-full.pdf [WebCite Cache ID 6qhrbwT3b]
- 73. Bradlow E, Hoch S, Wesley Hutchinson J. An Assessment of Basic Computer Proficiency Among Active Internet Users: Test Construction, Calibration, Antecedents and Consequences. Journal of Educational and Behavioral Statistics 2002 Jan 01;27(3):237-253. [doi: 10.3102/10769986027003237]
- 74. Center for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Accountable Health Communities model. URL: <u>https://www.cms.gov/Newsroom/</u> <u>MediaReleaseDatabase/Fact-sheets/2017-Fact-Sheet-items/2017-04-06.html</u> [accessed 2017-05-26] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6qkftmtEA]</u>
- 75. Using partnerships to power a smart city: a toolkit for local communities.: Broadband USA; 2016. URL: <u>https://www2.ntia.doc.gov/files/ntia_planning_community_broadband_roadmap_051616.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-05-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6qjkUPXSz]
- 76. National Telecommunications & Information Administration. URL: <u>https://www.ntia.doc.gov/home/</u> [accessed 2017-05-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6qkfyzGM3]
- 77. Schartman S. Connect Your Community participant survey results. 2012. URL: <u>http://connectyourcommunity.org/wp-content/</u> uploads/2015/01/2012-CYC-Participant-Survey.pdf [accessed 2017-05-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6qjkurpWO]
- 78. Schartman-Cycyk S. The digital divide: literacy, access and equity. In: Cross-Sector Panel: Health Digital Divide. 2017 Mar 02 Presented at: Data Days Cleveland; March 2, 2017; Cleveland URL: <u>http://datadayscle.org/2017/schedule-2/</u>
- 79. Institute for Medicaid Innovation. Medicaid managed care best practices compendium 2016-2017. 2017. URL: <u>http://www.medicaidplans.org/ docs/IMI-best practices Updated 10-05.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-05-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6qjlLhwGB]
- 80. FCC modernizes lifeline program for the digital age. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.fcc.gov/document/</u> <u>fcc-modernizes-lifeline-program-digital-age</u> [accessed 2017-05-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6qjlUfoyv]
- 81. Davis W. National Digital Inclusion Alliance. Kansas City: Net Inclusion Summit; 2016. Innovative partnerships that support community digital literacy training URL: <u>http://netinclusion.pbworks.com/w/page/106758090/</u> Innovative%20Partnerships%20that%20Support%20Community%20Digital%20Literacy%20Training [WebCite Cache ID 6qhro389V]
- 82. Harris K. National Digital Inclusion Alliance. Kansas City: Net Inclusion Summit; 2016. Learner Web as an on-ramp to health portal use URL: <u>http://netinclusion.pbworks.com/w/page/106715592/</u> Community%20Digital%20Inclusion%20Partnerships%20With%20Healthcare%20Providers [WebCite Cache ID 6qhrvGeVz]

- 83. Lyles C, Tieu L, Kiyoi S. National Digital Inclusion Alliance. Kansas City: Net Inclusion Summit; 2016. Training patients to use the San Francisco Health Network online patient portal, MYSFHEALTH URL: <u>http://netinclusion.pbworks.com/w/file/108055097/SFHN%20portal_Community%20Digital%20Inclusion%20Partnership%20with%20Healthcare%20Providers.pptx [WebCite Cache ID 6qhs2a2nm]</u>
- 84. Sheon A. Community digital inclusion partnerships with healthcare providers: panel discussion. Kansas City: Net Inclusion Summit, National Digital Inclusion Alliance; 2016. URL: <u>http://netinclusion.pbworks.com/w/page/106715592/</u> <u>Community%20Digital%20Inclusion%20Partnerships%20With%20Healthcare%20Providers</u> [accessed 2017-05-24] [WebCite Cache ID 6qhs9f189]
- 85. Sheon A. The ROI of digital inclusion for community health and health care. St. Paul: Net Inclusion Summit, National Digital Inclusion Alliance; 2017. URL: <u>https://digitalinclusion.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/NDIA-2017-FINAL.pptx</u> [accessed 2017-05-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6qjlsCho4]
- 86. Dietz W, Belay B, Bradley D, Kahan S, Murth N, Sanchez E, et al. A model framework that integrates community and clinical systems for the prevention and management of obesity and other chronic diseases. 2017 Jan. URL: <u>https://nam.edu/a-model-framework-that-integrates-community-and-clinical-systems-for-the-prevention-and-management-of-obesity-and-other-chronic-diseases/</u> [accessed 2017-05-24] [WebCite Cache ID 6qhriIPUz]
- 87. Barton J. Closing the digital divide: a framework for meeting CRA obligations. Dallas: Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas; 2016. URL: <u>https://www.dallasfed.org/~/media/documents/cd/pubs/digitaldivide.pdf [WebCite Cache ID 6qhsQv7gc]</u>
- 88. Greysen S, Magan MY, Rosenthal J, Jacolbia R, Rajkomar A, Lee H, et al. Using tablet computers to increase patient engagement with electronic personal health records: protocol for a prospective, randomized interventional study. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Sep 06;5(3):e176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.4672] [Medline: 27599452]
- 89. Sadasivaiah S, Kiyoi S, Ratanawongsa N, Lyles C. Finding meaning in meaningful use: implementing a patient portal in an urban safety net academic hospital. In: J Hosp Med. 2016; 11 (suppl 1). Presented at: Hospital Medicine; March 6-9, 2016; San Diego URL: <u>http://www.shmabstracts.com/abstract/</u><u>finding-meaning-in-meaningful-use-implementing-a-patient-portal-in-an-urban-safety-net-academic-hospital/</u>
- Druss B, Ji X, Glick G, von Esenwein SA. Randomized trial of an electronic personal health record for patients with serious mental illnesses. Am J Psychiatry 2014 Mar;171(3):360-368. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.13070913] [Medline: 24435025]
- 91. Jacobs G, Castek J, Pizzolato D, Pendell K, Withers E, Reder S. Executive summary: tutor-facilitated digital literacy acquisition. 2015 Jan 1. URL: <u>http://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/digital_literacy_acquisition_findings/9/</u> [accessed 2017-06-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6rLDRUVmt]
- 92. Zikmund-Fisher B, Exe N, Witteman H. Numeracy and literacy independently predict patients' ability to identify out-of-range test results. J Med Internet Res 2014 Aug 08;16(8):e187 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3241] [Medline: 25135688]
- 93. Sarkar U, Bates D. Care partners and online patient portals. JAMA 2014;311(4):357-358. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2013.285825</u>] [Medline: <u>24394945</u>]
- 94. Celi L, Davidzon G, Johnson A, Komorowski M, Marshall D, Nair S, et al. Bridging the health data divide. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 20;18(12):e325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6400] [Medline: 27998877]
- 95. Horowitz C, Shameer K, Gabrilove J, Atreja A, Shepard P, Goytia C, et al. Accelerators: sparking innovation and transdisciplinary team science in disparities research. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2017 Feb 23;14(3) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph14030225] [Medline: 28241508]
- 96. Sheon A. Building digital evidence together to fast track technologies that improve patient outcomes. 2016 Presented at: HIMSS Connected Health Conference; December 14, 2016; Washington URL: <u>http://exhibitionfloor.himss.org/chc2016/</u> Public/SessionDetails.aspx?FromPage=Sessions.aspx&SessionID=1260&SessionDateID=19
- 97. Sarkar U, Gourley GI, Lyles CR, Tieu L, Clarity C, Newmark L, et al. Usability of commercially available mobile applications for diverse patients. J Gen Intern Med 2016 Dec;31(12):1417-1426. [doi: 10.1007/s11606-016-3771-6] [Medline: 27418347]
- 98. Makhni S, Atreja A, Sheon A, Van WB, Sharp J, Carpenter N. The broken health information technology innovation pipeline: a perspective from NODE Health Consortium. Digital Biomarkers 2017 (forthcoming) [FREE Full text]
- 99. Modave F, Bian J, Rosenberg E, Mendoza T, Liang Z, Bhosale R, et al. DiaFit: The Development of a Smart App for Patients with Type 2 Diabetes and Obesity. JMIR Diabetes 2016 Dec 13;1(2):e5. [doi: <u>10.2196/diabetes.6662</u>]
- 100. Perzynski A. The Patient-Centered Media Lab. Cleveland: MetroHealth System URL: <u>http://pcmlab.org/</u> [accessed 2017-05-24] [WebCite Cache ID 6qhtPaGvw]
- 101. Perzynski A, Johnson E, Schick S, Smith T. HealthStead: home is where the health is. 2016. URL: <u>https://healthstead.org/</u> [accessed 2017-06-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6rLEKyQT3]
- 102. Mobile fact sheet. Washington: Pew Internet and American Life Project; 2017 Jan. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/mobile/</u> [accessed 2017-05-24] [WebCite Cache ID 6qhtavKgH]
- 103. Levy N, Moynihan V, Nilo A, Singer K, Bernik L, Etiebet M, et al. The mobile insulin titration intervention (MITI) for insulin adjustment in an urban, low-income population: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jul 17;17(7):e180 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4716] [Medline: 26187303]
- 104. Thakkar J, Kurup R, Laba T, Santo K, Thiagalingam A, Rodgers A, et al. Mobile telephone text messaging for medication adherence in chronic disease: a meta-analysis. JAMA Intern Med 2016 Mar;176(3):340-349. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.7667</u>] [Medline: <u>26831740</u>]

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e16/
```

Abbreviations

eHealth: electronic health
EHR: electronic health record
HIT: health information technology
NODE Health: Network for Digital Evidence in Health
SHI: social health inequalities
T2D: type 2 diabetes

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 07.10.16; peer-reviewed by C Lyles PhD, I de la Torre, M López-Coronado, A Paglialonga, A Martinez-Millana; comments to author 06.01.17; revised version received 26.05.17; accepted 16.06.17; published 13.07.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Sheon AR, Bolen SD, Callahan B, Shick S, Perzynski AT Addressing Disparities in Diabetes Management Through Novel Approaches to Encourage Technology Adoption and Use JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e16 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e16/</u> doi:10.2196/diabetes.6751 PMID:30291090

©Amy R Sheon, Shari D Bolen, Bill Callahan, Sarah Shick, Adam T Perzynski. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 13.07.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

Functionality, Implementation, Impact, and the Role of Health Literacy in Mobile Phone Apps for Gestational Diabetes: Scoping Review

Qiong Chen¹, MS; Elena T Carbone¹, RD, LDN, FAND, DrPH

Department of Nutrition, School of Public Health and Health Sciences, University of Massachusetts/Amherst, Amherst, MA, United States

Corresponding Author: Elena T Carbone, RD, LDN, FAND, DrPH Department of Nutrition School of Public Health and Health Sciences University of Massachusetts/Amherst Chenoweth Laboratory 100 Holdsworth Way Amherst, MA, 01003-9282 United States Phone: 1 413 545 1071 Fax: 1 413 545 1074 Email: ecarbone@nutrition.umass.edu

Abstract

Background: The increasing ownership of mobile phones and advances in hardware and software position these devices as cost-effective personalized tools for health promotion and management among women with gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM). Numerous mobile phone apps are available online; however, to our knowledge, no review has documented how these apps are developed and evaluated in relation to GDM.

Objective: The objective of our review was to answer the following 2 research questions: (1) What is known from the existing literature about the availability, functionality, and effectiveness of mobile phone apps on GDM prevention and management? (2) What is the role of health literacy in these apps?

Methods: We searched 7 relevant electronic databases for original research documents using terms related to mobile phone apps, GDM, and health literacy. We thematically categorized selected articles using a framework adapted from Arksey and O'Malley.

Results: We included 12 articles related to 7 apps or systems in the final analysis. We classified articles around 2 themes: (1) description of the development, feasibility, or usability of the apps or systems, and (2) trial protocols. The degree of personalization varied among the apps for GDM, and decision support systems can be used to generate time-efficient personalized feedback for both patients and health care providers. Health literacy was considered during the development or measured as an outcome by some apps.

Conclusions: There is a limited body of research on mobile phone apps in relation to GDM prevention and management. Mobile phone apps can provide time- and cost-efficient personalized interventions for GDM. Several randomized controlled trials have been launched recently to evaluate the effectiveness of the apps. Consideration of health literacy should be improved when developing features of the apps.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e25) doi:10.2196/diabetes.8045

KEYWORDS

gestational diabetes; mobile app; health literacy; smartphone; scoping review

Introduction

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) is diagnosed in the second or third trimester of pregnancy and is differentiated from type

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e25/

1 (T1DM) and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) [1]. GDM affects 5.8% to 12.9% of women worldwide [2] and 9.2% of women in the United States on average [3]. Women with GDM are more likely than nondiabetic women to experience cesarean

delivery, preeclampsia, and T2DM after delivery, and babies of GDM mothers have a higher risk of macrosomia, shoulder dystocia, birth injuries, hypoglycemia, and hyperbilirubinemia compared with those of nondiabetic mothers [4-6].

Epidemiologic studies have shown that modifiable risk factors such as prepregnancy body weight, recreational physical activity before and during pregnancy, and dietary patterns before pregnancy may be related to GDM risk [7]. GDM prevention efforts related to weight control and healthy lifestyle can potentially decrease risks of adverse outcomes for mothers and their children [8,9]. For up to 85% of women who already have a diagnosis of GDM, lifestyle changes may be sufficient to manage the disease, while oral metformin or insulin therapy might be needed for others [10]. Women with mild GDM who received dietary intervention, self-monitoring of blood glucose (BG), and insulin therapy had significantly lower risks of macrosomia (5.9% vs 14.3%, P<.001), shoulder dystocia, cesarean delivery (26.9% vs 33.8%, P=.02), and preeclampsia or gestational hypertension (8.6% vs 13.6, P=.01) than those who received standard care in a randomized controlled trial (RCT) of 958 women [11].

Mobile phones have portability, constant Internet connectivity, and increasing capacity to run complex apps, which makes them ideal tools in health services to collect personal information, provide personalized intervention, and potentially save time and cost as compared with standard health care [12,13]. Mobile phone apps are showing a positive impact on T1DM and T2DM self-management in the past two decades [14]. As self-management is critical for all diabetes patients, women with GDM may be highly motivated to adopt GDM self-management regimens, since they are concerned with possible complications of the disease affecting their baby [15,16]. Health-conscious pregnant women are likely to view apps and social media sites as a means to improve and monitor their pregnancy, their personal health, and their child's development and health [17]. Although GDM apps are widely available on online app stores, few published articles have described these apps, and we know of no review of mobile phone apps for GDM being published to date.

Being diabetic during pregnancy is challenging and can create high levels of stress and anxiety. Women with GDM need to access information about the disease, make adjustments to their lifestyle habits, learn to monitor their BG, and potentially learn to administer insulin or other medication in a very short period—usually 12 to 16 weeks from diagnosis to delivery [18]. There is evidence to suggest that health literacy (defined as the degree to which individuals have the capacity to obtain, process, and understand basic health information and services needed to make appropriate health decisions [19]) is specifically associated with diabetes management. Indeed, T2DM patients with lower health literacy levels have less diabetes-related knowledge [20] and are less engaged in mobile- and Web-delivered self-care interventions [21]. Furthermore, more engagement with these interventions is correlated with better glycemic control [21]. Among women whose pregnancies were complicated with diabetes (pregestational diabetes or GDM), health literacy was associated with patient-provider communication and risks that may cause adverse pregnancy

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e25/

outcomes, such as not taking a folic acid supplement [22,23]. Health literacy levels also confound the delivery of care from providers to GDM patients, especially among women from a disadvantaged background. Low literacy has been shown to have a significantly negative impact on women's understanding of GDM information and their ability to engage in a dialogue with health providers about their care. Low literacy also increases the communication challenges for diabetes educators who are working with these women [24]. Level of knowledge about GDM is significantly associated with glycemic control [25]. Literacy-appropriate and culturally appropriate educational messages should be developed and delivered to improve the health of patients and lessen the burden for their providers [24]. Mobile phone apps can be a useful educational strategy for GDM women with low health literacy due to the apps' flexibility of providing tailored information [26]. However, to our knowledge, the health literacy feature of mobile phone apps targeting women with GDM has not been evaluated.

Our objective was to review the literature on mobile phone apps designed for women who have or are at risk for developing GDM, and to describe the development, functionality, implementation, and impact of these apps. A secondary objective was to summarize the health literacy-related features of the apps described in the identified articles.

Methods

Research on mobile phone apps and GDM is relatively new; therefore, we conducted this scoping review as a first step to examine the availability of literature in this area. Scoping reviews are different from systematic reviews in that they answer broader research questions, and studies in various designs instead of a few predefined designs such as RCT and cohort can be relevant to the research questions; in addition, the quality of the studies is not evaluated [27]. We followed Arksey and O'Malley's 5-stage scoping review framework [27] to (1) identify the research questions, (2) identify relevant studies, (3) select studies, (4) chart the data, and (5) collate, summarize, and report the results.

Stage 1: Identifying the Research Questions

The research questions addressed in this review were as follows: (1) What is known from the existing literature about the availability, functionality, and effectiveness of mobile phone apps on GDM prevention and management? (2) What is the role of health literacy in these apps?

Stage 2: Identifying Relevant Studies

We selected 7 databases in consultation with a reference librarian: PubMed, Cochrane Library, Web of Science, CINAHL Complete, Communication & Mass Media Complete, Inspec, and Google Scholar. We identified articles by conducting searches using a combination of 2 sets of keywords: (1) gestational diabetes and (2) mobile, app, digital, technology, mHealth, wearable, wireless, smartphone, cell phone, telemedicine, or telecare. The combination of the first 2 sets of keywords and a third keyword, literacy, was searched in all 7 databases to identify extra articles. To retrieve the most relevant results, titles and abstracts were searched in PubMed; title,

XSL•FO RenderX

abstract, and keywords were searched for in Cochrane Library; topics were searched for in Web of Science; and abstracts were searched in CINAHL Complete, Communication & Mass Media Complete, and Inspec. The Google Scholar search was based on title. We also conducted a backward search of references of all articles that met the inclusion criteria.

Stage 3: Selecting the Studies

We retrieved articles for further analysis according to the following inclusion criteria: the targeted study population had to be women with GDM or women who were at risk of GDM; we considered overweight and obese women to be at risk for developing GDM. Studies had to describe a mobile phone app, and the mobile phone app had to focus on health promotion or disease prevention, or both. Exclusion criteria were studies focused solely on women with T1DM or T2DM. We excluded studies if mobile devices were used only to communicate between patients and health care providers (for data transmission, short messages, talk, or counseling). Other exclusion criteria were reviews or editorials, studies not in English, and studies for which the full text was not available.

According to these criteria, we selected the articles by title, abstracts, and then full text. Figure 1 presents the flow diagram of the search strategy. The initial searches were carried out in July 2016 and were not limited by date. The same searches were

Figure 1. Flow diagram of the search strategy.

performed again in April 2017 to identify newly published studies.

Stage 4: Charting the Data

After a full-text review, we classified studies into 2 categories based on the following content: (1) description of the development, feasibility, or usability of the apps or systems, and (2) trial protocols. To answer the research questions, we created a data charting form in Excel for Mac Version 15.25.1 (Microsoft Corporation) with the following elements: authors, year of publication, country of the study, category of the study, features of the app, behavioral theories, personalization features of the app, health literacy-related features, study design, sample characteristics, usability, feasibility, intervention components, and outcome measures.

Stage 5: Collating, Summarizing, and Reporting the Results

We used information from the data charting form to summarize the overall number of studies, years of publication, characteristics of the study populations, countries where studies were conducted, and the focus and purpose of the studies. We report results of the review as categories and elements identified in stage 4 to answer the research questions, make comparisons among the studies, and identify research gaps.



Results

A total of 507 articles from the 7 databases matched the initial search criteria using a combination of the keyword gestational diabetes and app-related keywords. The addition of a third keyword, literacy, did not yield additional results. Removing duplicates resulted in 297 articles for title and abstract review. We excluded 241 articles after the abstract review for the following reasons: not relevant (n=187), review or editorial (n=42), abstract only (n=10), and not in English (n=2). We reviewed the full text of the remaining 56 articles, which resulted in the elimination of 44 articles for the following reasons: did not describe an app (n=37), the app was used only to transfer data (n=6), and not relevant (n=1). We included a total of 12 articles in the final analysis (Figure 1).

Characteristics of the Studies

The final 12 articles were published between 2014 and 2017 and were conducted in 7 countries: Switzerland, Spain, Norway, the United Kingdom, South Korea, Ireland, and Malaysia. Among the 12 articles, 7 described the development and feasibility or usability of the app or system [28-34]; 4 proposed RCT protocols using an app or system [35-38]; and 1 described the development of an app [16]. A total of 7 distinct systems or projects containing an app were described in the 12 articles.

Development, Usability, and Feasibility of Apps and Systems

Table 1 summarizes specific features of the apps and systems. Table 2 summarizes the results from development, usability, and feasibility studies.

Garcia-Saez et al described the development of a telemedicine system called MobiGuide [16]. This system used a decision support system (DSS) to generate personalized feedback for GDM management based on an expert-approved GDM guideline and patients' data. MobiGuide includes a body area network, which provides real-time monitoring of biosignals such as BG by a Bluetooth-enabled glucometer, blood pressure by a blood pressure monitor, and activity level by an accelerometer within the smartphone. The MobiGuide system generates advice directly to both patients and health care providers. For the patients, advice regarding therapy, monitoring, and clinical assessment was generated based on their compliance with the therapy prescribed by the doctors to reinforce their behaviors. For the doctors, recommendations for changing diet and exercise, or insulin prescriptions, were generated based on patients' compliance and BG control. In the feasibility test of the MobiGuide system, 20 women with GDM were initially instructed to measure their BG (4 times/day), ketonuria (once/day, manually entered), blood pressure (twice/week), and weight (once/week). One participant dropped out after 1 week. Recommendations were modified based on patients' control and compliance. For example, good glycemic control could switch the BG measurement recommendation from 4 time per day to twice per week with 4 measures per day. Patients had high compliance (proportion of performed to recommended numbers of measurements) for BG (0.87±0.11), ketonuria (0.98 ± 0.03) , and blood pressure (0.82 ± 0.24) . When compared

with the data of a historical cohort of 247 GDM patients, MobiGuide users had significantly better compliance to follow at least 4 BG measurements on indicated days (1.01±0.10 vs 0.87 ± 0.28 ; P=.03) and better blood pressure control (98.6/64.7) vs 119.3/72.8 mmHg; P<.001). All 19 patients who completed the study received the message "High BG (2 abnormal per week). Did you eat more than you should?" The compliance rate (number who responded to the questions) was 0.31. Other recommendations related to ketonuria were generated to fewer patents (1-4 patients) with 0 to 1 compliance. Most of the users (12/17, 71%) thought the system improved their confidence in GDM management, 15/17 (88%) thought it did not complicate their lives, 12/17 (71%) liked the system's ability to adapt to their daily life and context change, and 16/17 (94%) would recommend it to other patients. All 6 clinicians thought the system helped them to identify treatment priorities, 5/6 (83%) agreed the system increased patient safety, and 4/6 (67%) thought the system made it easier to manage patients [34].

As part of the expert personal health system (PHS) developed by Bromuri et al, an Android smartphone was given to GDM women to input their BG measures once they read it from the glucometer that they were provided [28]. Autonomous software entities, or agents, were programmed based on the American Academy of Family Physicians' monitoring rules [39] to serve as the "experts." The PHS was able to monitor BG readings and generate text-based alerts of hypoglycemic and hyperglycemic events to the caretaker (nurses, dietitians, doctors) on a Web interface. For example, if 2 BG values were less than 3 mmol/L within 1 hour, a hypoglycemia warning would be generated. With the automated alerts, caretakers were able to initiate an in-person or phone-based consultation with the patient based on the BG measures that triggered the alerts. An RCT was conducted with 24 GDM women to compare effects between a control group (standard care, n=12) and an intervention group (n=12) using the PHS in addition to standard care [28]. All women were asked to record their BG values 6 times a day for 2 to 4 months: fasting, postprandial breakfast, preprandial lunch, postprandial lunch, preprandial dinner, and postprandial dinner. The intervention group recorded significantly more BG measurements than the control group (235±86 vs 135±80; P < .001). Women in the intervention group had overall better BG control (5.4 vs 5.7 mmol/L or 98 vs 102.4 mg/dL; P<.001) than the control group. Among the 6 daily BG measurements, 4 were significantly better controlled in the intervention group (all 4 P<.001). In the intervention group, all patients rated the smartphone app easy to use and were satisfied with the care provided by the system. Caregivers in this study considered the system appropriate for GDM management. Although the time needed for patients' consultation remained the same, the caregivers thought the PHS was more time efficient because they were able to focus on the hyperglycemic or hypoglycemic events based on the alerts instead of going through patients' BG records manually. In addition, consultations could be initiated within 1 to 3 days with the PHS instead of 1 to 3 weeks with the standard care after the hyperglycemic or hypoglycemic events. The PHS system also allowed for the possibility of daily consultation on patients' BG readings.

XSL•FO

 Table 1. Characteristics of the 7 apps and systems.

Chen & Carbone

Author, year, reference	Country	App and technology characteristics	Theory and theoret- ical constructs	Personalization	Health literacy-related features
Garcia-Saez, 2014 [16]	Spain	MobiGuide (app) Patients' data automatically collected by body area network or manually entered in app; decision support system generates feedback to patients and clinicians based on clinical guidelines.	Reminders and ad- vice generated to reinforce behav- iors.	Patients' compliance, BG ^a control, personal information, and pre- ferred time of receiving reminders used to gener- ate personalized re- minders.	N/A ^b
Bromuri, 2016 [28]	Switzer- land	PHS ^c (app and Web) Patient's side: Android app collects BG values, medication data, and symptoms. Caregiver's side: a Web app, existing med- ical knowledge designed to provide alerts about the glycemic values to caregivers.	N/A	Alerts based on pa- tients' BG control.	BG data visualization.
Garnweidner- Holme, 2015 [29]	Norway	Pregnant + (app) Auto transfers BG levels; gives immediate feedback on BG levels; provides informa- tion about healthy eating and PA ^d ; prints BG records at their clinics; provides general information about GDM ^e .	Health belief mod- el used to develop content.	Culturally tailored di- etary recommendations; information tailored to preference and prepreg- nancy PA level.	Content checked against Suitability Assessment of Materials and Kreuter's message checklist to im- prove text and layout. A diabetes lexicon was used to explain medical jargon. BG data visualization.
Jo, 2016 [32]	South Ko- rea	App generates common recommendations applicable to all GDM patients and tailored recommendations based on algorithms linking patients' data and clinical guide- lines.	N/A	Tailored recommenda- tions based on BG, diet, PA, ketone, and weight.	N/A
Mackillop, 2014 [33]	United Kingdom	GDm-Health (system) Automatically uploads BGs from glucome- ter to app through Bluetooth and then to server; health care professionals have re- mote access; 2-way communication between women and health care professionals.	N/A	Alerts generated by the system to health care providers based on fre- quency and reading of BG.	BG data visualization.
Kennelly, 2016 [36]	Ireland	Pears (app) Provides list of daily PA and behavioral tips, and a database of low glycemic index recipes.	Control theory: SMART ^f goals; social cognitive theory: barriers to change	Dietary advice and PA goals set at in-person education session with nutritionist or dietitian and obstetrician.	N/A
Skau, 2016 [38]	Malaysia	Jom Mama eHealth platform (app and Web) App incorporates personal goal setting, progress tracking, and general information on healthy lifestyles. A Web-based back- end interface can be accessed by CHPs ^g .	Goal setting with CHPs and in the app, motivational interviewing tech- niques adopted by CHPs.	Personalized goal set- ting and follow-up with CHPs. The app pro- vides interactive op- tions allowing users to select lifestyle chal- lenges.	Change in health literacy is a secondary end point.

^aBG: blood glucose.

^bN/A: not applicable.

^cPHS: personal health system.

^dPA: physical activity.

^eGDM: gestational diabetes mellitus.

^fSMART: specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, and time specific.

^gCHP: community health promoter.



Table 2. Summary of usability and feasibility studies and RCT^a protocols.

Author, year, reference	Country	App or sys- tem name	Focus and study design	Target audience and sample	Key results and outcome variables	
Peleg, 2017 [34]	Spain	MobiGuide	Feasibility Quasi-experi- mental	Intervention: GDM ^b patients (n=20) Control: historical cohort GDM pa- tients (n=247)	Intervention vs control: BG ^c measurement compli- ance ^d (1.01 \pm 0.10 vs 0.87 \pm 0.28; <i>P</i> =.03), BP control (98.6/64.7 vs 119.3/72.8 mmHg; <i>P</i> <.001).	
				Duration: <34th gestational week to delivery (5-11 weeks)	Patient compliance ^e : BG measures (0.87 ± 0.11) , ketonuria (0.98 ± 0.03) , BP (0.82 ± 0.24) , responded to message "High BG (2 abnormal per week), did you eat more than you should?" (0.31) .	
					Patient satisfaction (rated positive): system in- creased confidence $(12/17)$, liked system's adapt- ability to daily life $(12/17)$, system did not compli- cate life $(15/17)$; would recommend to others (16/17).	
					Clinician satisfaction (rated positive): system helped identify priorities (6/6), increased patient safety (5/6), easier to manage patients (4/6).	
Bromuri, 2016 [28]	Switzer- land	PHS ^f	Development, usability, feasi- bility	Intervention (telemedicine): GDM patients (n=12) Control (standard protocol): GDM	Intervention vs control: number of BG measures (2749 vs 1616; <i>P</i> <.001); BG control (5.4 vs 5.7 mmol/L or 98 vs 102.4 mg/dL; <i>P</i> <.001).	
	RCT patients (n=12)	patients (n=12) Duration: 24th-32nd gestational	Intervention group satisfaction: 12/12 satisfied with the care by PHS and perceived the system easy to use.			
				Caregiver satisfaction: perceived the system as ap- propriate, reduced reaction time, provided possibil- ity of daily consultation, and saved time through automated alerts.		
Garnweid-	•	Development,	evelopment, Women with GDM (N=22)	Perceived ease to register and control BG levels.		
ner-Holme, 2015 [29]		us	usability	usability	usability	Duration: 1-time use of the app
Borgen, 2017 [35]	Norway	Pregnant+	+ RCT protocol (ongoing)	Women with a 2-hour OGTT ^g ≥9 mmol/L (N=230)	BG level measured at 2-hour OGTT 3 months postpartum.	
				Intervention: app + standard care Control: standard care Duration: <33rd gestational week to 3 months postpartum	Change in health behavior and knowledge about GDM, quality of life, birth weight, mode of delivery, and complications for mother and child.	
Jo, 2016 [32]	South Ko-		Development,	Usability: GDM patients (n=5)	Average usability score: 69.5 out of 100.	
	rea		bility (n=60)	User acceptance test: GDM patients (n=60) Duration: 1 week	User acceptance score with behavioral intention to use 5.5, intrinsic motivation score 4.3, perceived ease of use score 4.6, and perceived usefulness	
					score 5.0, out of 7 for all measures.	
Mackillop, 2014 [33]	-	1 61 1	Development	· /	Women used the system for 13.1 weeks on average. 46/54 women submitted the minimum of 18 BG readings per week.	
			patients (n=50)	19,410/19,686 (98.6%) of BG readings were manu- ally tagged with additional information (time of measurement and comments) by patients.		
Hirst, 2015 [30]	United Kingdom	GDm-Health	Usability	See row above	Satisfaction: women were satisfied with the care (45/49), and agreed the equipment was convenient (47/49), reliable (43/49), and fit into their lifestyle (42/49).	

Author, year, reference	Country	App or sys- tem name	Focus and study design	Target audience and sample	Key results and outcome variables
Hirst, 2016 [31]	United Kingdom	GDm-Health	Feasibility	See 2 rows above	12/41 (29%) women delivered LGA ^h babies. Mother's BG (LGA vs non-LGA babies): mean BG (6.3 vs 5.6 mmol/L; P =.004), fasting BG (5.8 vs 5.1 mmol/L; P =.004), and 2-hour postprandial BG (6.9 vs 6.0 mmol/L; P =.001). Odds of delivering an LGA baby increased with every 1-SD increase (0.7 mmol/l) in mean BG (OR ⁱ 5.5, 95% CI 1.4-21.2) and mean postprandial BG (OR 6.1, 95% CI 1.6-23.4).
Mackillop, 2016 [37]	United Kingdom	GDm-Health	RCT protocol (ongoing)	N=200 pregnant women with abnor- mal glucose tolerance Intervention: use GDm-Health sys- tem (app), attend the clinic every 4- 8 weeks Control: standard care, self-record BG diary at home, attend the clinic every 2-4 weeks Duration: 14-34 weeks to delivery	Efficacy of GDm-Health; BG control and manage- ment intensity; maternal and fetal outcomes.
Kennelly, 2016 [36]	Ireland	Pears	RCT protocol (ongoing)	N=506 pregnant women, 10-15 weeks' gestation, body mass index 25-39.9 kg/m ² Intervention: targeted low Gl^{j} , nutri- tional advice, and a daily exercise prescription (in-person education session) with a smartphone app as support, and biweekly follow-up emails Control: standard obstetric care Duration: 2nd to 3rd trimester	Incidence of GDM at 29 weeks. Gestational weight gain, maternal physical activity levels in the 3rd trimester, and GI and glycemic loading of maternal diet in the 3rd trimester.
Skau, 2016 [38]	Malaysia	Jom Mama	RCT protocol (ongoing)	N=660 newly registered married or engaged couples. Female not preg- nant, diabetes-free at baseline Intervention: contact with communi- ty health promoter: 3 face-to-face meetings, 3 phone calls, communi- cation through WhatsApp group chat, and use of the eHealth plat- form Control: standard care Duration: 8 months	Change in abdominal fat content. Change in body mass index, waist-to-height ratio, waist-to-hip ratio, weight, hemoglobin A_{1c} , fasting lipid profile, blood pressure, health literacy, dietary intake, physical activity and sedentary behavior, and stress level. Incidence of GDM.

^aRCT: randomized controlled trial.

^bGDM: gestational diabetes mellitus.

^cBG: blood glucose.

JMIR DIABETES

^dNumber of days measured \geq 4 BGs/number of days prescribed to measure BG.

^eProportion of performed/recommended measurements.

^fPHS: personal health system.

^gOGTT: oral glucose tolerance test.

^hLGA: large for gestational age.

ⁱOR: odds ratio.

XSL•FO RenderX

^jGI: glycemic index.

Pregnant+ is an app developed to monitor GDM women's BG level by Bluetooth transmission or manual input [29]. It generates immediate feedback, provides information on healthy diets based on the cultural background of the user (eg, using food items preferred in users' cultures), provides physical

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e25/

activity information based on level of activity, and provides general information about GDM. The content of the app was designed to emphasize patients' perceived severity of their disease, emphasize perceived benefits to treatment and management, and provide cues to action based on the health
belief model. Although BG records cannot be transferred automatically to the health care providers due to medical data security, users can print their BG records at the clinics [29]. In a user involvement study for the Pregnant+ app, most participants were able to perform tasks related to the 4 major functions of the app; namely, finding (1) where to register BG levels (11/11, 100%), (2) information about healthy eating (10/11, 91%), (3) information about physical activities (10/11, 91%), and (4) general information about GDM (10/11, 91%) [29]. Fewer participants were able to find other functions, such as entering appointments for medical consultations (9/11, 82%) and finding how to register body weight (5/11, 45%). Users of this app believed it would make it easier for them to register and control their BG level than with standard care. They also reported favorable reviews for the features that provided real-time feedback and information about GDM, diet, and physical activity.

Jo and Park developed an app for Korean women with GDM [32]. This app generates recommendations about the risk factors of GDM, importance of GDM management, and management of BG, diet, physical activity, and body weight to patients based on their initial assessment and lifestyle data, including caloric intake and physical activity level. Algorithms using patients' data and clinical guidelines [40-42] were developed to generate individually tailored recommendations. A total of 5 GDM patients participated in the usability test of this app. The average usability score was 69.5 out of 100 as measured by a Korean version of the System Usability Scale [32]. User acceptance was measured using Wilson and Lankton's model of patients' acceptance of provider-delivered eHealth [43]. The user acceptance score with behavioral intention to use was 5.5, intrinsic motivation score was 4.3, perceived ease of use score was 4.6, and perceived usefulness score was 5.0, out of 7 for all measures.

The GDm-Health system is a real-time BG monitoring management system for women with GDM that consists of a smartphone app and a website [33]. This smartphone app allows women to automatically synchronize their BG levels from their glucose meter through Bluetooth and provides immediate feedback based on the BG readings. BG levels are sent to a central server where health care professionals can access the data on a website. Another function of this system is to allow 2-way communication where health care professionals give advice or change medication and users can request a callback from the team to address their concerns. A total of 7 women were involved in the beta test phase of the GDm-Health system, and 50 women with GDM tested the system until delivery. On average, the women used the system for 13.1 weeks, 46 of 54 (85%) submitted the minimal requirement of 18 BG readings per week, and 19,410 of 19,686 (98.6%) readings were manually tagged with additional information indicating when it was measured (pre- or postprandial) [33]. The Oxford Maternity Diabetes Treatment Satisfaction Questionnaire was developed and used to assess the acceptability of the system [30]. Overall, 45/49 (92%) women were satisfied with the care delivered by the system, and 46/49 (94%) agreed they had a good relationship with their care team. Most agreed that the equipment was convenient (47/49, 96%), reliable (43/49, 88%), and fit into

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e25/
```

XSI•F(

their lifestyle (42/49, 86%). Birth outcome data were available for 41 women, of whom 12 (29%) delivered large for gestational age (LGA) babies. Mothers of LGA versus non-LGA babies had significantly higher mean (6.3 vs 5.6 mmol/L; P=.004), fasting (5.8 vs 5.1 mmol/L; P=.004), and 2-hour postprandial BG readings (6.9 vs 6.0 mmol/L; P=.001). A 1-SD increase (0.7 mmol/L) in mean BG increased the odds of delivering an LGA baby by fivefold (odds ratio 5.5, 95% CI 1.4-21.2) [31].

Randomized Controlled Trial Protocols

A total of 4 ongoing RCTs are using a mobile phone app or using an app as part of the intervention component to prevent or manage GDM [35-38]. Table 1 summarizes characteristics of the apps and Table 2 summarizes characteristics of the RCT protocols.

Mackillop et al are testing the efficacy of using the GDm-Health system compared with standard clinic care [37]. A total of 200 women with abnormal glucose tolerance between 14 and 34 weeks of gestation have been randomly assigned to 1 of 2 groups: GDm-Health system and clinic visit every 4 to 8 weeks; or normal clinic care (visit the clinic every 2 to 4 weeks). The primary outcome is BG control, as determined by mean BG readings from recruitment until delivery compared between the intervention and the control group. The secondary outcomes are compliance with the allocated BG monitoring regimen, maternal and neonatal outcomes, glycemic control using hemoglobin A_{1c} and other BG metrics, and patient attitudes toward care.

Borgen and colleagues are evaluating the efficacy of the Pregnant + app [35]. A total of 230 pregnant women with GDM who own a smartphone, understand Norwegian, Urdu, or Somali, and are before 33 weeks of gestation were recruited. Women will randomly receive either the Pregnancy+ app and standard care or standard care until 3 months postpartum. The primary outcome is glucose tolerance after the intervention, measured by 2-hour oral glucose tolerance test. Secondary outcomes are birth weight, mode of delivery and complications for mother and child, change in diet and physical activity from baseline to 36 weeks of gestation (measured by a modification of the Fit for Delivery questionnaire and the Pregnancy Physical Activity Questionnaire), and quality of life (measured by a short version of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale and by health-related quality of life during pregnancy and postpartum) [35].

Kennelly et al are conducting a pregnancy, exercise, and nutrition research study with smartphone app support (Pears) targeting low glycemic index dietary and physical activity promotion among overweight and obese pregnant women [36]. The Pears healthy lifestyle package includes a 75-minute in-person education session, biweekly emails, 2 follow-up appointments, and an app. The app provides behavior, dietary, and physical activity tips, physical activity benefits, and a database of low glycemic index recipes. Control theory and social cognitive theory were applied to set up patients' personal SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, and time-specific) goals, and to overcome personal and environmental barriers to change. The authors are randomly assigning 506 overweight or obese women between 10 and 15

weeks' gestation to the intervention or the control arm to assess the impact of the Pears healthy lifestyle package [36]. The primary outcome is the incidence of GDM at the 29th week. Secondary outcomes will be gestational weight gain, maternal physical activity levels, and glycemic index and glycemic load of the mothers' diet in the third trimester.

Skau et al developed a behavior change intervention, Jom Mama, targeting young Malaysian couples to promote women's health prior to pregnancy [38]. This project includes 3 in-person and 3 phone communications with community health promoters, and an eHealth platform. The eHealth platform includes an app for the couples and a Web-based interface for the community health promoters. The couples can set personal goals, track their progress, and access general information on healthy lifestyles from the app. Women and spouses can select different challenges for obtaining a healthy diet (eg, avoid soft drinks), increasing their physical activity, or decreasing their sedentary behavior during the intervention period (eg, cycle for 30 minutes). Community health promoters follow the progress of the couples and interact with them during the in-person and phone communications using the information from the Web-based interface. Skau and colleagues are testing the efficacy of the Jom Mama project on preconception health promotion [38]. They are recruiting a total of 660 nulliparous women between 20 and 39 years of age who own a smartphone and are free of diabetes to randomly assign to an intervention or control group. The planned follow-up duration will be 8 months. The primary outcome is change in waist circumference. Secondary outcomes will be changes in other anthropometric (eg, body mass index, waist-to-hip ratio), biochemical measures (eg, hemoglobin A_{1c}, lipid profile), health literacy, dietary intake, physical activity, and stress level. They will also measure the incidence of GDM proposed as an outcome in women who completed the intervention and become pregnant after the trial.

Health Literacy-Related Features

Health literacy was taken into account in 2 of the 7 final apps and systems. The Pregnant+ app was the only system that incorporated user literacy level in the development phase [29]. The researchers checked the app against Kreuter's message checklist, which includes checking the content, writing, literacy, and elements of visual communication [44] and administering the Suitability Assessment of Materials instrument [45] to make sure the app was appropriate for their targeted audience. In addition, after the second stage of the user involvement study with 11 GDM patients of varying literacy levels, a diabetes wordlist was added to the app to explain medical jargon [29]. The Jom Mama intervention was designed to measure change in the level of health literacy using the European Health Literacy Survey Questionnaire (a 47-item scale covering 3 domains: health care, disease prevention, and health promotion) as one of the outcomes of the intervention [38]. PHS, Pregnant+, and GDm-Health all used a data visualization strategy to present normal and abnormal BG data in figures [28,29,33]. Although Jo and Park involved users in the development of the app, they did not mention whether the app met the health literacy level of their targeted users [32]. Mackillop et al assumed that their

target users for the GDm-Health system being recruited from a large single-center tertiary referral unit in southern England would have high rates of literacy and low levels of social deprivation [37].

Discussion

Principal Results

There is a limited body of published data on the use of mobile phone apps for GDM. In this review, 12 articles focused on the development, usability, feasibility, and trial protocols of mobile phone apps or interventions including an app. DSSs were used to connect patients' data to tailored feedback for both patients and health care providers using clinical guidelines. Health literacy was considered a feature of 1 app during the development phase [29] and was measured as an outcome by another app [38].

Comparison With Prior Work

Figure 2 presents the common framework combining all the characteristics of the app or system with automated features. The findings suggest that DSSs have the capacity to generate real-time personalized feedback based on users' input and existing clinical guidelines. From the studies identified, a variety of data from the users have been collected, recorded, and saved in the app or system, or used to develop the app or system. These data include health records, biosignals collected by body area network, user preferences, culture, lifestyle data, clinical data, and personal health goals. However, not all of the information was used in the DSSs to generate output to the patients or health care providers. The information that was used most frequently was BG levels collected by body area network or entered by the users. The MobiGuide system had the highest level of personalization among all the apps and systems we identified [16]. This system feeds the DSS with historical clinical data, the personal health record, body area network sensor data, and manually entered data to generate personalized feedback. However, deciding on the right amount of advice to reinforce users' behaviors without overwhelming them can be challenging. The primary functions of the apps and systems included providing information, promoting lifestyle change, assessing and monitoring user status, and managing medication and complication with approval from providers. Also, protecting the security and privacy of patients' data is a common feature of the apps and systems. Similar to the findings of this review, in a review of commercial apps for diabetes self-management, El Gayar found that 12 of 71 (17%) had decision support capabilities and all of them were related to insulin dosage suggestions as opposed to lifestyle changes [14]. Internet-based interventions that promoted lifestyle modifications for diabetes management, were based on theory, included interactive components and personalized feedback, and provided peer support were most successful [46]. In our review, only 2 apps incorporated behavior change theories [16,29], and 2 RCTs used theories in their proposed interventions, but not specifically in their app or system [36].



Figure 2. Framework of automated app or system.



Even if the apps provide high-quality, evidence-based content, the value is limited if the information does not adequately match and address the usability, accessibility, readability, and health literacy needs of target audiences [47]. Although users were frequently involved in usability and feasibility studies to inform the development and finalization of the app or system, their literacy level was discussed in only 2 studies. Caburnay et al analyzed the health literacy-related features of more than 100 diabetes apps with a specific focus on using plain language, displaying content clearly, organizing and simplifying the user interface, and engaging users [48]. A total of 84% of the apps employed at least one of the plain language strategies, such as using common everyday words; avoiding undefined technical or medical terms; and using active voice, action words, and present tense [48]. Involving users in the development phase and evaluating users' attitudes, knowledge, beliefs, and behavior related to health information are helpful strategies to improve usability of an app [49].

Overall, the users involved in the usability and feasibility studies found it easy to navigate the apps and systems, and were satisfied with the technology. Apps and systems have the potential to improve compliance with BG monitoring and treatment prescriptions, and improve communication between users and health care providers. El-Gayar et al categorized the technology for diabetes self-management into the Internet, cellular phones, telemedicine, and decision support techniques [50]. However, our review found that DSSs can be embedded in mobile phone apps to generate real-time feedback.

Only 1 feasibility study [28] with a sample of 24 women showed that patients who received PHS care had better BG control than

did patients who received standard care. Better blood pressure control was reported in another feasibility study; however, no difference in BG control was observed [34]. Large RCTs are needed to confirm the system's impact on BG control and other clinical outcomes. In this review, we identified 3 RCT protocols: only 1 protocol, by Mackillop et al [37], evaluated the efficacy of the GDm-Health system, and the other 2 protocols evaluated complex lifestyle programs with an app as part of the intervention [36,38].

Limitations

We applied no evaluation criteria to the articles due to the nature of this scoping review. This review only searched abstract, title, and topics in most databases, which may not yield a complete pool of relevant articles. Articles published in languages other than English were not included. However, this is, to our knowledge, the first known review of mobile phone apps on GDM to provide an overview of the literature.

Conclusions

This scoping review describes the literature on mobile phone apps for GDM prevention and management. We identified and described 12 articles that discussed the design and development, usability, feasibility, and RCT protocols of GDM-related apps. Findings from this scoping review suggest that mobile phone apps have the potential to prevent GDM and improve GDM management. Future research should focus on large RCTs of the impact of these apps. In addition, health literacy levels of the potential audience should be taken into consideration when developing and evaluating the usability of apps for this audience.

Acknowledgments

Both authors contributed significantly to the conception, design, data interpretation, and analysis of the articles; participated significantly in the writing and critical revision of the manuscript; and read and approved the final manuscript, as well as all previous versions.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- American Diabetes Association. 2. Classification and diagnosis of diabetes. Diabetes Care 2017 Jan;40(Suppl 1):S11-S24. [doi: <u>10.2337/dc17-S005</u>] [Medline: <u>27979889</u>]
- 2. Zhu Y, Zhang C. Prevalence of gestational diabetes and risk of progression to type 2 diabetes: a global perspective. Curr Diab Rep 2016 Jan;16(1):7. [doi: 10.1007/s11892-015-0699-x] [Medline: 26742932]

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e25/
```

- DeSisto CL, Kim SY, Sharma AJ. Prevalence estimates of gestational diabetes mellitus in the United States, Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System (PRAMS), 2007-2010. Prev Chronic Dis 2014 Jun 19;11:E104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd11.130415] [Medline: 24945238]
- 4. Billionnet C, Mitanchez D, Weill A, Nizard J, Alla F, Hartemann A, et al. Gestational diabetes and adverse perinatal outcomes from 716,152 births in France in 2012. Diabetologia 2017 Apr;60(4):636-644. [doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4206-6] [Medline: 28197657]
- Lai FY, Johnson JA, Dover D, Kaul P. Outcomes of singleton and twin pregnancies complicated by pre-existing diabetes and gestational diabetes: a population-based study in Alberta, Canada, 2005-11. J Diabetes 2016 Jan;8(1):45-55. [doi: 10.1111/1753-0407.12255] [Medline: 25496644]
- Lee AJ, Hiscock RJ, Wein P, Walker SP, Permezel M. Gestational diabetes mellitus: clinical predictors and long-term risk of developing type 2 diabetes: a retrospective cohort study using survival analysis. Diabetes Care 2007 Apr;30(4):878-883. [doi: 10.2337/dc06-1816] [Medline: 17392549]
- 7. Zhang C, Ning Y. Effect of dietary and lifestyle factors on the risk of gestational diabetes: review of epidemiologic evidence. Am J Clin Nutr 2011 Dec;94(6 Suppl):1975S-1979S [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/ajcn.110.001032] [Medline: 21613563]
- 8. Dodd JM, Turnbull D, McPhee AJ, Deussen AR, Grivell RM, Yelland LN, et al. Antenatal lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese: LIMIT randomised trial. BMJ 2014 Feb 10;348:g1285 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24513442]
- Jing W, Huang Y, Liu X, Luo B, Yang Y, Liao S. The effect of a personalized intervention on weight gain and physical activity among pregnant women in China. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2015 May;129(2):138-141. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijgo.2014.11.014</u>] [Medline: <u>25697965</u>]
- American Diabetes Association. 13. Management of diabetes in pregnancy. Diabetes Care 2017 Jan;40(Suppl 1):S114-S119. [doi: <u>10.2337/dc17-S016</u>] [Medline: <u>27979900</u>]
- Landon MB, Spong CY, Thom E, Carpenter MW, Ramin SM, Casey B, Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Maternal-Fetal Medicine Units Network. A multicenter, randomized trial of treatment for mild gestational diabetes. N Engl J Med 2009 Oct 01;361(14):1339-1348 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0902430] [Medline: 19797280]
- 12. Klonoff DC. The current status of mHealth for diabetes: will it be the next big thing? J Diabetes Sci Technol 2013 May;7(3):749-758 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23759409]
- 13. Perera C. The evolution of E-Health–mobile technology and mHealth. J Mob Technol Med 2012 Mar 01;1(1):1-2. [doi: 10.7309/jmtm.1]
- 14. El-Gayar O, Timsina P, Nawar N, Eid W. Mobile applications for diabetes self-management: status and potential. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2013;7(1):247-262 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23439183]
- 15. Carolan M, Gill GK, Steele C. Women's experiences of factors that facilitate or inhibit gestational diabetes self-management. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2012 Sep 18;12:99 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-12-99] [Medline: 22988897]
- García-Sáez G, Rigla M, Martínez-Sarriegui I, Shalom E, Peleg M, Broens T, et al. Patient-oriented computerized clinical guidelines for mobile decision support in gestational diabetes. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2014 Mar;8(2):238-246 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296814526492] [Medline: 24876573]
- 17. Johnson S. "Maternal devices", social media and the self-management of pregnancy, mothering and child health. Societies 2014 Jun 13;4(2):330-350. [doi: 10.3390/soc4020330]
- 18. Hui AL, Sevenhuysen G, Harvey D, Salamon E. Barriers and coping strategies of women with gestational diabetes to follow dietary advice. Women Birth 2014 Dec;27(4):292-297. [doi: 10.1016/j.wombi.2014.07.001] [Medline: 25096174]
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2010: Understanding and Improving Health. 2nd edition. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office; 2000. URL: <u>http://www.healthypeople.gov/2010/Document/pdf/uih/</u> 2010uih.pdf [accessed 2017-05-08] [WebCite Cache ID 6qJaHYZgx]
- 20. Al Sayah F, Majumdar SR, Williams B, Robertson S, Johnson JA. Health literacy and health outcomes in diabetes: a systematic review. J Gen Intern Med 2013 Mar;28(3):444-452 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-012-2241-z] [Medline: 23065575]
- 21. Nelson LA, Coston TD, Cherrington AL, Osborn CY. Patterns of user engagement with mobile-and web-delivered self-care interventions for adults with T2DM: a review of the literature. Curr Diab Rep 2016 Dec;16(7):66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11892-016-0755-1] [Medline: 27255269]
- 22. Endres LK, Sharp LK, Haney E, Dooley SL. Health literacy and pregnancy preparedness in pregestational diabetes. Diabetes Care 2004 Feb;27(2):331-334. [Medline: <u>14747209</u>]
- Pennington AVR, O'Reilly SL, Young D, Dunbar JA. Improving follow-up care for women with a history of gestational diabetes: perspectives of GPs and patients. Aust J Prim Health 2017 Apr;23(1):66-74. [doi: <u>10.1071/PY15177</u>] [Medline: <u>28442034</u>]
- 24. Carolan M. Diabetes nurse educators' experiences of providing care for women, with gestational diabetes mellitus, from disadvantaged backgrounds. J Clin Nurs 2014 May;23(9-10):1374-1384. [doi: <u>10.1111/jocn.12421</u>] [Medline: <u>24313229</u>]
- 25. Hussain Z, Yusoff Z, Sulaiman S. Evaluation of knowledge regarding gestational diabetes mellitus and its association with glycaemic level: a Malaysian study. Prim Care Diabetes 2015 Jun;9(3):184-190. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pcd.2014.07.007</u>] [Medline: <u>25132140</u>]

- 26. Kim H, Xie B. Health literacy in the eHealth era: a systematic review of the literature. Patient Educ Couns 2017 Jun;100(6):1073-1082. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2017.01.015] [Medline: 28174067]
- 27. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol 2005 Feb;8(1):19-32. [doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616]
- Bromuri S, Puricel S, Schumann R, Krampf J, Ruiz J, Schumacher M. An expert personal health system to monitor patients affected by gestational diabetes mellitus: a feasibility study. J Ambient Intelligence Smart Environ 2016 Mar 15;8(2):219-237. [doi: <u>10.3233/AIS-160365</u>]
- 29. Garnweidner-Holme LM, Borgen I, Garitano I, Noll J, Lukasse M. Designing and developing a mobile smartphone application for women with gestational diabetes mellitus followed-up at diabetes outpatient clinics in Norway. Healthcare (Basel) 2015 May 21;3(2):310-323 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/healthcare3020310] [Medline: 27417764]
- Hirst JE, Mackillop L, Loerup L, Kevat DA, Bartlett K, Gibson O, et al. Acceptability and user satisfaction of a smartphone-based, interactive blood glucose management system in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2015 Jan;9(1):111-115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296814556506] [Medline: 25361643]
- Hirst JE, Loerup L, Mackillop L, Farmer A, Kenworthy Y, Bartlett K, et al. Digital blood glucose monitoring could provide new objective assessments of blood glucose control in women with gestational diabetes. Diabet Med 2016 Nov;33(11):1598-1599. [doi: 10.1111/dme.13035] [Medline: 26606543]
- 32. Jo S, Park H. Development and evaluation of a smartphone application for managing gestational diabetes mellitus. Healthc Inform Res 2016 Jan;22(1):11-21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4258/hir.2016.22.1.11] [Medline: 26893946]
- 33. Mackillop L, Loerup L, Bartlett K, Farmer A, Gibson OJ, Hirst JE, et al. Development of a real-time smartphone solution for the management of women with or at high risk of gestational diabetes. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2014 Nov;8(6):1105-1114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296814542271] [Medline: 25004915]
- 34. Peleg M, Shahar Y, Quaglini S, Broens T, Budasu R, Fung N, et al. Assessment of a personalized and distributed patient guidance system. Int J Med Inform 2017 May;101:108-130. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.02.010] [Medline: 28347441]
- Borgen I, Garnweidner-Holme LM, Jacobsen AF, Bjerkan K, Fayyad S, Joranger P, et al. Smartphone application for women with gestational diabetes mellitus: a study protocol for a multicentre randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open 2017 Mar 27;7(3):e013117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013117] [Medline: 28348183]
- 36. Kennelly MA, Ainscough K, Lindsay K, Gibney E, Mc Carthy CM, McAuliffe FM. Pregnancy, exercise and nutrition research study with smart phone app support (Pears): study protocol of a randomized controlled trial. Contemp Clin Trials 2016 Jan;46:92-99. [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2015.11.018] [Medline: 26625980]
- 37. Mackillop LH, Bartlett K, Birks J, Farmer AJ, Gibson OJ, Kevat DA, et al. Trial protocol to compare the efficacy of a smartphone-based blood glucose management system with standard clinic care in the gestational diabetic population. BMJ Open 2016 Mar 17;6(3):e009702 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-009702] [Medline: 26988348]
- 38. Skau JKH, Nordin ABA, Cheah JCH, Ali R, Zainal R, Aris T, et al. A complex behavioural change intervention to reduce the risk of diabetes and prediabetes in the pre-conception period in Malaysia: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. Trials 2016 Apr 27;17(1):215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13063-016-1345-x] [Medline: 27117703]
- Serlin DC, Lash RW. Diagnosis and management of gestational diabetes mellitus. Am Fam Physician 2009 Jul 01;80(1):57-62
 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19621846]
- 40. American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes--2012. Diabetes Care 2012 Jan;35 Suppl 1:S11-S63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc12-s011] [Medline: 22187469]
- 41. Rasmussen KM, Yaktine AL, editors. Weight Gain During Pregnancy: Reexamining the Guidelines. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2010.
- 42. Rasmussen K, Yaktine A, National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health (UK). Diabetes in Pregnancy: Management of Diabetes and its Complications From Preconception to the Ppostnatal Period. NICE Clinical Guidelines no. 63. London, UK: RCOG Press; Mar 2008.
- 43. Wilson EV, Lankton NK. Modeling patients' acceptance of provider-delivered e-health. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2004;11(4):241-248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M1475] [Medline: 15064290]
- 44. Kreuter M. Tailoring Health Messages: Customizing Communication With Computer Technology. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 2000.
- 45. Doak C, Doak L, Root J. Teaching Patients With Low Literacy Skills. 2nd edition. Philadelphia, PA: JB Lippincott; 1996.
- 46. Cotter AP, Durant N, Agne AA, Cherrington AL. Internet interventions to support lifestyle modification for diabetes management: a systematic review of the evidence. J Diabetes Complications 2014;28(2):243-251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2013.07.003] [Medline: 24332469]
- Boulos MNK, Brewer AC, Karimkhani C, Buller DB, Dellavalle RP. Mobile medical and health apps: state of the art, concerns, regulatory control and certification. Online J Public Health Inform 2014;5(3):229 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5210/ojphi.v5i3.4814] [Medline: 24683442]
- Caburnay CA, Graff K, Harris JK, McQueen A, Smith M, Fairchild M, et al. Evaluating diabetes mobile applications for health literate designs and functionality, 2014. Prev Chronic Dis 2015;12:E61 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd12.140433] [Medline: 25950568]

- Broderick J, Devine T, Langhans E, Lemerise A, Lier S, Harris L. Designing health literate mobile apps. Washington, DC: Institute of Medicine; 2013. URL: <u>https://health.gov/communication/literacy/BPH-HealthLiterateApps.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-05-08] [WebCite Cache ID 6qJacda5E]
- 50. El-Gayar O, Timsina P, Nawar N, Eid W. A systematic review of IT for diabetes self-management: are we there yet? Int J Med Inform 2013 Aug;82(8):637-652. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2013.05.006] [Medline: 23792137]

Abbreviations

BG: blood glucose DSS: decision support system GDM: Gestational diabetes mellitus LGA: large for gestational age PHS: personal health system RCT: randomized controlled trial T1DM: type 1 diabetes mellitus T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.05.17; peer-reviewed by C Velardo, T Bose; comments to author 29.06.17; revised version received 24.08.17; accepted 08.09.17; published 04.10.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Chen Q, Carbone ET Functionality, Implementation, Impact, and the Role of Health Literacy in Mobile Phone Apps for Gestational Diabetes: Scoping Review JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e25 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e25/</u> doi:10.2196/diabetes.8045 PMID:30291088

©Qiong Chen, Elena T Carbone. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 04.10.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

A Novel Approach to Identifying Barriers and Facilitators in Raising a Child With Type 1 Diabetes: Qualitative Analysis of Caregiver Blogs

Tamara K Oser¹, MD; Sean M Oser¹, MD, MPH; Erin L McGinley¹, BS; Heather L Stuckey², DEd

¹Department of Family and Community Medicine, Penn State College of Medicine, Hershey, PA, United States

²Departments of Internal Medicine, Humanities, and Public Health Sciences, Penn State College of Medicine, Hershey, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Tamara K Oser, MD Department of Family and Community Medicine Penn State College of Medicine 500 University Drive, H-154 Hershey, PA, 17050 United States Phone: 1 717 531 8187 Fax: 1 717 531 5024 Email: toser@pennstatehealth.psu.edu

Abstract

Background: With rising incidence of type 1 diabetes (T1D) diagnoses among children and the high levels of distress experienced by the caregivers of these children, caregiver support is becoming increasingly important. Historically, relatively few support resources have existed. Increasing use of the Internet, and blogs in particular, has seen a growth of peer support between caregivers of children with T1D. However, little is known about the type and quality of information shared on T1D caregiver blogs. At the same time, the information on such blogs offers a new window into what challenges and successes caregivers experience in helping to manage their children's T1D.

Objective: The purpose of this study was to (1) analyze blogs of caregivers to children with T1D to better understand the challenges and successes they face in raising a child with T1D, and (2) assess the blogs for the presence of unsafe or inaccurate clinical information or advice.

Methods: An inductive thematic qualitative study was conducted of three blogs authored by caregivers of children living with T1D, which included 140 unique blog posts and 663 associated comments. Two physician investigators evaluated the blogs for presence of clinical or medical misinformation.

Results: Five major themes emerged: (1) the impact of the child's diagnosis, (2) the burden of intense self-management experienced in caring for a child with T1D, (3) caregivers' use of technology to ease their fear of hypoglycemia and impacts that device alarms associated with this technology have on caregiver burden, (4) caregivers' perceptions of frequently missed or delayed diagnosis of T1D and the frustration this causes, and (5) the resilience that caregivers develop despite the burdens they experience. Misinformation was exceedingly rare and benign when it did occur.

Conclusions: Blog analysis represents a novel approach to understand the T1D caregiver's experience. This qualitative study found many challenges that caregivers face in raising a child with T1D. Despite the many barriers caregivers face in managing their children's T1D, they find support through advocacy efforts and peer-to-peer blogging. Blogs provide a unique avenue for support, with only rare and benign findings of medical misinformation, and may be a resource that diabetes care providers can consider offering to families for support.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e27) doi:10.2196/diabetes.8966

KEYWORDS

type 1 diabetes; blogs; caregiver; self-management; social media; peer support; Internet



Introduction

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is an increasingly common chronic condition among children, with the incidence growing 3% to 5% per year since 1960, and with more rapid growth since 1990 [1]. Between 2001 and 2009, there was a 21% increase in the prevalence of T1D in people younger than 20 years [2]. Globally, 78,000 children ages 14 years and younger are diagnosed every year [3]. Having a child diagnosed with a chronic and life-threatening illness such as T1D is highly distressing to the caregiver and can lead to parental depression, acute stress, or posttraumatic stress reactions [4-7]. Higher levels of acute distress in parents predict not only parents' development of persistent mental health difficulties [8,9], but also longer-term psychological, behavioral, and general well-being outcomes among their children [10-13]. Among youth with T1D, high levels of parental distress have been associated with poorer health outcomes in both the children and the parents [14-16]. In their recent position statement regarding psychosocial care for people with diabetes, the American Diabetes Association recommended that providers include caregivers in their assessment of diabetes distress, depression, and anxiety (level B recommendation) [17].

In addition to psychosocial stressors, the burden of T1D management often falls to the child's caregiver(s), and few conditions require as much self-management as T1D. Although it is generally recommended that patients with T1D meet with their diabetes health care team quarterly, this results in but a few hours of in-person contact, leaving more than 8000 hours per year that T1D must be self-managed [18]. Caregivers to children with T1D often describe feeling isolated in managing the complex, relentless demands of this disease [19]. They face numerous challenges in adjusting to a T1D diagnosis and in managing their child's T1D care.

It is therefore important to understand the specific challenges that caregivers face and help identify novel sources of support. Despite advances in technology for the diabetes community, health care providers (HCPs) have relatively few resources to which they may refer caregivers for support. There are even fewer that are easily and rapidly accessible. Although there are examples of early evidence supporting online and mobile resources [20-23], there is comparatively less known about already widespread and publicly available resources outside of the research environment. Blogs-public online journals-have become popular in the age of social media. Blogs represent a growing online resource for caregivers to children with T1D to initiate and receive support. Many bloggers feel that by sharing their struggles and celebrating their successes, blogs help them to more effectively approach the daily self-management T1D requires [18]. A referral from a HCP to high-quality blogs might serve as a valuable tool in lessening the psychosocial burden caregivers of children with T1D carry with them, but to date there has been little data on the types or quality of information present on health care-related blogs. In addition, HCPs may be hesitant to refer caregivers to blogs for support given the lack of data on medical misinformation that may exist on blogs.

The objectives of this study were to better understand the issues faced by caregivers to children with T1D via qualitative analysis of blog content and to assess the types and quality of information found on blogs, specifically focused on identifying potential misinformation.

Methods

Sample Description and Recruitment

Three publicly available online blogs authored by caregivers to children living with T1D were analyzed to identify barriers and facilitators in their experiences caring for their children with T1D. This study was approved by the Penn State College of Medicine Institutional Review Board (STUDY00000870). Blogs were selected using a strategy described by D'Auria [24], based on a Google search for "parent blog diabetes," and validated by concurrence with the blogs' inclusion as a top blog for parents of children with diabetes. Bloggers were recruited via email and consented to allow retrospective analysis of publicly available blog entries and comments posted on their sites from June 1, 2012 to August 31, 2014. Blog posts, including comments, were imported into NVivo 10 (QSR International) [25].

Inductive Thematic Analysis

After reviewing the blogs and noting initial impressions, a codebook was developed and revised through ongoing discussions among the study team. To first establish Cohen kappa [26], the primary coders (EM, TO) each coded 10% of the dataset. Initial kappa was .920 and a subsequent recheck after additional coding yielded kappa .934. With high interrater reliability established through kappa as well as through group discussion, the primary coders then coded the remaining blog posts and comments individually. Project team meetings included biweekly coding audits. For any discrepancies found, the project team discussed the current meaning of the code and either further modified the code to reflect the correct meaning or revised the coding based on group consensus.

Coding proceeded until saturation, which was determined through a combination of three indicators: (1) use of a saturation table [27], (2) finding that no further edits to the codebook were necessary any longer (and then continuing to code an additional 10% of the sample to corroborate this), and (3) when the study team felt confident that no new themes were being uncovered.

The research team employed inductive thematic analysis [28] to construct emergent themes. The project team reviewed the dataset in multiple ways. For the codes most frequently used, the associated content was reviewed to identify emergent themes. A coding matrix was also produced to identify highly coincident codes and the content associated with them (content frequently coded simultaneously to each of two codes), and to further explore the thematic relationships between them. All members of the study team agreed on the emergent themes presented.

XSL•FC

Clinical Review of Blog Content for Medical Misinformation

Two physicians (TO, SO) reviewed the entire dataset to identify any occurrences of information that was clinically inaccurate, incorrect, or misleading, or content that might be construed as medical advice. the Internet without registration or permission. Characteristics of the dataset are presented in Table 1. Two blogs were authored by mothers and one by a father. Represented families include both single-parent and two-parent families, as well as families with one, two, and three children with T1D. During the period of reviewed blog posts, the bloggers' children with diabetes ranged in age from 4 to 16 years.

Oser et al

Results

Study Sample

Three online blogs were analyzed, representing 140 blog posts and 663 associated comments. All were publicly available on

Table 1. Participant blog characteristics.

Blog name	Caregiver role	Family characteristics	Age of children when diagnosed with T1D (gender)	Age of children at time of blog posts	Blog posts during study period	Associated comments
Candy Hearts [29]	Mother	Two-parent family	2 years (female)	9-11 years	43	164
Bleeding Finger Blog [30]	Father	Two-parent family	3 years (female)	6-8 years	47	117
			3.5 years (female)	4-6 years		
Our Diabetic Life [31]	Mother	Single-parent family	8 months (male)	14-16 years	50	382
			2.5 years (male)	8-10 years		
			5.5 years (male)	10-12 years		
Totals					140	663

Emergent Themes From Inductive Thematic Analysis

Qualitative analysis of blogs yielded five major themes about the caregivers' experiences of caring for their children with T1D.

Theme 1: Fear and Worry Are Common, Starting at the Time of Diagnosis, and Although the Fears and Worries Change in Ensuing Years, These Emotions Persist

Caregivers' blog posts described the worry they felt at the time of the diagnosis when they wondered how they would care for their newly diagnosed child:

But one day you were not well. Worry set in. We watched you in fear in the hospital bed.

All the while, I sat there, wondering how I would be able to keep her alive without a team of nurses and doctors waiting just outside the door.

Beyond the diagnosis period, fear and worry persist. There is a particular fear of hypoglycemia:

How do I accurately describe the worry that lays wait in my stomach when a child announces a very low number, the choking responsibility of life, and the rolodex of emergency protocols that run through my brain?

I want you to know, when there is an extreme low, and your child is sitting with a blank look in front of you, barely able to speak...I have been there. I have felt the confusion, the panic, and the deep worry you have in your heart. Parents described in great detail the fear they have that their children will die of hypoglycemia, particularly at night while the child is sleeping. They refer to the emotions they face as they walk to check on their child in the middle of the night or the next morning ("the walk that never ends, the walk to check for disaster") and the feelings they experience wondering if their child is still alive ("the feeling in my throat as I lean against a bedroom door jamb, waiting for their chests to rise and fall in the morning is a terrible feeling").

Theme 2: Caregivers Experience Unrelenting Physical and Emotional Burdens Related to the Intense Management Demands of Caring for a Child with T1D

Caregivers are challenged by the heavy burden that diabetes brings to the family unit, including the sheer work involved in managing a condition that has a 24/7/365 presence. A commonly expressed pressure is the burden of "having to know what their blood sugars are" at all times. The constant attention to detail causes caregivers to become "worn down." Caregivers discussed the unrelenting presence T1D has in their lives:

I got up early to give her a breakfast bolus 2 hours before the start of testing with a solid 20-minute prebolus in an attempt to slow/minimize/prevent an astronomical breakfast spike with cognitive function.

How can I lament about the laboriousness of this disease, the constant stream of numbers knocking, knocking, knocking all the livelong day, and the infuriating knowledge that there will never ever, ever be a break from this, when we can take walks by the ocean as a family?

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e27/

How do I explain to you that some nights the exhaustion holds me like a straight jacket...that the nights are all encompassing, and I will my tears to fall back into my body rather than intentionally give in to the fear and exhaustion?

Despite these efforts, diabetes can be unpredictable. Even stringent efforts to follow treatment parameters result in frequent glucose levels outside the target range: "I think one of the hardest parts is the unpredictability and no rhyme or reason-it makes it impossible to understand and comprehend, which then makes it frustrating when fixes don't [work]." This unpredictability only adds to caregivers' self-described burden of lost sleep: "While friends were boasting about weekend getaways and trying new restaurants, we were holding our breath to see if the pizza bolus from dinner would wreak havoc on a good night's sleep." They vividly described attempting to control their children's blood glucose levels at night to keep them safe: "I tested her blood sugar every 2 hours between 10pm and 6am in an attempt to catch any fluctuations that might require an intervention..." and "I know that there were many nights she lost hours and hours of sleep to make sure the kids were safe for me." This leads to frustration ("I want you to know, when your alarm goes off in the middle of the night and you want to throw your alarm clock out the window...I have been there") and the desire for a good night's sleep ("Kind of weird, a full night sleep for a birthday present, a half night with 2 hours of REM will do. A good night sleep, it has been a while, whatever a good night of sleep is").

Related to lost sleep and the desire to preserve some sleep, caregivers discussed the struggle to balance the children's glucose control with their own need for sleep, and the feeling that one must be sacrificed for the other ("Should I treat gently and wake in a couple hours to see where they are going...or...should I treat in such a way that I know they will be safe...so I can sleep") and their discomfort with this decision ("Higher numbers for my boys to ensure sleep for myself is sometimes a necessary trade off, but never a comfortable one").

Finally, caregivers discussed the persistently bothersome memories of the time around diagnosis ("Yes, I am aware it's been 9 years since her diagnosis. I still cry when I talk about it") and how the diagnosis changed life so dramatically for the family ("Life changed, abruptly, never returning close to what it was before").

Theme 3: Caregivers Use Technology to Help With Self-Management and the Fear of Hypoglycemia, and Such Technology Is Generally Seen As Quite Helpful, but Device Alarms Can Also Be Intrusive and Add to the Burden Felt by Caregivers

Caregivers described their excitement over new devices ("I realize an insulin pump may not be the most exciting toy for most of the world, but it's big stuff in this house—and many other homes, too") and how they help in decreasing the self-management burden of T1D:

It's kind of odd, getting excited about a medical device, but it makes a crappy disease a little easier.

...both my daughters switched to the same insulin pump...and [continuous glucose monitor (CGM)] this last summer. This has made diabetes management, for us, a lot easier. I've publicly endorsed the [CGM] (some quality issues are there however, like buttons falling off, power port cover coming off) but it is a great tool. I love the range, it catches our daughters upstairs when they are playing or sleeping; the accuracy I find is great.

At the same time, the device alarms were noted as intrusive: "Somewhere, a CGM alarmed, and into the story enters diabetes as the main antagonist" and "It beeps all the time."

Theme 4: Many Caregivers Are Especially Bothered by What They Perceive to Be the Frequently Missed and/or Delayed Diagnosis of T1D

There was an unusually large outpouring of comments by caregivers who recalled their child's diagnosis as initially missed and/or substantially delayed. This most frequently comes to light when news is spread online about another child recently diagnosed quite late or even after dying: "The symptoms, the physician responses, the results, and the outrage at how something could have been so easily caught, diagnosed and treated without taking our children all the way to death's door." Some caregivers recall being told that their ill child had "a virus" or "the flu" without testing being done, days or even weeks before serum or urine glucose testing was eventually ordered and led to the diagnosis of T1D. There were also strong feelings among T1D caregivers that in children less fortunate than theirs, who were only diagnosed in late (and quickly fatal) ketoacidosis, their deaths could have been prevented if the children had received glucose testing earlier in their illness. They expressed concern that "many medical professionals just don't understand how quickly [diabetic ketoacidosis] can turn life-threatening."

Theme 5: Despite the Fears and Frustrations That Caregivers Experience, They Demonstrate Resilience, Often Through Advocacy Efforts and Peer Support Through Blogs

Quite often, caregiver resilience takes the form of advocacy efforts, as there is substantial discussion in blogs of caregivers' efforts to promote public awareness, to become involved in advocacy organizations, and to encourage others to do the same. Caregivers encourage one another to "change the world" through "sharing their stories" and inspire each other to "cure this thing!" They discuss the need to make their voices heard in political, industrial, and community venues: "Think about what you want your lawmakers to know about living with type 1 diabetes" and "There are policy makers, pharma companies, news outlets, and simply neighbors in our immediate area that need to hear our collective voices." They advocate on behalf of their children, who they feel are often too young to do so themselves: "I want to make my voice heard and speak for my daughter until she can learn to speak for herself."

Support for caregivers is discussed frequently. Blogging is used to provide support to peers, to receive support from peers, and as a mechanism for processing and coping. Those who found blogs at the time of their child's diagnosis described what an

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e27/
```

XSL•FC RenderX

important and highly valued source of support blogs can be: "I found your blog early in our journey and it gave me so much more than you will ever know" and "Honestly I do not know what I would have done had I not found your blog." Bloggers encouraged others to blog: "Only you can tell your story, and that story might be the one that connects with someone and makes a difference in their life." They also discussed the importance of the peer-to-peer support received through blogs: "Knowing that there are others out there going through the same things helps other people so much."

Medical Advice/Misinformation

Two physician members of the study team (TO, SO) reviewed all posts and comments during the study period to identify instances of bloggers or commenters providing information that was clinically incorrect or inaccurate, or that could be perceived as medical advice. No instances of medical misinformation were found among the 140 blog posts reviewed. In the 663 comments associated with those blog posts, two instances of possible medical misinformation or medical advice were found:

I have read about cats who were very good at giving alerts when a diabetic member of the family had a low blood sugar. Daisy may become very good at it too, if you give her a reward each time she does it.

This comment was considered to be medical misinformation because it could be interpreted by a blog visitor as encouragement to try to train household pets to detect hypoglycemia, a practice that is not recommended or supported by the literature.

His blood sugar was 129... a bit higher than I would've ordinarily liked, but considering he was sick and had just drank some apple juice helps explain it (as did a lot of [diabetes online community] reassurance).

This comment was considered to be medical misinformation because the commenter relied on his/her own understanding and reassurance from lay users online, rather than consulting with a HCP to interpret a glucose measurement in their child without diabetes (not their child with diabetes). This raised concern that the comment might encourage others to do the same.

Conversely, all blogs analyzed contained a general statement/disclaimer instructing readers that the blogs' content should not be considered medical advice and encouraging them to consult a HCP for any medical information. For example, the blogger from Our Diabetic Life provides the following statement:

I can guesstimate a bolus in lightning speed. I can check my boys' blood sugars in the wee hours in the morning, half-asleep, with only one eye open. I can do a lot of things...but one thing I can't do is be your child's endocrinologist. Everything on this blog works for our family, but might not work for yours. Funny thing diabetes, one size does not fit all. If you see some technique here that you would like to try, call your doctor, use common sense, and remember: I am not a doctor...I'm just a mother of three boys with

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e27/
```

type 1 diabetes. That is it. Mother. Not doctor. Blogger. Not doctor. Friend. Not doctor...

Discussion

Principal Results

Blogs tell a story. They allow narrative expression of an individual's experience, which can have significant health benefits [32,33]. They allow insight into the personal, day-to-day issues faced by families living with T1D. They allow us to see their struggles and challenges as well as their successes. They also allow us to witness the interactions of peers as they provide support to one another.

Using this novel approach of blog analysis, we found that caregivers of children with T1D experience many challenges, starting from the time surrounding their child's diagnosis and continuing forward. We found that caregivers experience fear and worry at the time of their child's diagnosis, and that this fear persists, specifically surrounding hypoglycemia, especially at night. This finding is consistent with other studies of T1D caregivers conducted through more traditional means [34-37], but to our knowledge, this is the first study to specifically focus on public blog analysis as a primary means to examine such issues. Also consistent with research by Lowes et al [38,39], we found that there is some degree of chronic sorrow, with caregivers continuing to talk about their child's diagnosis on blogs, even years later. Caregivers also discuss the frustration and anger that arise from their perception that there is too often a delay or misdiagnosis surrounding the initial presentation of T1D in children.

Interestingly, there was very little discussion of glycated hemoglobin A_{1c} in the caregiver blogs studied, although glycated hemoglobin A_{1c} is often a focus of most HCPs in evaluating the overall quality of diabetes management in individuals with T1D. During blog discussions, caregivers focus more on immediate management issues, such as preventing hypoglycemia at night. Caregivers often discuss fear of nighttime hypoglycemia and even death due to nighttime hypoglycemia, but there is not much discussion about long-term diabetes complications. There are few studies focused on providing behavioral interventions to children with T1D and their parents to reduce fear of hypoglycemia [40-42], and our study supports the need for future research to target pediatric interventions to address parents' fear of hypoglycemia, perhaps through education and support.

Caregivers assume significant emotional and physical burdens in caring for their children with T1D. Although these burdens are numerous and varied, they are exemplified by prominent online discussions of lost sleep due to the unpredictability of diabetes, which is further compounded by alarms from diabetes management devices. Such devices are certainly considered helpful, but they can also be seen as intrusive as other studies have also shown [43,44].

Despite this, caregivers are resilient. They find support from one another through blogs, and they encourage each other to advocate for change regarding issues they find burdensome, including public misunderstanding of T1D and efforts to

XSL•FO RenderX

diagnose T1D more quickly. Although not carried out only through blogs but through other social media as well, a recent example of this is the advocacy efforts that led to various states adopting resolutions regarding awareness of and testing for T1D, including North Carolina (House Bill 20, so-called "Reegan's Rule"), California (Senate Resolution 63), and Pennsylvania (House Resolution 569), for example. Such advocacy and peer-to-peer support show great potential for the utility of blogs.

However, many HCPs may be hesitant to refer patients to online blogs for support for reasons including concern about the spread of misinformation and the lack of clinical or other professional moderation of content [45]. This in-depth analysis of 140 blog posts and 663 associated comments spanning 27 months of content revealed a distinct paucity of medical misinformation. There was also a significant degree of self-moderation among blogs. Although not moderated by clinical professionals, the blog owners typically moderate comments before publishing and are acutely aware of the potential for misusing or misinterpreting information on their blogs; all contain a prominently posted statement that their content should not be considered medical advice, encouraging parents instead to obtain medical advice only from their health care team. These findings suggest that concerns about safety of blog content and lack of moderation might be unnecessarily high. Perhaps this can help HCPs reconsider how and if to add high-quality blogs to the relatively small list of support resources they can offer to T1D caregivers.

Limitations and Strengths

One of the primary limitations of this study is one shared by virtually all research on social media: that the data are all derived from those who have chosen to express their views online, with no contribution from those who have not chosen to share. This relates to the small sample size as well; although we analyzed three blogs extensively (from among the unknowable number of T1D caregiver blogs, which likely number in the dozens or even hundreds) this is akin to conducting qualitative interviews among a small sample of individuals who represent a small fraction of the population. But balancing this are two relative strengths of the approach: (1) the inclusion of blog posts spanning a period greater than two years may allow greater depth than a typical qualitative interview of one to two hours, and (2) the inclusion of comments associated with the blog posts includes many other people in the study sample and analysis.

Despite this, these findings cannot be generalized without further study, but that is an inherent and accepted characteristic of qualitative research. Another limitation is inherent to blog research itself: in contrast to more traditional qualitative methods involving personal or focus group interviews, analysis of existing blogs does not afford the opportunity to ask clarifying questions or to elaborate. The blog posts and comments must stand on their own. Although this is certainly somewhat limiting, there are significant methodological and financial benefits that are quite valuable. For example, the recruitment process is far easier, there is no scheduling involved and likewise no project costs in offering compensation to participants, and there are no transcription costs because the data are already typed by their authors. Such strengths must be balanced against the limitations of the approach. Ultimately, a combination of blog analysis and more traditional interviews may be a promising combination in approaching qualitative research. Blog analysis would reduce the time and cost associated with doing purely interview-based research, and doing some interviews in addition would afford the opportunity to pursue clarification and elaboration where that is impossible with blog analysis alone.

Conclusions/Future Directions

This study of blogs found that caregivers to children with T1D worry about hypoglycemia, especially at night, and that the time around diagnosis is life altering and scarring, which has been found in other caregiver studies not utilizing blog analysis. These corroborations lead us to suspect that this novel research approach is able to produce valid results. Beyond that, this study provides insights into caregivers' persistent emotions, the physical and emotional burdens they bear, benefits of incorporating newer technologies into diabetes management-and the new issues that also come with progress. Finally, blog use was found to be a vehicle for providing peer support and to allow peers to come together and encourage one another to advocate for issues they feel are important.

This study suggests that high-quality blogs can provide much-needed peer-to-peer support to caregivers of children with T1D, and other research is needed to verify that. Blogs could be considered as an adjunct to in-person support groups and as a venue for support in the many geographic areas that do not have easy accessibility to endocrinology offices [46,47]. If blog use is found more broadly to be a valid and safe means of support, practical methods and timing to incorporate this into practice will need to be established.

Acknowledgments

We would like to extend a very special thank you to the bloggers and their readers for providing such a rich dataset and resource, and for allowing us to study your personal but public writings. This research was supported by a Small Grant for Qualitative Research from the Research Development office of the Penn State College of Medicine.

Authors' Contributions

SO and TO conceived the study, which was developed further with EM and HS. SO was principal investigator. EM and TO were the primary coders. TO and HS performed the inductive thematic analysis. TO and SO performed clinical review of the dataset. EM developed and maintained the NVivo files. All authors contributed to manuscript preparation, with most of the writing by TO.



Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Patterson C, Guariguata L, Dahlquist G, Soltész G, Ogle G, Silink M. Diabetes in the young a global view and worldwide estimates of numbers of children with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2014 Feb;103(2):161-175. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.diabres.2013.11.005</u>] [Medline: <u>24331235</u>]
- Dabelea D, Mayer-Davis EJ, Saydah S, Imperatore G, Linder B, Divers J, SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. Prevalence of type 1 and type 2 diabetes among children and adolescents from 2001 to 2009. JAMA 2014 May 07;311(17):1778-1786 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.3201] [Medline: 24794371]
- 3. Guariguata L. Estimating the worldwide burden of type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Voice 2011;56(2):6-8.
- 4. Best M, Streisand R, Catania L, Kazak AE. Parental distress during pediatric leukemia and posttraumatic stress symptoms (PTSS) after treatment ends. J Pediatr Psychol 2001;26(5):299-307. [Medline: <u>11390572</u>]
- Cabizuca M, Marques-Portella C, Mendlowicz MV, Coutinho ES, Figueira I. Posttraumatic stress disorder in parents of children with chronic illnesses: a meta-analysis. Health Psychol 2009 May;28(3):379-388. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0014512</u>] [Medline: <u>19450045</u>]
- Franck LS, Wray J, Gay C, Dearmun AK, Lee K, Cooper BA. Predictors of parent post-traumatic stress symptoms after child hospitalization on general pediatric wards: a prospective cohort study. Int J Nurs Stud 2015 Jan;52(1):10-21. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.06.011] [Medline: 25047550]
- Muscara F, McCarthy MC, Woolf C, Hearps SJ, Burke K, Anderson VA. Early psychological reactions in parents of children with a life threatening illness within a pediatric hospital setting. Eur Psychiatry 2015 Jul;30(5):555-561. [doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2014.12.008] [Medline: 25618445]
- McCarthy MC, Ashley DM, Lee KJ, Anderson VA. Predictors of acute and posttraumatic stress symptoms in parents following their child's cancer diagnosis. J Trauma Stress 2012 Oct;25(5):558-566. [doi: <u>10.1002/jts.21745</u>] [Medline: <u>23055298</u>]
- Ljungman L, Hovén E, Ljungman G, Cernvall M, von Essen L. Does time heal all wounds? A longitudinal study of the development of posttraumatic stress symptoms in parents of survivors of childhood cancer and bereaved parents. Psychooncology 2015 Dec;24(12):1792-1798 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.3856] [Medline: 26042579]
- Lambert JE, Holzer J, Hasbun A. Association between parents' PTSD severity and children's psychological distress: a meta-analysis. J Trauma Stress 2014 Feb;27(1):9-17. [doi: <u>10.1002/jts.21891</u>] [Medline: <u>24464491</u>]
- 11. Shankardass K, McConnell R, Jerrett M, Lam C, Wolch J, Milam J, et al. Parental stress increases body mass index trajectory in pre-adolescents. Pediatr Obes 2014 Dec;9(6):435-442 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.2047-6310.2013.00208.x] [Medline: 24311567]
- 12. Colletti CJ, Wolfe-Christensen C, Carpentier MY, Page MC, McNall-Knapp RY, Meyer WH, et al. The relationship of parental overprotection, perceived vulnerability, and parenting stress to behavioral, emotional, and social adjustment in children with cancer. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2008 Aug;51(2):269-274. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.21577</u>] [Medline: <u>18454464</u>]
- Wagner JL, Chaney JM, Hommel KA, Page MC, Mullins LL, White MM, et al. The influence of parental distress on child depressive symptoms in juvenile rheumatic diseases: the moderating effect of illness intrusiveness. J Pediatr Psychol 2003;28(7):453-462. [Medline: <u>12968037</u>]
- 14. Auslander WF, Bubb J, Rogge M, Santiago JV. Family stress and resources: potential areas of intervention in children recently diagnosed with diabetes. Health Soc Work 1993 May;18(2):101-113. [Medline: <u>8288138</u>]
- Robinson EM, Weaver P, Chen R, Streisand R, Holmes CS. A model of parental distress and factors that mediate its link with parental monitoring of youth diabetes care, adherence, and glycemic control. Health Psychol 2016 Dec;35(12):1373-1382. [doi: 10.1037/hea0000406] [Medline: 27513476]
- Butwicka A, Zalepa A, Fendler W, Szadkowska A, Mlynarski W. Maternal depressive symptoms predict acute hospitalization among children with type 1 diabetes. Pediatr Diabetes 2013 Jun;14(4):288-294. [doi: <u>10.1111/pedi.12010</u>] [Medline: <u>23350622</u>]
- Young-Hyman D, de Groot M, Hill-Briggs F, Gonzalez JS, Hood K, Peyrot M. Psychosocial care for people with diabetes: a position statement of the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care 2016 Dec;39(12):2126-2140. [doi: <u>10.2337/dc16-2053</u>] [Medline: <u>27879358</u>]
- Hilliard ME, Sparling KM, Hitchcock J, Oser TK, Hood KK. The emerging diabetes online community. Curr Diabetes Rev 2015;11(4):261-272 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25901500]
- Tierney S, Deaton C, Webb K, Jones A, Dodd M, McKenna D, et al. Isolation, motivation and balance: living with type 1 or cystic fibrosis-related diabetes. J Clin Nurs 2008 Apr;17(7B):235-243. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2702.2008.02331.x</u>] [Medline: <u>18578799</u>]
- Dobson R, Whittaker R, Murphy R, Khanolkar M, Miller S, Naylor J, et al. The use of mobile health to deliver self-management support to young people with type 1 diabetes: a cross-sectional survey. JMIR Diabetes 2017 Feb 15;2(1):e4. [doi: <u>10.2196/diabetes.7221</u>]

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e27/

- Hanberger L, Ludvigsson J, Nordfeldt S. Use of a web 2.0 portal to improve education and communication in young patients with families: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(8):e175 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2425] [Medline: 23973555]
- 22. Vaala SE, Hood KK, Laffel L, Kumah-Crystal YA, Lybarger CK, Mulvaney SA. Use of commonly available technologies for diabetes information and self-management among adolescents with type 1 diabetes and their parents: a web-based survey study. Interact J Med Res 2015 Dec 29;4(4):e24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/ijmr.4504] [Medline: 26715191]
- 23. Liu Y, Mei Q, Hanauer DA, Zheng K, Lee JM. Use of social media in the diabetes community: an exploratory analysis of diabetes-related tweets. JMIR Diabetes 2016 Nov 07;1(2):e4. [doi: 10.2196/diabetes.6256]
- 24. D'Auria JP. Top parent blogs for raising children with type 1 diabetes. J Pediatr Health Care 2014;28(6):568-571. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2014.07.003] [Medline: 25150380]
- 25. QSR International. NVivo. URL: <u>http://www.qsrinternational.com/nvivo-product</u> [accessed 2017-07-31] [WebCite Cache ID 6sN4BQUIs]
- 26. Cohen J. A coefficient of agreement for nominal scales. Educ Psychol Meas 1960;20(1):37-46.
- Kerr C, Nixon A, Wild D. Assessing and demonstrating data saturation in qualitative inquiry supporting patient-reported outcomes research. Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res 2010 Jun;10(3):269-281. [doi: <u>10.1586/erp.10.30</u>] [Medline: <u>20545592</u>]
- 28. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 29. Candy Hearts. URL: http://candyheartsblog.org [accessed 2017-07-31] [WebCite Cache ID 6sN4m4e2G]
- 30. Bleeding Finger Blog. URL: https://bleedingfinger.com/ [accessed 2017-07-31] [WebCite Cache ID 6sN4p2ovM]
- 31. Our Diabetic Life. URL: http://www.ourdiabeticlife.com [accessed 2017-07-31] [WebCite Cache ID 6sN4qh46Q]
- 32. Smyth JM, Stone AA, Hurewitz A, Kaell A. Effects of writing about stressful experiences on symptom reduction in patients with asthma or rheumatoid arthritis: a randomized trial. JAMA 1999 Apr 14;281(14):1304-1309. [Medline: <u>10208146</u>]
- Murray EJ, Segal DL. Emotional processing in vocal and written expression of feelings about traumatic experiences. J Trauma Stress 1994 Jul;7(3):391-405. [Medline: <u>8087401</u>]
- 34. Sullivan-Bolyai S, Deatrick J, Gruppuso P, Tamborlane W, Grey M. Mothers' experiences raising young children with type 1 diabetes. J Spec Pediatr Nurs 2002;7(3):93-103. [Medline: <u>12236249</u>]
- 35. Haugstvedt A, Wentzel-Larsen T, Rokne B, Graue M. Perceived family burden and emotional distress: similarities and differences between mothers and fathers of children with type 1 diabetes in a population-based study. Pediatr Diabetes 2011 Mar;12(2):107-114. [doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5448.2010.00661.x] [Medline: 20522171]
- Monaghan MC, Hilliard ME, Cogen FR, Streisand R. Nighttime caregiving behaviors among parents of young children with Type 1 diabetes: associations with illness characteristics and parent functioning. Fam Syst Health 2009 Mar;27(1):28-38. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0014770</u>] [Medline: <u>19630443</u>]
- 37. Van Name MA, Hilliard ME, Boyle CT, Miller KM, DeSalvo DJ, Anderson BJ, et al. Nighttime is the worst time: parental fear of hypoglycemia in young children with type 1 diabetes. Pediatr Diabetes 2017 Apr 21:e1. [doi: 10.1111/pedi.12525] [Medline: 28429581]
- Bowes S, Lowes L, Warner J, Gregory JW. Chronic sorrow in parents of children with type 1 diabetes. J Adv Nurs 2009 May;65(5):992-1000. [Medline: <u>19399973</u>]
- 39. Lowes L, Lyne P. Chronic sorrow in parents of children with newly diagnosed diabetes: a review of the literature and discussion of the implications for nursing practice. J Adv Nurs 2000 Jul;32(1):41-48. [Medline: 10886433]
- 40. Prakasam G, Rees C, Lyden M, Parkin CG. Use of a novel smartphone-based diabetes management system improved feelings of confidence and safety and reduced hypoglycemia fear among parents/caregivers of children/adolescents with type 1 diabetes. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2017 Jan;11(1):182-183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296816650901] [Medline: 27207891]
- 41. Gee BT, Nansel TR, Liu A. Reduction of hypoglycaemic events with a behavioural intervention: a randomized clinical trial for paediatric patients with Type 1 diabetes mellitus. Diabet Med 2017 Mar;34(3):340-347. [doi: 10.1111/dme.12744] [Medline: 25763988]
- 42. Cai RA, Holt RI, Casdagli L, Viner RM, Thompson R, Barnard K, et al. Development of an acceptable and feasible self-management group for children, young people and families living with Type 1 diabetes. Diabet Med 2017 Jun;34(6):813-820. [doi: 10.1111/dme.13341] [Medline: 28226183]
- 43. Barnard K, Crabtree V, Adolfsson P, Davies M, Kerr D, Kraus A, et al. Impact of type 1 diabetes technology on family members/significant others of people with diabetes. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2016 Jul;10(4):824-830 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296816645365] [Medline: 27118728]
- 44. Hirose M, Beverly EA, Weinger K. Quality of life and technology: impact on children and families with diabetes. Curr Diab Rep 2012 Dec;12(6):711-720 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11892-012-0313-4] [Medline: 22903783]
- 45. Ventola CL. Social media and health care professionals: benefits, risks, and best practices. P T 2014 Jul;39(7):491-520 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25083128]



- Lu H, Holt JB, Cheng YJ, Zhang X, Onufrak S, Croft JB. Population-based geographic access to endocrinologists in the United States, 2012. BMC Health Serv Res 2015 Dec 07;15:541 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-015-1185-5] [Medline: 26644021]
- 47. Lee JM, Davis MM, Menon RK, Freed GL. Geographic distribution of childhood diabetes and obesity relative to the supply of pediatric endocrinologists in the United States. J Pediatr 2008 Mar;152(3):331-336. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpeds.2007.08.037</u>] [Medline: <u>18280836</u>]

Abbreviations

CGM: continuous glucose monitor HCP: health care provider T1D: type 1 diabetes

dited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.09.17; peer-reviewed by E Da Silva, K Fitzner; comments to author 29.09.17; revised v eceived 04.10.17; accepted 04.10.17; published 26.10.17.	ersion
lease cite as:	
Deer TK, Oser SM, McGinley EL, Stuckey HL	
Novel Approach to Identifying Barriers and Facilitators in Raising a Child With Type 1 Diabetes: Qualitative Analysis of Cai	regive
logs	0
MIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e27	
RL: http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e27/	
oi:10.2196/diabetes.8966	
MID:30291073	

©Tamara K Oser, Sean M Oser, Erin L McGinley, Heather L Stuckey. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 26.10.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

Digital Health for Medication Adherence in Adult Diabetes or Hypertension: An Integrative Review

Cheryl Moseley Conway^{1,2*}, RN, MSN; Teresa J Kelechi^{2*}, RN, PhD, FAAN

¹School of Nursing, Western Carolina University, Cullowhee, NC, United States

²College of Nursing, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC, United States

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author: Cheryl Moseley Conway, RN, MSN School of Nursing Western Carolina University 1 University Way Cullowhee, NC, United States Phone: 1 828 778 6019 Fax: 1 828 654 6507 Email: conway@musc.edu

Abstract

Background: Optimal management of chronic diseases, such as type 2 diabetes and hypertension, often include prescription medications. Medication adherence (MA) is one component of self-management. Optimization through digital health—eHealth and mHealth—could enhance patient awareness and/or communication between the patient and provider.

Objective: Medication adherence is a major issue that affects 50%-60% of chronically ill adults. Digital health refers to eHealth and mHealth, collectively, and as these technologies become more accessible, remote health delivery is increasingly available as an adjunct to improve medication adherence; communicate with patients and providers; and provide education to patients, families, and communities. The objective of this integrative review was to examine the types of digital health technologies that targeted medication adherence in the adult population with diabetes or hypertension.

Methods: An integrative review was conducted using databases within EBSCOhost, PubMed, and Scopus. Eligible studies available as of September 2016 had to be written in English, had to contain digital health interventions to improve medication adherence to prescription medications in adults 18 years or older, and had to focus on diabetes or hypertension.

Results: Of the 337 located studies, 13 (3.9%) used a digital health intervention for medication adherence to prescribed medications for diabetes or hypertension and were assessed according to the Chronic Care Model.

Conclusions: The 13 studies included in this review found no conclusive evidence of improved medication adherence using digital health interventions such as interactive voice response (IVR), short message service (SMS) text messaging, telemonitoring, and interactive software technology. Among the 13 studies were digital health interventions that foster medication adherence via one-way communication to the patient or two-way communication between the patient and health care provider for adjunct medication adherence strategies. More research is needed to determine which digital health interventions are most beneficial for individuals with diabetes or hypertension.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e20) doi:10.2196/diabetes.8030

KEYWORDS

digital health; medication adherence; Chronic Care Model; diabetes; hypertension

Introduction

Background

RenderX

The effect of chronic diseases on the health and wellness of individuals is increasing in every region of the world. The World

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e20/

Health Statistics 2012 report states that one in three adults worldwide has raised blood pressure and one in 10 adults has diabetes [1]. Further, diagnosis and treatment with low-cost medication has reduced mean blood pressure across populations in high-income countries and has the potential to reduce death

and disability in low-income countries [1]. Globally, there are approximately 422 million adults with diabetes as compared to 108 million in 1980 (4.7%-8.5% in the adult population) [2]. Chronic conditions such as diabetes and hypertension contribute to an international chronic disease burden and negatively influence patient health outcomes [1,2].

Treatment of chronic conditions often includes prescription medications. Nonadherence to medication therapy can compound the increases in morbidity and mortality, and can further add to additional health care costs [3]. It is estimated that increased prescription medication adherence (MA) could save the United States US \$5 billion annually in health care costs, including decreasing expensive emergency department visits and hospitalizations [4]. Medication nonadherence contributes significantly to the growing burden of disease and high costs associated with care [3,5,6].

The purpose of this integrative review is to assess the benefits of using digital health technology to improve medication adherence for diabetes and hypertension in the adult population. The following questions were asked to guide the review:

- 1. Does digital health technology improve medication adherence in adults with diabetes or hypertension?
- 2. What are benefits and barriers of medication adherence technology when implemented in adults with diabetes or hypertension?

Medication Nonadherence is a Major Problem

Medication nonadherence for individuals with chronic diseases such as diabetes and hypertension has been established as a major factor associated with negative patient outcomes [3,7]. Medication nonadherence is defined as taking less than 80% of prescribed doses, without exceeding recommended dosing [8,9]. Medication nonadherence is a complex issue with many contributing factors, which have been categorized as individual related (ie, forgetfulness and low health literacy skills) and medication related (ie, increasing dosage, increased number of medications, poor communication skills of provider, and lack of medication review by provider) [8]. The landmark World Health Organization report from 2003 stated that nonadherence to taking medications in developed countries is 50% [10], underscoring that nonadherence to prescription medication remains a significant issue, not only in the United States, but worldwide.

Measuring Medication Adherence/Nonadherence Remains Problematic

Methods to measure medication adherence fall into three categories: subjective, objective, or biochemical marker analyses. Subjective measurement is obtained by asking the patient, family member, caregiver, or physician about medication use [9]. Objective measurement is obtained by pill count, pharmacy refill information, electronic pharmacy refill data, serum drug level, or levels in the blood or urine [3,9,11]. Additionally, the use of biomedical measures is objective and accurate; however, they are expensive [11]. Technology-based methods have been introduced that provide digital health options. Whether these digital health devices improve adherence remains a topic of debate in the literature.

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e20/
```

Health Technology to Promote Medication Adherence

Telehealth is the use of electronic information and telecommunication technologies to support clinical health care from a distance, patient and professional health education, as well as public health and health administration [12]. Additionally, telehealth includes preventive and curative health care delivered over a distance, and all forms-electronic health (eHealth), telehealth, and telemedicine-are intersected by mobile health (mHealth) [13]. A number of electronic (ie, eHealth), mobile (ie, mHealth), telehealth, and telemedicine methods have been developed to improve the delivery of health care for various conditions. eHealth refers to secure cost-effective use of information and communication technologies specific to health and health-related fields [14]. mHealth is a component of eHealth and includes mobile technologies used for dissemination of health services and information (ie, mobile phones, monitoring devices, tablets, personal digital assistants, and wireless devices) [14-16]. mHealth promotes the individual's interaction with an electronic device or technology to access or receive health information, directions, or support about health [17]. Digital health refers to eHealth and mHealth collectively [14].

In addition to facilitating communication among health care providers, these modalities can provide the opportunity for patients to receive one-way communication about health conditions and two-way communication with providers that is tailored to a health condition; this includes health data that can be transmitted as well as collected [15,16,18,19]. The diverse nature of digital health modalities as well as the evolving nature of technology provide both an opportunity and challenge for health care providers who seek to integrate technology into patient care. A plethora of data exists on the use of digital technology to assist with medication adherence [20-23]; however, further exploration is needed to determine whether these modalities improve and subsequently enhance chronic disease self-management, in particular, medication adherence in adults.

Findings from studies including digital health devices have shown improvements in self-management and adherence to treatments in many conditions such as asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, hypertension, and diabetes [24-26]. A Cochrane review of mobile phone messaging for self-management of chronic disease reported medication compliance in hypertension was 8.9% higher in the short message service (SMS) text message group versus the control group [27]. Several studies have indicated that interactive voice response (IVR) and SMS text messaging foster medication adherence through telephone-delivered diabetes education and interactive reminders can improve medication adherence in patients with diabetes [20,21,23]. Mobile communication also includes one-way and two-way text messages and weekly IVR calls to promote medication adherence for low-income racially and ethnically diverse adults with type 2 diabetes [28,29]. Additionally, telemonitoring, telehealth, and the use of a virtual classroom have been shown to enable the individual with diabetes to participate in adherence strategies [22,30]. These digital health strategies provide interactive communication that is timely and patient centered. The tailored information provided

XSL•FO RenderX

has the potential to improve patient outcomes through education and timely information.

Table 1.	Chronic Care Model ^a	components and	descriptions.
----------	---------------------------------	----------------	---------------

Chronic Care Model components	Descriptions
Self-management support	Designed to inform the patient and family by providing training and promotion to foster self-management. The eCCM ^{b,c} further adds 24/7 access, convenience, reminders, and alerts.
Decision support	Emphasizes the goal to improve medical decisions for providers and patients to access current evidence-based care guidelines, reminders, and information buttons.
Clinical information systems	Collects, maintains, and utilizes patient registries; develops patient portals, Internet, mHealth, mobile phones, wearable devices, electronic health records, and personal health records.
Delivery system design	Emphasizes the importance of interdisciplinary clinical teams and collaboration between the patient and multiple providers.
Community support	Health care organization makes an effort to form powerful alliances and partnerships. The eCCM ^c further adds that eHealth education is included as a component, including eCommunity and encompassing message training, health education, technology training, numeracy, literacy, usability, and security.
Health systems	Creates an environment in which organizational efforts improve health care.

^aThe Chronic Care Model includes self-management support, decision support, clinical information systems, delivery system design, community support, and health systems as interdependent components for holistic care.

^beCCM: eHealth-enhanced Chronic Care Model.

^cThe eCCM further defines the role of eHealth tools and eCommunity to support holistic care.

Theoretical Framework

The Chronic Care Model (CCM) (see Table 1) is a well-established, validated framework to provide a caring approach for chronically ill individuals with a focus on increasing function and improving clinical outcomes [31].

The CCM postulates that optimal care for individuals with chronic illness requires a health system that provides the following: community support, self-management support, decision support, clinical information systems, and delivery system design [32]. Further, the eHealth-enhanced CCM (eCCM) includes the role of eHealth tools in self-management for individuals with chronic illness [31]. The eCCM is particularly tailored for assessing digital health findings as compared to the CCM, due to the inclusion of eHealth tools and strategies. This is also due to the broader definition of eCommunity to encompass a broader definition of digital health support available to include community support and education. The CCM and the eCCM are interdependent with the eCCM further defining the significance of eHealth [31].

CCM-based interventions were effective in improving clinical, behavioral, psychological/psychosocial, and diabetic knowledge outcomes, including medication adherence in patients with diabetes in research that did not utilize digital health interventions [33]. The CCM has been used as a framework for care in Malaysia and was found to improve patient outcomes [32] as well as practice-based care delivery redesign [33,34].

With developments in digital health, technology has further incorporated medication adherence strategies for chronic illnesses such as diabetes and hypertension [33-36]. These factors are interrelated, and the CCM has been implemented across many chronic conditions such as asthma, bipolar disorder, breast cancer, diabetes, hypertension, and obesity [37]. For the purpose of this integrative review, the CCM will be used to

RenderX

evaluate the use of digital health technology for medication adherence in diabetes or hypertension.

Methods

This integrative review adhered to the following five stages: (1) problem identification, (2) literature search, (3) data evaluation, (3) data analysis, and (5) presentation [38]. The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) flowchart in Figure 1 [39] was used to depict the search results. Using a two-step strategy, a literature search was conducted to find relevant studies published from January 2006 to October 2016. Consultation with a health reference librarian aided in the refinement of search terms in the databases.

In the first step, a search strategy was developed. One reviewer (CMC) conducted the search using the following databases included within EBSCOhost to ascertain relevant studies: PubMed and Scopus. A combination of keywords and Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) terms were used as follows: "mobile health," "mHealth," "telemedicine," "eHealth," "remote consultation," *or* "digital health" *and* "medication adherence," "medication noncompliance," or "medication persistence" *and* "diabetes mellitus," "diabetes," "type 2 diabetes," *or* "apps." Reference lists of relevant studies were hand searched. Identified citations were exported to Endnote reference management program. This strategy initially yielded 337 studies.

For inclusion in this review, peer-reviewed studies were required to report on a digital health intervention for medication adherence. Inclusion criteria included (1) English-language, peer-reviewed randomized controlled trials (RCTs) with quasi-experimental, observational, or qualitative design; (2) studies containing digital health interventions to improve

medication adherence to prescription medications in adults (ie, 18 years or older); and (3) studies focused on diabetes or hypertension. Exclusion criteria included (1) studies that did

not include results of medication adherence rates or (2) pilot studies. Titles and abstracts were reviewed for relevance.

Figure 1. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) flowchart of studies from search to inclusion [39]. DM: diabetes; HTN: hypertension.



Results

Overview

RenderX

Of the 337 studies, 13 (3.9%) [22,26,40-50] used a digital health intervention to promote medication adherence to prescribed medications for diabetes and hypertension that was summarized (see Multimedia Appendix 1) and evaluated with the Chronic Care Model (see Table 2).

Studies included nine RCTs, one quasi-experimental study, and two observational studies, one of which was a mixed-methods design. Most studies were conducted in the United States, with

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e20/

one study each conducted in the United Kingdom, South Africa, and South Korea.

A total of 13 studies were selected, analyzed, and organized (see Multimedia Appendix 1). Medication adherence findings for the intervention and data extraction categories, including the study objective, design, sample, intervention length, and participant age, are included in Multimedia Appendix 1. Strategies used to improve medication adherence included four primary approaches: IVR (with or without human interaction), SMS text messaging, telemonitoring and/or tailored care management, and Web-based software. The subheadings in this section consist of progressively interdependent components of

the Chronic Care Model that influence patient-centered, evidence-based care and are designed to improve health outcomes by changing the routine delivery of care (ie, self-management support, decision support, clinical information systems, delivery system design, community support, and health systems) [37]. The reviewed studies are presented in Multimedia Appendix 1 with the intent to categorize findings based on CCM components in order to assess findings about digital health interventions for medication adherence. Table 2 provides a summary of CCM components used in each study [22,26,40-50].

Table 2. Chronic Care Model applied to studies	Table 2.	Chronic	Care	Model	applied	to studies
--	----------	---------	------	-------	---------	------------

Study author, year	Chronic Care Mo	Chronic Care Model components used in studies ^a				
	Self-management support	Decision support	Clinical information systems	Delivery system design	Community support	
Aikens et al, 2014 [40]	X			X	X	
Arora et al, 2014 [41]	Х					
Bobrow et al, 2016 [42]	Х					
Davidson et al, 2015 [43]	Х	Х	Х		Х	
Edelman et al, 2015 [44]	Х	Х		Х	Х	
Katalenich et al, 2015 [45]	Х	Х		Х		
Kim et al, 2006 [46]	Х		Х			
Migneault et al, 2012 [48]	Х	Х				
Nelson et al, 2016 [47]	Х					
Nundy et al, 2014 [49]	Х				Х	
Shane-McWhorter et al, 2014 [22]			Х	Х		
Wakefield et al, 2011 [26]				Х		
Wild et al, 2016 [50]			Х	Х		

^aThe health systems component was not found in the included studies.

Application of Chronic Care Model in Aim 1

Self-Management Support

The goal of self-management support is to inform the patient and family by providing training and health promotion to foster self-management [37]. The eCCM further adds 24/7 access, convenience, reminders, and alerts [31]. In a study conducted by Aikens and colleagues [40], a combined program of automated telemonitoring, clinician notification, and informal caregiver involvement was found to be associated with improvements in medication adherence between pretest (mean 1.20, SD 0.95) and posttest (mean 0.87, SD 0.88) using linear regression analyses. This observational, open-label trial of 301 adults aimed to identify changes in diabetes self-management and psychological distress associated with an mHealth, IVR, self-management support program [40]. Arora and colleagues [41] conducted an RCT of 128 adult patients with poorly controlled diabetes in an urban emergency department with a unidirectional, SMS text message-based mHealth intervention in English or Spanish; the RCT was called the Trial to Examine Text-based mHealth for Emergency department patients with Diabetes (TExT-MED). There was improved medication adherence among the TExT-MED group compared to the control group as measured by the Morisky Medication Adherence Scale (MMAS) (score of 4.5 to 5.4) [20]. Bobrow and colleagues [42] found that interactive SMS text messaging subsequently improved medication adherence in a group of 1372 patients treated for hypertension as indicated by prescription refill data

RenderX

(ie, had at least 80% of the days covered). Refill rates were higher among the information-only message group (156/248, (62.9%) and interactive message group (134/225, 59.6%)compared to the usual care group (94/190, 49.5%) [42]. Similarly, Davidson and colleagues [43] found a cellular-connected, electronic medication device that provided reminder signals and mobile phone messaging; 38 patients were reminded to take their blood pressure (BP) medications using a Bluetooth-accessible, BP monitor-improved medication adherence device in African American and Hispanic participants. Medication adherence was defined by the percent of SMS text message reminders over the past day(s) and the mean medication adherence score was 92 (SD 0.09) for all participants in the intervention group [43]. In an RCT of patients with diabetes and hypertension, Edelman and colleagues [44] found that 377 participants receiving tailored, focused behavioral content had improved medication adherence obtained by self-report. The secondary outcome of nonadherence was 52 out of 193 (26.9%) for the diabetes intervention group and 58 out of 184 (31.5%) for the control group as reported by the medication-taking scale [44]. Similarly, Katalenich and colleagues [45] found that engagement in the automated Diabetes Remote Monitoring and Management System improved medication adherence as measured by the MMAS, although the improvement was not statistically significant. The intervention group (50/98, 51%) had higher adherence (28%, 26%, and 27%) than the control group (48/98, 49%) (12%, 22%, and 20%) at baseline, 3 months, and 6 months, respectively; however, overall improvements in medication adherence self-report were not significant [45]. A

quasi-experimental study conducted by Kim and colleagues [46] found that SMS text messaging from nurses by mobile phone or the Internet improved medication adherence in 45 patients with diabetes. Self-reported medication adherence was measured by the Summary of Diabetes Self-Care Activities (SDSCA) measure; diabetes medication-taking adherence increased 1.1 days per week at posttest as compared to pretest [46]. Recently, Nelson and colleagues [47] leveraged IVR and SMS text messaging in 80 patients with diabetes using MEssaging for Diabetes (MED) and found short-term improvements in medication adherence among adults with type 2 diabetes. Medication adherence was assessed using the SDSCA medications subscale and improved in the intervention group at 1 month (mean 6.5, SD 1.4) and 2 months (mean 6.8, SD 0.4), but did not continue to improve at 3 months (mean 6.2, SD 1.3) [47]. Likewise, an RCT conducted by Migneault and colleagues [48] found that a culturally adapted, automated telephone system used among 337 hypertensive, urban African American adults improved medication adherence slightly as measured using the MMAS (0.19 points relative to controls), which was not statistically significant. Finally, Nundy and colleagues [49] conducted a mixed-methods observational cohort study using a theory-driven, mobile phone-based intervention with 74 adults with diabetes; an automated SMS text messaging system combined with remote nursing improved medication adherence as measured by the SDSCA measure of weekly adherence and the MMAS. At both 3 and 6 months, the MMAS 4-item score (out of 4) improved (3.3, P<.10 and 3.4, P<.02, respectively) compared to baseline (2.9, P<.10); however, no change in weekly medication adherence was observed between 3 and 6 months (score of 4.4 and 4.4, respectively) [49]. There are positive benefits of the use of one-way and two-way digital health messages to engage patients in timely self-management to improve medication adherence. Strategies such as IVR and SMS text messaging provide evidence of improved short-term medication adherence using educational and reinforcement reminders.

Decision Support

Decision support emphasizes the goal to improve medical decisions for providers and patients to access current evidence-based care guidelines [37]. In addition, eCCM discusses reminders and info buttons [31]. Davidson and colleagues [43] discussed a "several year" iterative design process for the Smartphone Medication Adherence Stops Hypertension (SMASH) program that involved key informant interviews and focus groups with health care providers and patients to develop SMS text message reminders. Likewise, Edelman and colleagues [44] used nurses' behavior-modifying content specific to each patient's individual barriers based on evidence-based approved content. In addition, Migneault and colleagues [48] developed the Telephone-Linked-Care intervention using ethnic mapping in focus groups for hypertension. In addition, Katalenich and colleagues [45] used validated diabetes algorithms to evaluate glycemic control and adherence. Of the four studies that included decision support for medication adherence, two had statistically significant findings [43,44] while two did not have statistically significant differences between groups [45,48].

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e20/
```

Clinical Information Systems

Clinical information systems are used to collect, maintain, and utilize information within the context of health care, such as patient registries and electronic medical records [31]. In addition, eCCM emphasizes the development of patient portals, Internet, mHealth, mobile phones, wearable devices, and patient health records [31]. Integration of secure-messaging e-visits, home monitoring with feedback, health risk appraisal with feedback, medication refills, tailored interventions, and links to community programs are possible with digital health technology. In a study by Davidson and colleagues [43] to measure medication adherence, electronic medication trays provided reminder signals and SMS text messaging reminded 38 African American and Hispanic participants to monitor BP with Bluetooth-enabled monitors; a mean of 92% (SD 0.09) of reminders were received across the 6-month trial. Additionally, an MA (medication adherence) score was averaged to calculate adherence (daily scores ranged from 0 to 1) with "fully compliant" defined as ingesting all medications within a 3-hour window. Ingesting all medications within a 6-hour window received half credit and ingesting all medications outside a 6-hour window or a missed dose received no credit. The mean MA score was 92 (SD 0.09) for all participants [43]. Additionally, the intervention group BP mean adherence was 86.2% (SD 6) (on time every 3 days) [43]. Recently, Katalenich and colleagues [45] studied health care providers who could monitor progress of their 98 patients through a Web-based secure portal; study findings revealed the intervention group (50/98, 51%) had higher MA than the control group (48/98, 49%) at each measurement time—baseline, 3 months, and 6 months. Additionally, Kim and colleagues [46] included the use of the Internet to support secure communication-based optimal diabetes recommendations, with the intervention group (33/45 completers, 73%) having an increased MA of 1.1 days per week between pretest and posttest. A study by Shane-McWhorter and colleagues [22] discussed the asynchronous involvement of a remote care monitor-usually a pharmacist-and email alerts to a medical provider if a patient has an out-of-range value via a mobile communication platform. The nonrandomized prospective observational preintervention and postintervention design of the study with 125 participants resulted in improvements in medication adherence for diabetes patients (6.2 and 6.5, respectively; P=.09) and hypertension patients (6.3 and 6.7, respectively; P=.05); however, the difference in improvement was not statistically significant for the intervention group. An RCT conducted by Wild and colleagues [50] that included 321 participants with type 2 diabetes used Bluetooth technology to transmit BP, glucose, and weight readings through a supplied modem interacting with a remote secure server manned by research nurses. Medication adherencewas reported with no significant differences between the monitored intervention group (n=160) and control group receiving usual care (n=161). MA linear regression models were performed for 270 participants: monitored group (n=139; and follow-up mean 0.7, SD 0.9) and baseline unmonitored/control group (n=131; baseline mean 1.0, SD 1.0; follow-up mean 0.8, SD 1.0). Of the four studies that included medication adherence clinical information support using digital health technology, there were no statistically significant

findings; supportive measures, such as secure portal, Internet, or medication pill dispenser, were not discussed in the outcomes.

Delivery System Design

Delivery system design includes the importance of interdisciplinary clinical teams and collaboration between the patient and multiple providers [37]. Bluetooth-enabled devices and the use of chat, voice, and video communication allow the health care team to provide many of the elements of a traditional office visit. The use of innovative technology affords a low-cost, flexible means to supplement formal health care. Aikens and colleagues [40] found that automated telemonitoring clinician notification provided the clinician with actionable feedback through faxed updates about patient-reported health and self-care problems including MA. Aikens and colleagues [40] identified significant pre-post improvement in MA (mean MMAS score 1.20, SD 0.95 and mean MMAS score 0.87, SD 0.88, respectively; P<.001). Additionally, Edelman and colleagues [44] reported that a nurse-led diabetes and hypertension behavior modification intervention, Tailored Case Management for Diabetes and Hypertension (TEACH-DM), communicated patient results to providers with statistically insignificant differences between groups as follows: 26.9% from the diabetes intervention group and 31.5% from the diabetes control group were nonadherent (medication-taking scale); 43.0% from the hypertension intervention group and 42.9% from the hypertension control group were nonadherent [44]. Similarly, providers in the Diabetes Remote Monitoring and Management System study could monitor the progress of their patients through a Web-based portal [45]. Overall improvements in medication adherence self-report were not statistically significant [45]. Shane-McWhorter and colleagues [22] used remote telemonitoring for patients with uncontrolled diabetes and/or hypertension from four rural and primary clinics and one stroke center with improvement in medication adherence for diabetes and hypertension, although improvements were not statistically significant (P=.09 and P=.05, respectively). Wakefield and colleagues [26] used a home telemonitoring device and home care management in patients with comorbid diabetes and hypertension. Medication adherence improved over time for all three groups-high intensity, low intensity, and usual care-but there were no differences among the three groups [26]. Lastly, Wild and colleagues [50] included supported telemonitoring intervention involving self-measurement and transmission to a secure website with no significant differences identified between groups in medication adherence. Of the six studies that included MA delivery system design, one reported statistically significant improvement [40]. The conflicting results from these studies suggest that more research is needed to determine which groups might benefit from digital health strategies.

Community Support/eHealth Education

Community support links the patient to local resources and provides an opportunity for organizational leaders to establish new relationships and expand [37]. In the eCCM model, *eHealth education* is included as a component of eCommunity and

encompasses message training, health education, technology training, numeracy, literacy, usability, and security [31]. Two studies in this review included culturally attuned messages to improve medication adherence [43,48]. Additionally, two studies found a positive correlation between social support and medication adherence [40,49]. One study addressed health literacy, but did not find a significant correlation to medication adherence [44].

Health Systems

The health care system creates an environment in which organization efforts improve care [37]. No studies included organization of health care and health systems.

Benefits and Barriers of Medication Adherence by Digital Health Technology in Aim 2

The second aim of this review was to determine the benefits and barriers of MA technology studied in adults with diabetes or hypertension. Overall, the strongest benefit of digital health technologies to measure medication adherence involve patient engagement in diabetes and hypertension self-management through either one-way or two-way interactive reminders or educational information. Some reminders were culturally adapted [43,48] as well as tailored to the population of interest [40,44,47]. In addition, patient-reported data (ie. medication-taking behaviors, blood glucose, blood pressure, and weight) could be shared with health care providers through interactive communication platforms using SMS text messages, Bluetooth-enabled devices, or the Internet.

The primary barriers of digital health technologies for measurement of MA included the iterative nature of tailored message development, which involved input from focus groups, health care providers, and patients [40,43,44,47], as well as staffing the interactive application [22,26,46,50]. While there were varying costs, there were also ongoing expenses of maintaining a communication platform and/or personnel. The included studies discussed the expense of maintaining telemonitoring infrastructure [50], personnel [22,26], Web-based software [47,48], and electronic medication trays [43].

Discussion

Improvement of Medication Adherence Using Digital Health Technology

The first aim of this review was to determine if digital health technologies improve medication adherence in adults with diabetes or hypertension. Of the 13 studies included in this review, there was no conclusive demonstration of improved medication adherence using digital health interventions such as IVR, SMS text messaging, telemonitoring and remote monitoring, and interactive software technology. However, in some studies the benefits of digital health technology were short term or close to statistically significant [47]; for example, benefits improved but were not statistically significant [22] or there were benefits in both the intervention and control groups [26].



Table 3. Benefits and barriers of digital health technology for medication adherence.

Study author, year	Digital health technology	Benefits	Barriers
Aikens et al, 2014 [40]	IVR ^a -tailored text messages; clini- cian notification	Interactive, tailored SMS ^b text messages; clinician notification	Development of tailored SMS text messages
Arora et al, 2014 [41]	Daily SMS text messages in English or Spanish	Frequent reminders, available in English or Spanish	One-way reminders
Bobrow et al, 2016 [42]	SMS text messaging	SMS text message reminders by mobile phone	Use of refill data; availability of medications
Davidson et al, 2015 [43]	Electronic medication trays: re- minder signals; reminder SMS text messages	Culturally sensitive	Expense of electronic medication trays
Edelman et al, 2015 [44]	TEACH-DM ^c : call from nurse; tai- lored SMS text messages; diabetes- and hypertension-focused content versus nontailored, noninteractive information	Tailored SMS text messages	Development of tailored SMS text messages
Katalenich et al, 2015 [45]	SMS text messages or phone call reminders to use automated system; no interaction unless severely high or low glucose	SMS text message reminders by mobile phone	No interaction unless severely high or low glucose
Kim et al, 2006 [46]	SMS text messages and Internet ed- ucation	Medication reminders and education	Nurse SMS text message expense
Migneault et al, 2012 [48]	Automated, multi-behavior interven- tion or education-only control	Culturally adapted reminders and education	Expense of computer-based, interac- tive counseling system; develop- ment of tailored SMS text messages
Nelson et al, 2016 [47]	SMS text messages/IVR: deliver and tailor text messages and voice communications to promote MA ^d	Tailored SMS text messages and IVRs	Expense of communication plat- form; development of tailored SMS text messages
Nundy et al, 2014 [49]	Web-based software reminders and texted-back responses to questions	Interactive (text-back), mobile- based, educational messages and reminders	Expense of Web-based software
Shane-McWhorter et al, 2014 [22]	Telemonitoring with asynchronous measurements transmitted from the patient to a remote care coordinator: pharmacist or certified diabetes edu- cator	Self-management; patient data en- tered for clinician review	Expense of remote care coordinator
Wakefield et al, 2011 [26]	Closed surveillance via home tele- health device and nurse care manage- ment	Self-management; patient data en- tered for clinician review	Expense of nurse care management
Wild et al, 2016 [50]	Supported telemonitoring interven- tion involved self-measurement and transmission to a secure website; review by family practice clinicians	Clinician notification	Expense of telemonitoring infrastruc- ture and password-protected server

^aIVR: interactive voice response.

^bSMS: short message service.

^cTEACH-DM: Tailored Case Management for Diabetes and Hypertension.

^dMA: medication adherence.

While studies demonstrated improved v [40,41], there was no consistent evidence of sustained adherence. Notably, nine studies were 6 months or less in duration. In five studies, there was improvement in medication adherence, but the difference in medication adherence was not statistically significant between the intervention and control groups [22,26,44,48,50].

Different psychometric instruments informed adherence measurement across populations. Medication adherence self-report was the primary method, with MMAS being the most

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e20/
```

XSL•FO RenderX commonly used psychometric instrument, either as the sole measure or in conjunction with another measure such as a self-report questionnaire [40,41,45,48-50]. The MMAS is a well-validated and reliable psychometric instrument to measure medication adherence in populations [51]. Although all 13 studies measured medication adherence, there was a lack of a consistent measure among studies to assess medication adherence, which may partially account for mixed findings of significance in the study interventions.

This review illustrates that digital health interventions hold promise for improving short-term medication adherence for diabetes and hypertension, including IVR, SMS text messaging, telemonitoring, and Web-based software. Nevertheless, despite the growing interest in the use of various digital health technologies, there is limited evidence of efficacy of such interventions for enhancing long-term medication adherence among adults with diabetes or hypertension. Thus, there are still areas in which to learn about medication adherence digital health interventions, such as long-term outcomes, cost-effectiveness, and impact of patient age, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status. Digital health technologies are a promising option. Digital health technologies have improved medication adherence and self-care for some patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [52], coronary artery disease [53], and heart failure [54,55]. More research is needed in adult populations with chronic illnesses and for longer study durations than 6 months using evidence-based, common assessment strategies; these will determine which patients and demographic groups can benefit from digital health interventions for medication adherence.

Chronic Care Model

included studies.

This review included MA interventions categorized according to the Chronic Care Model. In addition, health care providers could use the CCM to provide a blueprint to support care that is evidence based, population based, and patient centered [56] in order to improve digital health intervention-driven outcomes. While the CCM guided this integrative review, other theoretical models could be considered to review digital health technology interventions, such as the Theory of Planned Change or the Technology Acceptance Model. Additionally, the eCCM should be further used and evaluated for validation in chronically ill populations. Other theoretical models could be used or created to assess digital health for individuals with different comfort levels with technology. For example, the Senior Technology Acceptance Model has been developed to assess older adults' comfort with technology in Hong Kong [57].

Table 3 provides a summary of the benefits and barriers of the

Limitations

There are opportunities to pursue a better understanding of medication adherence and to measure the impact on clinical practice. Currently, there is no consensus about methods to assess medication adherence, which makes it difficult to compare adherence rates across studies. The most frequently used method for assessing adherence is self-report, a subjective assessment of adherence; while cost-effective, self-report is often not as reliable as objective measurements, such as serum drug level or pill count [9]. Additionally, there were studies that addressed treatment adherence or self-management that did not meet the inclusion criteria for this integrative review because MA outcomes were not addressed as a study outcome or medication adherence outcome was not reported.

Conclusions

This integrative review was conducted to examine the types of digital health technologies that have targeted medication adherence in the adult population, aged 18 years and older. Digital health included a number of technologies to foster medication adherence, including IVR, SMS text messaging, telehealth, and Web-based software. In some chronically ill populations, the digital health technology interventions that were reviewed fostered v via one-way communication to the patient or two-way communication between the patient and health care provider [43,48]. Two-way communication occurred through patient timely reporting of monitored results, such as blood glucose and BP to the health care provider to receive feedback about care [40]. Digital health technologies were found to be diverse and the populations studied varied in size, ethnicity, and age range. There remains ample opportunity to enhance patient and provider communication via digital technology as new mobile and electronic media emerge, especially in populations increasingly familiar with mobile phones, tablets, and other mobile communication devices.

Relevance to Practice and Research

Nonadherence by adults is a significant public health problem and there are opportunities to better understand the role of digital health interventions for this population [3]. Digital health interventions provide cost-effective strategies as an adjunct to medication adherence management [43,49]. Future interventions should address the use of digital health interventions for medication adherence using evidence-based systematic frameworks to ensure this technology provides high-quality alternatives. This is a prominent area for future research considering the availability of technology among adults globally. Moreover, study findings suggest that digital health interventions can improve short-term medication adherence. Digital health interventions could help reduce health disparities related to nonadherence in chronically ill populations, such as those with diabetes and hypertension, where these interventions are used in combination with other treatments for those seeking to improve medication adherence. These modalities need further exploration among younger and much older populations and over longer durations to document sustainability of medication adherence.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Dr John D Dinolfo, PhD, Medical University of South Carolina, Department of Library Science & Informatics, for his review of this manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



Multimedia Appendix 1

Summary of studies included.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 466KB - diabetes_v2i2e20_app1.pdf]

References

- World Health Organization. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2012 May 16. New data highlight increases in hypertension, diabetes incidence URL: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2012/</u> world health statistics 20120516/en/ [accessed 2017-08-02] [WebCite Cache ID 6sQDJ1esJ]
- 2. World Health Organization. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2017 Jul. Diabetes URL: <u>http://www.who.int/</u> mediacentre/factsheets/fs312/en/ [accessed 2017-08-02] [WebCite Cache ID 6sQDM7Tma]
- 3. Cohen J, Christensen K, Feldman L. Disease management and medication compliance. Popul Health Manag 2012 Feb;15(1):20-28. [doi: <u>10.1089/pop.2011.0020</u>] [Medline: <u>22092187</u>]
- 4. Jha AK, Aubert RE, Yao J, Teagarden JR, Epstein RS. Greater adherence to diabetes drugs is linked to less hospital use and could save nearly \$5 billion annually. Health Aff (Millwood) 2012 Aug;31(8):1836-1846 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2011.1198] [Medline: 22869663]
- Salas M, Hughes D, Zuluaga A, Vardeva K, Lebmeier M. Costs of medication nonadherence in patients with diabetes mellitus: A systematic review and critical analysis of the literature. Value Health 2009 Sep;12(6):915-922 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1524-4733.2009.00539.x] [Medline: 19402848]
- 6. Chisholm-Burns MA, Spivey CA. The 'cost' of medication nonadherence: Consequences we cannot afford to accept. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003) 2012;52(6):823-826. [doi: 10.1331/JAPhA.2012.11088] [Medline: 23229971]
- 7. Matsui D. Strategies to measure and improve patient adherence in clinical trials. Pharmaceut Med 2012 Aug 23;23(5-6):289-297. [doi: 10.1007/BF03256784]
- 8. Langley CA, Bush J. The Aston Medication Adherence Study: Mapping the adherence patterns of an inner-city population. Int J Clin Pharm 2014 Feb;36(1):202-211. [doi: 10.1007/s11096-013-9896-3] [Medline: 24293338]
- 9. Brown MT, Bussell JK. Medication adherence: WHO cares? Mayo Clin Proc 2011 Apr;86(4):304-314 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4065/mcp.2010.0575] [Medline: 21389250]
- Sabaté E. Adherence to Long-Term Therapies: Evidence for Action. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2003. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/chp/knowledge/publications/adherence_full_report.pdf?ua=1</u> [accessed 2017-08-11] [WebCite Cache ID 6sdgufwZS]
- Gonzalez JS, Schneider HE, Wexler DJ, Psaros C, Delahanty LM, Cagliero E, et al. Validity of medication adherence self-reports in adults with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2013 Apr;36(4):831-837 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc12-0410] [Medline: 23204245]
- 12. HealthIT.gov. 2017. What is telehealth? URL: <u>https://www.healthit.gov/telehealth</u> [accessed 2017-08-02] [<u>WebCite Cache ID 6sQDtK0Rg</u>]
- van Dyk L. A review of telehealth service implementation frameworks. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2014 Jan 23;11(2):1279-1298 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph110201279] [Medline: 24464237]
- 14. World Health Organization. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2017. Digital health in TB care and control: Key definitions URL: <u>http://www.who.int/tb/areas-of-work/digital-health/definitions/en/</u> [accessed 2017-08-03] [WebCite Cache ID 6sRwarsqD]
- 15. Klonoff DC. The current status of mHealth for diabetes: Will it be the next big thing? J Diabetes Sci Technol 2013 May 01;7(3):749-758 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/193229681300700321] [Medline: 23759409]
- Klonoff DC. Improved outcomes from diabetes monitoring: The benefits of better adherence, therapy adjustments, patient education, and telemedicine support. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2012 May 01;6(3):486-490 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/193229681200600301] [Medline: 22768877]
- 17. Hood M, Wilson R, Corsica J, Bradley L, Chirinos D, Vivo A. What do we know about mobile applications for diabetes self-management? A review of reviews. J Behav Med 2016 Dec;39(6):981-994. [doi: 10.1007/s10865-016-9765-3] [Medline: 27412774]
- Garabedian LF, Ross-Degnan D, Wharam JF. Mobile phone and smartphone technologies for diabetes care and self-management. Curr Diab Rep 2015 Dec;15(12):109. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11892-015-0680-8</u>] [Medline: <u>26458380</u>]
- Misono AS, Cutrona SL, Choudhry NK, Fischer MA, Stedman MR, Liberman JN, et al. Healthcare information technology interventions to improve cardiovascular and diabetes medication adherence. Am J Manag Care 2010 Dec;16(12 Suppl HIT):SP82-SP92 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21314228]
- 20. Arora S, Peters AL, Agy C, Menchine M. A mobile health intervention for inner city patients with poorly controlled diabetes: Proof-of-concept of the TExT-MED program. Diabetes Technol Ther 2012 Jun;14(6):492-496. [doi: 10.1089/dia.2011.0252] [Medline: 22524591]
- Lyles CR, Schillinger D, Lopez A, Handley M, Ratanawongsa N, Sarkar U. Safety events during an automated telephone self-management support intervention. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2013 May 01;7(3):596-601 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/193229681300700303] [Medline: 23759391]

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e20/
```

- 22. Shane-McWhorter L, Lenert L, Petersen M, Woolsey S, McAdam-Marx C, Coursey JM, et al. The Utah Remote Monitoring Project: Improving health care one patient at a time. Diabetes Technol Ther 2014 Oct;16(10):653-660 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/dia.2014.0045] [Medline: 24991923]
- 23. Williams JS, Lynch CP, Knapp RG, Egede LE. Technology-Intensified Diabetes Education Study (TIDES) in African Americans with type 2 diabetes: Study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials 2014 Nov 25;15:460 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-15-460] [Medline: 25425504]
- Patel N, Jones P, Adamson V, Spiteri M, Kinmond K. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients' experiences of an enhanced self-management model of care. Qual Health Res 2016 Mar;26(4):568-577. [doi: <u>10.1177/1049732315573013</u>] [Medline: <u>25711841</u>]
- Morrison D, Mair FS, Chaudhuri R, McGee-Lennon M, Thomas M, Thomson NC, et al. Details of development of the resource for adults with asthma in the RAISIN (randomized trial of an asthma internet self-management intervention) study. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2015 Jul 28;15:57 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-015-0177-z] [Medline: 26215651]
- Wakefield BJ, Holman JE, Ray A, Scherubel M, Adams MR, Hillis SL, et al. Effectiveness of home telehealth in comorbid diabetes and hypertension: A randomized, controlled trial. Telemed J E Health 2011 May;17(4):254-261. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2010.0176] [Medline: 21476945]
- de Jongh T, Gurol-Urganci I, Vodopivec-Jamsek V, Car J, Atun R. Mobile phone messaging for facilitating self-management of long-term illnesses. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012 Dec 12;12:CD007459. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD007459.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>23235644</u>]
- 28. Nelson LA, Mulvaney SA, Gebretsadik T, Ho Y, Johnson KB, Osborn CY. Disparities in the use of a mHealth medication adherence promotion intervention for low-income adults with type 2 diabetes. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016 Jan;23(1):12-18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocv082] [Medline: 26186935]
- 29. Osborn CY, Mulvaney SA. Development and feasibility of a text messaging and interactive voice response intervention for low-income, diverse adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2013 May 01;7(3):612-622 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/193229681300700305] [Medline: 23759393]
- Rosal MC, Heyden R, Mejilla R, Rizzo DM, Veerappa C, Wiecha JM. Design and methods for a comparative effectiveness pilot study: Virtual world vs face-to-face diabetes self-management. JMIR Res Protoc 2012 Dec 17;1(2):e24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.2415] [Medline: 23612567]
- 31. Gee PM, Greenwood DA, Paterniti DA, Ward D, Miller LM. The eHealth Enhanced Chronic Care Model: A theory derivation approach. J Med Internet Res 2015 Apr 01;17(4):e86 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4067] [Medline: 25842005]
- 32. Hussein Z, Taher SW, Gilcharan SHK, Chee SSW. Diabetes care in Malaysia: Problems, new models, and solutions. Ann Glob Health 2015;81(6):851-862 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.aogh.2015.12.016] [Medline: 27108152]
- 33. Piatt GA, Orchard TJ, Emerson S, Simmons D, Songer TJ, Brooks MM, et al. Translating the chronic care model into the community: Results from a randomized controlled trial of a multifaceted diabetes care intervention. Diabetes Care 2006 Apr;29(4):811-817. [Medline: <u>16567820</u>]
- Gabbay RA, Lendel I, Saleem TM, Shaeffer G, Adelman AM, Mauger DT, et al. Nurse case management improves blood pressure, emotional distress and diabetes complication screening. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2006 Jan;71(1):28-35. [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2005.05.002] [Medline: 16019102]
- Green BB, Cook AJ, Ralston JD, Fishman PA, Catz SL, Carlson J, et al. Effectiveness of home blood pressure monitoring, Web communication, and pharmacist care on hypertension control: A randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2008 Jun 25;299(24):2857-2867 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.299.24.2857] [Medline: 18577730]
- 36. Shojania KG, Ranji SR, McDonald KM, Grimshaw JM, Sundaram V, Rushakoff RJ, et al. Effects of quality improvement strategies for type 2 diabetes on glycemic control: A meta-regression analysis. JAMA 2006 Jul 26;296(4):427-440. [doi: 10.1001/jama.296.4.427] [Medline: 16868301]
- 37. Gugiu PC, Westine CD, Coryn CLS, Hobson KA. An application of a new evidence grading system to research on the chronic care model. Eval Health Prof 2013 Mar;36(1):3-43. [doi: 10.1177/0163278712436968] [Medline: 22473325]
- 38. Whittemore R, Knafl K. The integrative review: Updated methodology. J Adv Nurs 2005 Dec;52(5):546-553. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2005.03621.x] [Medline: 16268861]
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA).: The PRISMA Group; 2009. URL: <u>http://prisma-statement.org/</u> [accessed 2017-08-02] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6sQDdSWIm</u>]
- 40. Aikens JE, Rosland AM, Piette JD. Improvements in illness self-management and psychological distress associated with telemonitoring support for adults with diabetes. Prim Care Diabetes 2015 Apr;9(2):127-134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pcd.2014.06.003] [Medline: 25065270]
- 41. Arora S, Peters AL, Burner E, Lam CN, Menchine M. Trial to examine text message-based mHealth in emergency department patients with diabetes (TExT-MED): A randomized controlled trial. Ann Emerg Med 2014 Jun;63(6):745-754.e6. [doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2013.10.012] [Medline: 24225332]
- 42. Bobrow K, Farmer AJ, Springer D, Shanyinde M, Yu L, Brennan T, et al. Mobile phone text messages to support treatment adherence in adults with high blood pressure (SMS-Text Adherence Support [StAR]): A single-blind, randomized trial.

Circulation 2016 Feb 09;133(6):592-600 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.017530] [Medline: 26769742]

- 43. Davidson TM, McGillicuddy J, Mueller M, Brunner-Jackson B, Favella A, Anderson A, et al. Evaluation of an mHealth medication regimen self-management program for African American and Hispanic uncontrolled hypertensives. J Pers Med 2015 Nov 17;5(4):389-405 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jpm5040389] [Medline: 26593951]
- Edelman D, Dolor RJ, Coffman CJ, Pereira KC, Granger BB, Lindquist JH, et al. Nurse-led behavioral management of diabetes and hypertension in community practices: A randomized trial. J Gen Intern Med 2015 May;30(5):626-633 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-014-3154-9] [Medline: 25567758]
- 45. Katalenich B, Shi L, Liu S, Shao H, McDuffie R, Carpio G, et al. Evaluation of a remote monitoring system for diabetes control. Clin Ther 2015 Jun 01;37(6):1216-1225 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2015.03.022] [Medline: 25869625]
- 46. Kim H, Kim N, Ahn S. Impact of a nurse short message service intervention for patients with diabetes. J Nurs Care Qual 2006;21(3):266-271. [Medline: <u>16816608</u>]
- Nelson LA, Mulvaney SA, Gebretsadik T, Johnson KB, Osborn CY. The MEssaging for Diabetes (MED) intervention improves short-term medication adherence among low-income adults with type 2 diabetes. J Behav Med 2016 Dec;39(6):995-1000. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10865-016-9774-2</u>] [Medline: <u>27488604</u>]
- 48. Migneault JP, Dedier JJ, Wright JA, Heeren T, Campbell MK, Morisky DE, et al. A culturally adapted telecommunication system to improve physical activity, diet quality, and medication adherence among hypertensive African-Americans: A randomized controlled trial. Ann Behav Med 2012 Feb;43(1):62-73. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-011-9319-4] [Medline: 22246660]
- 49. Nundy S, Mishra A, Hogan P, Lee SM, Solomon MC, Peek ME. How do mobile phone diabetes programs drive behavior change? Evidence from a mixed methods observational cohort study. Diabetes Educ 2014;40(6):806-819 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0145721714551992] [Medline: 25278512]
- 50. Wild S, Hanley J, Lewis SC, McKnight JA, McCloughan LB, Padfield PL, et al. Supported telemonitoring and glycemic control in people with type 2 diabetes: The Telescot diabetes pragmatic multicenter randomized controlled trial. PLoS Med 2016 Jul;13(7):e1002098 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002098] [Medline: 27458809]
- Cohen HW, Shmukler C, Ullman R, Rivera CM, Walker EA. Measurements of medication adherence in diabetic patients with poorly controlled HbA(1c). Diabet Med 2010 Feb;27(2):210-216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2009.02898.x] [Medline: 20546266]
- Margolis A, Young H, Lis J, Schuna A, Sorkness CA. A telepharmacy intervention to improve inhaler adherence in veterans with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2013 Nov 01;70(21):1875-1876. [doi: 10.2146/ajhp120241] [Medline: 24128957]
- Pfaeffli DL, Whittaker R, Jiang Y, Stewart R, Rolleston A, Maddison R. Text message and Internet support for coronary heart disease self-management: Results from the Text4Heart randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2015 Oct 21;17(10):e237 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4944] [Medline: 26490012]
- Boyne JJ, Vrijhoef HJ, Spreeuwenberg M, De WeerdDe G, Kragten J, Gorgels AP, TEHAF investigators. Effects of tailored telemonitoring on heart failure patients' knowledge, self-care, self-efficacy and adherence: A randomized controlled trial. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2014 Jun;13(3):243-252. [doi: 10.1177/1474515113487464] [Medline: 23630403]
- 55. Wu J, Corley DJ, Lennie TA, Moser DK. Effect of a medication-taking behavior feedback theory-based intervention on outcomes in patients with heart failure. J Card Fail 2012 Jan;18(1):1-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2011.09.006] [Medline: 22196835]
- 56. Jackson GL, Weinberger M. A decade with the chronic care model: Some progress and opportunity for more. Med Care 2009 Sep;47(9):929-931. [doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e3181b63537] [Medline: 19704350]
- Chen K, Chan AH. Gerontechnology acceptance by elderly Hong Kong Chinese: A senior technology acceptance model (STAM). Ergonomics 2014;57(5):635-652. [doi: <u>10.1080/00140139.2014.895855</u>] [Medline: <u>24655221</u>]

Abbreviations

BP: blood pressure
CCM: Chronic Care Model
eCCM: eHealth-enhanced Chronic Care Model
eHealth: electronic health
IVR: interactive voice response
MA: medication adherence
MED: MEssaging for Diabetes
MeSH: Medical Subject Headings
mHealth: mobile health
MMAS: Morisky Medication Adherence Scale
PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses
RCT: randomized controlled trial
SDSCA: Summary of Diabetes Self-Care Activities

SMASH: Smartphone Medication Adherence Stops Hypertension
 SMS: short message service
 TEACH-DM: Tailored Case Management for Diabetes and Hypertension
 TEXT-MED: Trial to Examine Text-based mHealth for Emergency department patients with Diabetes

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 12.05.17; peer-reviewed by A Johnson, H Akram, T Bose; comments to author 22.06.17; revised version received 02.07.17; accepted 02.07.17; published 16.08.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Conway CM, Kelechi TJ Digital Health for Medication Adherence in Adult Diabetes or Hypertension: An Integrative Review JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e20 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e20/</u> doi:10.2196/diabetes.8030 PMID:30291093

©Cheryl Moseley Conway, Teresa J Kelechi. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 16.08.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



A Fully Automated Conversational Artificial Intelligence for Weight Loss: Longitudinal Observational Study Among Overweight and Obese Adults

Natalie Stein¹, MPH, MSc Nutrition; Kevin Brooks², MS, PhD

¹Division of Public Health, College of Human Medicine, Michigan State University, Flint Campus, MI, United States ²Division of Public Health, College of Human Medicine, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI, United States

Corresponding Author:

Natalie Stein, MPH, MSc Nutrition Division of Public Health College of Human Medicine Michigan State University 200 East 1st Street Flint Campus, MI, 48502 United States Phone: 1 810 600 5601 Fax: 1 810 600 5699 Email: <u>steinna1@msu.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Type 2 diabetes is the most expensive chronic disease in the United States. Two-thirds of US adults have prediabetes or are overweight and at risk for type 2 diabetes. Intensive in-person behavioral counseling can help patients lose weight and make healthy behavior changes to improve their health outcomes. However, with the shortage of health care providers and associated costs, such programs do not adequately service all patients who could benefit. The health care system needs effective and cost-effective interventions that can lead to positive health outcomes as scale. This study investigated the ability of conversational artificial intelligence (AI), in the form of a standalone, fully automated text-based mobile coaching service, to promote weight loss and other health behaviors related to diabetes prevention. This study also measured user acceptability of AI coaches as alternatives to live health care professionals.

Objective: The objective of this study was to evaluate weight loss, changes in meal quality, and app acceptability among users of the Lark Weight Loss Health Coach AI (HCAI), with the overarching goal of increasing access to compassionate health care via mobile health. Lessons learned in this study can be applied when planning future clinical trials to evaluate HCAI and when designing AI to promote weight loss, healthy behavior change, and prevention and self-management of chronic diseases.

Methods: This was a longitudinal observational study among overweight and obese (body mass index \geq 25) participants who used HCAI, which encourages weight loss and healthy diet choices through elements of cognitive behavioral therapy. Weight loss, meal quality, physical activity, and sleep data were collected through user input and, for sleep and physical activity, partly through automatic detection by the user's mobile phone. User engagement was assessed by duration and amount of app use. A 4-question in-app user trust survey assessed app usability and acceptability.

Results: Data were analyzed for participants (N=70) who met engagement standards set forth by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention criteria for Diabetes Prevention Program, a clinically proven weight loss program focused on preventing diabetes. Weight loss (standard error of the mean) was 2.38% (0.69%) of baseline weight. The average duration of app use was 15 (SD 1.0) weeks, and users averaged 103 sessions each. Predictors of weight loss included duration of AI use, number of counseling sessions, and number of meals logged. Percentage of healthy meals increased by 31%. The in-app user trust survey had a 100% response rate and positive results, with a satisfaction score of 87 out of 100 and net promoter score of 47.

Conclusions: This study showed that use of an AI health coach is associated with weight loss comparable to in-person lifestyle interventions. It can also encourage behavior changes and have high user acceptability. Research into AI and its application in telemedicine should be pursued, with clinical trials investigating effects on weight, health behaviors, and user engagement and acceptability.

KEYWORDS

obesity; artificial intelligence; self efficacy; weight loss; prediabetes; smartphone; diabetes; compassion; mobile health; text messaging

Introduction

The Burden of Type 2 Diabetes

An estimated 30.3 million Americans, or 9.4% of the US population, have type 2 diabetes (T2D). Another 84.1 million, or 33.9% of the adult US population, has prediabetes and is at risk for developing T2D [1]. The estimated cost of diabetes in 2012 was US \$245 billion [2]. Another estimated cost is an extra annual per-patient cost of US \$4217 [3]. It is the country's most expensive chronic disease [4], the seventh-leading cause of death in the United States, and a risk factor for complications and cardiovascular disease [2].

The T2D burden is largely attributable to modifiable risk factors [5]. Each 1 kg decrease in excess body weight lowers T2D risk by 16% among individuals with prediabetes [6]. Modest weight loss among overweight individuals also improves glycemic control [7-10]. Other modifiable risk factors for T2D include diet quality, sleep [11], and physical activity [12]. Diets rich in fruit, vegetables [13-15], low-fat dairy products, polyunsaturated fatty acids, nuts, dietary fiber, and whole grains [16], and diets lower in red and processed meat, refined grains, and sugar-sweetened beverages can lower T2D risk [17,18]. Still, two-thirds of American adults are overweight or obese [19]. Consumption of nutrient-dense foods, such as vegetables, fruits, whole grains, seafood, and low-fat dairy products is low while consumption of solid fats and added sugars is high [20]. Nearly 4 out of 5 adults fail to meet physical activity recommendations for aerobic and strength training exercise [21].

Lack of Health Care System Resources

Lifestyle modification programs can lead to weight loss and reduction of diabetes risk [22], but they are difficult to maintain on one's own [23], and health care resources are limited [24]. The Association of American Medical Colleges projects shortfalls of both primary care physicians and endocrinologists by 2030 [25]. Both providers and patients report lack of time [26]. Patients also perceive a lack of provider compassion, including components such as sensitivity, caring, and understanding [27], despite both the Health and Medicine Division, formerly the Institute of Medicine, and the American Diabetes Association recognizing the significance of patient-centered care [28,29].

Economic resources in the health care system are inadequate for preventive measures such as weight loss and other behavioral changes. Diabetes with complications is among the most expensive condition billed to Medicare [27], and most of the T2D expenditures in the United States are for intensive treatments such as hospital inpatient care (43%), prescription medications to treat complications (18%), and nursing/residential facility stays (8%) [2].

The Role of Artificial Intelligence in Compassionate Diabetes Care

Significant progress has been made in leveraging technology to increase efficiency and improve health outcomes, including in chronic disease self-management [30]. For example, mobile apps have been used for patient monitoring, health service support, treatment, diagnosis, health promotion, and disease prevention [31], and to support weight and diabetes management and glycemic control [32-35]. However, while technology has improved health care efficiency, such as in the use of electronic health records [36], it has not been widely used to increase compassionate patient-centered care in direct patient interactions despite evidence that empathy and patient-centered care result in better health outcomes [37]. Technology such as artificial intelligence (AI) can help fulfill this need in T2D prevention by promoting healthy lifestyle changes. By utilizing AI that is compassionate and effective, these programs can reduce the need for in-person appointments and direct patient-provider interaction, providing much-needed scalability to relieve pressure on limited health care resources.

As AI and mobile health technology provide a platform to make health behavior coaching programs more accessible to patients, they can also enable the scaling up of empathy and compassion. It can be designed to be compassionate based on characteristics defined in the literature, such as being one-on-one, individualized, and responsive to patients, and having "empathy plus sympathy" [38]. Scalable technologies such as conversational AI can have a notable impact on T2D prevention and management, in which sustained patient self-efficacy and behavior change greatly affect health outcomes.

The Lark Health Coach Artificial Intelligence Mobile Phone App

The Lark Health Coach AI (HCAI) mobile phone app was designed with goals of achieving healthy behavior change among at-risk users and introducing compassionate care in health care systems to allow patients access to infinitely scalable healthy behavior change coaching and support.

Lark's AI health coaches mimic health professionals' empathetic health counseling through casual conversations using empathetic text-based communication and other interactive elements. Lark has a variety of products focusing on chronic conditions including obesity and diabetes. In this study, we looked at Lark's Weight Loss HCAI, which is a product focused on promoting weight loss and other diabetes-preventing and diabetes-managing behaviors such as achieving and/or maintaining healthy sleep duration [11], choosing foods and beverages categorized as "healthy," and setting and achieving daily and weekly activity goals. Portions of the HCAI use content and methods based on the Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP) curriculum, which has been shown to lead to weight loss [39].



The HCAI aims to increase compassion in health care according to the definition of compassion: "the feeling that arises in witnessing another's suffering and that motivates a subsequent desire to help" [40]. The AI witnesses user suffering or positive feelings through user-provided feedback about their struggles, such as not losing weight or feeling ill, or accomplishments, such as eating a healthy meal. It shows a "subsequent desire to help" through conversations around the event or feeling. The conversations deliver messages that provide both strategic help (eg, "A pastry here and there won't hurt you/But next time experiment with which healthier alternatives you also find yummy and satisfying"), as well as emotional support (eg, "know that when it comes to weight loss, ups and downs are typical").

To promote sustainable behavior change and increased self-efficacy, the AI incorporates interactive elements of cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) such as reflection, legitimization, respect, support, and partnership [24]. Conversations with patients are triggered by and responsive to real-time data gathered automatically from sensors on phones or integrated devices such as wearables, or by patient-provided information, such as dietary consumption. Features intended to improve the user experience include the continuous and unlimited availability of the app, as well as responsiveness to user input. Users can initiate conversations with their health coach responds to users' specific input, such as food and beverage consumption, weight, or sleep duration, with relevant content such as praise, educational material, or reflection.

Study Overview and Aims

Because of the shortcomings in traditional health care delivery channels to help patients achieve healthy lifestyle changes for lowering T2D risk, and the potential for mobile technologies to provide effective and compassionate interventions, there is a role for conversational AI to provide highly scalable health coaching to effect positive change in behaviors known to lower T2D risk. This study's objectives were to (1) investigate conversational AI use and relationships with weight loss and meal healthiness, and (2) investigate user engagement and acceptability of the HCAI. We hypothesized that AI users would lose weight and improve meal healthiness.

Methods

Study Design

Recruitment

This was a retrospective study among 239 overweight and obese (body mass index [BMI] of at least 25 kg/m^2) adults at one of

six primary care offices in Nevada and southern California who were within a provider network that had partnered with Lark for this trial. Patients' primary care physicians offered the HCAI free of charge to patients meeting the BMI requirement. Additional selection criteria were use of Android or iOS mobile phones and not being previous or current Lark app users. Patients who agreed to use the app had a link to install the app sent to their mobile device during the office visit. No further physician support was provided to patients. Initial use of the app took place from July 2016 to January 2017.

Ethics

Michigan State University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) determined that this study was not classified as human subject research and therefore did not require IRB approval.

Lark Health Coach Artificial Intelligence Mobile Phone App

Health Coach Development and User Setup and Experience

Lark (Lark Technologies) HCAI has been available for Android and Apple mobile phones since 2015. The HCAI provides weight loss coaching through modules with lessons on topics such as self-monitoring, goal-setting, and action planning, plus unlimited text-based quick counseling sessions to help users achieve behavior change goals. Users can complete the modules within 16 weeks, or they can take longer if they repeat lessons or avoid logging into the app for a week or more. The HCAI learns about users and provides personalized content. Additional human-like coaching aspects include guiding dialogues with users and leading users through goal-setting modules for weight loss and food choices.

When setting up the app, users are asked to enter age, gender, weight, and height, and are guided through content to set a goal weight. Users can choose their goal weight but are discouraged from selecting a goal weight that would put them at an underweight BMI ($\leq 18.5 \text{ kg/m}^2$). The HCAI prompts users to enter their weight weekly and to enter meals and snacks. They can also enter their weight measurements and diet consumption anytime (Figure 1). Users receive feedback immediately after data entry and in daily and weekly update conversations. Users can log in to the app and initiate conversations at any time. Conversations are designed to look like standard text message conversations (Figures 2-5).



Figure 1. User weight progress dashboard, where users can enter weight (left two panels) and see a chart of weight change since starting the program (right panel).

••••• AT&T 穼		10:49 АМ Кегуп	* => \$	
	C SLEEP	FOOD	WEIGHT NO	
Apr 24	11	29	15 Jul 3	
Jul 3, 20)17	Ent	er Weigh <mark>t</mark> Ib	
Jun 26,	2017		137 lb	
Jun 19, 3	2017		140 lb	
Cancel				
1		2 ABC	3 Def	
4 _{GHI}		5 6		
7 PQRS		8 TUV	9 wxyz	
•		0	\bigotimes	

Figure 2. Sample portion of a conversation with the AI promoting healthy behavior change through compassion and cognitive behavioral therapy strategies including in-the-moment responsiveness, responsiveness to user input, and reflection.



Figure 3. Sample conversations about goal weight and user weight loss.

•••00	AT&T 🗢 10:47 AM	* 🖚
	Lark	+2.
	Average per day	
	That's not so easy!	
		Woo!
	Appreciate how good feels to see how you stayed committed to healthy choices. :)	've
	You rock!	
	Feels good	
Star	rt a new chat	+

Figure 4. Sample conversations following user-logged meals.

••••00	AT&T M-Cell 후 10:34 PM	⊾ ก ∎⊃
	Lark	+
	Tell me about dinner - w did you have? Chicken, veggies, ar	
	Chicken you got in so healthy protein with that	
Star	Go me! rt a new chat	+



Figure 5. Conversation following user-logged bout of physical activity (1 hour, 26-minute run) praising the user for the run, informing the user (left panel) that the run is a good strategy for increasing overall activity, and (center and right panels) comparing the user's total current activity for the day (green line) to the user's daily average on weekend days since starting the program (white dashed line).



Outcome Evaluation

Weight Loss

Each user's weight loss was calculated as the difference between the final recorded weight and the baseline weight. The primary outcome in this study was percent weight change.

Meal Quality

The HCAI classified individual foods and beverages as "healthy" if they promote weight control based on literature, or they were nutrient-dense or have predominantly nutrient-dense components (eg, vegetables, whole grains, fruit, nuts, lean proteins, and mixed foods such as vegetarian burgers and Greek salad); "unhealthy" if associated with weight gain based on literature and/or contain many empty calories [20] (eg, fried foods, sweets, sugar-sweetened beverages, and fatty red and processed meats); or "neutral" if not classified as "healthy" or "unhealthy" (eg, corn, which is high in nutrients such as dietary fiber and potassium, but higher in starch and calories than many other vegetables). Meals were recorded as "healthy" if they contained at least one healthy food and no unhealthy foods, and "unhealthy" if they contained at least one unhealthy and no healthy foods.

Percent healthy and unhealthy meals at baseline were calculated by dividing the total number of healthy and unhealthy, respectively, meals logged by the total number of meals logged (including healthy, unhealthy, and neither) during the first week of logging. Final percent healthy and unhealthy meals were calculated based on the final week that users logged meals.

User Engagement

Duration of AI use was measured by the time, in weeks, between a user's first and final use of the app. The number of conversations each user had with the app was also recorded.

Artificial Intelligence Acceptability and User Satisfaction

User satisfaction was assessed by an in-app user trust survey with four questions measuring (1) overall satisfaction, (2) net promoter score (NPS), (3) disappointment if HCAI were not o ered, and (4) self-reported health improvement (Table 1). The satisfaction score (SS; Question 1) was the percentage that rated satisfaction as 6-10. Question 2 was used to calculate NPS by subtracting the percentage of detractors (score 0-6) from the percentage of promoters (score 9-10), as described by Krol et al [41]. The disappointment score (DS; Question 3) was the percentage that rated disappointment if the HCAI were not offered as 6-10. Health outcome score (HOS) was percentage of users responding that their health was "Much better than before" or "Somewhat better than before." The SS, DS, and HOS were developed directly with the provider network.



Measurement	Question text
SS	How would you rate your overall satisfaction with the Lark Weight Loss Program (where 10 is Very Satisfied and 0 is Very Dissatisfied)?
NPS	How likely are you to recommend the Lark Weight Loss Program to others (where 10 is Extremely Likely and 0 is Extremely Unlikely)?
DS	If the need were to arise again in the future, how disappointed would you be if the Lark Weight Loss Program was not available to you (where 10 is Extremely Disappointed and 0 is Not at all disappointed)?
HOS	As a result of the help you received from the Lark Weight Loss Program, would you say your health is (Much better than before, Somewhat better than before, Neither better nor worse, Somewhat worse, Much worse than before)?

Table 1. User trust survey to determine patient SS, NPS, DS, and HOS.

Statistical Analysis

Dataset

Data points were user-entered values for age, gender, height, weight, dietary intake, with self-reported anthropometric data [42,43] and Web-reported diet intake previously validated [44,45]. As shown in Figure 6, participants installed the app and provided their height and baseline weight. An additional

81 additional participants had downloaded the app, making an initial total of 239, but they failed to provide initial height and/or weight data. Data from another 76 participants were eliminated from analysis for failing to record a second weight, making it impossible to determine weight change from baseline. Consistent with guidelines used to evaluate DPP outcomes [46], 13 of the remaining 83 users were recorded as "inactive" due to failure to record conversations with the HCAI in at least 4 separate weeks, leaving data from 70 participants available for analysis.

Figure 6. Participant selection flow. "Active" users recorded conversations with the HCAI in at least 4 separate weeks.



Missing Data

RenderX

The age variable had 27 missing values, so ages were imputed according to accepted methods [47]. Only instances where the variable age had missing values were imputations applied and outliers removed. There was no significant difference between the new and existing variables for age.

Data Analysis

We examined associations between percent weight loss and a set of selected independent variables using univariate and multivariate analyses. Variables determined to be statistically significant at an alpha of .2 in the univariate analysis were selected in multivariate analyses to control for the effects of other variables. Variables were also assessed for collinearity

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e28/
```

Stein & Brooks

using variance inflation factor. Generalized regression was used to quantify the independent association between selected covariates and percent change in weight. We applied a weighting factor consisting of the number of entries made per user to normalize the associations. All statistical analyses were conducted using JMP Pro, Version 13.1.0. SAS Institute Inc.

Results

User Statistics

Participant baseline characteristics are presented in Table 2. Users were 74.5% (35/47) female with average age 47 years. Baseline weight was 98.0 kg (SD 3.16) and BMI was 37.0 kg/m² (SD 1.40). Standard error of the mean (SEM) is included.

Weight Loss, Meal Quality, User Engagement, and Artificial Intelligence Acceptability and User Satisfaction

Users averaged 103 sessions each over the course of 15.0 weeks, where a session constituted a discrete text-based conversational

Table 2. Baseline characteristics of app users (N=70)^a.

interaction between the user and the HCAI. Users averaged 2.4 kg or 2.4% weight loss (Table 3), and 75.7% (53/70) of users lost weight in the program. The percentage of healthy meals increased by 31% (from 51% [414/808] of total meals logged at baseline to 67% [22/33] at 21 weeks), and the percentage of unhealthy meals decreased by 54% (from 14% [117/808] to 6% [2/33]). User height, baseline weight, number of conversations with the HCAI, total number of meals logged, and numbers of healthy and unhealthy meals were associated with weight loss (P < .25) (Table 4). The number of conversations a participant had with the HCAI was also associated with weight loss when combined with duration of use. The total number of meals logged was a significant predictor of weight loss, while the number of unhealthy meals logged was a significant predictor of weight gain. Gender was statistically significant but not included in the multivariate model due to small sample size. Number of healthy meals logged was removed to avoid collinearity with number of meals logged. The variance inflation factor between these variables was greater than 10 [48].

Variables	Mean (SEM)	95% CI	Range
Age, years	46.9 (1.89)	43.1 to 50.7	18 to 76
Height, cm	163 (1.41)	161 to 167	135 to 188
Baseline weight, kg	98.0 (3.16)	91.7 to 104	55 to 219
Baseline BMI, kg/m ²	37.0 (1.40)	34.1 to 39.9	24 to 95

^aEight lower outliers were replaced with 1.5 sigma of smallest height value without outliers.

Table 3. Weight change and HCAI use (N=70).

Variable	Mean (SEM)	95% CI	Range
Final weight, kg	95.7 (3.20)	89.3 to 102	54 to 220
Final BMI, kg/m ²	36.0 (1.44)	33.2 to 38.9	24 to 95
Weight change, kg	-2.40 (0.82)	-4.03 to -0.77	-54 to 5
Weight change, %	-2.38 (2.4/98) (0.69)	-3.75 to -1.00	4 to 44
Duration of AI use in weeks	15.0 (1.0)	13.1 to 17.0	4 to 33
Number of conversations with AI	103 (13.8)	75.0 to 130	5 to 824
Number of weight entries	6.1 (0.6)	5.0 to 7.3	2 to 32
Number of meals logged	68 (8.5)	49.8 to 84.7	0 to 351
Healthy meals logged, $\%^a$	59% (40.2/68) (5.71)	28.9 to 51.7	0 to 247
Unhealthy meals logged, % ^b	11% (7.54/68) (1.16)	5.24 to 9.85	0 to 53

^aEight lower outliers were replaced with 1.5 sigma of smallest height value without outliers.

^bThe percent of healthy plus unhealthy meals does not total 100% because some meals were categorized as neither healthy nor unhealthy.



Table 4. Factors correlated with weight loss.

Variable	Univariate linear regression ^a	Р	Multivariate generalized regression ^a	Р
	β (95% CI)		β (95% CI)	
Gender ^b	1.52 (-0.30 to 3.34)	.10		
Age, years	0.02 (-0.021 to 0.056)	.365	0.082 (0.075 to 0.09)	<.001
-0.002 (-0.003 to -0.002)<.001Duration of AI use, weeks	0.004 (-0.115 to 0.123)	.948	-0.058 (-0.078 to -0.037)	<.001
Height, cm Duration of AI use in weeks x number of conversations	0.03 (-0.02 to 0.077)	.244	0.044 (0.035 to 0.053)	<.001
Baseline weight, kg	0.02 (-0.01 to 0.036)	.187	-0.008 (-0.012 to -0.004)	<.001
Number of conversations with the AI	-0.008 (-0.013 to -0.004)	<.001	-0.002 (-0.004 to 0.001)	.144
Number of meals logged	-0.012 (-0.020 to -0.004)	<.01	-0.035 (-0.039 to -0.031)	<.001
Healthy meals logged	-0.018 (-0.030 to -0.007)	<.01		
Unhealthy meals logged	-0.055 (-0.114 to 0.005)	.072	0.088 (0.068 to 0.107)	<.001

^aRegression weighted by number of entries per user.

^bMale-Female difference assessed using the Tukey-Kramer honestly significant difference test.

Table 5.	User trust survey results.
----------	----------------------------

Question	Mean	Standard deviation	Calculated scores
SS (n=70)	7.9	2.1	87 ^b
NPS (n=76)	8.3	2.3	47 ^c
DS (n=70)	6.7	3.2	68 ^d
HOS ^a (n=57)	NA	NA	60 ^e

^aThe HOS was assessed and calculated from a rating scale ("Much worse," "Somewhat worse," "Exactly the same," "Somewhat better," and "Much better"), so mean and standard deviation could not be calculated.

^bPercentage of users who rated satisfaction as 6-10 on a scale of 0-10.

^cPercentage of detractors (score 0-6) subtracted from the percentage of promoters (score 9-10) [43].

^dPercentage who rated disappointment if the HCAI were not offered as 6-10.

^ePercentage of users who responded their health was "Much better than before" or "Somewhat better than before."

The number of meals logged was significantly correlated with number of conversations. For every additional conversation, users logged approximately 0.6 additional meals (R^2 =0.9, P<.01). The most number of average meals (33% [22.4/68]) were logged when users were in Module 2.

Artificial Intelligence Acceptability and User Satisfaction

The in-app user trust survey had a 100% response rate. The average scores for Questions 1 (satisfaction in program), 3 (disappointment if not offered), and 4 (health outcome) were 7.9, 8.3, and 6.73, respectively. The average SS, NPS, DS, and HOS scores were 87, 47, 68, and 60, respectively (Table 5).

Discussion

Principal Results

This study showed that users of a conversational AI can lose a magnitude of weight comparable to that achieved with lifestyle

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e28/
```

RenderX

change programs with live components among individuals with high diabetes risk. This suggests a value in investigating the potential for patients to use AI to effectively drive positive changes in lifestyle behaviors associated with preventing the development of diabetes. In this study, use of the HCAI was associated with average weight loss of 2.4 kg or 2.4%, which is comparable to a loss of 2.32 kg reported in a meta-analysis of 22 lifestyle intervention studies among individuals with risk factors for diabetes [49]. In the SCALE trial, average weight loss was 2.8 kg (2.6% of body weight) among participants in the lifestyle plus placebo group, who received weekly individual or group dietary and exercise counseling [50].

A separate review examined the results of trials of Web-based interventions for weight loss among adults [51]. The average weight loss among participants who completed the respective interventions in the studies highlighted in this review ranges from 1.3%-9.2% of starting weight; the range is 1.3%-3.8% when excluding the three most effective weight loss interventions, which all included human components. These

Stein & Brooks

JMIR DIABETES

values are comparable to the amount of weight loss (2.3% of baseline) observed in our study, although unlike in our study, most of the studies include human components in their interventions.

The weight loss achieved in this study has further implications for public health when considering the Finnish National Diabetes Prevention Program, a community-based program with one-on-one counseling visits or group sessions covering topics such as weight loss, diet quality, and exercise. Despite the in-person component of the program, average weight loss among 919 participants was 1.2%, which is less than the weight loss recorded in our study without an in-person component or the costs associated with it [52].

Also of note is that most users registered for HCAI between August and October 2016, so a significant proportion of program participation and associated weight loss occurred over the holiday season. This is a time when 51% of annual weight gain is estimated to occur. About half of adults gain 1% of body weight [53], and 14% of overweight and obese individuals gain at least 2.3 kg more than normal weight [54,55].

The amount of weight loss in this study may be clinically significant for diabetes risk. Weight loss of 1 kg can lower diabetes risk by 16% [6], and another study found that losing 5 kg is associated with a 50% decrease in risk [7]. Losing as little as 5% of excess body weight improves insulin sensitivity [56]. Even preventing weight gain is important, since gains of 5-7.9 kg and at least 8 kg body weight raise relative risk by 1.9 and 2.7, respectively [7].

The HCAI users recorded improvements in dietary patterns, as percentage of healthy meals logged increased by 31% and unhealthy meals decreased by 54%. This shift in meal quality indicated increased consumption of healthy food compared to unhealthy foods. The result is another potential decrease in diabetes risk, since even small shifts in diet composition can have significant impacts on diabetes risk [57,58].

This study also showed that conversational AI delivered via mobile phone app can have high acceptability among users. The NPS was 47, compared to the health industry average of 18, with the industry leader, Kaiser Permanente, achieving a score of 43 [59]. User satisfaction was 87%.

Comparison With Prior Work

Previous studies have investigated the effectiveness of Web-based programs and found mixed results. A recent systematic review of systematic reviews concluded that Web-based programs had consistently better results than no program but were sometimes less effective than traditional, in-person weight control programs [60]. The magnitude of weight loss reported in this study is comparable to that found in other studies reporting weight loss among mobile phone app users. For example, 77.9% of users reported weight loss while using a health and fitness mobile phone app with weight, food, and physical activity tracking features [61]. Another study investigated the effects of a mobile phone based health coach on weight loss and health behaviors among overweight or obese young adults [62]. Those who were assigned to the intervention group lost an average of 1.8 kg compared to a gain of 0.3 kg

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e28/

XSL•FO

among those in the control group. Notably, in contrast to our study, this study included an in-person counseling session at baseline for both groups, with the intervention group receiving a second 40-minute session at baseline.

To be able to accurately claim to be an option for increasing lifestyle change program access to patients, an AI lifestyle coach must achieve health outcomes comparable to those of traditional in-person programs, while being less costly. The weight loss of 2.4% observed in this study is comparable to the 2.3% weight loss reported in a Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Web-based lifestyle modification DPP program among individuals at risk for diabetes [49]. When comparing our study's results to those of the original DPP study, the 2.4% weight loss was greater than the 2.1% in the metformin group, which had a 31% lower incidence of diabetes during follow-up [63]. The intensive lifestyle modification group in that study had a 5.6 kg weight loss and 58% lower incidence of diabetes, but they received 16 one-on-one lessons in the first 24 weeks, with additional one-on-one and group sessions after that. In contrast, our intervention required no live assistance in setting up or using the health coach.

This is only an early study, but it is important to determine which components of the health coaching app may have contributed to weight loss among users. While the app included logging and tracking features, the program also included health coaching that included educational components and behavior change support based on CBT. A previous study [64] found no extra weight loss, compared to a control group, among users of a popular calorie-counting app with weight tracking and physical activity logging but without health coaching. This implies that the health coaching aspects of the HCAI app may have had a significant impact on weight loss.

The AI was found to have high acceptability among users, which can improve retention in weight loss programs [65]. Previous studies have documented the acceptability of telehealth interventions for weight management. For example, one study among overweight participants found that amount of weight loss and program satisfaction was as high in a telehealth program as in a traditional program, and furthermore, participants rated the telehealth program as more convenient [66].

Limitations

A study limitation was its lack of control group for direct comparison. However, it can be assumed that without a weight loss intervention, a control group would not lose weight and might gain weight since the average annual weight gain among American adults is 0.5-1 kg [67]. Another limitation was that weight loss and dietary intake were self-reported, although evidence suggests these data can be considered sufficiently valid [42,43,46]. Counterbalancing these limitations of the current dietary assessment method is user ability to avoid the potential for memory bias, as could be a concern when conducting weekly or other periodic in-person diet assessments. Reporting dietary intake via self-entry into the HCAI rather than to a live person also avoids biases stemming from social desirability, which are a common source of inaccuracies in dietary assessment [68]. Since the HCAI both guided participants on food and beverage choices and assessed participants' meal quality, it is also

possible that participants modified their food choices based on app feedback or deliberately misreported dietary intake to record "healthy" meals. Inaccuracies in self-reported weight can be avoided in the future as the HCAI incorporates the use of cellular weight scales so user weights are automatically recorded.

The scarcity of demographic information collected from users could be seen as a limitation of the study, since it is unknown which subpopulations would be likely to achieve similar results if they were to use the app in the future. However, the fact that the average participant lost weight despite lack of screening based on demographics suggests a wider applicability of the app in weight loss interventions.

Because this study was observational and not experimental, another limitation was its inability to determine causality. Participants who had at least one conversation with the HCAI in at least 4 different weeks lost 2.4% of baseline body weight on average, but it was not determined whether app use caused weight loss, or whether weight loss was caused by lifestyle changes resulting from app use or from other causes, or whether weight loss resulted from another cause that was not investigated in this study. Furthermore, because participants were not screened based on weight loss intentions, nor asked follow-up questions regarding behaviors related to weight loss, it is possible that some weight loss could have resulted from causes unrelated to HCAI use or lifestyle changes encouraged by the HCAI. It is conceivable, for example, that participants took weight loss medications or underwent bariatric surgery during the study period. Future research should include an experimental study that includes data collection surrounding possible confounding or other factors related to weight loss.

The AI automatically tracked physical activity according to any motion detected by mobile phone sensors, and users could log

their activity manually. Inaccuracies could result if users completed physical activity bouts without carrying their phones (ie, activity was not automatically detected and recorded) and users neglected to manually input these bouts, or if users double-logged physical activity; that is, if their workout was detected and recorded automatically and they separately entered it manually. Similarly, sleep duration was detected and recorded automatically, but users could add, modify, or delete data.

Another limitation was the potential for incomplete or incorrect classification of foods and therefore meals. This could be due to missing foods in the Lark food database or to incorrect classification of foods as healthy, unhealthy, or neutral when users entered ambiguous foods (eg, "chicken salad" could comprise mayonnaise and chicken and be "unhealthy" or comprise chicken and lettuce and be "healthy").

Applicability in Chronic Disease Management

The cost of chronic diseases comprises 75% of health care costs in the United States [69], but risk reduction is possible through lifestyle changes. Primary care support is limited, and supplementation is needed. One study found a median primary care visit length of 15.7 minutes, which included covering a median of 6 topics. Typical length spent on each topic was 5 minutes for the longest topic, and 1.1 minutes for the others [70]. These figures suggest that mHealth technology, such as conversational AI in mobile phone apps, could fulfill a need by complementing in-person health care providers in supporting behavior change. This is supported by the results of a systematic review that concluded that telemedicine interventions for chronic disease management can lead to improved health outcomes and lower costs of care and have high user acceptability [71]. Table 6 compares selected characteristics of in-person coaching and HCAI.

Table 6. Comparison of selected characteristics of in-person coaching and health coach artificial intelligence.

Characteristic	In-Person Coaching	HCAI
Number and frequency of coaching sessions	Sessions can be limited to a certain number per day, week, or program.	Sessions are unlimited.
Need to schedule appoint- ments	Appointments for coaching sessions may be required.	Users can initiate coaching sessions without an appoint- ment.
Coaching availability	Coaching may be available only during set hours	Coaching is available anytime: day, night, or weekends.
Cost of coaching	Insurers, healthcare providers, and/or patients must pay salaries and/or per-session costs of health coaches.	There is no salary or additional per-session cost associated with HCAI.
Patient level of comfort	Live coaches can be intimidating.	Patients can identify personal challenges without fear of shame or judgement by the HCAI

The HCAI could potentially improve access to weight loss behavior change interventions. Telemedicine interventions, including those using mobile phones as a means of delivery, can be effective in reaching underserved populations, such as isolated rural communities and inner-city communities without sufficient providers compared to the number of patients [72]. Telemedicine interventions also have the built-in advantage of potentially being lower in cost than in-person or even remote appointments with live providers. The cost of labor associated with health care is estimated to be US \$24 per visit to a primary care provider [73], while there is no additional cost per interaction with the HCAI. Patients installed and used the HCAI on their own after receiving the link, and the health coaching sessions did not require any time commitment from providers.

Conclusions

Compassionate Care for Weight Loss and Behavior Change

The HCAI was designed to promote weight loss and healthy lifestyle behaviors in a compassionate experience using conversational AI. It included elements of CBT interventions with in-the-moment responses based on user input including

user-initiated conversations about feelings and accomplishments, and user-entered behaviors including weight, food consumption, and physical activity. The HCAI takes a holistic approach, providing both strategic suggestions and emotional support, and aiming to make users feel valued. For example, it responds to a challenge, such as guilt over overeating, by providing an idea about how to approach the situation in the future ("Just let this feeling give you insight/Into how you might want to do things differently next time") and reminding users of their worthiness ("You are a wonderful and worthy human being, deserving of the best treatment you can give yourself"). The HCAI design also considers the challenge of long-term maintenance of weight loss, since an estimated 80% of those who lose at least 10% of weight loss for at least a year eventually experience regain [69]. To promote long-term weight loss, this health coach supports self-efficacy, healthy behaviors such as regular weigh-ins and increased physical activity, and a multidisciplinary approach, which is linked to better success [74].

Future Work

As seen in this study, technology for fully automated health coaching AI is available for real-life applications. Results from this study showed that participants lost weight while using the HCAI, which implies a potential for the HCAI to aid patients and providers in losing excess weight and improving health behaviors. The study also demonstrated the ease of use of the app, since participants received no assistance in installing or using the app, and its engagement and acceptability among overweight and obese participants (Table 5).

Additional work is underway or being planned to further investigate health coaching AI and its roles in chronic disease management. Health coach AI apps similar to the weight loss focused HCAI in this study have been developed and are being used for prediabetes management and for diabetes prevention and management. A version for managing pre-hypertension is also under development.

Current work includes a randomized controlled trial to investigate effects of the AI on aspects of chronic disease management including weight control, diet quality, medication adherence, and home blood pressure monitoring among individuals with pre-hypertension. Another planned study is a retrospective study among individuals with prediabetes who use a version of the health coach that is a DPP. Outcomes include weight loss and self-efficacy.

This study demonstrates AI's potential to provide compassionate care that is associated with weight loss, increased healthy lifestyle behaviors, and user trust that can reduce diabetes risk.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by Lark Technologies, Inc., which approved this manuscript. Author NS consults with Lark Technologies, Inc.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. US Department of Health and Human Services. 2017. National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2017 Estimates of Diabetes and Its Burden in the United States URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pdfs/</u><u>data/statistics/national-diabetes-statistics-report.pdf</u> [WebCite Cache ID 6tMIMzcFR]
- American Diabetes Association. Economic costs of diabetes in the U.S. in 2012. Diabetes Care 2013 Apr;36(4):1033-1046 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc12-2625] [Medline: 23468086]
- Tunceli O, Wade R, Gu T, Bouchard JR, Aagren M, Luo W. Cost of diabetes: comparison of disease-attributable and matched cohort cost estimation methods. Curr Med Res Opin 2010 Aug;26(8):1827-1834. [doi: 10.1185/03007995.2010.488544] [Medline: 20491613]
- 4. Dieleman JL, Baral R, Birger M, Bui AL, Bulchis A, Chapin A, et al. US Spending on Personal Health Care and Public Health, 1996-2013. JAMA 2016 Dec 27;316(24):2627-2646 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.16885] [Medline: 28027366]
- Danaei G, Ding EL, Mozaffarian D, Taylor B, Rehm J, Murray CJL, et al. The preventable causes of death in the United States: comparative risk assessment of dietary, lifestyle, and metabolic risk factors. PLoS Med 2009 Apr 28;6(4):e1000058 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000058] [Medline: 19399161]
- Danaei G, Ding EL, Mozaffarian D, Taylor B, Rehm J, Murray CJL, et al. The preventable causes of death in the United States: comparative risk assessment of dietary, lifestyle, and metabolic risk factors. PLoS Med 2009 Apr 28;6(4):e1000058 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000058] [Medline: 19399161]
- 7. Colditz GA, Willett WC, Rotnitzky A, Manson JE. Weight gain as a risk factor for clinical diabetes mellitus in women. Ann Intern Med 1995 Apr 01;122(7):481-486. [Medline: <u>7872581</u>]
- Koh-Banerjee P, Wang Y, Hu FB, Spiegelman D, Willett WC, Rimm EB. Changes in body weight and body fat distribution as risk factors for clinical diabetes in US men. Am J Epidemiol 2004 Jun 15;159(12):1150-1159. [doi: 10.1093/aje/kwh167] [Medline: 15191932]

- Agurs-Collins TD, Kumanyika SK, Ten HTR, Adams-Campbell LL. A randomized controlled trial of weight reduction and exercise for diabetes management in older African-American subjects. Diabetes Care 1997 Oct;20(10):1503-1511. [Medline: <u>9314625</u>]
- 10. Vidal J. Updated review on the benefits of weight loss. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2002 Dec;26 Suppl 4:S25-S28. [doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0802215] [Medline: 12457296]
- 11. Gangwisch JE, Heymsfield SB, Boden-Albala B, Buijs RM, Kreier F, Pickering TG, et al. Sleep duration as a risk factor for diabetes incidence in a large U.S. sample. Sleep 2007 Dec;30(12):1667-1673 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 18246976]
- 12. Eriksson KF, Lindgärde F. Prevention of type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus by diet and physical exercise. The 6-year Malmö feasibility study. Diabetologia 1991 Dec;34(12):891-898. [Medline: <u>1778354</u>]
- Cooper AJ, Forouhi NG, Ye Z, Buijsse B, Arriola L, Balkau B, InterAct Consortium. Fruit and vegetable intake and type 2 diabetes: EPIC-InterAct prospective study and meta-analysis. Eur J Clin Nutr 2012 Oct;66(10):1082-1092 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2012.85] [Medline: 22854878]
- Cooper AJ, Sharp SJ, Lentjes MAH, Luben RN, Khaw K, Wareham NJ, et al. A prospective study of the association between quantity and variety of fruit and vegetable intake and incident type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2012 Jun;35(6):1293-1300 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc11-2388] [Medline: 22474042]
- Cooper AJM, Sharp SJ, Luben RN, Khaw K, Wareham NJ, Forouhi NG. The association between a biomarker score for fruit and vegetable intake and incident type 2 diabetes: the EPIC-Norfolk study. Eur J Clin Nutr 2015 Apr;69(4):449-454 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2014.246] [Medline: 25387899]
- InterAct Consortium. Dietary fibre and incidence of type 2 diabetes in eight European countries: the EPIC-InterAct Study and a meta-analysis of prospective studies. Diabetologia 2015 Jul;58(7):1394-1408 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00125-015-3585-9] [Medline: 26021487]
- 17. InterAct Consortium. Adherence to predefined dietary patterns and incident type 2 diabetes in European populations: EPIC-InterAct Study. Diabetologia 2014 Feb;57(2):321-333 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00125-013-3092-9] [Medline: 24196190]
- Dominguez LJ, Bes-Rastrollo M, Basterra-Gortari FJ, Gea A, Barbagallo M, Martínez-González MA. Association of a Dietary Score with Incident Type 2 Diabetes: The Dietary-Based Diabetes-Risk Score (DDS). PLoS One 2015;10(11):e0141760 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0141760] [Medline: 26544985]
- 19. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Obesity and Overweight. 2017 Mar 3. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/obesity-overweight.htm</u> [accessed 2017-09-09] [WebCite Cache ID 6tMKlwSrg]
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, U.S. Department of Agriculture.. 2015 2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans. 2015 Dec. URL: <u>https://health.gov/dietaryguidelines/2015/guidelines/</u>[accessed 2017-10-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6tMKsY3zH]
- 21. National Center for Health Statistics. Health, United States, 2015 Individual Charts and Tables: Spreadsheet, PDF, and PowerPoint files. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/hus/contents2015.htm</u> [accessed 2017-09-09] [WebCite Cache ID 6tMLFpwAG]
- 22. Ades PA. A lifestyle program of exercise and weight loss is effective in preventing and treating type 2 diabetes mellitus: Why are programs not more available? Prev Med 2015 Nov;80:50-52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.03.014] [Medline: 25818810]
- 23. Shrivastava SR, Shrivastava PS, Ramasamy J. Role of self-care in management of diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Metab Disord 2013 Mar 05;12(1):14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/2251-6581-12-14] [Medline: 23497559]
- 24. Kluge EW. Resource allocation in healthcare: implications of models of medicine as a profession. MedGenMed 2007 Mar 21;9(1):57 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17435657</u>]
- 25. Dall T, Chakrabarti R, Lacobucci W, Hansari A, West T. The 2017 Update: Complexities of Physician Supply and Demand: Projections from 2015 to 2030. Washington, DC: Association of American Medical Colleges; 2017. URL: <u>https://www.aamc.org/data/workforce/reports/439206/physicianshortageandprojections.html [WebCite Cache ID 6tMLmS48i]</u>
- 26. Garden R. Expanding clinical empathy: an activist perspective. J Gen Intern Med 2009 Jan;24(1):122-125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-008-0849-9] [Medline: 19015926]
- 27. Torio CM, Moore BJ. National Inpatient Hospital Costs: The most expensive conditions by payer, 2013. 2016 May. URL: https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/reports/statbriefs/sb204-Most-Expensive-Hospital-Conditions.jsp [accessed 2017-09-08] [WebCite Cache ID 6tMMxj5ww]
- 28. Bloom B. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. JAMA 2001;287(5):646-647. [Medline: 25057539]
- 29. American Diabetes Association. Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2017 Abridged for Primary Care Providers. Clin Diabetes 2017 Jan;35(1):5-26. [doi: 10.2337/cd16-0067] [Medline: 28144042]
- 30. Wischer N. Australian Online Diabetes Services. 2014 May 12. The use of technology in diabetes self-management: Diabetes education, care and support services in Australia URL: <u>http://www.onlinediabetes.com.au/</u>
- the-use-of-technology-in-diabetes-self-management.html [accessed 2017-09-09] [WebCite Cache ID 6tMN8WDyz]
 31. Ali EE, Chew L, Yap KY. Evolution and current status of mhealth research: a systematic review. BMJ Innov 2016 Jan
- 31. All EE, Chew L, Yap KY. Evolution and current status of mhealth research: a systematic review. BMJ Innov 2016 Jan 05;2(1):33-40. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjinnov-2015-000096</u>]

- 32. Chin SO, Keum C, Woo J, Park J, Choi HJ, Woo J, et al. Successful weight reduction and maintenance by using a smartphone application in those with overweight and obesity. Sci Rep 2016 Nov 07;6:34563 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/srep34563] [Medline: 27819345]
- Michaelides A, Raby C, Wood M, Farr K, Toro-Ramos T. Weight loss efficacy of a novel mobile Diabetes Prevention Program delivery platform with human coaching. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care 2016;4(1):e000264 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2016-000264] [Medline: 27651911]
- 34. Wu Y, Yao X, Vespasiani G, Nicolucci A, Dong Y, Kwong J, et al. Mobile App-Based Interventions to Support Diabetes Self-Management: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials to Identify Functions Associated with Glycemic Efficacy. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Mar 14;5(3):e35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6522] [Medline: 28292740]
- Quinn CC, Shardell MD, Terrin ML, Barr EA, Ballew SH, Gruber-Baldini AL. Cluster-randomized trial of a mobile phone personalized behavioral intervention for blood glucose control. Diabetes Care 2011 Sep;34(9):1934-1942 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2337/dc11-0366</u>] [Medline: <u>21788632</u>]
- Chen C, Garrido T, Chock D, Okawa G, Liang L. The Kaiser Permanente Electronic Health Record: transforming and streamlining modalities of care. Health Aff (Millwood) 2009;28(2):323-333 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.28.2.323] [Medline: 19275987]
- Bramley L, Matiti M. How does it really feel to be in my shoes? Patients' experiences of compassion within nursing care and their perceptions of developing compassionate nurses. J Clin Nurs 2014 Oct;23(19-20):2790-2799 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jocn.12537] [Medline: 24479676]
- 38. Hojat M. Empathy in patient care: antecedents, development, measurement, and outcomes. New York: Springer; 2007.
- 39. Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group. Long-term effects of lifestyle intervention or metformin on diabetes development and microvascular complications over 15-year follow-up: the Diabetes Prevention Program Outcomes Study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2015 Nov;3(11):866-875 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00291-0] [Medline: 26377054]
- Goetz JL, Keltner D, Simon-Thomas E. Compassion: an evolutionary analysis and empirical review. Psychol Bull 2010 May;136(3):351-374 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0018807] [Medline: 20438142]
- 41. Krol MW, de Boer D, Delnoij DM, Rademakers JJDJM. The Net Promoter Score--an asset to patient experience surveys? Health Expect 2015 Dec;18(6):3099-3109. [doi: 10.1111/hex.12297] [Medline: 25345554]
- 42. Dekkers JC, van Wier MF, Hendriksen IJM, Twisk JWR, van Mechelen W. Accuracy of self-reported body weight, height and waist circumference in a Dutch overweight working population. BMC Med Res Methodol 2008 Oct 28;8:69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-8-69] [Medline: 18957077]
- Lassale C, Péneau S, Touvier M, Julia C, Galan P, Hercberg S, et al. Validity of web-based self-reported weight and height: results of the Nutrinet-Santé study. J Med Internet Res 2013 Aug 08;15(8):e152 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.2575</u>] [Medline: <u>23928492</u>]
- Lassale C, Castetbon K, Laporte F, Deschamps V, Vernay M, Camilleri GM, et al. Correlations between Fruit, Vegetables, Fish, Vitamins, and Fatty Acids Estimated by Web-Based Nonconsecutive Dietary Records and Respective Biomarkers of Nutritional Status. J Acad Nutr Diet 2016 Mar;116(3):427-438.e5. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jand.2015.09.017</u>] [Medline: <u>26522988</u>]
- Lassale C, Castetbon K, Laporte F, Camilleri GM, Deschamps V, Vernay M, et al. Validation of a Web-based, self-administered, non-consecutive-day dietary record tool against urinary biomarkers. Br J Nutr 2015 Mar 28;113(6):953-962. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0007114515000057</u>] [Medline: <u>25772032</u>]
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Diabetes Prevention Recognition Program Standards and Operating Procedures. 2015 Jan 01. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/prevention/pdf/dprp-standards.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-07-09] [WebCite Cache ID 6tMUOuIPx]
- Saunders JA, Morrow-Howell N, Spitznagel E, Dore P, Proctor EK, Pescarino R. Imputing Missing Data: A Comparison of Methods for Social Work Researchers. Social Work Research 2006 Mar 01;30(1):19-31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/swr/30.1.19]
- 48. Belsley D, Kuh E, Welsch R. Regression diagnostics: identifying influential data and sources of collinearity. New York: Wiley; 1980.
- 49. Dunkley AJ, Bodicoat DH, Greaves CJ, Russell C, Yates T, Davies MJ, et al. Diabetes prevention in the real world: effectiveness of pragmatic lifestyle interventions for the prevention of type 2 diabetes and of the impact of adherence to guideline recommendations: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Care 2014 Apr;37(4):922-933. [doi: 10.2337/dc13-2195] [Medline: 24652723]
- Pi-Sunyer X, Astrup A, Fujioka K, Greenway F, Halpern A, Krempf M, SCALE Obesity and Prediabetes NN8022-1839 Study Group. A Randomized, Controlled Trial of 3.0 mg of Liraglutide in Weight Management. N Engl J Med 2015 Jul 02;373(1):11-22. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa1411892</u>] [Medline: <u>26132939</u>]
- 51. Arem H, Irwin M. A review of web-based weight loss interventions in adults. Obes Rev 2011 May;12(5):e236-e243 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00787.x] [Medline: 20804523]
- 52. Saaristo T, Moilanen L, Korpi-Hyövälti E, Vanhala M, Saltevo J, Niskanen L, et al. Lifestyle intervention for prevention of type 2 diabetes in primary health care: one-year follow-up of the Finnish National Diabetes Prevention Program (FIN-D2D). Diabetes Care 2010 Oct;33(10):2146-2151 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc10-0410] [Medline: 20664020]

- Cook CM, Subar AF, Troiano RP, Schoeller DA. Relation between holiday weight gain and total energy expenditure among 40- to 69-y-old men and women (OPEN study). Am J Clin Nutr 2012 Mar;95(3):726-731 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/ajcn.111.023036] [Medline: 22301936]
- 54. Yanovski JA, Yanovski SZ, Sovik KN, Nguyen TT, O'Neil PM, Sebring NG. A prospective study of holiday weight gain. N Engl J Med 2000 Mar 23;342(12):861-867 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJM200003233421206] [Medline: 10727591]
- 55. Roberts SB, Mayer J. Holiday weight gain: fact or fiction? Nutr Rev 2000 Dec;58(12):378-379. [Medline: 11206847]
- Magkos F, Fraterrigo G, Yoshino J, Luecking C, Kirbach K, Kelly SC, et al. Effects of Moderate and Subsequent Progressive Weight Loss on Metabolic Function and Adipose Tissue Biology in Humans with Obesity. Cell Metab 2016 Apr 12;23(4):591-601 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.02.005] [Medline: 26916363]
- 57. Pan A, Sun Q, Bernstein AM, Manson JE, Willett WC, Hu FB. Changes in red meat consumption and subsequent risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: three cohorts of US men and women. JAMA Intern Med 2013 Jul 22;173(14):1328-1335 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.6633] [Medline: 23779232]
- Casas-Agustench P, López-Uriarte P, Bulló M, Ros E, Cabré-Vila JJ, Salas-Salvadó J. Effects of one serving of mixed nuts on serum lipids, insulin resistance and inflammatory markers in patients with the metabolic syndrome. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2011 Feb;21(2):126-135. [doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2009.08.005] [Medline: 20031380]
- 59. Satmetrix. Net promoter benchmarks at a glance. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.netpromoter.com/wp-content/uploads/downloads/</u> <u>landing-pages/2016-nps-b2c-benchmark-infographic.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-09-10] [WebCite Cache ID 6tMVa1UIP]
- Sorgente A, Pietrabissa G, Manzoni GM, Re F, Simpson S, Perona S, et al. Web-Based Interventions for Weight Loss or Weight Loss Maintenance in Overweight and Obese People: A Systematic Review of Systematic Reviews. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jun 26;19(6):e229 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6972] [Medline: 28652225]
- 61. Chin SO, Keum C, Woo J, Park J, Choi HJ, Woo J, et al. Successful weight reduction and maintenance by using a smartphone application in those with overweight and obesity. Sci Rep 2016 Nov 07;6:34563 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/srep34563] [Medline: 27819345]
- 62. Stephens JD, Yager AM, Allen J. Smartphone Technology and Text Messaging for Weight Loss in Young Adults: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Cardiovasc Nurs 2017;32(1):39-46. [doi: <u>10.1097/JCN.00000000000000307</u>] [Medline: <u>26646593</u>]
- 63. Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Lachin JM, Walker EA, Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med 2002 Feb 07;346(6):393-403 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa012512] [Medline: 11832527]
- 64. Laing BY, Mangione CM, Tseng C, Leng M, Vaisberg E, Mahida M, et al. Effectiveness of a smartphone application for weight loss compared with usual care in overweight primary care patients: a randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 2014 Nov 18;161(10 Suppl):S5-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M13-3005] [Medline: 25402403]
- 65. VanWormer JJ, Martinez AM, Cosentino D, Pronk NP. Satisfaction with a weight loss program: what matters? Am J Health Promot 2010;24(4):238-245. [doi: <u>10.4278/ajhp.080613-QUAN-92</u>] [Medline: <u>20232605</u>]
- Haugen HA, Tran ZV, Wyatt HR, Barry MJ, Hill JO. Using telehealth to increase participation in weight maintenance programs. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2007 Dec;15(12):3067-3077 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/oby.2007.365] [Medline: 18198316]
- 67. Hutfless S, Maruthur N, Wilson R, Gudzune K, Brown R, Lau B, et al. Strategies to prevent weight gain among adults. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); Mar 2013.
- Hébert JR, Hurley TG, Steck SE, Miller DR, Tabung FK, Peterson KE, et al. Considering the value of dietary assessment data in informing nutrition-related health policy. Adv Nutr 2014 Jul;5(4):447-455 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/an.114.006189] [Medline: 25022993]
- 69. Freudenberg N, Olden K. Getting serious about the prevention of chronic diseases. Prev Chronic Dis 2011 Jul;8(4):A90 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21672414]
- 70. Tai-Seale M, McGuire TG, Zhang W. Time allocation in primary care office visits. Health Serv Res 2007 Oct;42(5):1871-1894 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2006.00689.x] [Medline: 17850524]
- 71. Hamine S, Gerth-Guyette E, Faulx D, Green BB, Ginsburg AS. Impact of mHealth chronic disease management on treatment adherence and patient outcomes: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2015 Feb 24;17(2):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3951] [Medline: 25803266]
- Bashshur RL, Shannon GW, Smith BR, Alverson DC, Antoniotti N, Barsan WG, et al. The empirical foundations of telemedicine interventions for chronic disease management. Telemed J E Health 2014 Sep;20(9):769-800 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2014.9981] [Medline: 24968105]
- 73. Roblin DW, Howard DH, Becker ER, Kathleen AE, Roberts MH. Use of midlevel practitioners to achieve labor cost savings in the primary care practice of an MCO. Health Serv Res 2004 Jun;39(3):607-626 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2004.00247.x] [Medline: 15149481]
- 74. Montesi L, El Ghoch M, Brodosi L, Calugi S, Marchesini G, Dalle GR. Long-term weight loss maintenance for obesity: a multidisciplinary approach. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes 2016;9:37-46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S89836] [Medline: 27013897]

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e28/
```

Abbreviations

AI: artificial intelligence
BMI: body mass index
CBT: cognitive behavioral therapy
DPP: Diabetes Prevention Program
DS: disappointment score
HCAI: Lark Health Coach Artificial Intelligence
HOS: health outcome score
NPS: net promoter score
SS: patient satisfaction score
T2D: type 2 diabetes mellitus

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 27.07.17; peer-reviewed by S Li, H Akram, T Bose; comments to author 22.08.17; revised version received 11.09.17; accepted 05.10.17; published 01.11.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Stein N, Brooks K A Fully Automated Conversational Artificial Intelligence for Weight Loss: Longitudinal Observational Study Among Overweight and Obese Adults JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e28 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/2/e28/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/diabetes.8590</u> PMID:<u>30291087</u>

©Natalie Stein, Kevin Brooks. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 01.11.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

